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PREFACE.

In the following pages the compiler has endeavoured,

as was requested of him, to bring the Jubilee Record

up to date, and thus mark the event of completing

three-quarters of a century in the history of our Churches
in this State. He has endeavoured to handle the

tapk in the same reverent spirit in which it was handled

by Mr. Cox. With what success the reader must
judge.

The labour has been made considerably easier by
the orderly manner of the arranging of the material

of the former work. Care has been taken to adhere

to the titles of the chapters adopted by Mr. Cox, and
the divisions made b}^ him of our suburbs and districts.

Chapter VII. of the Jubilee Record appears here as

Chapter VIII. Additional chapters appear in which
an account of our work on behalf of the London Mis-

sionary Societ}^ is given, the stories of the life and work
of some of our ministers are told which could not
rightly appear under the heading of any one Church,

and some reflections are added by way of draA\ing our
task to a conclusion.

I have refrained as far as possible from altering the

text of Mr. Cox's work. Several slight typogiaphical

errors have been amended, one oi- two dates altered,
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and the concluding parts of the notices of the separatt;

Chnrches have been thrown into the historical tenses.

My warmest thanks arc due to all who have so readily

responded to the appeals I have made for material

;

but special thanks are due to Mr. and Mrs. Hope Harris

for reading with me the proofs and a great deal of

valuable information ; to the Rev. W. Penry Jones

for his patience with me in the great demands I have

made upon his energy and time ; to the Rev. Thomas
Hope for information on many points ; to the Rev. A.

E. Gifford for reading eome of my sheets and valuable

criticisms and suggestions ; and to Mrs. Thomas Kyte

for the carefully prepared index which appears at the

end of the volume.

L. R.
Mount Lofty,

October, 1912.



PREFACE TO JUBILEE RECORD.

On the colony of South AustraUa nearing its fifty

years of life, and the Congregational body also arriving

at its Jubilee at the same time, it was resolved to

celebrate the events, and this with all the more

enthusiasm, as our beloved Queen also would be coming

to the same impressive epoch about the same time.

How best to do so as Christian people, so as to express

our hearty thanks to the God who had led us so lovingly

through the changing scenes of so many years, exercised

the minds of our people thoughtfullj' and prayerfully.

It was resolved to make the raising of monej'^ to pay

off the debts on our Church properties a main point,

and with this also to raise funds for general Church

purposes, so as to get an impulse, as well as a deliverance,

for the years to come.

One of the collateral points of interest in our celebra-

tion was to have a full history of our Churches and

ministers in South Australia during this half century.

This was placed in my hands to do. With what success

I must leave my readers to judge for themselves. I can

only say that it has been a work of some considerable

toil—first, in getting the requisite information, and

then in presenting it in such a way as, at least, i.ot to

repel the rea<ler. The subject was a worthy one.
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Would that the writer had been worthier of his theme.

The work is done. The vessel is launehed. I have

much fear about it. Many errors will proba])ly be

found, and more omissions. I shall probably offend

some who have kindly helped by their contributions by
my omissions, curtailments, and alterations. They
must pardon me, remembering the responsibilities of

my position. They must all accept my hearty thanks

for what they have done to help this work, which

could not have been ])roduced without their valued

aid.

I may also say that the work that had to be done it

was needful to do at once. A few—very few—more

years passing over us, and there will not be left one who
could have any personal recollections of South Australian

pioneers, whether in Church or State. " And all that

generation were gathered to their fathers ; and there

arose another generation after them, which knew not

the works which he had done for Israel."

For that coming generation this work is prepared, that

memories of God's goodness may not die out.

F. W. (OX.

August 20, 1887.



Francis William Cox.

It is titting, before we touch the record of Congre-

gationalism compiled by the late Rev. F. W. Cox, a

tribute should be paid to one who Avas truly " a father

in God " to a vast number of people in this State.

It is curious to note that three notable men in our

Australian ministry came from the same college in

England, and were trained by the same man—the

celebrated John Frost. Those of us who have had the

privilege of knoA\'ing all three have been struck by
something of a likeness which shows the imprint of

the same teacher. F. W. Cox, of Hindmarsh-square,

'George littlemore, of Strathfield, Sydney, and Thomas
Kyte, of Mount Lofty, were trained at Cotton End by

John Frost, that quaint and wise teacher of men. ]\Ir.

Littlemore is the only one of the trio remaining.

Mr. Cox died on :29th :\larch, 19(»4, and had been a

preacher for half a century. Born in the very heart of

London in Januar}', 1817, within the sound of Eow
Bells, he was proud to claim to be a thoroughbred

Londoner. His father was a member of Roland HilFs

Surrey Chapel, Avas a parish officer, a church warden,

and the first Chainnan of the Board of Guardians of

the Borough of Soulhwark undei' the new Poor Law.

The son Avas brought up in St. Saviour's School, one

of the old Etonian institutions founded by Queen

Elizabeth, and at which many distinguished men were

scholars.
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Mr. 8ydiie\' VVaterlow—afteiwaids Lord Mayoi' of

London—was a school fellow and class mate. He was,

in 1897. one of tlie heads of the manuscript department
of the British Maseum. Mr. Cox's father had n well

established hat manufacturing ])usiness in London,
and the son was apprenticed to a city company, but
never took up his freedom . He cared more for men's minds
than their bodies, and left business, going to study
as a school master at the Normal College. Borough-road,,

a school of the British and Foreign Bible Society,

Wliile at this institution overtm-es were made to him
by Mr. Henry Dunn, the principal, to go to Eg\7)t

to take charge of a school at Cairo for the Khedive.
The idea was that an Enghsh school master or student

should estabhsh schools for native boys and young men.
The plan, however, was altered, and the native students

went to the Borough instead. Subsequently Mr. Cox
became master of a school of some 200 boys in the

city of Gloucester He was there for some years, and
during that time started as a lay preacher, delivering

his first sermon in the village of Longney. His next
engagement as school master was at Crojalon. After

staying there for some time he entered Cotton End, near

Bedford. Previous to this he received an offer to
act as foreign agent of the British and Foreign Bible

Society in Northern Persia, but he did not see his way
at the time for the necessary study of the languages.

The Society, however, presented Mr. Cox with a hand-
some jubilee medal as a record of their intercourse in

the hopes, no doubt, that Mr. Cox would renew the

relations some day and ultimately enter its service.

In comrse of time Mr. Cox was sent to the East Riding
of Yorkshire to the pastorate of the Congregational

Church at Market Weighton. He was there for four

years, and it was during his ministr\- there he received
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&n offer which induced him to come to South Australia.

In the week he received that invitation he had an offer

to go to South Africa, and another was made to him
to take up a pastorate in the East End of London.
But Mr. Cox decided for Austraha.

Some relatives of his had already settled in this

colony, which had just entered upon the 21st year of

its existence when he arrived in November, 1857. His
first sermon was delivered in the old Ebenezer Cliapel,

off Rundle-street. Six years later Hindmarsh-square
Church was built, and Mr. Cox was uninterruptedly

associated Avith it until his death. Pressing invitations

from Melbourne could not tempt him from his beloved

flock and from a city and people he liked so well. No
minister in the colony devoted himself to chm-ch and
philanthropic work or maintained his interest in it

to a greater extent than Mr. Cox. He was a true

friend to the poor, the aged, and the aborigines. His

tireless energy in all these matters, and his A\ise ad-

ministration of the religious and other affairs with

which he was so closely comiected Mon for him gi'eat

respect and admiration. Mr. Cox was twice Chairman
of the Union, and held the highest offices our chiu-ches

can bestow. For more than 16 years he was Secretary

of the Union. The London Missionary Society, the

local branch of the British and Foreign Bible Society,

Union College, and other institutions had his warmest
sympathy and practical aid.

There was no lijuitation to his activity. He was
Secretary to the Fraternal Association, while a* Chair-

man of the Aborigines Friends Society he did much
in the interest of the native population. With the

late Mr. Taplin he was largely instrumental in establish-

ing the Point Macleay Mission. He frequenth- held
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intercourse with the (ioveriDiient in dilTerent i)arts of

the colony on l)ehalf of the aborigines.

-Mr. Cox Avas an authority on art. He was for many
years a judge of the art exhibits in connection A\ith

the pubhc schools, but failing sight compelled him to

give up these services A\hieh had afforded him so nuich

delight.

The following is an ajjjjreciation by one who knew
him Avell :

—

Trying to recall Francis William Cox as I knew him^

I find myself confronted l)y a man who surely put

duty in the highest place among the virtues. I heard

him asked at one of the '' Fraternals "' if he knew
himself lineally descended from Puritan stock because

his was so typically that character. But there have

been, and always will be. men of that tyi)e—you see

an example in the father of ;Mr. Edmund Cosse's book^
" Father and Son." Perhaps they are afraid of the

softer side of life, of the dalliance and iiresiDonsibihty

as some Nonconformists are afraid of the Virgin Mary.

Certainly he subscribed heartily to the English-

man's verdict that " Life would be very tolerable

if it were not for its pleasures." Personally I think

it is a type almost uuknown out of nonconformist

churches—the life essence, the gift of living which

is each man's birtluight. whoU}' diverted and devoted

to conscientious doing, never to be betrayed into

the mere art of hein'j. You can see its strengths

and its weaknes.ses. Not that Cox was one of

those perpetually active people who never are

still. But life to him Avas solely viewed as a thing

to use, to use with pmpose and intention even in its

relaxation, and never to be lived, not for one hour>
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for its sheer unconscious deliciousuess. It makes
for sternness that and a certain rigidity. One looks at

the spilling of life essence and junpose which goes on

all round, and sees a living cxain})lc in sucli a

character of the spiiit which Inought out the

Puritans in tlieir stand against the laxities of the

seventeenth century society. That, as I judge

it. is the stuff of the man on which the mental

activities worked for his completion. F. W. ('ox

grew up in the heait of London \ery far back in the

last century. Happy is the child who has some
" greatness " in the landscape of his early years. I

can imagine, speculating on the man's life, that the

whole was coloured by the fact of his boyish years being

in intimate association with 8t. Saviour's Church

(half its present length then in ruin), for he knew it

from tower and crypt, living in its shadoAV as he did,

and his father being one of the wardens. One can

fancy that very much of the historic sense which asms

one of the "cultures" of his life resulted from that

accpiaintance. That and the rush of water under the

old London Bridge, with its nineteen arches and the

docks and ship yards of the neighbourhood was the

setting of his first fifteen years, and lifted his life out

of what might easily be the sordid levels of Southwark

bovhood.





Three-Quarters of a Century.

IN WHICH IS INCORPORATED
THE JUBILEE RECORD OF CONGREGATIONALISM

IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA.

CHAPTER I.—THE COLONY OF SOUTH
AUSTINALIA.

Its Origin—The Wakefield SvsTEii.

Before entering u])oii the special work Vjefore us in

recording the history of the Congregational C hurches of

the colony of South Australia, it will be proper to give a

brief account of the settlement of the colony itself, since

this volume may fall into the hands of some outside its

boundaries, and to Avhom its liistory may be totally

unknown. To those whose reading may have made

them famihar y\hh. the history of colonization there is

scarcely any point in national life more interesting or

more important than a nation's capacity for })lanting

offshoots from itself in the waste places of the world,

where the overflowing })opulation may find a splicre

for its energy and a home for its children. England

has been remarkaVjJe among the nations of Europe for

its tendencies to outward expansion, for its capacity to

expand prosperously, and to lay the foundations of

new nations in wild lands that have come undei- its

sway. In one period of our history civil and religious

persecution drove out fiom Kngland some of its noblest

.sons to America, who formed the luicleus of the vast

ever-growing United States of America. In tliese
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Southern lands the tii'st inovenient for coloni/at ion

arose t'loni the need of Hndinj^ an outlet for the criminal

])opulation of the mother country. Thus New South

Wales and 'i'asniania were settled. Western Australia

also received a larse amount of the otf-scourinji of

England's population, from which taintinu of the

springs of national life the colonies of ^'ictoria. South

Australia, and (Queensland have happily been entirely

free—an inununity for which we have leason to thank

(!od with all our hearts when we see the e\ il effects

resulting from an infusion of criminal life at the very

source of colonial existence. Indeed, fhe Act of IS34,

which defined the boundaries of this colony, and laid

down the outline of its coiistitntion, expressly provides

that no ]ieison convicted in any Court of Justice in

(oeat Britain or Ireland or elscAvhere shall at any time,

or under any circumstance, be transported as a convict

to any place within the limits of the new province of

South Australia.

There were, however, certain other risks the colony

ran while its constitution was under discussion, such

as this, that the persons wlio shall have power to frame

laws and to levy taxes and so on, shall have power to

appoint "chaplains and clergymen of the (lunch of

England or Scotland." ... It should be borne in

mind that by the Act of Union of the two kingdoms it

is duly provided that in any dependency of the JJritish

Empire whatever powers or privileges the Church of

England shall possess or acquire the Church of Scotland

shall also carry its powers, and l)e able to claim the

same privileges. A provision which many years

afterwards led to certain ecclesiastical contention among

the clergy, and gave rise to very important changes in

our marriage laws. The jirovision mentioned above
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uas afterwards repealed, and the (jlovernment as

constituted had no power to appoint ecclesiastical

oflficers of any kind to exercise spiritual function among
the general public. Another wise provision of the

founders of the colony was that emigiation should

partake as much as possible of a family character,

inasmuch as no person having wife or family was able

to take advantage of the emigration fund to obtain a

passage to the colony unless the wife and family should

accomjtany the proposed emigrant.

The first Commissioners for the establishment of the

colony were Colonel Torrens (Chairman), ^Messrs. George

Fife Angas. Ed. Barnard, Wm. Hutt, J. G. Shaw-
Lefevre. W. A. McKinnon, Samuel Mill, Jacob Monte-
fiore. Geo. Palmer, Geo. Barnes, and Rowland Hill,

whose names are perpetuated in our citj^ streets

;

and the principles upon which it was finally decided

that the colony should be founded were— (1) The
colony w as to be no expense to the Mother country

;

(2) There was to be no vState Church : (3) No convicts

were to be transported there from Great Britain.

Another peculiarity of the constitution was that the

Wakefield System should be fully and fairly tried from
the very outset. Mr. Edward Gibbon Wakefield was
an enthusiastic advocate of the system bearing his

name. The main points in his scheme were that the

land should not be given away in large blocks, which
he had -^een to be a great obstacle to the true progress

of colonization, but that it should be sold at a fixed

price, one-third of which was to be devoted to internal

improvement in roads and bridges, one-third to be
expended in bringing out labourers, and the other third

in the expenses of the government of the country.

This plan was to some extent acted upon in New Zealand
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also at a subsequent period for a short time before the

full stream of emigration had set in there. But the

attempt to found a colony on this system on the shores

of St. Vincent's Gulf was, however, negatived by the

Government of Lord (loderich in 1832, and the Associa-

tion then formed was dissolved, but only to be recom-

menced and carried out in the Act of 1834. The
Association had its offices in Adelphi Buildings, in the

Strand, and they had to fight a hard and long battle

before they were able to overcome, first, the resistance,

and then the inertness of the Home Government,
who looked with no favourable eye on the visionary

schemes, as they were thought to be, offancy colonisers.

The writer has heard from the lips of the very founders

of this colony of the repeated obstacles that were

thrown in their way, and the demand made that the

sum of £nO,000 should be actually i-aised before the

scheme could bf Hoated was meant to be the extinction

of the whole matter. The pecuniary embarrassments
of the earliest pioneers were so great that even the

rent of the offices was in arrear, and had to be met by
private effort, and the demand made by the Govern-

ment that the Commissioners should find for themselves

a suitable man to be appointed as the first Governor
was of like character. I have heard the very men
who lived to see Adelaide a large and flourishing city

speak of the apparently insurmountable difficulties in

raising the required sum of money and in finding the

Governor, \\ho had to be sought and found somewhere.

The first was after great delay overcome by the powerful

aid of Mr. Geo. F. Angas, who came to the rescue

of the impecunious Commissioners, and invested a

sufficient sum to start the colon\-, but who had the

land he purchased at 12s. an acre instead of the £1, as
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had been previou.sly agreed upon. I believe this

caused some friction and delay, but which was at last

overcome by the arrangement of what were called

Preliminary Sections of about 134 acres for £80 instead
of the proper 80 acres ; so that all Avho paid down
that amount in London received the larger amount of
land, while all who purchased subsequently in the
colony received only the SO acres.

The second difficulty caused much trouble, and many
refusals of the Governorsliip were met with. And
when it was proposed that Captain Hindmarsh should
be asked, he had to be sought for by two of the Com-
missioners, who travelled from place to place over
Europe to find him, when travelling was by no means
so easy as it has since become.

There was also a third difficulty thro\An in the way of

the intending founders of the new nation, to which we
have not i-eferred before. The Home IMinistry

stipulated that if the population of the colony should
not reach 20,000 in ten years from its foundation, the
lands then unsold should revert to the Ciown—

a

proviso certainly discouraging enough, and that might
have overthrown the whole scheme had it been in the
hands of men less strong in faith of the future of these
lands. The event, however, proved that, as in so
many other cases, the colonists were right and the
Home ('Overnraent Avrong, for in the February census,
1H4H. the population amounted to 22,390.

The South Australian Company was formed at a very
early period of the history of the colony, and its plans
and operations were all arranged with thought fulness

for the benefit of the colonists as well as for the j)rofit of

the i)rupii(>tors. It was formed chiefly })v the inflnencc
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of Mr. Geo. F. Angas to purchase from the (.'onmiis-

sioners land at special rates—that is, at 12s. instead

of 20s. the acre—and several ships were dispatehed in

1836 with a sort of pioneer expedition, which were at

anchor off Kangaroo Island when Colonel light arrived

on Aiignst U)th with the surveying staff. The follawing

will show the |)rinciples on which the Company pioposed

to carry out their operations .—There was to l)e a

settlement at Nepean Bay, where the new capital

was to be established, and the Company were to carry

on operations in agriculture, grazing, the curing of

beef and pork, and not least, the whale fishery was

looked forward to as an important element of success.

The Company express in their reports theii' de-ire to

repress all drinking habits, and they sent out a suitable

person to conduct a coifec house, or what wouhl now

be called a Temperance Hotel. 'I'hey selected as

surgeon to one of the lirst ships a man who A\as com-

petent to act as chaplain also, and gave directions to

their officers to establish schools on the Infant School

and on the British and Foreign Society systems. They

were also vevy earnest in their plans for the righteous

treatment of the aborigines, ui'ging that eivili/ation and

the Gosi^el should go hand in hand. The ( V)m])any also

sent out a competent Bank Managei', but the banking

business was at an early period separated fiom the

general l)usiness by the formation of the J^anl; of South

AustraUa, mth Mr. D. McT>aren as manager.

In November, 1836, the " Africaine " anivcd with

the Colonial Secretary (Mr. R. Gouger), a Hanking

Association, and the plant for a newspa|)er. On

December the 28th, 1836, Governor Hindmarsh arrived

in the "Buffalo"— a sloop of war. two of whose

cannonades now adorn the seawall at (ilenelg, close
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to the spot where the new colonists first landed on the

mainland of Sonth Australia.

Vast have been the changes that have taken ]>lace

«ince that memorable day, now fifty years ago. when
first the colony of South Australia was proclaimed

officially under shadow of the gum ti-ees that then

•covered the plains from the seashore up to the foot of

the hills, and of A\hich only a fcAV patches remain here

and there to remind us of the aspect the new laud then

presented to the eye of the strangers who had just

arrived from their four months' voyage.

It is not oui' inteution to follow the fortunes of the

infant colony further in detailing the early troid)les and

financial disasters of the first few years of its existence.

No doubt great mistakes were made by both the (io\ ern-

ment and the governed, partly through inexperience

and partly through unseemly squabblings. The colony

has had a varied experience, but on the whole the fifty

years work exhibits a degree of prosperity among the

mass of the population and of development of healthful

national life that should lead us to thank ( Jod and take

•courajjc. The l(*7th Psalm will express in many of

its details the dealings of Cod in His providence with

us :

—
" Gathered out of the lands from the east and

from the west, from the north and from the south, they

Avandeied in the wilderness in a solitary way : they

found no city to dwell in. Hungry and thirsty their

soul fainted in them. Then they cried unto the Lord

in their trouble, and He delivered them out of their

distresses. And He led them forth by the right way,

that they might go to a city of habitation. Oh. that

men would praise the Lord for His goodness, and for

His wonderful works to the children of men
He tui'iu.'th the wiMenu'ss into a slandino; \\ater. and
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dry .tiround into watoispiings : and there He inaketh

thcTiuiigrv to dwell, that they may prepare a city for

ha])itatioii : and sow the fields, and plant vineyards,

which may yield fruits of increase. He blesseth them
also, so that they are nmltiplied greatly, and suffereth

not theii- cattle to decrease. . . . \Mioso is wise,

and will observe these things, even they shall understand

the loving kindness of the Lord."

Notwitlistanding all the errors of the early colonists,

or the sins and folHes of those of later date, God has

given to us what He promised in ancient times to

another race —" The Lord thj'^ God bringeth thee into a

good land, a land of wheat and barley and vines and fig

trees and pomegranates, a land of oil, olive and honej' ;

a land wherein thou shalt eat Ijreacl without scarceness,

thou shah not lack anything in it : a land whose stones

are iron, and out of whose hills mayst dig brass (cop-

per.)"' May we always listen to the exhortation,
' When thou hast eaten, and art full, then thou shalt

bless the Lord thy God for the good Innd which He
hath given thee."



CHAPTER II.—OUR CHURCH PRIN(.TPLEv<^.

The object of this hook is to desciibe with cK>. much
completeness as the size of the book and the means for

compihition will allow the history of the Congrega-

tional Churches from the first settlement thereof in this

<?olonv to the present Jubilee year (18ST) : ;ilso the

work that has been done, and the men \Abo, uiuier Cod,

haye done it. But it may not be out of jjlace before

entering upon the historic record to giye some account

of what are the pi-inei])les of that section of the < hurch

of the Lord Jesus called Congregationalist> ov Inde-

pendents.

In England we are called " Dissenters." because we

dissent from the Chuich of England by law established.

We do so on two grounds— (1) We object to the prin-

ciple of establishment. 1 hat is to say, we believe that

the arm of the ]rv. can never be rightly used to obtain

the means of sup]iorting Christian Churches and

ordinances : that no offering can be acceptable before

God unless made willingly. God hates "robbery for

burnt offering," and " (^od loves a cheerful giver."

(2) We object to the Church that is so established as

being contrary to Holy Scripture in its ecclesiastical

constitution, and in some very important points on its

doctrinal teaching. Especially we may mention the

doctrines of baptismal regeneration, of Aprvstolic

succession, and of priestly absolution.

Other sections of the Church of C'hrist in England are

also equally with ourselves " Dissenters," whether their

grounds of dissent agree with ours or not. It is clear
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the word " Dissenter " is a comj)lete misnomer in South

Australia, as there is no national standard of compari-

son. The Church of England is merely one among the

many sections of Christ's Church here Avithout (Govern-

ment ])atronage, and with no prestige but what it brings

with it from its i^rominent place in English history,

from the acknowledged learning, piety, and conspicuous

ability of a long succession of godly men Avho have
ministei-ed in its service, and perhaps in no small degree

from the social position in English society of so many of

its adherents. On every ground, however, the name
Dissenter is objectionable, being the mere expiession

of a negation. It says that we dissent from something

that is not expressed, and it does not imply assent to

anythiiig.

There is a similar objection felt by some sections of

the Church to the word " Protestant " as implying a

protest against something unexpressed, but expressing

in itself nothing positive. We confess to some
sympathy with this, and we should be glad to have a

name A\hieh carried with it something more than

negation. It may be said that the Xew Testament

gives one word, and only one, that supplies all we need

—that is " Christians." Would God it weie possible

to us as a distinctive designation, as it does expiess the

radical unity of all sections of the Church. I^>ut all

are Christians.

So much for what we ai'e not. We will try as briefly

as possible to affirm as well as to deny.

(1) We affirm a Church to be a body of people united

together in the profession of faith in the Lord Jesus

Christ, and leading lives corresponding therewith. A
Church is not the whole peo])le of a parish or of a nation.
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Its \ try name. " ecele.-ia." refers to its being " ealled

out " of something else.

(2) Each ("hnreli we hold to be an organic unity com-
plete in itself for the carrying out of all Church pur-

poses, suliject only to the laAV of ( hrist as contained in

the New Testament and nowhere else. Contiguous

tOAvns. such as Thessalonica and I'hilippi. Corinth and

Cenchrea, are spoken of as having "Chmches,"' and

the Christians in them did not constitute a " Church "

in the later sense of the word. This constitutes our
" Independency."

(3) Each Church, properly constituted, was not only

self-governed, but the government—that is. the carrying

out the laA\ and ordinances of the Lord Jesus in an

orderly and decent manner—rested on the felloA\ship

itself, and not on the officers only. The membei-s of

each Church have an indefeasible right to elect their

own pastor, deacons, and other Church officers : to

admit and exclude fiom their own fellowship ; to do

all and everything, in short, necessary for the life and

growth and usefulness of the Church, always, of course^

under law to Christ. This constitutes our " Congrega-

tionalism."

(4) The necessary permanent officers of a New Testa-

ment ( huich were, it is evident from the pastoral epistles

(I. and II. Timothy and Titus), bishops and deacons.

It is true there were other workers in the Church in its

earlier stage, as seen in the two letters to the Corinthians,

But when the Apostle Paul was A\Titing at a later date

(A.I). OH) to his assistants, giving them instructions how
to order the Churches, he only mentions the two above-

named—the bishop, who was identical with pastor, as

shown by the apostle's own language, and the deacon.

The one was a teaching office, and of the other no
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mention is made of teaching as a necessary qualitication.

The bishop was the pastor, or one of the jjasturs, c.f a
•congregation, and the deacons, wise and discreet men,
to assist in the general well-being of tlic ( hurch in

temporal matters certainly, and in spiritual possibly,

if their own gifts and the circumstances of the case
required it.

We have held on our way in English life aiid history

from the date of one of the first ])ul)]ic defences e\ cr put
forth by us in P:nglaii(I. ijiat is the " True Confession of

the faith and humble ackiioulcdgnicut of the Allegiance
that Her Majesty's subjects (falsely oalled Brownists)
do hold towards God. and yield to Her Majesty and all

other that arc over us in the Lord. "" Thiswas ])ublished

in 1590, in the 38th year of the reign of Elizal;cth. and
irom that time down to the present Jul^ilcc of Her Most
<^racious Majesty Queen Victoria, and our enemies them-
selves being A\ituesses, we have been no unimportant
factor in the making of England, especially in those
crises of ICnglish history in which the civil and vcligious

liberties of the people have been involved.

^^c ha^e leferred })rincipally to the ecclesiastical

relations of the Congregational body, and in reference

to its doctrinal j^osition we may ])rietly state that at the

Westminster Assembly in 1643 there were only five

Independents amidst a nuiltitude of Presbyteiiaus and
some Episcopalians. The object of the calling of this

famous Assembly A\as to " settle the government and
liturgy of the Church of England, and to vindicate its

<loctrine from false aspersions."' These five men
raised questions on every point, and were terrible

tronblers of the ])eace of the Assembly, especially on
the point, That the magistrate had nothing to do with
men's religious l)clief. Still, the Independents accepted
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the doctrinal articles of the Assembly, tliougli they

modified them on points relating to discipline ; and

those doctrinal points are in all essential things the

same as embodied in the Thirty-nine Articles of the

Church of England. In 1690 the Presbyterians and

Independents adopted certain "Heads of Agreement."

in which the authors thereof say " as to what pertains

to soundness of judgment in matters of faith, we esteem

it sufficient that a Church acknowledge the Scriptures

to be the Word of (iod. the perfect and only rule of

faith and practice : and own either the doctrinal part

of those commonly called the Articles of the Church

of England, or the Confession or Catechism (Shorter

or Larger) compiled by the Assembly of Westminster,

or the Confession agreed on at the Savoy, to be agreeable

to the said rule." In the same document it is said

—

" That, none shall be admitted as members in order

to the Communion of the special ordinances of the

Gospel but such persons as are knowing and sound in

the fundamental doctrines of the Christian rehgion,

Avithout scandal in their lives, and to a judgment re-

gulated by the word of God. are persons of visible

godliness and honesty, credibly professing cordial

subjection to Jesus Christ."

From those days there has been on the whole a general

consensus of opinion on the same general lines of

thought down to the last Declaration of Faith and

Order put fojth by the Co7igrcgationa] I'nion of England

and Wales, althougii there has been at the same time a

•freer mode of exjHi'Ssioii allowed to tlie individual to

embod}- his views on what the \ew 'l\>stament teache-s^

than Mould have been foimerly allowed. Tndeecl, the

words of John Ho))inson addressed to tlie I'ilgrim

Fathers in ir»2(». when the tiist coiiiiuiiiy w.is aliout
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to lea\(' the slioics of l"'norlaiKl and Hollanrl to found

i\ new home l)eyoii(l the Atlaiitie. have alway,'- found a

iioble and hearty i-esponse among our ministers and in

our (-hurches. This noble man said to the Mayifower

Pilgrims in words never to l)e forgotten. ''I eharge

you before (Jod and His blessed angels that you folloAv

me no farther than you have seen me follow the Lord

Jesus Christ. If (lod reveal anything to \ on by any

other instrument of His, be as ready to receive it as

ever xou were to receive any truth by my ministry,

for I am verily persuaded the Lord has more liiith yet

to break out of His Holy Word 1 Ixseech

you remember, it is an article of your ( hinch covenant,

that you be ready to receive whatever tiuth shall be

made known to you from the written Word of ('-od.

. Hut I must here exhort you to take heed

Avhat \ou receive as truth: examine it. considtr it,

and compare it with other 8cri])tures of truth hefore

you receive it : for it is not ])ossible the ( hristian

woi'ld should come so lately out of such thick anti-

< 'hristian darkness, and that perfection of knowledge

should bi-eak forth at once." The reader will see that

the eaily Inde])endents did not tliinl< it ix>-----ihl' that

ivll truth could be embodied in the Church confosions

then existing with whatsoever care they might have

been diawii up. Our (hurches have acte(l and do

«ct on this princii)le. that while there is a fundamental

agreement among them there nmst be room for more

light from the Word and a fre(^ utteiance of individual

conviction thereupon iji accordance with the great J'ro-

testant ])rinciple—the right of piivate judgment and

of individual res])onsibility to Cod foi' 1h(> tindiuL' of

the ti'uth, and foi' the use we make of the truth when
found.



CHAPTER III.—THE BEGIXXINGS.

Thos. Qui^TOs Stow, C. W. Evan, and OtheRvS—

Stow Memorial Church.

We have already referred to the first ships that

arrived from Eiighnid and anchored o1> Kangaroo
Island. Avhere it Avas imagined the site of the future

ca])ital would be found. There, a very miscellaneous

a.ssembly of all sorts and conditions of men was gathered,

and some substantial buildings put up. of which the

remains still stand. The writei- saw, in 1850, when
visitinL' the coast in the steamer " Corio," the remains

of the house erected l)y IVFr. William Giles, the Manager
of tlie South Australian Company—a relic of that

first and futile settlement.

Col. Light, the first Surveyor-General, fixed the site

of the capital of the new colony on the spot where the

city of Adelaide now stands. He saw at a glance that

that i)ropo.sed site on Kangaroo Island Avas altogether

unsuitable to the needs of a capital city—wanting,

as it did. fresh water and available agricultural land in

the neighborhood. The change of position, though
the occasion of much diversity of opinion, and some
Avrangling, has been amply justified by the fifty years'

experience we have now had ; for the original position

has remained in almost its primeval condition, while

the actual city stands in the midst of fertile ])lains,

and is the seat of a population of well on to 80,000,

^^ithin a radiusof eight miles. We believe that Port Lincoln

wa.<* also considered a desirable site for the ca])ital on
account of its admirable harbour, but it was rejected for
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similar lecasons to the insular one- the want ot frcbh

water, and land for farming pniposcs on which the

early settlers could have planted their homes without

going too far from the city. I)\ a very short time,

therefore, the colonists nio\ed up the Gulf to the

eastern shore, where an arm of the sea, now known
as the Port River, had been discovered, and uj) which

Mr. Pullen (the Admiral Pullen lately deceased), of

H.M. ship " Buffalo," had sailed for some miles, as

far as where Port Adelaide now stands. About seven

miles inland a spot of land suitable for the future city

was found, which slo])ed away, more oi" less, on all four

sides. Here an area of 700 acres was laid out, divided

into streets and squares, and a space of about half a

mile wide all round was left for park lands. This wag

on the south side of the River Torrens, while on the

north side, in three separate l>locks, were surveyed 340

acres more, constituting North Adelaide. The whole

city Avas at that time covered with ancient gum trees, of

which there are a few scattered remnants left in the

Botanic Gardens and the J^OAal Park. In some parts

the trees and undergrowth were so thick that it amounted

to scrub, in which it was easy to lose one's way in

passing from one part of the city to another ; while the

Torrens was picturesque wit h luxuriant vegetation downii

its banks to the water's edge.

It was in the midst of such wild, hut by no means

unpicturesque, surroundings that the first houses for

the wor.ship of the Great God of heaven and earth were

built, His praises first sung, and a new era in the history

of these lands commenced, in which a pure and holy

service superseded for ever the rude and often hideous

rites tv'hich were characteristic of the aboriginal races

who preceded us in the occupancy of the soil. The
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Church of England has the honour of breaking giound
in South Austraha. The Rev. ('. H. Howard was
the first minister who preached the everlasting gospel

to the first settlers on the shores of St. V^incent's Gulf.

But the Colonial Missionary 8ociet\' was not slow in

taking up the woik, for which it had been formed by
the Rev. Thos. Binney and others in 1836—the same
year that saw the foundation of the colony laid on
December :^S.

On June 11, 1837. the Society sent forth the Rev. T.

Q. Stow on board the ship " Hartley," which arrived on
October 18, after a voyage of 139 days, a portion of

which was spent at Cape Town. Mr. Stow was educated

for the ministry at Gosport, under a man celebrated in

his day—Dr. Bogue. His first charge was at Framling-

ham, Suffolk, from whence he removed to Buntingford^

and then exercised it at Halstead, Essex. From this

place he was called to this colony in the good providence

of God, who had a great and noble work for His servant

to do on this side of the world. Mr. Stow* was not a

man to lose time in his work, and by the 19th of Decem-
ber, 1837. he had erected the tent—which w^as a field

officers' marquee, supplied by the Colonial Society

—

and held the first Congi-egational service in this land

on the river's bank, where the railway now runs, and
Governor Hindmarsh was one of the attendants, for

whose convenience an empty box was provided as a

seat. There were eleven Christian people who at

that service formed themselves into a Church, and
entered into a solemn covenant in the following

terms :
-

" At a meeting held in the tent provided by the

Colonial Missionary Societj' on the Iflth l)ecember, 1837,

upon acre No. 5, Adelaide, South Australia.
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' We. the undersigned members of various Churches

in (ucat Britain, removed by Providence to South

Austraha, and anxious to enjoy the advantaores of

Christian fellowship, do now solemnly, and in the

presence of God, form ourselves into a Christian Church,

receiving each other in the Loid with all aifection and

confidence, and intending l:»y divine help to Avalk con-

sistently with the important and delightful lelation

into which we now enter."

The compact proceeds to describe the nature of the

Church organization, and adds:—"Yet Christians of

other denominations we shall esteem it our duty and

happiness to admit to its ordinances and privileges."

After further description of the duties and responsi-

bilities of Church membership, it ends :

—
" We would

also record the hope which avc indulge on this occasion,

that God will bless the measure with abundant fruit-

fulness to our own souls, and that He will ere long

give us the joy of increase, that the small one may
become a thousand, and the little one a great nation."

This compact was signed by those entering into it,

and these are the names .

—

1. Thomas Quinton Stow, fiom the Old Independent

Chapel, Halstead, Essex.

2. Mrs. Stow, from the Old Independent < hapel,

Halstead, Essex.

3. Robert Tod, member of Scotch Church.

4. Mrs. Tod, from Craven Chapel, London.

5. John J. Barclay, from Silver-street Chapel,

London.

6. Mrs. Barclay, from .Albion Chapel, London (I'resby-

terian).

7. WilUam Finlayson, from a Bai)tist Chapel,

Glasgow.
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8. Mrs. Finlayson, from a Baptist (hapel, Edinburgh.

9. Edward Webb, from Independent Chapel, fJiiry

St. Edmunds.

10. James Wright, from Independent ('hapel, Hal-

stead.

11. James Harrington, from Independent (hapel,

Halstead.

After the signatm'es had been affixed, the ]ueinl*rs

proceeded to the unanimous election of Thomas (^uinton

Stow as the pastor of the newly-formed Church. This

was done amidst mutual desires and prayers for the

presence and grace of the Head and I ord of Churches.

Of the above number Mrs. Tod and some few others

have remained in unbroken fellowship A^ith the Church

thus formed until the present day. At the first anni-

versary the members had increased to 86. but still it

was the " day of small things." And when we speak

of the " little one becoming a thousand," we do not

speak in parable, for 1 .850 persons have been entered

on the roll of communicants, of whom 887 are still

united in Christian fellowship in the same ( hurch.

We can tabulate the above numbers, but who can

reckon the amount of godly influence exerted upon
this land by the prayers and holy lives of ministers

and people thus holding together for the setting forth

of divine truth and for the administration of the

ordinances of C^hrist's holy religion '.

When the time came to arise and build, the temple

was a very humble one, and stood on acre No. 5, Xorth-

terrace. It consisted of pine logs, just such ais we
see in the newly-settled parts of the colony now, and

it was thatched with reeds cut by the hands of the

pastor himself and brought from the neighbouring

reedbeds, the original tent still forming the interior
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of the place, but strengthened by })ine logs and made
rainproof with thatch.

1 hey were days in which if a work were needed to be

done it had generally to be done by the hands of those

who needed it. The writer remembers Mr. Stow

describing this circumstance himself, and also that the

colonial chaplain (the Rev. Mr. Howard) brought up

part of the material for the fencing of the land where

Trinity Church now stands with his own hands, a long

and wearisome journey of seven and a-half miles from

the Port. Mr. Stow used to speak of his going across

the river to the slopes of North Adelaide, which were

then well wooded, to cut and carry firewood for domestic

use, and also of his putting some sort of calico shelter

on one side of the rude dwelling-house to protect Mrs.

Stow from the fierce beams of the summer sun as she

performed the necessary household duties in the oj)en

air. A sketch taken at the time of this primitive

building—tabernacle in a literal sense—has been pre-

served, and faithful watercolor sketches thereof have

been multiplied with the inscription on the door " Apply

for sittings to J. Barclay and Wm. Giles, sen., " who
were the C'hurch officers at the time.

Tn about three years from this small beginning the

membership had increased to 110 persons, and such was

the increasing wealth and energy of the people that they

entered upon what was then considered the vast under-

taking of erecting the place of worship known so long as

Freeman-street Chapel. This was reckoned an im-

portant addition to the architectural glories of the city,

and at the time when the writer first saw it—when the

colony was about to complete the twentj^-first year of

its existence—it was still pointed out as a building that

vras a creditable specimen of Sir George Kingston's
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architectural ability and constructive skill. "When
erected it stood near the eastern limit of the population,

all further eastward being little more than open wood-
land country without enclosure, and with only a hut

or house here and there ; and farming operations were
carried on for long years after within the limits of the

city, where acres of fine wheat were reaped every

season.

The chapel in Freeman-street was built on land given

by the well-known Mr. John Brown, of Bank-street,

and the contract taken was for £2,650. The population

was estimated in the years 1839 and 1840 at 12,700,

and the Register of the period speaks of the various

places of worship of the city thus :—They are in general

well filled with respectable and devout congregations.

Tn addition to Trinity Church a new building (St.

John's Church) is in progress on a piece of ground in

East-terrace. The PresbA^terian Church is represented

by the Rev. Mr. Druramond, for the accommodation
of whose increasing congregation a new building is

shortly to be erected. The Congregationalists, under
the ministry of the Rev. Mr. Stow, are providing an
exceedingly handsome edifice, which, however, we
believe will be scarcely adequate to the number of

the reverend gentleman's hearers. The Wesleyan
Methodists already possess an elegant and commodious
place of worship, and they have besides a chapel in a
distant part of the town. The Baptists have a highlv
respectable congregation in Hindley-street." Mr.
Stow and Mr. Drummond were keeping schools for

classical education, the former gentleman teaching in

one of three cottages where the Union Bank now
stands, the juljoining one being used as a Bible and
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Tract Depot. Mr. Wra. Oldham also kept a commercial
school in the citj"^ at the same time.

The chapel in Freeman-street was opened on Novem-
ber 1st, 1840, the fonndation-stone having been laid on
November 9, 1839, when Mr. Stow delivered an address.

On the opening occasion the pastor preached from
Eph. ii. 20-22, -'Built upon the foundation of the
apostles and proiDhets, Jesus Christ Himself being the

chief Corner Stone," &c. He divided his discourse

thus :—I. The Church of God is founded upon inspired

doctrine. II. The Church rests mainly on that part

of inspired truth which relates to the mediatorial

person, office, and character of Jesus Christ. III. The
Church thus constituted is a devout, holy, and spiritual

society.

Mr. Stow was a man admirably qualified for the

pioneer work that fell to his lot. He possessed in-

domitable energy, inflexible strength of will, and an
integrity that commanded the respect of all classes

of the community. He had a sense of public duty so

clear and strong that he engaged in every public matter

that had a bearing upon that " righteousness that

exalteth a nation." And wherever the action of " the

powers that be " was likely to trench upon the rights of

conscience cr the liberty of the individual, Mr. Stow

was always in the forefront. No man came to the

conflict more readily, or stood his ground more firmly,

or gave a reason for his opinion and action with more

convincing power than Thomas Q. Stow.

Underlying all this was his strong, manh- piety that

even his enemies, if he had any, could not gainsay.

The influence of such a man would tell in all conflicts

with opi30sing interests, and was seen strikingly iii



THE BEGINNINGS. 23

the Church and State controversy in 1841 -(5. to which

we shall refer more particularly m another place.

As a token of the respect in which our friend was held,

we have only to mention that on two occasions the

colonists in general united with those of his own religious

denomination and presented him with, on the first

occasion.. tnOO, and on his retirement from the pastorate

of the Church with the munificent sum of £1,000. This

speaks equally as to the qualities of the man and the

appreciation of the people who knew him best. Mr.

Stow lived in town for some years, first near the original

chapel on North-terrace, then near East-terrace, then

in the row of houses called Tavistock Buildings in

Rundle-street, now replaced by the handsome row of

shops. From thence he removed to Pajmieham,

where he purchased a preliminary section, and called

it " Felixstow " after his native place. Here he

built a house, which was his residence as long as he

needed a home upon earth. In the family Bible is

the record in Mr. Stow's wTiting, " Came to ' Felixstow
'

March 2.3. 1843."

\o doubt the special toils of early colonial life told

upon the constitution of our friend. Perhaps also the

heat of the climate might affect his special temperament,

so that by the time 18 or 20 years of hard work had

passed over him, he felt the need of a helper in the

ministry. By the good providence of God the Rev.

C. W. Evan, B.A., arrived in Adelaide seeking for service

in the colony. Mr. Evan came out for the benefit of

his health, needing a warm and dry climate. In his

English ministerial life Mr. Evan had had to make
changes from place to place, his first charge having

been at Lendal Chapel, York, where he left a very

fragrant memory behind him, as the writer had frequent
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opportunities of observing in liis occasional |)]( aching

services in that place some years after Mr. I']van had

left it. He then took a pastorate in the ( hannel

Islands, at Cuernsey, hoping for complete re!K)\ation

of health, but finding it not. In LSof) he arrived in

Adelaide, and immediately took .'service in Freeman-

street, as co-pastor with Mr. Stow, and shortly after

the latter resigned the pa.storate to his colleague, who
continued to discharge the duties of the office so far as

his failing health would allow. He was comix'lled at

last to withdraw fiom all active service, resigning his

office in 1871, and he died on board the " Torren.s
"

just entering the Port of London on the 2i'nd of August,

1876. Mr. Evan was a preacher of singularly refined

taste, and was therefore specially acceptalile to a

cultivated congregation. He had a wonderful hold

upon the sympathies of his people, who showed their

love for him practically in a hundred ways gratifying

to an ailing but sensitive man, and when he resigned

his position there was presented to him a handsome

farewell gift amounting to £8(>((.

We believe that the late Rev. Thos. Binncy, during

his visit to Australia in 1859, was so impressed with

Mr. Evan's ministry that he made overtures to him to

return to London with him and assist him at the Weigh

House Chapel. Fi.sh-street Hill.

Turning again to Mr. 8tow we may remark that

though he resigned his pastorate of nineteen j'ears

over Freeman-street Church in September, 18r)6, he

continued to render public service in preaching wherever

his services were reciuired by the Churches in and

around Adelaide, as well as by his wise counsels in

all the denominational and other societies then in

existence. Tt is to be noticed also that Mr. Stow was
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imceasiiig in his efforts to obtain ministers from Eng-

land and to settle them in the colony, so that by the

time of his resignation of the pastorate there were 17

brethren occnpying jiastoral cliarges. It may not be

uninteresting here to give the list from the record of

the }>eriod :

—

.Adelaide- T. Q. StoAV.

Adelaide- C. W. Evan, B.A.

Adelaide. Ebenezer—J. Hotham.

Angaston—Vacant.

Burra Burra—Vacant.

Brighton and Glenelg—W. Nicholls.

Coromandel— ('. T). Watt.

Enco'inter Bay—R. W. Newland.

Gawler Town—J. M. Lewis.

• Hindmarsh—J. Kelsey.

Kapnnda—W. Oldham.

Kensington—H. Cheetham.

Kensington (second ('hurch)—J. H. Barrow.

Lyndoch Valley—J. Ayling.

Macclesfield-—J. B. Austin.

Maclaren Vale and White's Gully—C. Hall.

Mor])hett Vale—A. R. Philps.

Port Adelaide and Albert Town—M. H. Hodge.

Port. Elliot—J. Roberts.

T\\(j f»f the above brethren were trained for the

ministry Ijy Mr. Stow himself—Messrs. Ayling and

Roberts l)o1h of whom are exercising the ministry
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in Other colonics, and in connection with other Chri.stiun

organizations. A third brother, also not in the above
list (D. Badger) was trained by Mr. Stow, and ministered
among us for some time, but now gives his services to

another section of the (linrch in another colony.

Six years passed away in varied labouis for the well-

being of the ( hurches, during which Mr. Stow was
called to endure nuich suffering, mental as well as

bodily. In 1802. while staying in Sydney for the

benefit of his health, he passed away to his rest at the

age of 61 years, and his mortal remains were transferred

to his own city, and placed in the tomb in the West-
terrace Cemetery amid the mourning of the whole
city. The Houses of Legislature closed their sittings,

and very many of the Ministers of the Crown, the

legislators, and the heads of governmental departments
were present, as well as the principal citizens, and a

large cro\\d of all classes followed the remains of a

good man to their long home. The services in the

church were conducted by the Revs. W. Wilson, W.
Harcus, and F. W. Cox, and at the grave an address

was given l)y the Rev. C. W. Evan that will not be
easily forgotten bj^ those who heard it. In evidence

of the respect in which Mr. Stow was held by all

classes, it may be mentioned that there were present

at the funeral the Chief Justice—Sir Chas. Cooper,

Mr. Justice Boothby, Sir J. H. Fisher, the Bishop of

Adelaide, and Dean Farrell. Father Smythe and E. J.

Peake, M.P., represented the Roman Catholics, and the

Hon. J. M. Solomon and Ph. Levi, Esq.. the Hebrew
congregation, as well as numerous representatives of

all classes of Christian people, rich and poor, gi-eat and
small, who felt that a good man whose service tlie
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Lord had greatly honoured had passed away from among
them.

One might venture to say that there can never be a
second man occupying the position Mr. Stow did in the
colony. A minister of similar mental and spiritual

qualities would only find himself one among others, and
with work that, as to its externals at least, would only
be commonplace. There was a bond of fellow-feeling

among the pioneer colonists that knit their hearts to-

gether as the heart of one man. Together, a small
band, they planted themselves down in a new country,
among strange and savage men, of whose habits they
knew little or nothing. They had to do with their

own hands almost everything they needed to have
done. They spoke of the country beyond Mount
Lofty as an unknown region, and made expeditions to

explore the mystery of what lay beyond. And they
saw as the result of their early labours the colony
gradually growing into a civilised community, ^Aith

increasing population : and instead of a surveyed
forest, with a hut or tent here and there, a city that

had foundations, ever growing in extent and Ijeauty.

This class of men cannot be repeated, nor can the

feehngs they had for each other be kindled in the hearts

of later colonists. The position of Mr. Sto^\ was
exceptional, as well as his powers rare.

When the i)resent Stow Memorial ("hurch was built

there was placed on the north wall a fair tablet of

marble, on which is found the following inscription :
—
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l.ll.tS.

Ix Mkmokv of

THOMAS C^UIXTO.N STOW.
The Pastor of tliis (liinvli from its fouiidatio i on the IPt't

r)efoiTil>er. IS.".?, till his resionatioii in SopttMnlicr, iS'iC.

]io was born at lladloioh, SulTolk, .liilv 7, ISdl, and died at
Sydney on .July 19, l.Siii;.

Al,.SO OF

cAinvALLADKi; wjllia:\i KVAN. B.A..

The Pastor of tliis t'iuir(di from IS;');")-*; till feel)le hcaltli com-
jielled him to surremler a ministry wlnrh liad emleared
him to all who knew lum.

He was l)oi-n at lilangollen, Xortli AVales. in jsi^.".. and died in

liOndon on the 22nd August. ls7f>.

This liuilding was raised by the Publie ol Sonrli Australia
during:; the pastorate of ^Tr. Evan, in testimony to the work
of his preder-essor, who was trusted by ali for his sincerity,

hououred for his wisdom. res])eeted for his talents, and beloved
for his piety.

This tablet is erected in aflectionate remendn-ani-e of tlie litst

nnnisters of f\\\^ the Mother ('Imi'idi of South A^istralia.

FJefoi'c finishinjj; oui' account of the liistoiy of the

mother ( luivch in South Austialia there are two ))oints

yet to be noticed. The one is the erection of the noble

])ile of l)uil(linjj;s now known as the "Stow ^Femorial

Church ""
in Flinders-street ; and the other the pastor.s^

that have exercised the ministry in connection there-

with. The first revered pastor left a name behind

him that it was desired to commemorate in a maimer

that should be Avorthy- of the man and of the cause he

had been the means, under God. of originating. Steps

Avere therefore taken for the erection of a new church

that should better represent the position of the body

and be more worthy of the rising fortunes of the city.

On the 7th of February. 1SG5, the memorial stone was

laid by the Hon. Alex. Hay on acre No. 235. The

meeting was at 3 p.m., when between 700 and 800

people were gathered, the Rev. M. H. Hodge, of Fort
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Adelaide, reading the Scriptures : the Rev. John
Graham, of Sydney, offering the invocatory prayer, and
under the stone were laid the customary memorials.
On the document were given the names of the " Pastor,

C. W. Evan. B.A. ; Deacons, H. Giles, M. Goode,
Carrington Smedley, and Alex. Hay." It states that

the stone was laid " in the 28th year of the reign of

Her Most Gracious :\Iajesty Queen Victoria, Sir Dominick
Daly being Governor of the province ; Revs. John
Graham, of Sydney. M. H. Hodge. G. W. Evan, Geo.
Stonehouse, and F. W. Cox taking part in the service."

In the evening there was a great meeting, for which
750 tickets were sold, and at Avhich Revs. J. Gardner,
Jas. Maughan, John Graham, of Sydney, together
with Messrs. R. A. Tarlton, Chas. Todd, and G. A.
Lloyd, of Sj^dney, took prominent parts. The build-

ing took aI)out t\AO years to construct, and was solemnly
dedicated to the service of the great and holy God
by a meeting for worship and prayer on Friday, April

12, 1867, presided over by the pastor. On Sunday,
the 14th, the Rev. A. M. Henderson, of Collins-

street, Melbourne, preached morning and evening, and
the Rev. Jas. Jefferis in the afternoon. The texts of

the day were—for the morning, Isaiah Ivii. 15, " For
thus saith the high and Lofty One," &c. ; afternoon,

1 John V. 11, 12, "He that hath the Son hath Life,"

&c.; evening, Gal. v. 1, "Stand fast, therefore, in the

liberty wherewith Christ hath made us free," &c.

On Tuesday, 16th, there was a tea and public meeting,
at which particulars of the building were given. The
architecture is Early Gothic, and the cost £10,900 under
the contract, with the lower part of the tower only.

The whole tower was to rise Avhen completed 170 feet

from the jiavement. £6,025 had been received ami
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£100 more jwomised. Thv interior dinu'iisioiis were

mnlli]iles of the sacred number seven. The })ody of

the church in the clear between the pillars 5 x 7 =:-

35 feet ; the aisles, seven feet each : the length, 14x7
= 98 feet ; the height to the spring of the roof, 5 x 7

= 35 feet, and to the centre 0x7 = 42 feet. The \\hole

structure is built of Glen Osmond stone, finished wath

cut freestone from Glen Ewin : anil tl)e carving of

the porch is of fine character. The collections at the

whole of the services, with a small sale on the afternoon

of the meeting, reached £300. On the two Sundays^

next folloA\'ing the services were continued by special

preachers, and thus the whole series concluded. Mr-

Thomas was the architect, and Messrs. English and

Brown the builders.

With respect to those who luive held office since Mr.

Stow's resignation we mention first the Rev. Gharles^

Manthorpe, who was associated A\dth Mr. Evan in the

ministry in 1861, but who resigned his office within a

year or two to take charge of the Church at Glenelg, to

the great regret of the people he left, who missed the

large-hearted geniality of his utterances. The Rev.

Alfred Scales, of Victoria, was invited over to occu]iy

the post until the successor to the permanent ])astorate

should arrive from England. The originality of Mr.

Scales's teaching of the Old Gos];)el verities, and his

startling quaintness, will not be forgotten by those

who listened to his sermons ; nor will the powerful

platform utterances Avith which he sometimes favoured

the Adelaide pubUc. On the arrival of the Rev.

Colmer B. Symes, B.A., of Pl^onouth, he at once entered

upon the work, and was welcomed as pastor in Ajiril,

1872. His ministry Avas characterised by a flowing

and fervid evangelicism that had great charms for many.
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His ministry closed after three and a -half years'

service for the Lord, when he returned to England,

and was pastor of the ( hurch at Kensington, London.

During this period the new Lecture Hall, with class-

rooms attached, was built, of ^\hich the follo\\ing is a

brief account:— The hall is of tine proportions and

lias a range of class-rooms on each side for Sunday-

school use. The stone was laid on March 1^6. 1872,

by the pastor, Rev. C. B. Symes, and the cost Avas to

be ri,889. The hall and its accessories have been of

great use not only to the C lun eh but to the whole city,

also for committee and for luiblic purposes. Halifax-

street school-room is an instance of the mis.sionary

activity of the mother Church. Built for a school-

room it has an.swered that pur])ose. and for a preacliing

station also. It is attended by considerable numbers

of chikU'en and adults at the various services on Sundays

and on week-days.

Some 3ears previously a ministers house had been

built on the Church land, but which in consequence of

the great increase of the value of city property was

foinid to be too valuable for continued use as a residence,

and Avas con.sequently converted into offices.

In the year 1870 the Rev. T. Davis occupied the

jjul])it for a short term, subsetpiently taking charge

.at Milang, and in 187:2 leaving the colony to retvun to

England.

The Rev. W. K. l-'lctchci-. M.A., was then invited

from Richmojul. Victoria, and entered upon his work

in .March. 1S70, and still by the blessing of God continues

it with a bicadth of \ iew over the whole scope of Clod's

•dealing with the children of nicu in the domains of

both natiae and giace that has made it very fruitfid

to numl)ers of his pe<)))le, and whose abundant labours
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in all kinds of worlc (Mlucalioiial. philaiilhropic, and

evangelic'- are a cause of tl\anivfuhicss to all who know

the extent and nature of the work that by (iod's grace

he is enal)led to carry on. The pastor of the niother-

('hurc-li still stands out a eons])icuous figm-e in our

colonial life.

-May the younger ( hurclie.> in their respective spheres

Cinulate with a holy zeal the inHuence for good exerted

h\' tlie ni()tlici-( hurch of South Australia I

.Mr. Fletcher continued to exercise the pastoral over-

sight of this Church for l4 years, and in 1890 sent in

his resignation prior to his taking a trip roinid the

world. \\'ith characteristic humihty Mr. Fletcher con-

cluded the letter of resignation to the deacons with

the words :

" If T were 10 years younger I could not

write this. ])ut in that stage of the journey of life which

I have Tcached. 1 cannot cx])ect a long series of vigorous

years. Let some younger man bear the burden, and

let the older man stand by to help him."'

After .Ml-. Fletchci's return from his tour th(> Church,

desirous of recognising his past scj-vices. and with the

ol>ject of honouring both themselves and him. invited

him to acce])t the office of Honorary Associate Minister,

Avhich position he retained until his decease.

The announcement of his death in Stow Church

Circular was as follows :

—
" It is our painful duty to

record the death of the Rev. W. Roby Fletcher. M.A.,

our Honorary Assistant Minister arid Pastor of the

Glenelg Congregational Church, at his residence,

" Waverti'ce," Kent Town, on Tuesday, the 5th June,

1894, in his G'2nd yeai."

It is interesting to note that the Parkin Trust has
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acquired this property, and the work of the Congre-

gational C ollege is now conducted there. To one who
did so much for the education of an Austrahan ministry,

it would have been gratifying coidd he have foreseen

the use to which his dearly loved home would have been

put.

A fitting memoir of Mr. Fletcher was prepared by

the late Rev. J. J. Hallev. his lifelong friend.

It is remarked in the memoir : " Mr. Fletcher's

Adehiide work A\as the best. Mr. Fletcher did

not confine himself to the work of his own
chvu'ch. though that work was arduous and many
sided. Like all true C'ongregationalists, he was

<lee]>ly interested in anything that was interesting and

important to the community. In educational matters

Mr. P'letcher conspicuously shone. Soon after arriving

in Adelaide he entered the University, taking his M.A.

degree ad einidcni. In 1887 he was elected a member

of the University Council, and was three times re-elected

to that position at intervals of three yeais. When
in 187it the late Professor Davidson was laid aside V)y

temporary illness, Mr. Fletcher was invited, and con-

sented, to undertake the duties of his chaii'. He
fre(|iK'iil ly assisted in the work of the T'ni\ersity as an

examine)-, and when in ls>(l Professor Davidson died,

Mr. Fletch.er was r<'(|U('sted to fill the vacant chair^

aiul this he did until the end of the year, refusing,

however, to fill the \<icaney permanently. After

having serAed the institution, as Professor of lx)gic,

English, and Philosophy foi- two years, the rni\ei-sity

<-onfei'i-ed on Inm the wcll-eai'ned hon(un' of electing him

A'ice-Chaneelloi-. a ])osition which he held for five

A'cars."
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'I'h(' one subject which engaged Mr. Fletchei's atten-

tion junhaps more than any other was that of an

educated colonial ministry. Since the natural deatli

of Union College, of which Mr. Fletcher was one of the

Professors, he iniweariedly advocated and worked for

the establishment of a Congregational College in Ade-

laide. He saw the darling wish of his heart lealised

in the actual establishment of such an institution.

Mr. Fletcher was unanimously elected Principal of

that College, and he (le\ oted himself to the completing

of that scheme, and obtaining young men for the

ministiy of the ( 'ongregational Churches of the colonies.

To put himself in touch with modern methods of

theological thought and training was one of the main
reasons for his visiting the old world again after an

absence of 19 years.

As we write we have a number of pamphlets and

papers before us from the pen of this esteemed man of

God. They are the " Popular Difficulties of the Higher

Criticism," a defence of the then new critical movement
read before our Congregational Union in 1893 :

" J^udflha

and Buddhism," which was the outcome of his journey-

ings in the East, and one on Egypt. Also the magni-

ficent address he delivered from the chair of the Con-

gregational Union in 1878 on " (Jod in Science and Clod-

in Christ," and a large number of sermons on scientific

and literary subjects ]>ublished in the daily press.

The Adelaide \'oung Men's Christian Association'

is largely the child of the old Adelaide Young Men'&
Society founded and guided l)y liim. Most of our

]Uiblic men to-day still s])eak of the old h.apjjy days in

the •Young Men's" when Hoby Fletcher fiist taught

them to think.
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The Rev". Joseph Robertson, M.A., who came from

Petersham, N.S.W., vnth a reputation as an

evangelical and cultured preacher, became the minister

of tlie Church in 1890, and sustained an effective

ministry until 19^4, when he removed to Clayton

Church, Kensington, as the result of an urgent and

unanimous call. During his ministry, Mr. Robertson

became a great force in the public and social

life of Adelaide. He was C!hairman of the Union in

1895-6. and was ever conspicuous for the ready part

he took in every movement for the betterment of the

people.

He had rendered distinguished service in Sydney

for many years as Secretary of Camden College, and

became in succession to Mr. Fletcher the President of

Adelaide College for the education of students for the

Congi'egational ministry.

Great cities change. Yet notwithstanding the

migration to the suburbs which became very general

in the time of Mr. Robertson's ministry among the

members of the old famihes of the Church, he continued

to attract large congregations, and ably maintained

the noble traditions of Stow.

In 1899 Mr. Robertson was sent as the South Aus-

tralian delegate to the Pan Congregational Union

Meetings at Boston, U.S.A.

In 1904 the Rev. A. Depledge Sykes, of Romford-

road, Forest Gate, London, came out to assume the

pastorate in succession to Mr. Robertson. Mr. Sj^kes

received the early part of his training for the ministry

underthat great evangelical teacher and social reformer

the late Dr. J. B. Paton, and afterwards proceeded to

Western College, where he continued his studies under

Principal Chapman. He came to Australia with a
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considerable reputation as a preache^r. and began at

once to draw large congregations by the intellectual

force and spiritual passion of his utterance. To adopt

M^ords we have heard him use himself- he is a Iwentieth

century man seeking by his pi'eaching to bring twentieth

century men in touch with things spiritual.

Mr. Sykes has enriched the life of our {"hurehcs in

his insistence on two special points : He holds an exalted

notion of the Church. He vehemently insists it is

" the body of Christ." And he with equal vehemence

insists that our Avorship shall be real and noble. After

labouring for two years amongst us, a return to England

became imperative in consequence of the illness of his

wife. After an ab.sence of 10 months, as a result of

an urgent call and the assurance on the part of the

people that they would do all in their power to uphold

him in his work, Mr. Sykes returned to Adelaide and

resumed his ministry.

During his ministry considerable alteiations have

been made in the interior arrangements of the building,

that the service may be made as worshipful as possible.

The old pulpit has been taken away, and an open dais

raised in its place, \\hich is aj)proachcd by steps vising

from the main floor of the Church. A hand.some

pulpit has been placed near the western transe])t. and

from this the preacher is heard more distinctly than

from the old one. The organ has been removed into

the eastern transept, and a suitable Communion Table is

noAv standing on the dais. The Devotional Service

of Dr. John Hunter is used, and the people take part

with befitting reverence and heartiness. The choir

is surpliced, and leads the musical part of the service

with solemnity and efficiency under the leadership of

Mr. E. A. Daltry, who has been organist for the last
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five years, in succession to Mr. James Shakespeare,

who held the position for 40 years.

The work in the Sunday-school is well maintained,

but the trend of the population towards the suburbs

has not been without its effect upon the attendance,

and it is to be remembered that the Mission School

in Halifax-street absorbs most of the city children

who might be expected to attend this school. The

minister has established a Men's Club and a Ladies'

Reading Circle, both of which are largely attended.

Some of the members of the Church take an active part

in Parliamentary and municipal life, and thus Stow

Memorial Church continues to hold its influential

position in the life of Adelaide.

Mr. Sykes completes A^th the publication of this

record his year of office in the Chair of the Union. He
has rendered most valuable services to the Churches

in the cotnitry and metropolis. He has had not a

little to do with the broadening and deepening of

religious teaching in this land.



CHAPTER IV.- rJENERAT. OBSERVATIONS ON
OUR MINISTERS ANT) rHTRC^HES.

We have gone through the history of the Motlier

Church at a length and with a fulness that cannot he

given to the Churches that have sjjrung u]) since. Her

position was unique in our colonial history. T^efore w^
proceed with the historic record of the Churches, we

make some references to the Congregational ministiy of

South Australia in general. We shall do this not by

way of contrast with the ministers of other Church(s,

but merely to show the actual position we have occupied.

Which position has often resulted more from the cir-

cumstances of the colony than from any real or supposed

su])eriority of our men themselves.

There have been 98 men entitled to call themselves

Congregational ministers, and recognised as such by the

body in general, during the first 50 years of our colonial

life, of whom 30 have fallen asleep, most of them after

faithful service, and leaving honourable memories behind

them. Among so many there hcxve been a fe^^ wliose

characters have not adorned the doctrine^ th(\v ) )]ofess-. -d,

but who were sources of distress and sorroAv to the

Christian brotherhood, u;d who were luiable to maintain

their gtanding among us. To the causes of their

failure we need not particularly refei-. On this sad

record the number is only two, and a third who joined

another body of (christians before his final lapse.

In England the number of clerical men on the roll of

Justices of th,e Peace is consideral)le, though, we believe,

such appointments are rarer now than they used to be.
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111 this colony one of those reversals of the old order,

so frequently furnishing matter of comment, is seen

in this also. We believe that no minister of religion,

•either in active duty or on the retired list, has ever been

appointed a J. P., except in the Congregational ministry,

of which six men have been so appomted, and in one or

two cases the appointment has been offered and declined.

One reason for this may be found in the comparative

permanency of our ministers, and also in the fact that

some of those of earlier date were landholders, and

occupying more or less prominent social position apart

from their ministry. We have had men who had

very much the position of the country squire in England,

and who were leaders in every social and benevolent

and sometimes political movement also. Some of

•our brethren have been fai'mers, cattle breeders. District

Councillors, and others have been no small blessing

to the neighboui hood in which they lived by theii*

medical and surgical skill. We do not here pass

•opinion on the question whether it will be more favour-

able to a man's spiritual work that he should be engaged

in general secular concerns among his neighbours. We
merely state the fact, and we have no doubt but that

such exercise of their manifold gifts was lenderecl

necessary, and was in many cases of great benefit to

the colony.

Another ])oint in this connection may be stated :

That seveial of our ministers have been more or less

closely coiiiicc1c<l with jounialisni. sonic as well-known

contributors, and in two cases Congregational ministeis

have been chosen to controllirg [lositions on the daily

press, and in two othci- cases ha\-c refused projjosals

made 1o them for icgulai' journalistic scrxicc.

Of the whole number of our ministcjs, there ha\ e been
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twflve cases of leDioval to other ( hristian Churches,

Four of thos(> ioincd the Kpiscopal ( hurch. and the other

eia:ht united themselves to bodies kindred to our own in

order and (Uict lini'. In some cases a change of view pre-

cedefl the elianL>t> of phice, but the writer onlj' knows of

three or foui in whicli such a precedent change was ap-

parent, (^nittinu us lias usually I'esulted from a door

being opened for service elsewhere, where the i)i"inciples

on which the ministry would be exercised would be on

the whol(> ,u((i!(lant with ))revious usage. Five joined

the Presl)y1eii.>ii ministry. l)ut of them t^vo returned to

theii- did conniiunion. Twc left iis for the Eaptist

comnnniion. and one. making the eighth, foimed a

Church independent of all others. Eight of our

ministers joined the Congregational Churches after

havin,L: exeix-ised theii' ministry in other Connexi( ris.

\Mnle recording the jjeculiarities and the failures of

our ministeis. it may not be out of place to notice also

our failures to maintain our ])articulai' organization in

fields of lal)our where we had actiially Inoken ground

and .'^eemcd to have established ourselves. In Coro-

mandel Valley the Ivcv. (
'. T). Watt Avas settled, and

maintained his ministry there for several years. Icav-ing

the {lace in 1 S5.S foi' Albert on and Shipley, where he

laV)()uie(l !aithfull\ in the I.ord's kingdom until he went

to .Alilano to take the ])astoral charge there. At the

Bmra a minister la})ourefl for some years-—the Rev. H,

Cheetham but on his leaving the place foi- Kensington

the doors weie closed. At MoiiOiett Vale, J^righton.

]Middleton. Currency- Creek, (^oolwa. Lyndocli Valley.

Edwai-dstow n. Alberton. Mount barker. Aldinga, Glad-

stone, and Palmerston. in the Northern Territorv. we

have had eithei' settled ministers or their maintenance

as jtreaching stations for a longer or shorter period,.
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but we have ceased to occupy them for some time

past. In some cases they have passed into other

hands, and the services of (iod's house have been

continued vvitli profit to the people. It nuist not be

supposed that all these cases were failuies caused by
our want of zeal or interest in the welfare of our felkn\

-

colonists. True in some cases there were troubles,

and in others there was inability to maintain the interest

from want of men to enter upon and enhixate the

field. In some ca.ses, however, we left the Held because

others were ready to occupy it and to do the Lord's

work efficiently. In many cases our denominational

interests have suffered because we would not contend

for the possession of a place which seeined Hkcly to be

fairly supplied with Oospel ordinances ])y some other

ev^angelical section of the universal Church, and often

hav^e we waived our pi-ior claim foi' peace sake and the

Oospel's.

There are several ministers \\ hose names ha\c |)as,vcd

out of the niemory of all but some of the older colonists

who were l)i-ouuht more closely into association with

them. They shotdd not be ])assed withont notice.

The name of the Hew Jas. Sawle is still fresh in the

memoi-ies of s(une of the ]:)rethren at .\ngaston as a.

faithfid nn'ni>1er. 'I he sam(> may l)e said of the He\s.

John M. Lewis, who lal)oui'ed foi' some years at Lyndoch
Vallcx'. and Kdward .\<;o-(>tt. who did Liood service at

Oawler. Tlicy haxc all passed away, and aic ii'mein-

Ix'r-ed hut l)y few amoiiu' us now, Hence this hrief

nodee as a tribute to the dead.



CHAPTER v.- SOME CONTROVERSIEvS.

The State CnvKcrH Controversy.

It has ))een already noticed that at the earliest stages

of oui' colonial history there \\ere difTeiences of opinion

on the subject of a State Church, and that provisionsi

were made in the first Bill foi- colonial cha])laincies,

which Mere afterwards exjjungcd. J^efore very long

the desire for State grants and State pay manifested

itself in the colony. As early as 1841 Oovernor Cawler

submitted a pet scheme of his own to Lord John Russell^

of which the essential point was that to make " pro-

vision for the rehgious destitution of the colony,
"^

land should be sold for 5s. aa acre to trustees for religious

and educational purposes. Mr. Stow wrote a letter

{Rtgistir. July 10, 1841) showing the scheme to be

even more dangerous than a direct annual grant would

be, as lai-ge areas might be held in this way in per-

petuity, giving to their holders an immense advantage

over the colonists who gave t^Os. an acre. A very

lively discussion took ])lace between Mr. Slow and

Ihe • .Ali(|uis"' and the "Scrutator," &c., of that day.

\\g sujjpose the scheme was never canied out, as the

controversy died out for several years. It came out

in the couise of the discussion that there were 13,000

])eoiile in the colonw and ]\fr. Stow congratulates

himself on the fact of there being six ordained ministers,

one divinity student, and a number of a})le lay preachers !

This gives one minister to e\ery 'MdC i)eople. How
nnich stronger would Mr. Str w's argument have been

if he !()uM have foreseen the result ff the next 40
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yea.Ts' effort to evangelise the people by Cliristian

Avillinghood alone when there Avere enumerated in the

census of 1881 341 clergymen (!) to (say) 300,000 people,

giving one minister of religion to 881 people, besides

the host of valuable lay preachers and readers in almost

every section of the Christian Church.

In July, 1846, the nominee Legislative Council pro-

posed to legislate on the subject once more. It would

seem that at tirst it was to be a sort of capitation tax of

2s. per head, but apparently feeling doubtful about the

scheme, a meeting was called in the Court House, Way-
mouth-street, by SherilT Newenham on the 20th.

There A\as a large meeting, about 500 being present,

and the object of the meeting was to express their

" views on the propriety of the measure being passed

by the Legislative Council for promoting religion and

education." Dr. Wyatt moved and the Master of

the Supreme Court (Henry Jickhng, Esq.—dear quaint

old Henry Jickling !)— -seconded a motion affirmative

to the above, when Mr. Stow moved and Mr. Anthony

Foster seconded an amendment -" That in the opinion

of this meeting no portion of the public reveinie of

the colony should be applied by the C4overnment

towards the support of religion."" Messrs. Bartley,

Stephens, and others took part, and the speaking

Avas very fair : but a\ hen the amendment \sas put,

four-fifths of the meeting supported it. The t^.A.

Colonist, an opposing journal, was obliged to admit that

only 100 Church of England people Avere present,

against 40(1 on the other side. A consideralile amount

of petitioning Avent on on both sides, and. as the

Covernor i-efused abruptly to give heed to an inHr.ential

deputation that waited on him, an organization Avas

set on foot groaning midei- the stujiendous name ot
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"The South Ausi jahaii Anti-Stato-snppoil-lor-lJt liirioii

Leairui'."" it was. limvever. imich niorc H\i-ly than

it'^ iianic. and (\u\ Liood woik foi' some time. A Society

v.as imnicdiatcly foi ined on the othei- si(h\ ^\\\h a >h(>rter

name, hut ol small vitality- " The Soutli Au>traUan
< 'huvcli Society."' of which \\e do not hear much more.

At a meetiuii" on .Vupust 21, IS-Mi. the Legislative

<'ouncil determined, in spite of the pul)hc prote?;t, to

make a aiant. and in tlie course of 1847. I'
."(•<• was voted

for this purpose, and to he available until June 30,

1851. At that time a special resolution of the Council

contiiiucd it till .Vuuust. 1S.")1. and the sum of il 1!) 10/l(i

was voted to close the account to the last-named date.

This wa.s the last payment made by the Covernment.

We find some very fiery corre.spondence took place

-among our Wesleyan fiiends on account of acceptance

of the grant by some of that V)ody. This acce])tance

•was against the expressed desire of a majority of the

class-leaders. A leading article in the Bert'ster says :

—

* Who can deny now that the State interfeience with

religion has caused dissension and injury :' The V)ody

of Wesleyans Avas happy and united : but now how
changed : Trustees i-etiring, benefactors cea.sing to

contribtite. local preachers resigning their sacred office,

members withdrawing, and all for the wedge of gold

which ONE (for till lately there was none) could not see

witho'it coveting." Fd. 8tephr-iis wrote ])ublicly

that he would not give the land in ( !awler-place for

the chuj'ch and mission house which he had promi.-ed,

since the Wesleyan l)ody had broken compact.

The final closing of the State grant arose from the

•extension of the 1 egislative Council from pure nominee

to the addition of Hi elective members added to the

<;ight uoiuinees. Aidodl:' the vollexs of letter^ and
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articles that passed during this ])eriod was one that

may not l^e unsuitable to us in all tiir.es :

—

" A Catechism.— Quest.—What is liberty '. Ans.—
The power to make other people do as Ave please.

QuRs.—^\i»i is an Act of Toleration? .4?^s•.- A
person con.scientiously picking a Quaker's pccket.

Que?.—What is a bountiful grant I ^4n.s.—Giving'

away other people's money. Ques.—Which are the

'awfully destitute' country districts? Ans.—The
romantic villages of Walkerville and Xorth Adelaide,

Qves.—\\\vAi is a logical conclusion ' Ans.- That it

is cheaper to make other people pay for oin- parsons

than to pay them ourselves. C^?/e6-.— What is the

best methcd of teaching a inan the value of leligicn ?

.J«.<. - To force liim to pay handsomely for its siip])ort."^

And so on.

The nominee legislators now appointed A\erc Mr,

Gwynne. Mr. John ^Nlorphett, Mr. John Grainger, and

]\Iajor Xorman Gam])bell. in addition to the ofiPcial

nominees—the Colonial Secretary (Mr. Sturt), the

llegistrai'-General (My. B. T. Finniss), the .Advocate-

Cleneral (AFi'. R. P. T?anson), and the Collector of Cus-

toms (Mr. R. R. Toirens). This change in the coristitu-

tion of the Council by the ap])ointment of K) elective

CV)uncillors caused the election throughout the colony to

turn entirely upon this one point -Shall rehgion be left

to the vf)Kmtarv ei!ort of those who believe, or shall the

State make grants to the various bodies tVoin general

taxation? On .August 'JO, IS")!. ^Ii-. Gwynne
introduced the Bill foi' concuirent eiKlowment- that is.^

tho gi'anting sums from the public purse ec^ual to tht-

subscriptions raised by the adherents of each denomina-

tion. -As soon as the first reading was ^jroposed^

CaptaiTi Hagot o])posed; giving rcason.s for not allowing^
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the J^iJl to lie road o\('ii for the lirst time, on tlie gtcnind,

^rmong others, that " it was tlie re-enact iiient of a

defunct ordinance.'" Mr. (Jeo. Kingston ])rotested

against the re-introduction of the Bill ''after the all

but unaiiinions dr inonstration of the colonists against

it." -Mr. Hall said :--'' If they threw out the present

Bill, it would be the first step to throwing oil their

allegiance to the King of kings." 'I'o which .Mr. Oh.

S. Hare tersely and ])ertinently gave the- only suitable

answer—" Ncnscnst !"" The aniendincnt that the

Bill be read that day six inonths was carried at once,

the following being the tUvision ;— .V_\es Mr. U. 1).

Hanson (an official nominee), ('a|)t. Bagot, Mr. Hart,

Mr. Fran. S. Dutton, ^Ir. J. Benthani Xeales. Mr. (Jiles,

Mr. R. Davenport, Mr. A. L. Inkier. Mr. Cieo. Kingston,

Mr. Wm. Peacock, Mr. ('. S. Hare, and .Mr. d. M. Water-

house. Xoes—The Colonial Secretaiy. the Registrar-

General, the Collector of Customs, ^lajor ( ampbell. 'Sir.

Hall, ^Ir. Younghusband, Mr. Cirainger, Mr. Baker, and

Mr. Gwynne. Thus ended triumphantly to the pojmlar

-cause -which was in this case the cau.sc of conscience

against that of font ; of the Gos|)el agaiiist Law . So

may it ever be !

During the time the State gi'ant lasted wc find the

following to be the .imounts and the recipients under

Act 10/47, beginning April 1, 1848 ;

—

Church of England .. £1,791 ir, u

Chuich of Rome . . . . 247 7 ••

Church of Scotland .. :293 14 <t

\\' eslevans .

.

. 336 IS t

»

£2,660 n n

The salary and allowances to the Colonial Chaplain

Avould be between £300 and £400 a vear additional.
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This office was held at this time bv an esteemed

Church of England ininistec (the Rev. .Dean Farrell),

and was left untonched b\' common consent. Avhich was
creditable to the victorious party- Here was shown
that powerful ])rinc'i])Ie in the English character to-

respect personal vested interests, and also perhaps the

feeUng that the principle for which the lovers of free

religion contended did not necessarily extend to those

cases where men aie placed in such circumstances

as not to be able to exercise their usual rights or pri-

vileges of citizenship— that is, the occupants of prisons,.

hospitals. asylums, and similar government establish-

ments. This grant of P300 and perquisites was left

in the hands of the good fJean as long as he lived,

and at his death a ])ortion of the money was distributed

among several persons, ministerial or lay, who regularly

performed the required functions at the Stockade, the

(raol, and the Asylums.

We have dwelt at considerable length on this pro-

longed contest from its vast importance to the national

welfare through all coming time.

In 1.S56 a constitution was granted by the Crown to-

the colony, when the last vestiges of nomineeism -were

swept awa3% and the whole Government, \^ith the

necessary exce])tion of the vice-regal office, was placed

on the broadest popular basis, which constitution with

some changes continues to the present day.

The Visit of Mr. Binisey.

The next great event in our religi.jus historj'', which

unfortunately partakes also of the character of a contro-

versy, was the visit of the Rev. Thomas Binney in 1.S58.

Mr. Binney was the pastor of an ancient Nonconformist

Church then worshipping in the Weigh House Chajiel,
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Fish-strcet Hill, London. A man ieniaika])lo for the

largeness of his heart and for his powei' of ad<lressing

Gospel truth to the intelligent, thoughtful, and eultvned.

Finding his health impaired by the severe labours of a

London pastorate he took his journey from Liver])Ool on

December 24, 1857, and airived in IMelboui'ne on March

31, 18a8, and before the elose of the year visited this

colony, where he was received with the greatest en-

thusiasm by all classes of the eomnnniity from the

Governor downwards, and by all sections of the C hurch

•of Christ. Of course, he came more closely into con-

tact with his own p(H)j)le in Adelaide, and Iheie were

great numbers to \\hom he had stood in the c^loser

relationship of pastor, besides those A\ho were only his

occasional hearers in London. A meeting was held in

the .school-room in Freeman-street, to which the

ministers came for more confidential converse, and a

pleasant and proHtable time was spent in giving him

information on the working of our Churches and the

special difficulties of colonial life. Mr. Biimey made

minute enquiries of some of the bi-ethren from the

country, and gave some counsel that show the largeness

of his mind and tenderness of his heart, even when

it might not be exactly adapted to the case in hand.

Of the pulilic services held during his visit, the fol-

lowing were the most noteworthy :-()n September 2i

Mr. Binney gave a lecture in White's Rooms, which was

then the only place in the city for a large asseml)ly, and

afterwards known as Garner's Theatre. The entrance was

2s. 6d., and the place was crowded. The proceeds were

announced to be devoted to the funds for celebrating

the twenty-first anniversary of the foundation of the

colony, and the subject was " Writing and Speecli, or

Hints for Prose Composition and Public Speaking."
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Strange to say there is no record of that n!arvel]ou&

address, as the notices in the Press were vciy brief.

There was one striking episode in it when ^fr. Bini;ey

read a fine passage from (so far as memory serves) a

X'niversity prize essay, and then humourously described

a book of his oMn from which the ])assage was taken

word for woi'd. This was done M"ith an easy grace of

manner that made the audience laugh. When from

the midst of the audience Bisho]) Short call< <1
"" And

Ihe piize essayist was a veiy good judge, tco."' which

fairly convulsed the people.

The great success of this lecture, which was town talk

for the nex; few days, led to a demand foi' an.other

specimen of Mr. Binney's eloquence, and the Sunday-

School Union made a request for his services. A
lecture on St. Paul's life was announced for the follow-

ing week, to which the Hisho]) was invited as ( hairman.

With what result will be seen farther on. It Avas^

held in the same place, and the tickets were only Is. 6d,

to suit the pockets of the class specially invited. The
crowd was so great that it was feared some accident

would have ha])))ened in the rush on the opening of the

doors, but hap])ily no disaster worse than torn dresses

and distur1)ed feelings took jjlace. The lecture was
two hours long, and was, no doubt, a masterly one,

but of necessity it lacked the ])lay of fancy, and the

changes of face and voice that had given such a charm
to the former one. There was, no doubt, a feeling of

disappointment, which was not caused by any fault of the

lecturer, but ))artly to the subject, and ])aitly from

the o\ eiw longht expectation of the audience.

A very influential Committee was then formed to get

up a public b.'eakfast to bid farewell to our visitor,

and to i!iakc all anangfinents to give it pioper eft'ect.
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It was certainly no easy task to do this. What with

diversity of opinion in the Committee as to the tone

of the meeting—\Nhethei- it should partake of a dis-

tinctively religious character, or should have wider

scope—and what with the showers of letters from

various quarters, especially from Mi'. Biniiey himself,

who sometimes wrote several times a day-, suggesting

something or repudiating something, and pioviug that

he belonged to the genus irritahile voinm, theie were

searchings of heart and fears of a general failure. At

last a letter from Mr. Binney himself a])pearcd in the

Register, stating that the meeting was to be a colonial

one and not of a Church character, to the great satis-

faction of some of us. It was held on October 20, with

the then Attorney-General, the Hon. R. 1). Hanson,

in the chair. The tickets were eight shillings and

sixpence each. The Governor, Sir Richaid (J. Mac-

Donnell, began the oratory, and was followed by Sir

Charles Cooper (Chief Justice), the Rev. T. Q. Stow,

and the Rev. John (xardner, whose very racy speech

put the meeting in a good humour. Mr. Binney's

speech began in a low key, but as he warmed his power

over his audience increased, and upon the whole he

held his audience thoroughly. He dwelt upon his

impressions of the colony, and then slid into the con-

troversy Mith the Bishop, which was then filling the

minds of the people. He said in the course of his

speech that South Australia was perhaps the only place

in the British Em}iire where the Queen's representative

could ask for the admission of a Dissenting minister

into a Church of England pulpit. The Bcgister gave a

report of the meeting in six columns of the dense print

of that day, and calls the speech of Mr. Binney '' a

masterpiece of effective oratory." Mr. Binnej' preached
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liis farewell sei-mons oii Sunday, October 17, in Freeman

-

street Church morning and evening, and in Young-
street Bible ( lu-istian Church in the afternoon. Services

had been conducted in various places of worship in the

city, suburbs, and country during his stay ; notably

one very large and enthusiastic gathering was held in

Pirie-street Wesleyan Church, and shortly after our

visitor left us and returned to England the following

year.

The whole history of .Mr. Binney's visit and the con-

troversy on Church principles was published in the

colony in a volume of 114 pages under the title of '' The
Church of the Future as depicted in the Adelaide

correspondence"—the "Adelaide Correspondence'' it-

self having been previously printed in Sj^lney in a

pamphlet of 83 pages. Mr. Binney had the substance

of the above published in London, with some omis-

sions and modifications, under the title of " Lights and
Shadows of Church-Life in AustraHa," Jackson and
Walford, I860.

Mr. Binney in his book deals much whh ( hurch
union, Liturgical revision, and other questions that had
arisen. He says :—" I see no prospect of Presbyterians,

Wesleyans, Independents, and other non-Episcopal

bodies becoming convinced that they are all schismatics,

acknowledging their sin, giving up their ])ractical

freedom of action, and submitting themselves to the

control of p]nglish Bishojw. This is what is required,

both in England and Australia, as iiecessary to Christian

union." This passage occurs in a sort of review of

several books on Christian union that had been sent to

him. But the gist of Mi-. Bimiey's book hes in the

correspondence between liimsclf and Bishop Sliort,

of a kindly atid spontaneous charncter, and a further
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eoiT('s])()ii(loiiC(' arising from the piihlic icc^uest of a

nninlici' ot meiiilxTs of tlu' Climcli of England that

Mr. Binnoy ?^houlcI be asked to pieacli in an Anglicaji

churol). or in some other place, with the sanction of the

Bishop.

From the letter of l^lshop Short o])ening the question,

we make some quotations. It is dated Bishop's Court,

8e])te)nl)ei- i'3. 1858. and addressed to the Rev. T.

Binney. The Bisho]) refers to special intercourse at

the house of a ])ri\ate friend, and admits that prejudices

of a ])artial and sectarian character may sway the minds

of both E]>isco])al an<l Nonconformist ministers, and

yet that both may look back " with some degree of

regret that a mid-wall of ))artition >hould so have

separated kindred souls.'" The Bi.sho]) says (page 5)

that hundreds would be asking :- " Why is he not

invited to preach to us in our churches ? What is

the barrier that ]irevents him and other ministers

from joining with our clergy at the Lord's Table, and

interchanging the ministry of the \A ord in their respec-

tive pulpits ?" The Bisho]) declares that the presence

of so ' considerable a person as yourself " forces him

again to consider the question. He says :

—
" i^gain

and again the thought recurrccl to me, Talis cum sis

idivxim nosier esses- Still I felt that neither the

power of your intellect, nor vigour of your reasoning,

nor mighty eloquence, nor purity of life, nor suavity of

manners, nor soundness of faith, would justify me in

departing from the rule of the Church of England— a

tradition of eighteen centuries, Axhich declares you)'

orders irregular, j^our mission the offspring of division,

and your Church system, I will not say schism, but

dichostasy " (A standing aj^art—Gal. v. 20). The

Bishop goes on to say :

—
" But while adhering to this
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decision. I am free to confess that my feelings kick

against my judgment. " He then expands the above

idea throughout the letter, which occupies 18 pages

of the book, and is written in a kindly spirit toward.s

all who love the Lord Jesus. He also says that he

was about to leave Adelaide for a five weeks' tour,

and therefore was unable to bid ^fr. Binney farewell.

This explains why Mr. Binney's answer thereto was
not given direct, but in an address to the Tasmanian
Congregational Union at Hobart at a later date, and

by letters written from Victoria.

In dealing ^Wth the letter Mr. Binney says (p. 31)

—

" His Lordsliip's letter cannot be read without deep

interest. It is distinguished by a fehcity of diction,

an earnestness and a glow, which at once Avin the ear

and warm the heart, and which awaken toward the

writer sentiments of admiration, respect, and love.

Its first paragrajahs sparkle with sentences which are

bright and luminous from the sj^irit of candour and

liberahty which pervades them. Even after certain

ideas are introduced which tend to lower or modify
our feelings, fervid and eloquent passages occur so

pregnant with all that is comiJrehensive and catholic

that we are unable to resist their fascinating influence.'"

Mr. Binney then deals with the principles set forth in

the Bishop's letter~(l) That none of the Christian

sects can reasonably hope to force on the Christian

world his own peculiar system. (2) That the eaily

<^'hurch did embody all the characteristics of the dif-

ferent denominations which the Bishop had enumerated,
and says they are all substantially line, but not ex-

clusively so. The Bishop wishes to see all these

principles once more united in the Church ok the
Future, which is to conciliate all affections and unite
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all (li\ c'lsitics. This all-desirable (•(insumniation is

to be effected by

—

^a) The acceptaiiee of an orthodox

creed : (b) The use of a common liturgy, with use of

free prayer : (c) An Episcopate freely elected l)y the

miited Churches (p. 'M).

In further review Mr. Binney goes on to express his

disappointment at the Avhole. Two opposing tones run

through the whole. On first reading Ave are sti'uck by

a numl)er of notes of most musical sweetness. But

ever and anon " a jarring note ke(>ps o})truding its

dissonance and marring the music." " A tradition of

18 centuries declares your orders irregular," and so on ;

so that at last it comes to this, that the " wise and good

may eventually find a spiritual home within her pale !
!"

So that the Bishop's scheme for inaugurating the

Church of the Future " starts, as it seems to me, b\'

proposing the most humiliating terms to the clergy

of every community but his own." We cannot follow

Mr. Binney's searching exposition of what, after all.

the Bisho}) really meant, through all its masterly

analj^sis.

Enough has been said to show the substance of the

A\hole of the Bishop's corresi)ondence amounts to this—

That the traditions of 18 centuries are to outweigh all

that amount of direct apostolic testimonj^ contained in

the four Gospels and the apostolic writings. Our

position as Congregationahsts is that the New Testament

is our sole law-book, and that whatever is not contained

therein is neither necessary to human salvation nor to

ecclesiastical order ; and that whatever is drawn

from later sources, when corruption of both faith and

practice had set in with such steady force, will be not

really helpful, but injurious to both individual growth

in grace and to Church life and order. We are by the
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study of history and by the convictions of conscience

bound to reject these " traditions of 18 centuries,'' and

to limit our faith to what both Anghcans and non-

AngUcans agree in calHng Holy Scripture.

During Mr. Bimiey's stay in Adelaide pubHc attention

had been drawn to the attitude of the Church of England

towards him by an attempt to procure a service from

him in the Church of England. After the Bishop's

letter which opened the correspondence it is not to be

Avondered at that steps should be taken in this direction.

A memorial, dated October 11, was drawn up, and

signed bj' the Governor (Sir R. G. MacDonnell) and a

number of the most prominent official members of the

legislature and executive as follows :

—"To the Lord

Bishop of Adelaide. We, the undersigned members

of the United Church of England and Ireland attached

to her ritual and Church government, yet desiring to

promote union and Christian fellowship between the

Churches agreeing in our common Protestant faith,

believing also that your Lordship is most desirous of

adopting all measures calculated to extend and estabhsh

the common Catholic principles of faith held by the

Protestant Chru-ch of Christ, into whatever sections

that Church may be divided, and earnestly desiring to

assist j-our Lordship's efforts in that behalf, seize the

opportunity now afforded by the presence in Adelaide

of a distinguished member and minister of the Church

of Christ to offer a sign of goodwill towards our brethren

of the evangelical Churches bj^ requesting your Lord-

ship to invite the Rev. Thos. Binney, previous to his

departure from Adelaide, to fill one of our pulpits

in this citj^" and so on. We do not care to follow

the above prolonged and involved sentence to the end.

Its meaning was clear enough, and its purpose fraternal.
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Unfortunately the newspapers in printing the

memorial inserted the style and titles of the Governor

and others, so giving it an official appearance. The
names first on the list, as given V)y the papers, were

His Excellency the Governor (Sir R. G. MacDonnell),

Hon. Wm. Younghusband, Chief Secretary ; Hon. F.

S. Dutton, Commissioner of Crown Lands ; Hon. A.

Blyth, Commissioner of Public Works ; Hon. Capt.

Bagot, M.L.C., Capt. W. O'Halloran, Auditor-General,

the whole number was 61, of whom ten were Synods-

men of the Church of England. The Bishop being

absent the memorial was addressed to the Dean, who
called the Chapter together, who answered the

memoralists by sa^dng, " That it ^vas resolved unani-

moush' that it is not ^vithin the province of the Dean
and Chapter to comply Avith the request. Signed,

James Farrell, Chairman." On his return to Adelaide

the Bishop answered the memorial on November 19.

The essence of the answer was, " that the spirit out of

which the request proceeded appears to me worthy

of all respect, but the obstacles in the w&y of giving

effect to the principle involved in such an invitation

are, in m}' opinion, little hkely under the present

circumstances and views entertained ' by the various

sections of the Protestant Church ' to be overcome.

The above action called for a counter-memorial about

the same time, in which certain undersigned members

of the Church of England give expression to their

" deep regret that a memorial urging the invitation of

an unordained minister, and of a denomination in

separation from our Church, to teach in our pulpits

should have been addressed to your Lordship." The

memoralists rely on the Bishop's wisdom to preserve

the Church from all unauthorised measures within, as
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-well as every iiitru-siou hon\ Avithout. A\hich may tend

to obliterate even the least of her time-honoured and

<listinctive characteristics." The meniorial proceeds in

the same customary strain, and closes with satisfaction

expressed at the decision of the Dean and Chapter.

We observe throughout the paper the same preference

for forms and ordinations oAcr character and ability

that is characteristic of all hierarchical pretension,

whether east, or west, or north, all the world over.

This the Bishop answers at some length, reviewing

his former utterances, and expressing a wi^h '" that the

wise and good and able of all evangelical denominations

may find it possible hereafter by the adoption of com-

mon principles to join the great confederacy of the

Gospel "—assuming thus that they are outside that

" confederacy of the Gospel " while they are outside

the pale of the Anghcan Church !

About the same time another correspondence was

made public by the Press in which the same unhappy

principles were manifested as in the former case.

Mr. S. J. Way (now His Honor the Chief Justice)

wrote to the Bishop asking him to appoint a day in

which he would be willing to receive a deputation from

the Sunday School Union, consisting of Mr. S. Bake-

well, Mr. -Martin, and himself to obtain " the consent

of your Lordship to preside at a lecture to be dehvered

on behalf of the institution by the Rev. Thos. Binney,

of London." On the 10th September the Bisho]»

answered, declaring that he was sensible of the com-

pliment paid him, " whether personally or officially
"

in the offer, also stating his respect for Mr. Binney,

and his wish that the work to which " he and others

believehim to be duly called, may prosper in his hands."

But as the congregations to which those Sunday-school
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teachers belong " have separated in times past from

the Church of England on some not miimportant points

of doctrine or discipline," he could only make common
ground with them by abandoning or ignoring the

practice and principles of the Church over which he was
called to be an overseer. For these reasons he declined

to receive the deputation. It should be observed

that some of the schools represented in the Union were

Church of England schools, and they were working

Avith their brethren in harmony that had never been

broken. One short sequel to the above may be added

as springing out of this part of the controversy. Mr.

Binney wrote from St. Kilda on the following February

to the Bishop, in which he saj's that reasons " compel

some of us to occupy such an ecclesiastical position

that, in the language of a writer in the Register, the

Church of England feels authorised to regard me as

not only a la^Tnan, but a Schismatical Layman."
To this the Bishop replies in a j^ostscript on February

22 that his meaning has been misrepresented or mis-

understood, and that he does not assent to the above

statement of Mr. Binney's position. The Church

of Rome, he says, pronounces your orders null and
void, and your ministrations schismatical and invalid.

But the Church of England appears to him " to say

that they lack that apostolic traditionary authority

which, not being at variance with Scripture, she re-

tained at the Reformation for those who should minister

to her congi'egations."

The whole controversy just leaves us where we were.

The Church of England clings to certain ancient " tradi-

tions " which apparent!}" the Bishop does not claim to

be found in Scripture, but only "not at variance"

with it. While ]\tr. Binney represents the Churches
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Avhich have felt that at all risks and with all possible

losses they must stand upon that one rock of God's

Holy Word, and refuse all "traditions'' that have a

later origin, or be led—^here ? Possibly just where

these " traditions " have been leading thousands and

thousands of all classes of EngHshmen, and especially

Enghshwonien, for these 50 years past—back to Rome
itself, or as near to it as their social environments

will allow them to go. Our spiiitual and ecclesiastical

ancestors at the time of the Reformation prophesied

it, and three centuries of history have |)roved their

prophecy true, that the partially-reformed Church of

England was retaining M-ithin its bosom certain elements

of error—Apostolical Succession, Baptismal Regenera-

tion, and the Identity of the State with the Church

—

that would work woe for her in time to come.

We cannot do better than close this passage of our

colonial history with extracts from a recent number of a

London paper (May 19, 1887), A\hich A\ill serve to show

that the principles set forth by the bishop and clergy of

the Anghcan Church in South Australia nearly 40 years

ago are held and clearly avowed by the bishops and

c-lergy in England, and are defended l)y them on the

same lines :

—

" Among the questions which, if not burning, are

interesting, discussed by the Convocation of Canterbury

last week was that of the preaching of clergymen in

Xonconformist pulpits. The Lower House last session

presented an ' articulns chri,' declaiing the ])ractice

to be contrary to the principles and laws of the Church,

to be a hindrance to the unity of Christian i)eople.

The ' (irticukis ' further lequested the bishops to do all

they could to prohibit and suppress the innovation,

" which is a great scandal in the eyes of many devout
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Church people, and is detrimental to the spread of true

religion.' The Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol,

whoi this ' artkidu'^ cleri ' came before the Upper

House last week, supported it, remarking that the

gravity of the position lay in the fact that certain

clergymen had entered into what was impossible to

describe otherwise than as a union in worship with

those who were not in communion with the Church.

This, he held, was a state of things which the bishops

ought to do everything in their power to change.

. . . . The Bishop of Winchester, whose con-

troversy with Canon Wilberforee on this question will

be fresh in our readers' memories, moved a resolution

approving of the ' ariiculus,^ accompanied with an

expression of the truism that there are ' many ways of

maintaining kindly intercourse with Nonconformists

which are not open to reasonable objection :' and the

Bishop of Bath and Wells having seconded it. the

motion was carried unanimously He
(the Bishop of Winchester) told his Episcopal brethren^

Avho do not seem to have raised a word of protest, that

the Reformation did not mean the light of private-

judgment, or the Bible, and the Bible only. It meant

simply throwing off the suj^remacy of Rome and the

corruption of the faith which that supiemacy involved..

To treat every modei-n sect as on the same footing as

the great ancient Church reformed at the Reformation

is, according to the Bisho]) of Winchester, simply

introducing confusion. Is not all this exquisite fool-

ing ? What is the English Church, as now constituted,

but a modein sect ? Do mnnbers. or age—e^•en if the

latter element be allowed —constitute irrefragable proof

of the po.s.session of truth ? But the absurdity of the

Bishop of Winchester's contention that clergymen who
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preach for Nonconfoimists are false to the principles

of the Reformation becomes yet more apparent when
Ave contrast it with the glaring fact that for every

pervert to Rome from the ranks of Nonconformity

more than a hundred could probably be shown from

the Established Church But whatever

they may do, it is beyond their power, as Archdeacon

Farrar finely said in the Lower House of Convocation

on Friday last, to un-Church in the eyes of heaven

such men as the author of ' The Pilgrim's Progress,' the

author of the hymn ' Rock of Ages,' John Howard,

the angel of prisons, or Lloyd Garrison, the emancipator

of slaves."

Cbimetery Agitation, and Victory.

In 1862 an esteemed gentleman—a member of the

Congregational Church, North Adelaide—died, and was
buried on March 5 by his pastor (the Rev. J. JefEeris) in

the grave where several members of his familj^ had been

laid in previous years. The ground was held under the

usual 99 years' lease, but under the hand of the Anglican

Bishop, and not from the Crown Lands Office. Of this

we beUeve Mr. Jefferis was not aware. On arriving at

the grave, the Church of England minister whose turn it

was to officiate that week, raised an objection to the

ministrj^ of Mr. Jefferis, and some altercation took

place, and reference was made to a formal protest

already presented by the clergyman to the undertaker.

The service for the dead was proceeded with, but amid
gi^cat distress of mind and agitation on the part of the

mourners and friends of the deceased gentleman.

The |»a])ei\s took the matter up warmly. The protest

was as follows .—" Notice to Mr. Mayfield. This is

to protest in the name of the Lord Bishop and clergy of

the rimifh of England, as Trustees and managing
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Committee, against any person officiating in the Church

of England Cemetery without a written permission

from the Lord Bisho])/' A copy of this was sent on

by Mr. Jefferis to the Bishop, asking him whether it

was issued by his authority. To this Bishop Short

repUed that he knew nothing of the matter until he

saw it in the papers, and that permission was always

granted for other ministers to officiate whenever it was

asked. The whole question was thus brought up—in

fact, forced to the surface—by this unseemly action of

the clergyman. It was then found that tlie West-

terrace Cemetery consisted of about "?! acres, and had

been used bj'' all denominations without any restriction

for about 13 years. But in 1849 Covernor Young
conveyed to Bishop Short 1 5 acres of this common
cemetery " for interment of deceased members of the

Church of England, and for \o other purpose what-

ever." It was at once seen that this apj)ropriation of

two-thirds of a public cemetery to the use of one denomi-

nation was a monstrous abuse of ])ower on the part of

the Executive ; and was the more striking, as the Church

of England only claimed one-third of the ))opulation.

In fact, the case was closely ])arallel to the famous

Cathedral acre }uisappropriation by the Executive,

and upon which the Supreme C*ourt had already given

its decision. It should also be mentioned that when

that unrighteous alienation of the land from jjublic use

was made it included the graves of numbers of all

sections of the Church who had acquired their rights

previous to this seizure, and for the continued use of

these graves episcopal leave Avould have to be asked

before friends could have the service of their own
ministers. It is just to the Bishop to say that he

immediately \\ithdrew all claim to any special privileges
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in the cemetery by a formal notice sent to Mr. Brookes,

the C-iirator of the Cemetery.

This bi'ings to notice another matter referred to above

as the " Cathedral Acre " case, and we cannot forbear

Teferring to it as a warning to all South Australian

colonists to be ever watchful against all ecclesiastical

encroachments from whatever side they come.

It appears that in 184;] the Adelaide Corporation

vceased to exist, and all its corporate rights and functions

were put a stop to by Act of Council, and it remained

-defunct till August, 1 849. During this interval, when

the city watchdogs were dead or comatose, the Anglican

Bishop obtained from (Jovernor Robe an acre of land in

the middle of Victoria-square, on the line where the

continuation of King William-street now intersects it,

and four blocks of stone were placed by the Government

at the corners to indicate the site of a future Cathedral ;

also in the plans of the city that were prepared at the

time the figure of a chvirch was rei^resented. For five

years this claim lemained unnoticed, and the Bishop

•did not malce the slightest movement in the matter
;

but the (|uestion of its legality being once raised, the

<;ase was soon before the public eye, and the issues tried

in the Supreme Court on July 28 and 29, 1855, before

Mr. Jnstice Cooper in an action for trespass by the

Bishop against the Corporation. Mr. Fisher opened

the case for the Bisho]), and his argument was that all

•corporate rights had ceased l)y the extinction of the

Corporation when the grant was made, and that the

position of the land was that of waste lands of the

Crown. Mr. Ctwynne, Advocate-CJeneral, was retained

for the Corpoiation, and called the act of the authorities

'" an attempt to abstract a piece of land for the use of a
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sect that had been set apart for the use of the citizen?

at lars^e . . that no possession had been taken .

that the Governor had no power to ahenate . . and

that the land was not waste h\u(U of the Crown."

The Judge summed up strongly for the Corporation,

and the Jtny quickly found—" That the land was set

apart for the recreation of the inhabitants," amid

enthusiastic applause of the people present. During

the trial some anuisement was occasioned by the

answer of Mr. Stephens, of the Survey Office, who was

being pressed by the fact of there l^eing a pretty ])icture

of a church drawn on the acre on some of the plans,

as evidence of the land being Church property His

answei- was that some of the plans of Adelaide had a

ship at anchor at the back of Government House, and

a relative of his had actually sent money from England

to buy a site for a wharf there. But that would not

be evidence that the Torrens was a navigable river !

So both these ilhcit endeavours to obtain special pri-

vilege at the ])ublic cost wei'e defeated— the one by

an adverse decision in a court of law, and the other by

the force of ])u))lic opinion as soon as ever light was let

in upon it by a seemingly accidental circumstance of a

squabble at a graveside. Doubtless the acre in Victoria-

square would have been a magnificent site for a fine

Cathedral, and would have given the Chinch of England

that pre-eminence in the public eye which it so pas-

sionately craves. But it would have been at the

expense equally of civic right and of that cf|uality of

all sections of the Church in the eye of the Jaw upon

which this colony is founded. In addition to which

it Avould have spoiled King \\ illiam-street most

assuredlv.
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Special Legislation for the Episcopal Church.

The next matter of public discussion we notice is the

attempt of the Church of England—or perhaps it should

rather be said of the Anglican Bishop—to obtain special

legislation for the Church, with legal power to enforce

its own regulations by law. Early in 1862 the action

of Bishop Short was publicly discussed in the papers

by ' Anghcanus," " Candidus," " Churchman,"
" Another Churchman," and others, as well as by those

who had the courage of their convictions and put their

names to their letters. Among these latter most

prominently were Mr. Cox (the Hon. Secretary of the

Congregational Union) and the late esteemed Pean

Russell. As soon as the nature of the proposed legis-

lation was really known, a meeting of the ministers

and others was called by the Secretary of the Congrega-

tional Union, and the case stated clearly and its danger

pointed out in similar terms to those employed in his

letter ot July 29, that the Bishop sought to bind by

law all his successors- that it made a dcingerous dis-

tinction among the members of the Church between

those vho signed the "Consensual Compact" and

those who did not — that it claimed to make future

by-laws which were to have all the force of law- that it

would tend to com])licate matters between the Church of

England and other l)odies, inasmuch as notice wotild

have to be given in wi'iting to the Church authorities

of the intention of any meml)er to withdraw. And,

a])0ve all. that all other l)odies of Christians were

content to rest undei- the conuuon shield of the law for

the protection of their Church proix-rties, and of their

liberties, and that the Church of England ought to be

content with the rights f)f common citizenship, and not

seek special legislation. Fioin that meeting circulars
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Avere issiiecl to all ministers and the danger puinU'd out,

and prompt action requested. Copies of petition to

the Legislative Council accompanied these, and the re-

sponse was full and hearty from all parts of the colony,

including the Cerman Lutheran Churches, one of whose

five petitions was ordered to be printed by the Council.

It was remarkable, also, that the Church of England

sent in more petitions against the J^ill than for it.

Evidently there were searchings of heart among both

laymen and clergy. The numbers for and against are

worth lecording. From the ( 'hurch of England

against the Bill five petitions, and for the Bill four

were sent u]). From other Churches and the citizens

generally 24 i)etitions against, and not one in favour.

The signatures were— Against the Bill, 1,618: and in

favour of it, 324.

It appeared that the Duke of Newcastle, who was at

that time Secretary for thf Colonies, had given

-encouragement to the Bishop to intioduce the Bill in

answer to a request from him on the subject. The

Bill was introduced into the l^egislative Coinicil by

Mr. Davenport, and referred to a Select Couiinittee

composed of the Hons. S. Davenport, H. Ajers. J. H.

Barrow, John Moijihett, and \\m. Scott, and on Sep-

tember 29, 1K()2, the Committee reported to the Council

that they had " examined witnesses on the Bill entitled

' An Act for the Incorporation of the United Church of

England and Ireland in the Diocese of Adelaide,'

which was referred to them on \\\v 29th of July, and

they are of opinion that the preamble thereof is not

proved." Signed l)y Samuel Davenport (Chairman),

who added a note that he dissented from it. It seems

that only two witnesses were called, the Bishop and

'Mr. L. Thrupp, who had drafted the Bill. ( h\ a sub-
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sequent occasion when the Bishop complained pubHcly
of the ojiposition raised against a matter which con-

cerned the Church of England only, Sir Henry Avers-

sent a letter to the papers stating that the first question

asked of the Bisho]i by the Select Committee was
whether he thought it right for the Government tO'

legislate on a question on which his OAvn Church was
divided, and that he had answered that he did not
think it would be right. That ans\^•er. of rourse^

settled the whole matter.

The Marriage Act, 1867.

The next battle for rehgious equality was fought for

the equalization of the marriage laws, so as to place all

persons qualified to perform marriages on the same
level. In the earlier days of the colony, the Anghcan,
Scottish, and Roman clergy brought with them full'

powers to perform marriage at once, and without any
local authorization. Difficulties of a practical kind
necessarily arose out of this. A "Religious EqyaUtv
League " was formed of all denominations of Christians

to deal with the w^hole matter in a root and branch sort

of way. In answer to appeals of the League the
Government of the day brought in a Bill to-:^ards the
close of 1866. which was heartily supported. But just

before the second reading our Roman Catholic fellow-

colonists held a great meeting in their hall, and passed
strong resolutions against the Bill that led to its

defeat in the House. Then ensued a very lively time
indeed in the way of newspaper correspondence, and
on December 14 a great Protestant meeting was held
in Chalmers' Church, which was crowded, and reports

of which to the number of 2,500 were printed and
circulated throughout the country at the expense of
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the late G. F. Angas, Esq. It was, however, a day tco

late, for it was on the 13th that the Bill was shelved on

a motion '" That the Chairman do now leave the chair,"

which was carried by a majority of four. A deputa-

tion was appointed to wait on the Treasurer (the Hon.

Thos. Reynolds), but he assured them that the Govern-

ment could not deal with the question during the

current session. Recommendations from several mem-
bers of the Legislature were given to the League to

prepare a Bill which would satisfy the general lequire-

ments of the ministers of religion, and have it brought

in by a member of the House, and that the Government

would give it all support if satisfactory as to its prin-

ciples and details. Consequently the League met

on June 7, 18fi7, when it was moved by Revs.

Maughan and Gardner — " That the Rev. F. W. Cox

be requested to pre^iare draft of a Bill embodying

the above resolutions (that is, those discussed in the

Synod of the Chinch of England and in the Baptist

Association) as altered and amended in Committee,

together with the suggestions now mide in Committee,"

vie. When this was done the League was called

together, the whole draft discussed, and copies sent out

to all ministers of religion in the colony, asking for sug-

gestions before it was laid before the Government.

Eventually the draft went into the hands of the Govern-

ment draftsman (Ch. Mann, Esq.) to be put into shajje,

when it was brought before the House by the Hon. T.

Reynolds, and passed without difficulty, received in due

time the royal assent, and came into operation as the

law of the land on Mar^h 1 , 1 868,

This, the " Marriage Act, 1867." has been asked for in

various parts of the Empire where revision of the law

was needed, as it had been spoken of with approval in
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Tlngland when royal assent was given to it ; and by it

this colony possesses what the mother country has been

seeking and sighing for in vain for many years past—

a simple and uniform Marriage Act apphcable to all

sections of the Church, and to all circumstances. By
this Act all ministers of religion have to make apphca-

tion to the Governor for authority to marry and to

issue licenses for the same, which apphcation has to be

supported by the signature of a minister of rehgion

already on the roll. To prevent oppression by a

t5Tannous majority an alternative is allowed to an

appUcant to present a memorial to the Governor signed

by 20 householders, stating that he is their minister,

and has been for the previous six months statedly

officiating as such. On receipt of such application

in either form the Governor will give the necessary

authority, and it appears dulv in the Government

Oazett^. All papers are furnished by the Government,

and the forms are—the declaration of both ]>arties,

the licence, the certificates in triplicate— one for the

bride, one for the local registrar, and the other for the

Registrar-General in Adelaide. The marriage maj-

take place anywhere, at any hour of day or night^

—

evening marriages Ijeing very common—the sole

authority for the licence and the service being the

officiating minister himself ; and the Act applies

equally to the Anglican or Roman bishops, to Methodists,

Presbyterians, or Congregationalists, to a Mormon
elder or a Chinese priest, the word " ministers of re-

ligion " covering every possible form. The fee com-
monly recognised is £3 3/, but it is often £r>, while at

the Registrar-General's office marriage may be had for

as little? as 13/6.
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Precedency.

This question has cropped up several times in our

colonial history in connection with ceremonials and ^

public events of various kinds. In 1862 there was a

protest made against the rules of precedency, but the

great strife was in 18fi7, when the Duke of Edinburgh

arrived in the " Galatea." It appears the Governor

had received from the Home authorities certain rules

to guide precedence on formal occasions. No sooner

were these published than a great outcry was raised in

various quarters. Judge Gwj'nne protested against

being placed below certain officials, and Chief Justice

Hanson demurred to his colleagues being separated

from him, and both refused to be present at the ap-

proaching ceremonial. In the House of Parliament

Mr. Coglin protested against his bishop (the Roman
Catholic) not having proper place assigned to him.

In the Legislative Council an address was presented to

His Excellency praying for provision to be made " for

re-arranging the order of precedence in the Civil Service,

and on public occasions." In 1871 the position assigned

to certain ecclesiastical persons in the levee on Her

Majesty's birthda}^ came up again, and the Congrega-

tional Union Committee sent a memorial to His Ex-

cellency Sir J. Fergusson, stating " that they viewed

Avith surprise the action of the Government in the

marked distinction made between the representatives

of reUgious bodies having right (privilege, it should

have been) of entree at the levee held on Her Majesty's

birthday," and praying that " invidious distinctions
"

should not be shown. To this answ^er was sent, cor-

recting the error noticed above, and stating that His

Excellency was unable to see how the names could be

differently arranged of those ' whose position was fixed
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by Imperial regulation, or their rank in tbe colonial

service.'* To this the Committee of the Union

answered on May 20, reiterating their view that in a

colony where all organic connection between Church

and State is abrogated, the placing of the representa-

tives of some ecclesiastic bodies before and some after

the civil service of the Crown, was at variance with

both the facts and spirit of the constitution. They

suggested that it ivas within the competence of colonial

powers to modify Imperial regulations, as shown by

the fact " that j^our Excellency did so, by extending

the privilege of entree so as to embrace a large number

of persons not included in the Imperial regulations.

Also, that on 3rd of December, 1867, Sir D. Daly,

by message to the Legislature, staled :—" That it -was

proposed to make the regulations of the civil service

subjects of legislation at an early date.' " It ended by

stating that the invidious distinction complained of did

not exist in the other Australian colonies. " That the

Independent or Congregational body does not seek any

official or public precedence for itself. It simply

contends for the equality of all religions in the eye of

the State as a constitutional r^ght." This was signed

by F. W. Cox (Chairman) and E. Griffiths (Secretary).

The final outcome was that the method of sending out

invitations to the representatives of the religious bodies

was modified, as also was the manner of publishing the

list of those invited to the entree.

For the information of those unacquainted with

colonial life it may be mentioned that the Governor

always holds levee on the Sovereign's Birthday, and it is

the custom for large numbers of citizens of all ranks to

pay their respects to the Sovereign in the person of the

Royal representative ; the only qualification being the
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possession of a black coat. Evening costume is mentioned

in the Gazette notices, but not strictly insisted on.

The visitors enter, present their cards, pass in front of

the vice-regal court, bowing to the Governor, or shak-

ing hands, as they go by, and leaving the hall at the

further end. This court is formed of the chief otticers

of the colonj?^—legislative and executive, civil and

mihtary—and among them the representatives of the

reMgious bodies without exception. It was in the

classification of the names of these gentlemen that the

"invidious distinction" complained of arose, in the

placing the names of the Anglican Bishop, Dean, and

.\rchdeacon in one place, then the civil servants and

consuls, and after them the representatives of the

Wesleyan, Presbyterian, Congregational, Baptist, Bible

C'hristian, Primitive Methodist, Jewish Congregation,

and whatever others there might be coming in at the

end. The whole matter may seem a small one, and

scarcely worth the trouble taken over it. But the

whole of our past history has shown that there has been

a constant endeavour to obtain for the Church of Eng-

land pre-eminence at the expense of that principle of

reUgious equality which underlies our whole colonial

constitution—socially, politically, and religiously. It

has, therefore, been felt by us absolutely necessary to

Avithstand all such attempts at the very beginning, and

in what may seem to be but small matters in them-

selves. Though we have had to do this strenuously

and frequently, it has not been in any spirit of animosity

against our Anglican brethren as true members of the

Church of Christ, for we honour them as members of

the true Christian brotherhood ; and we are never

likely to forget the vast debt of obhgation the Church

universal owes to them, for their scholarship, piety, and

Christian activities in times past and present.



CHAPTER VI.—HISTORICAL RECORD OF OUR
CHURCHES.

Ik Cliapter III. we set forth the history of the ^Mother-

Church somewhat more fully than will be either needful

or desirable in the cases of other Churches in the colony.

This we shall have to do with varying fulness, and that

not always regulated by the importance of the particular

Church. In some cases the compiler can only obtain

meagre particulars of the past Church-life ;
sometimes

laecause all record has perished, or because the Church

minutes have been kept with extreme looseness ;
* in

other cases because the persons from whom information

has been asked have shown but little interest in the

matter, or inaptness in the way they have replied.

Section I.— Southern and South-Easteen Distekt.s.

After Stow Memorial Church we turn to the Churches

at Encounter Bay and neighborhood ; although we are

not quite sure whether Encounter Bay or Hindmarsh

can claim priority in age. Yet the position of Ridge-

way William Newland was such as to claim the first

notice after Thomas Quinton Stow.

ENC'orNTER Bay.— Mr. Xewland arrived in Adelaide

about June, 1839, after having exercised his ministry

for twenty-two years in the Congregational Church at

Hanley Tabernacle, in the Staftordshire Potteries.

Mr. Newland's position was such as enabled him to

While Mr. Cox seems to have had just cause for this complaint,

the present compiler has to acknowledge all have responded most
willingly and promptly in most cases to requests for help.
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bring with him persons to work under him as a pioneer

colonist, which he clearly meant to be from the first.

On consultation with Mr. Stow as to settlement there

was considerable difficulty felt, Mr. Stow was strongly

of opinion that a man of such mark and likelihood as

Mr. Xewland should be in or near the capital. But

there was at that time an opinion, in which many of

the most prominent settlers agreed, that the population

would gravitate towards the Murray Mouth and the

great Lakes. Governor Hindmarsh believed this

strongly, and proved his faith by his works, for he

bought land there, and devised pubhc works in anticipa-

tion of the future progress of the place. Mr. Kew-

land accordingly went there, swayed b}" the prevailing

opinion. He landed, we believe, at what is now Port

Victor, on July 27, 1839, and soon pitched his tent

(literally) in the neighbourhood of the spot where his

house was subsequently built on the charming estate

of some ten to twelve sections, and called by its native

name, Luilyl. He was among the first residents

there, the whale-fishing station preceding him hj only

a short period. He first broke the soil with the plough,

and he first employed aboriginal labour in the field.

He at once began religious service in his tent, in which

also Mrs. Newland carried on Sundaj'-school with the

few children that could be gathered. In those days

of pioneer work the settlement of one j)erson, especially

a person of means and inteUigence, alwaj^s drew a

number of others to buy land and to open the country

around. In about a year the house, having been

built, worship Avas regularly maintained in it for several

years. The place of worship, " The Tabernacle," was

opened in 1846, and was an extremely plain structure,

28 bv 19, with verandah on two sides, and the French.
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windows opening upon it. for the benefit of those who
prefened the outside to the inside. Pleasant are the

memories that hang about that homely place. Sweet

was the godly devotion of the plain people that met

there under the spiritual guidance of R. W. Xewland.

Mr. Xewland exercised his ministry for many years

there without fee or reward, except that rich reward of

doing his liord's work. Whether it Avas wise in fore-

sight of the future to act thus is open to question.

When men came who had to " live by the Gospel " it

would be a hard case for them to find the sinews of

•Christian liberality shrunk from want of due exercise.

The congregation and settlers around made occasional

gifts to Mr. and Mrs. Newland, but he never received

S: regular stipend even to the end.

At the time of the settlement of Mr. Newland. and

for long years after, the countr\' was in an unimproved

condition, so far as roads and bridges were concerned,

and in passing from jilace to place rivers had to be

forded, and the country crossed as the traveller might

be able. Mr. Xewland used sometimes to cross both

rivers—the Inman and the Hindmarsh (the ])ridge

bearing Mr Xewland's name now spans the former)—

on his way to the Sunday services he had set up at

Port Elliot, at Middleton, at Currency Creek, and at

CJoolwa on the Murray. In manj^ cases he had to go

on to his work with his clothes thoroughly saturated

irom having to cross the two rivers on his way. But

nothing could damp his ardour in carrying the (^ospel

to the outlying settlers. One of the first experiences of

the writer was hearing Mr. Newland speak at a meeting

in Adelaide for Church extension, and describing his

riding up certain hills and being able to count five or

six " chimney smokes " rising in the scrub, showing



76 THREE-QUARTERS OF A CENTURY.

where families had settled, and ^here, conse(|uenth'.

Gospel ministrations were demanded, and telling us

what he was doing to meet the need.

Though worship was regularly held, the Church waa

not formed till August, 1850, when eight Christian

people gave themselves to the Lord and to each other,

and called Mr. Xewland to the pastorate.

Tn working the various preaching places aroinid Mr.

KeAvland employed those of his people to whom God
had given the grace of spiritual perception, and to whom
nature had given the gift of ability to speak what was

in them ; besides which he early aA^ailed himself of

the help of the Rev. John Roberts, one of Mr. Stow's

students, who eventually settled at Port Elliot, INIiddle-

ton, and Goolwa as resident minister and pastor. INIr,

Newland, feeling the need of assistance, afterwards

engaged the Rev. John M. Howie, M.A., who had

recently arrived from England, who entered upon his

work in March, 1859, but resigned his position after

little more than a year's service, entering upon scholastic

duties, which he maintained for some years. Mr.

Newland then resumed the sole pastorate until 1862^

when the Rev. Jas. Sleigh came from Portland in

Victoria, and remained for a short time, removing thence

to Happy Valley.

In September, 186:\ Mr. Xewland celebrated the

jubilee of his ministry of the Gospel with a degree of

prolonged interest rareh' seen on such occasions, it being

the twenty-third year of his pastorate at Encounter

Bay. The Southern Association held its meeting at

the time, and the Rev. Chas. Manthorpe preached.

A dinner was jorovided, and tea. with a public meeting

follo\Wng, at which the Revs. S. L. Harris, Jas. Howie.

C. D. Watt, D. Badger, and Chas. Hall took part.
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The occasion called forth the poetic powers of a local

bard in an original Jubilee hymn, sung at the meeting.

The following are two of the stanzas :

—

Thine aged servant Thou Great God, his labour bless

Thy gospel's pioneer With still increased success

;

To this far place May he be found
His helper Thou hast been Like the great orb of light.

Through many a changing scene. Which as it fades from sight

Full threescore years and ten A glorious golden light

Preserved by grace. Sheds all around.

On the next day a pavilion which had been set up

was tilled with a crowd of the settlers from all parts of

the country on blood-horse and bullock-dray, where

dinner was kept going for two hours to all comers

Avithout charge. Black and white participated, and

the former gave a grand corroboree in honour of the

festival. After tea congratulatory addresses were

presented from the Congregational Union and other

sources,, and presentations of £40 to Mr. Newland and a

silver tea service to his energetic helpmate (Mrs. New-

land) were made.

A third day's celebration was kept up, the church bell

calling the crowds to breakfast, dinner, and tea, the

aboriginals remaining over the next day to eat up the

remains of what was perhaps the greatest festival of the

kind ever held in this colony.*

The end of the good man was a sad one. Mr. New-

land had been in Adelaide and preached in several

places of worship of his own and other denominations,

for his large-hearted geniality always made him a

favourite. He went to Willunga on the Monday, and

on Tuesday morning, March 8, took the mail-cart,

which was the only mode of conveyance in those days,

*This is no longer a colony, but a State. The change was made
by the Act of " Federation coming into force in 1901."
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across the Square Water-Hole Scrub. As they rapidly

descended Baldock's Hill the pole of the cart snapped,

and the cart overturned, throwing out the passengers

and John Hart, the well-known driver. The latter

was thought to be seriously hurt, as he was bleeding ;

but Mr. Newland did not suppose himself to be injured

seriously. There were two female passengers, one of

whom, -vWth womanly tact and skill, tore her garments to

bind the wounds of the injured. A conveyance was

got fr'"-m Mr. Laurie's, the nearest resident, but our

venerated friend died there before wife or children

could be brought to his side. He was 74 j^ears old at

the time of his death in 1864.

The Revs. Manthorpe and Cox immediately left

Adelaide, the mail-contractor (Mr. Eounsevell) pro-

viding all necessary means, and attended the funeral

on the Thursday folloA\ing, when the AAhole country

side assembled to pay the last rites to the mortal re-

mains of so honoured a servant of God and so valued

a pubUc benefactor. The bodj^ was lalaccd in a grave

in front of the jjulpit, from which for so many years

the sound of the glad tidings of the Gospel had sounded

forth. There was, however, a removal subsequently

to the cemetery when the old Tabernacle ceased to be

used for public worship.

As in the case of Mr. Stow, there never can be a

successor to Mr. Newland. He was the most im-

portant man in the place for many years after his arrival.

He was a Justice of the Peace. He was the originator

and Chairman of the District Council. He was first

mover and chief director in most public movements,

whether religious, social, or pohtical. A gap was

made in the social life of the place not likelj^ to be soon

filled up.
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Mr. Newland, during the whole of his life, carried

on business in rearing horses, horned cattle, and sheep,

and was the importer of some valuable stock from

England. All this was done in addition to the con-

stant care of the Churches he had originated, and

incessant preaching services in the country around.

Mrs. Newland was in everything an able helper, and

was skilled in Hebrew, so as to read the Scriptures in

the original tongue.

Port Elliot, Middleton, Goolwa. &c.— A.s before

stated, the Rev. John Roberts was Mr. Nov^-knd's

assistant for some time, but he became pastor of the

Port ElHot Church, subsequently removing to Middleton,

a small place a few miles awjiy, the Rev. John Hotham
taking charge of Port Elliot, and holding it until his

death in 1885. Mr. Hotham arrived in the year 1853

with his family from England, and, having preached

for a time at Ebene/er Chaj)el, Rundle-street. he re-

moved to Port Elliot, intending to carr}' on farming

work and to preach the GosiDcl in the neighbourhood.

He settled there about the end of 1855, receiving 22

Church members from Encounter Bay, and continued

his work in that place with steady perseverance until

his death in 1885. Mr. Hotham was educated in a

five-years course of study for the ministiy at Airedale

College, Yorkshire, also spending some time in the

.study of medicine with the intention of qualifying

himself for missionary work in heathen lands. This

purpose was, in the providence of Ood, never carried

out, but instead he settled at Batley, in York.shire,

in 1845. Here he lost his voice, and was comj)elled

to resign his charge, sailing with his family for South
Australia, but arriving in such improved health as

to be able to resume the work that was dear to him in
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the ministry of the Word. Having taken a farm iiB

Hindmarsh Valley, he worked with all the energy of his-

nature to make it successful, but the terrible bush fire

that came down from the scrub lands ravaging the whole

district in 1859, consumed the homestead, and com-

pelled the family to flee for life itself into the township.

After this Mr. Hotham gave himself entirely to the

work of the ministry and to the heahng art, which in

this, as in, several other cases with our ministers, was

of immense benefit to the neighbomhood. Here he

had to learn also what it was to endure hardness as a

good soldier, for his stipend did not on the average of

years exceed that of a day labourer, if, indeed, it equalled,

it. This was not altogether the fault of the people,

as our friend had a sensitiveness on the point that

amounted to positive morbidity, and he rather dis-

couraged than encouraged the liberahty of the people.

He sometimes took a few pupils to educate with his-

own sons, and no doubt his medical skill was not un-

appreciated by the neighbourhood. The substantial;

place of worship standing about a mile from the town

was erected during his ministry, and he built a residence

for his family a short distance beyond it. Mr. Hotham

was called away from his work for the Lord at very

short notice, and the news of his death was equally

a shock and a surprise. He died on May 26, 1886, of

inflammation of the lungs, arising from a cold taken a

few daj^s before, leaving a widow, who was a daughter of

the late Rev. Robert Allott, of Walsall, and two sons

and two daughters. He has gone to be with Christ,

which is far better. Mr. Hotham's ministry was of a

highly intelligent character, and was greatly valued

by thoughtful and educated people, and was wholly

wanting in every form of pulpit claptrap. While-
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thoroughly evangeUcal, it was in the fullest degree-

practical, and calculated to build up men and women
strong in Christian faith. After his death the Church

called the Rev. A. A. Munns, of Milang, to take the=

oversight of them in the Lord. During his ministry

a convenient manse was built at a cost of £525 on

the Church property by the people for the use of the

minister and his family.

Returning to the Rev. John Roberts at Middleton^

where a small place of worship was built for him, we

find he occupied it for some years with a quiet and

devout ministry. The place, however, being a small

one. Mr. Roberts took services at Goolwa about the

year 1S62, and some time after confined his labours to

it, leaving Middleton entirely.

From many causes we have not been able to sustain

the work at Middleton or Goolwa, and early in the

period we have under consideration, these Churches

were sold.

The Rev. Michael Harris became minister of Port

Elliot in 1895, and sustained the work until he resigned

to go to Queensland in 1900. He was followed by the

Rev. Joseph Walker, who came from Stawell, Victoria,

in 1901. but he only remained minister of the Church

for a little while. The Rev. John W. Roberts, who
for four years had been a missionary in India, and after

coming to Australia held pastorates in Brisbane and

Hobart, came to Port Elliot in 1904. Ever since the

induction of Mr. Roberts the C'hurch has pros])ered

spiritually and in many other ways, notwithstanding

that there is a great exodus of people from the town

during the winter months. In 1900 a new Church

was erected as a memorial to the Rev. John Hothanir
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-who was minister of the Church for 30 j-ears, and the

Ohurch is known as the Hotham Memorial Church.

Mr. Roberts has always maintained his enthusiasm

•for foreign missions, having been compelled to relinquish

that work to which he felt he was specially called on

account of the health of Mrs. Roberts. Systematic

collecting is done for the London Missionary Society

and our own Home Mission cause. Mr. Roberts was

Chairman of our Union in 1911, and the thoughtful

•and highly spiritual address he delivered on taking

-the chair will not soon be forgotten. The services he

conducts are greatly appreciated by the large congre-

gations which gather in his Church during the summer

imonths.

GooTAVA (population, TOG; houses, 184; places of

-worship, 2 ; miles from Adelaide, 60).— Coolwa is a

o-iver port a few iniles from the Murray Mouth. Steamers

•of light draft had carried on for many years a trade

up the great rivers Murray, Parling, and ^Nlurrum-

bidgee for about 2,000 miles in favourable seasons,

rtaking station stores up, and bringing down the wool

irom the sheep stations. A ]jlace of worship was

built there, Avhich was maintained with varying success

until the year 1864, when Mr. Roljerts left for another

•colony. The Rev. John Hotham took the oversight of

the place in comiection with Port Elliot, where he had

his own special charge. In 1869 Mr. Ceorge Price

held the position of minister for a short time, but

in consequence of the declining condition of the place

from the failure of the river trade, it was unable

•to maintain a minister, and it has been supplied since

that time by the neighboring ministers, with, at times,

.occasional help from the Lay Preachers' Association

an Adelaide. The church was subsequently sold.
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Victor Harbour.—When Mr. Newland settled at

Encounter Bay, and for many years after, there

was only a single house at the point where the town

stands. Travellers from Port Elliot to Encounter

Bay usually passed along the seashore to avoid

the deeper parts of the two rivers by crossing them

at the sea mouth, where they were shalloAV. Gradually

population began to settle there from two causes—one,

the idea that Victor Harbour might be a calling place

for the mail steamers, as well as a port of loading for

wool ships carrying away to Europe the river-borne

wool from the vast interior of the continent. To
meet these needs various costh^ works were carried

on at intervals of years. Among such works was the

connecting Granite Island with the mainland by a

bridge of half a mile or more long. This enabled

visitors to get to the grand scenery on the outside of

the island, where over the granite rocks the vast waves

of the Southern Ocean break with magnificent effect

and ceaseless roar. As Port Victor grew Encounter

Bay township declined in joopulation, and the transfer

of the religious services from the Old Tabernacle to the

new town was often discussed, much to the displeasure

of the older settlers. The distance between them
was under two miles. Gradually, however, the " in-

exorable logic of facts " settled the question. The
other reason for this growth was that Port Victor was
an attractive place to Adelaide visitors, and it grew
accordingly^ There was the interest of the ocean

and the rocks, of the pleasant woody hills within easy

walk, and the two rivers, which afforded limited boating

and fishing.

After the lamented death of Mr. Newland the Rev.
Chas. Hodge, who had exercised the ministry among
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the Bible Christians, first preached at Encountei' Bay

in 1865, and was recognised as pastor in 1860 of the

Churches at Encounter Bay and Bald Hills.

Mr. Hodge laboured in these places in the gospel

for more than 20 years with the respect and esteem of

the people. He, too, is one of our ministers who can

skilfully administer medicine and attend to matters

of minor surgery with benefit to all around him. The

event of Mr. Hodge's ministry there was the building

of the Newland Memorial Church in 1869. The

services had been carried on at Port Victor up to that

time in a wheat store, or, if that were occupied, in the

largest room of the hotel, for a period of nearly three

years, until the time came when the people were to

rise and build a place suitable to the growing interests

of the place. By the kindness of A. F. Lindsay, Esq.,

J.P., a resident landoAvner and a member of the Church

of England, a site was given every way suitable

for the purpose, and the building was opened with

fitting service in July, 1869. On Saturday, the 17th,

a service of solemn prayer Avas held by the members

of the Church to ask God's blessing, and on Sunday,

18th, the Rev. J. Jeiferis preached in the morning on

John iv. 23, and in the evening on Matt, xxviii. 18.

The Rev. John Hotham conducted the afternoon

service, speaking from 2 Chron. vi. 18. On Monday

the services were continued b}^ a sale of goods, and the

usual tea, of which 400 persons partook, and the public

meeting, which was crowded. The building was opened

as is common in the colony—in an incomplete state,

and had cost up to that time £953, of which £500 had

still to be raised. Mr. Jeiferis gave his lecture on the

" Catacombs of Rome " during the evening. The

building will seat 350 persons, and has a schoolroom of

•equal size in the basement.
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Mr. Hodge was Chairman of the Union 1893-1894.

He was born in the town of St. Austell, Cornwall, more

than seventy years ago. We gather the following

statements concerning Mr. Hodge's career from the

Australasian Independent of November, 1893.

"St. Austell is situated in the midst of a rich mining

•district, and has a large exportation of the valuable

porcelain clay (kaolin) to the distant pottery dLstricts.

We believe Mr. Hodge's father was the first to make
tnown the value of this mineral, and there is in the

famity a porcelain tablet which was one of the earh'

specimens of the value of this material. The town
has also an ancient Church with interesting sculpture.

We believe the early education of our friend was under
private tuition, and his first secular engagement was
in a dispensing chemists, where he acquired some
knowledge of medicine and the healing art, which has

been of great value to him and of still greater value to

the people among whom his lot has been cast. To be

able to care for men's bodies is a precious boon to a

minister, especially if his scene of labour is among
a scattered population."

The Bible Christian Home and Foreign Missionary

Society despatched Mr. Hodge as its missionary to the

Austrahan colonies in 1856, and in Melbourne he

laboured for four years, when he removed to South
Austraha and worked with the usual hard service of

such a calling in the Port Elliot, Willunga, and Yanka.
lilla circuits. We say " hard service," for the work
in that circuit was really hard in those days of bridge-

less rivers, rough roads, and scant accommodation.
The result was broken health, resignation of his ordinary
work, and an endeavour after rest and restoration to

his former vigour. Still he was not idle. It was not
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in his nature to be so. The father of our CongregationaP

Churches (Mr. Newland) in that part of the country-

was working over a wide area, and needed help from

any quarter. He found that help in Mr. Hodge, who

willingly did what he could.

When Mr. Newland settled in the Encounter Bay

district it was beheved by many that that was to be

the centre of the population and commercial activity

of the State. The mouth of a river that was navigable

for two thousand miles, it was thought, must be the

emporium of the colony's trade. Time has corrected

mistaken assumptions on that and other points. Still,.

Mr. NeAvland did a great and noble work there until

his end came.

Mr. Hodge was called to the old tabernacle at En-

counter Bay— a very primitive building indeed, but

then the times were primitive and the people too ;

it had verandahs along the sides and French windows-

down to the ground, but the people were attached to

it, and many mourned over the subsequent removal

to the larger and more convenient building at Pont

Victor. Besides the old church at Encounter Bay,

there was a sister Church at Bald Hills, about ten miles

away, and to get to it one had to go over '-London

Bridge." There was also preaching maintained at

Port Victor, the population of which was very small

indeed. Communication with Adelaide by either

roador rail was then unknown. So Mr. Hodge worked

on in hope and patience, hoping for a better day to

dawn for years and years. And the time came as all

things come to him that waits. The population was

growing, and also shifting its centre. Ships began to

call at Victor Harbour for river-borne wool from the

vast interior, costly works were undertaken, Adelaide
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people began to find there was scenery on the coast

worth seeing, and so, after much thought and prayer,

a new and handsome building was planned where our

friend laboured in the service of God and man for many
years. He saw, too, the debt on the place under his

pastorate reduced to a mere trifle.

" As a preacher Mr. Hodge is solid, thoughtful, and

instructive. He has a horror of anything that would

look like claptrap. Under a quiet demeanour Mr.

Hodge is a maay-sidcd man."

One of the oldest residents in the district is Mr.

Lavington Yeo Tite ; he is also the oldest Congrega-

tionalist, being a foundation member at Port Elliot.

He is proud to claim to be a direct descendant of the

Rev. J. Lavington, M.A., of Biddeford, and the Rev.

William Yeo, M.A., who were both ejected from their

livings by the Act of Uniformity in 1662. Mr. Tite

has in his possession a genealogical chart which traces

his descent from these two fathers in God. At the

head of it is written WordsM'orth's famous lines on the

Nonconformists :

—

"Nor shall the eternal roll of fame reject

Those non-conforming ; when one rigorous day
Drives from their cai-es, a volunteer prey
To poverty and grief and disrespect.

And some to want ; as if by tempest wrecked
On a wild coast—how destitute ! did

They feel not, that conscience never can betray,

That peace of mind is virtue's sure effect ?

Their altars they forego ; their homes they quit.

Fields which they loved and paths they daily trod.

And cast their future care on providence of God."

.Mrs. Tite is the daughter of Robert Philips, who
went out to join Robert Moffat at Kuruman. Both
she and her brother, Mr. J. V. Philips, oif Adelaide, were

born in South Africa.
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Mrs. Ezra Robinson is the senior member of Victor

Harbour Church.

Mr. Hodge continued his good work until 188(5,

when he went to Port ElUot. For many years he

had kept each of the three Churches open. He would

preach at Victor Harbour in the morning, ride ten

miles to take the service at Eald Hills in the afternoon,

and the greater part of the way lay along rough bush

tracks, and then ride back to Encounter Bay for the

service in the Tabernacle in the evening.

Mr. Hodge was succeeded by the Rev. T. S. Williams

in 1887, who continued the faithful discharge of the

duties of a minister until 1897.

Mr. Williams proved himself to be a good preacher,

and a most diligent pastor. He won his way into the

hearts of the people, and it was a matter of regret to

the Church when he resigned the pastorate in order to

take charge of the Maitland Church. He left Victor

Harbour carrying Avith him the esteem of the people,

to whom he had faithfully ministered for ten years.

The Rev. W. Penry Jones began his ministry here in

1898, and continued until 1906, when he resigned to

take his children nearer to the metropolis. His work

at the Harbour is described as being that of a good

preacher, and was characterised by great steadfastness.

During his pastorate a substantial stone house was

erected for a manse on the road facing the sea.

Following Mr. Jones the Rev. D. J. Wellington was

the pastor for six years. His was a quickening spiritual

influence in the Church and the neighbourhood generally.

The people speak of Mr. Wellington as being a good

man all round, and say he won the sympathj- of all in

his endeavour to do the Master's work. During his

ministry the Church grew in numbers, the property
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was renovated at a considerable outlay, and new windows

were provided. Often the building proved too small

to accommodate the congregation assembling for

public worship. He gave up the work at Victor Harbour

early in this year to become Secretary to the '' Anti-

•Gam}>ling League " in Adelaide.

We learn that during the closing year of Mr. Welling-

ion's ministry plans and specifications for the enlarge-

ment of the building were prepared, and a financial

scheme inaugurated by which the necessary money
could be raised, but owing to impossibility of procuring

a builder the undertaking had to be abandoned. Those

who are quaUfied to speak urge this is a work that

must be done almost immediately.

The Rev. A. W. Gordon, of Houghton, has lately

become the minister.

The future of this Church is regarded as a bright one,

for the town is increasing in the public favour as a sea-

side residence.

Bald Hills has been mentioned before as one of

Mr. Newland's stations in his huge parish. There is

no proper township, but it is the centre of a farming

district. The little church is up the Inman Valley,

on the Yankalilla-road, about ten miles from Port

Victor.

The following additional notes have been kindly

supplied by Mr. W. R. Softley, of Manthorpe Memorial

Church.

In 1854 Mr. Whitridge came to Bald Hills and opened

a private school. In this schoolroom Mr. Newland

held a monthly service. In about a year a small

piece of land about a mile away was purchased and a

building was erected. The Church was opened on or
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about October 1<), iSoO, by the Revs. J. Hotham and

R. W. Newland. Mr. Xewland conducted a service

on Sunday afternoons about three times a month.

" It was in 1859 that a fellowship was formed consisting

of five persons, all of which except the writer have gone

home to their reward.''

• I believe the Rev. John Morrison Howie arrived

from England in the early months of 1860, being one

of six sent out at that time liy the Colonial ^fissionary

Society."

The Church was a branch of the Tabernacle at En-

counter Bay.

The Rev. Jas. Sleigh succeeded Mr. Howie and re-

mained about twelve months.

The Rev. Peter Rarr, who came from Scotland, Avas

then the pastor for about the same period.

Ml-. Hodge sustained the ])astorate in coimection

with the Church at Victor Harbour. The work at Bald

Hills was largely carried on by laymen in the absence

of the minister.

Mr. Williams and Mr. Penry Jones, who followed in

turn. -Mr. Hocige at Victor Harl)our. carried on the work-

but during Mr. Jones' pastorate several members of

the Church and congregation left "the neighbourhood

for the Northern areas, which had been opened up by

the (Government. Earlier in the history of our Church

the Bible Christians had moved one of their churches

and re-erected it in the Inman Valley. The situation

was better suited to the requirements of the population

,

which had greatly changed, so the few remaining

families elected to attend this Church, and our building

was closed.
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CuRRENc V Creek.—It has been mentione^d before

that among the preaching places opened l)y Mr. New-

land was a station at Currency Creek, a few miles away,

on a triljutary to the ^Murray. An English Land

Oompany had ])urchased and laid out a township.

Here religious services were maintained for some years

from 184(1 and onwards, but froui the fcAvness of the

people the services were at last discontinued.

Maclaren Vai.e.— (ro]>ulation. 148: houses. 48;

2o miles south of Adelaide).- While dealing with the

southern Churches, it will be well to complete the roll

of those lying to the south of Adelaide, among which we

notice Maclaren Vale, on the Willunga-road. It is a

|)leasantly-situated small township, in Avhich ( 'ongre-

gational worship has been sustained from an early

period. We do not know when first the voice of

praise and prayer uprose in the newly-settled district,

but the fruitfulness of the soil attracted settlers 1here

at an early date. Mr. Newland was among the

]iioneers, a,nd we have heard him speak of his conduct-

ing services under the shade of a huge gumtree which

grew ndfir where the ruined mill now stands near the

Blackfellows' Well. The stem and roots of that giant

•of the forest lay theie for years, looking like a huge

mass of rock rather than the ren^ains of a tree. That

was the first place of woishi]) : a glorious one too.

We t;d<c the historical points as they rise. The

Congregational ( hurch here originated with a few

settlers who. coming from Knirlancl, presented their

•certificates in Adelaide, and were united in the bonds

<)i Chiistian fellowship with Fi-ccman-strcct (lunch

under Mr. Sto\\'s ])astorate. Here there woidd

naturally be the desire for ])ul)lic worshij) and for

<"hri>1iaii connnnnion. which was met in 1849 b\ the
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]nivcha.se of a site sufHcieutly central and conx ciiicnt

at the intersection of several roads, and on which a

small brick bnildinp' was erected. It was of the

plaiaest kind, thatched with straw, and floored with un-

worked slate from the quarries in the neighbonring

ranse. As the peojile heard of the Rev. Isaac Prior's

arrival in Adelaide, overtures Avere made to him to

settle among them and to conduct divine worship.

Satisfactory arrangements l)eing made, Mr. Prior, who
was a Baptist minister, came with his fanuly and

settled doMii in the Vale on the section of land which

he held up to his death in 188"). It seems to have been

understood that when the place was built it was to be

v\liat is knoun as a '' T'nion C'bapel "—that is, a union.

of Baptists and Pffdo-baptists on terms of equality.

It seems also that when the deed was drawn out it

was a Congregational Church in the usual form. The

following memorial of the early days and scenes in a

colonial country church may not be iminterestijig.

It is contri])uted 1)V an early settler :

—

"It was ill the \ery wet winter of 1S49 that we liist attended

the little church at jNIaclaren A'aU>. No ])lace of worsliip in all

Christendom could have been more hare and unadorned than,

that. A }>arii like building, the thatch the only ceiling, liroad

s(juare windows letting in the sunshine to waken sleepei's, and a
very shaky deal structure was called the ])uipit.

"There were two square pews with doors, which were thought

much of liy the two families who sat in them; two benciies with

arms and backs, occu]>ied by families next in honour, while

ordinary folk sat on slabs of wood propped up on hricks. At
oue time a .sofa bedstead, and at another a (diest of drawers with

a saddle on tlie top. were kept in the (dun-eh.

"But if the place was primitive, the iieo])le were also. The
drone of the singing, the waving of the peppermint-gum

brandies to keej» away the flies, the minister's little boy ou
tlie pulpit ste)( catching flies by the dozen by that slow move-

ment of the hand peculiar to the young colonial; the old-

fashioned toilets, and the dogs! Very cheerful chat iised to

go on outside the door before and after service, and .sonio-

timc> dinner was taken there, so as to be ready for school in the-
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afternoon. The children were marvels of unknowing freshness.

A teacher showing pictures to a little boy in the Sunday-
school of a man cutting down a tree; the child examined it

with the keenest interest, and then said, 'I reckon he'll have
it down by next Sunday.' "

In 1851 this first ministry ended, and the Rev. Chas

Hall was invited to come over from Aldinga, about five

miles away, and to cive the friends at the Vale one

service every Lord's Pay, to which he agreed. Then

for the first time the brethren and sisters obtained

their due transfer from the Church at Freeman-street,

and were united into a visible communion, with Mr.

Hall as pastor. The Church met for the first time

a.^ a separate Churrii at the Lord's Table on September

21st, 1851.

For seven years .Mr. Hall acted as shepherd of the

flock there, resignina his post in 1858. Just about this

time there were several arrivals in Adelaide from the

mother country, and hy the guiding hand of the Rev.

T. i). Stow, under Cod. the Rev. James Howie was

led to the Vale. Mr. Howie was educated at Glasgow

under Dr. Wardlaw and others for the work of the

ministry, which he had exercised at Nairn and other

places in Scotland for several years previous to his

arrival here. Mr. HoAvie was engaged by the Home
Missionary vSociety on his arrival, and he took his first

service at Maclaren A'ale on January 16, 1859. .After

.several other visits to the place an invitation was given

by the Church and accepted, the pastorate beginning

on the 1st of May. followed by the recognition ser\ice

on July l.*{, at \\hich Mi'. StoA\ ])resided, assisted by a

number of brethren from .Adelaide.

The next impoitiint step in the history of tlie phue
is the building of the present substantial structure

from the design of Mr. J. .Mc(!eorge. On the 25th of
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July, 1800, the Hon. W. IVacocU laid the Hrst stone

of the new building with fitting solen>nity, and on

the 1 7th of the following F'ebruary the opening services

were held with great success and satisfaction. The

Rev. James Jefferis conducted the .services on the

occasion. The building cost £1,087, of which about

£600 was raised on the opening. The Church owed

much to the kindness of the Hon. G. F. Angas. M.L.C.

who lent the money for the debt for five years without

interest— an example worthy of all imitation by our

wealthier men. Equally creditable is it to the Church

that by weekly offerings the whole was paid off within

the prescribed time. Not only did the (Jhurch pay its

debts, but during the process of li(|uidation it entered

upon the equally onerous work of building a manse

for the minister. To do this a sale of goods or bazaar

was held, which realised £340. and this, with the liberal

aid of friends far and near, accomplished the work, so

that the house was occupied in March, 1865. This,

and all other pecuniary liabilities, were discharged by

the constant efforts of the people and the generous

response of friends outside by the year 1 872.

It is well for the people that they Mere able to clear

off all debt when times of comparative prosperity were

upon them, for smce then there has been a very serious

declension both in the number of the people and their

al)ility for such work. Nearly all the original sup-

l^orters of the jilace have removed either to the South-

East or to the Northern areas, while many honoured

and valued members of the Church have gone to the

l)ctter country above. Much of the land that once

maintained a prosperous farming population has been

more or less exhausted, and passed first to grazing

purposes, and since to vineyards.
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The Rev. James Howie was iiiinister in this ( huich

irom 1859 to 1894. Early in June. 1894, symptoms
of weakness of the heart, which had at intervals mani-

iested themselves, appeared in an aggiavated foim.

During all the trying phases of his illness his mind was
kept in perfect peace and his trust in the precious pro-

mises of God, which for so many years he had pro-

<'laimed to others, was unshaken.

On Monday morning, September 10, he entered

into the rest which remaineth for every faithful servant

of the Lord. On the Wednesday following,.September
12. his funeral sei\ice was conducted in the Church by
his old friend, the Rev. F. W. Cox, of Adelaide, as.sisted

l)y the Rev. W. Wilson, from Adelaide, and the ministers

of the neighbourhood, after which his body was com-
mitted to its Jiindred dust in the burying ground sur-

rounding the Church, in the midst of the remains of

his own dear dejjarted ones anfl of many dear to the

Lord Jesus, who will appear with Him in glory when He
shall come and all His saints with Him. ^^ hile Mr.

Howie was a diligent student and a ])reacher of no
mean order, the chief power of his ministry Avas to be

found in the fact that his life ])roclaimed the truth he

taught even moic elotjuently than his lips.

The Av.strala.sian I ndependf/uf of Xovemher 15. 1894,

says :

'" The compiler of this notice was, while a >oung
•student for the Christian ministry, under !Mr. Howie's

pastoral care, and was in the providence of Cod led

to come to South Australia at the same time A\ith him.

During an intimate friendship of over forty years'

<luration he has ever been impressed with the truth

that \\liatc\ci' .Ml'. Howie did he did hc;\rtily. as niito

the Lord and not unto man. .And this he l<iiou.-> to

lia\c hfcii the general impression produced u|ioii all
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wlvo kncnv him. They ever felt that ' in simplicity

and Godly sinceritj^ not by fleshy wisdom, but by the

grace of Cod.' he had his ' conversation in the world

and more abundantly ' towards those who knew him

best."

James Howie was born in Leith, Scotland, on

September 10. 1819. He was the son of truly Christian

parents, and from early childhood manifested a thought-

fill disposition, taking more delight in books than in

the ordinary games and amusements of childhood ;

thoiefore, as might be expected, he proved at school a

pioficient pui)il. After a pastorate extending over

eleven years at Nairn, from which Cliurch he had a

magnificent farewell meeting, in which his fellow

t(nvnsmen joined, he was appointed by the Colonial

.Missionary Societ\- to proceed to South Australia, and

arri\ ed in the ship " Annie Forster " in March, 1858.

The Rev. Charles Hodge, of Port Elliot succeeded

Mr. Howie and retained the ]:»astorate until 1907, when

he retired from tlie active work of the ( hristian ministry

throngh feeling the burden of advancing years. To

Mr. Hodge's noble work at Victor Harbour reference is

niailc inider that heading. For thirteen years Mr.

Hodge lal)oured faithfully in the Master's name in and

around this town, and we are glad to know thi.s good

man is spending tiie evening of his life amid happy

surroinidings in the neighbourhood of his early labour*

in the Christiati ministry.

I"r(ini 19<»7 to 1911 the Rev. S. .\. Faulkner was

the ministei- in charge, and during his time the Church

at F*ort N'oailunua was })uilt. Mr. Faulkner left in

response to an invitation to the Scniaphoic. and re-

mained there until he went to Taiirm liend under

engagejuent with the Parkin Mission.
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lu 1912 the population of Maclaren Vale is about 700,

living in about 200 houses. There are three places of

public worship, a ^Methodist and Anglican ( hurcb

besides our own. But in this place, as in many others^

we were the first to erect a House of God.

* In 1911 the Kev. H. G. Nelson was invited to the

pastorate. He had done good work at Tumby Bay^
and with his advent the highest hopes were held for the

prosperity of the Church. We are given to under-

stand that there is plenty of evidence that the hopes-

were justified.

The Church suffered severe losses by death in 1896,

IMrs. J. S. BroAvn. the mother of the present Treasurer,

died in that year. There have now been four generations

of that family in active association and membership
with the Church.

Another great supporter of the Church who died

in the same vear was Miss AlderseA^ a sister of Mrs. F,
\\". Cox.

P'or many years this noble lady had conducted a

school for girls at Maclaren Vale. The famous Tsong

Gyiaou was quite a South Australian institution, and

there are many mothers in our State to-day who are

grateful for the efficient and pious training receixedat

this well-known school.

Poet Noaklunga.—The foundation stones of this

Church were laid on February T), 191<», by Mr. Henry
Savage, the Chairman of the Unioji, and Mr. Henry
Dunstan, of Kensington, and the building was o[)ened

for public worship in the following Februar}'.

The minister at Maclaren Vale conducts a service

here e\erv Sunda\- afternoon.
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Mii.AXG (population. 210 : houses. 81). Point Sturt,

and Lake Plaims.—Standing in close relation to the

first Churches in the South is the planting of the first

pu])lic worship of God at Milang. The records of

these are imperfect, but we find a notice that up to

18(>.'i Milang and Point Sturt are mentioned as being

suj)plied by the Revs. Newland, Roberts, and Hotham,

with the help of laymen. The Rev. ('. I). Watt

settled there about 1862-3, and conducted worshiji in

his own house or in the store of Mr. Pavy's mill until

the present place of worship was built soon after he

went to the place. Mr. Watt was a veteran in the

service of his Master, having been for man\' >ears a

missionary of the London Missionary Society in

Demerara. Retiring from the steaming stamps of

South America in consequence of failure of health, he

'Came to South Australia in 1849, and exercised his

ministry in several places near Adelaide for several

y^ears, until his attention was directed to Milang.

It should be mentioned that ^Milang is a port for

steamers and other vessels engaged in the River ^lurraj-

trade, and is about 48 miles from Adelaide. It stands

on the Lake Alexandrina, with an expanse of fresh

-water in front, the opposite shores of which cannot be

seen in some directions, while the Blufl' at T'oint Macleay

<lire(tlv opposite is about 15 miles away.

.Mr. Watt was a faithful minister of Christ, and highly

esteemed for his m oik's sake. He must have left

Milang about ISTO. and \\as succeeded by the Hev. T.

Davies. who had Ixen pieachiiig for a term at Stow

Memorial ( hurch. Mr. Davies did not remain there

long, although his thoughtful preaching was very

acceptable to the i)eoi)le. and his removal to England
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was a cause of regret to all. We believe he found a

settlement afterwards in New Zealand*.

Mr. Watt, leaving Milang, removed with his family

across the two lakes, Alexandrina and Albert, and

settled on a section of land at Meningie as a farmer,

but carrying on his work as a minister of the (Jospel

in that remote and thinly-populated place. A place

of \\orship was afterwards built at Meningie. in which

Mr. Watt ministered in holy things until his death in

May, 1875.

The pastorate at Milang being vacant, the Rev. H . T.

Cheetham, who had for many years ministered in Ken-

sington, removed there, and continued in the sacred

office until his death in 1881. The ministry of this

pastor was perhaps the most fruitful of good, and the

mark he has left upon the place is more pronounced

than that of any of his predecessors. Mr. Cheetham

was. in fact, a man of exceedingly pronounced character

himself. His person was an index of hi.s mind—upright

and stately, his steps measured with mihtary precision ;

and always scrupulously dressed—a soldier who served

in the 51st foot at Waterloo, and an unflinching soldier

of the Cross also. Yet such a man could command
not only the esteem but the affections of people. There

was a certain ruggedness of strength about him that

could make enemies, but there was a genuine sympathy

that could call forth love also. We can heartily

.

sustain the following expiessiori of feeling by a resident :

—" The veteran preachei' was beloved by young and

old. and his happy genial face and manner made him
the friend of one and all. By his death the Church

lost a good pastoi' and many a true friend." Mr.

Cheetham enlisted wliile <juite a lad during or just

before the i-eturn of Xapoleon from Klba. and with
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his legiiiicnt was hurried to the front at that eventful

epoch. He served in the ranks, and always said

that he carried his firelock all through the campaign,

never falling out of the ranks once. At the occupa-

tion of Paris in 1815 by the Allies he was quartered

under canvas in the Bois de Boulogne and remained

there until the Allies evacuated France in 1817, whence

he removed with his regiment to the Ionian Islands,

and he finally quitted the army of King George of

England after about twelve years' service, to enter a

life-long enlistment under the King of Kings.

The next minister was the Rev. Geo. A. Palmer, who
laboured in the place for two j^ears, and then left for

Fremantle, Western Australia. He A\as followed by

the Rev. A. A. Munns, who joined the Congrega-

tionalists from the Primitive Methodist body, and

entered upon his work there in 1883, afterAvards re-

moving to Port Elliot Church as successor to the Rev.

John Hotham.

It should be mentioned that during Mr. ('heetham's

ministry at Milang he celebrated his Jultilee in the

Christian ministry, amid demonstrations of respect and

esteem. Also that the place of worship Avas doubled

in size by the addition of a transept at the northern

end.

Mr. George Herrington then took charge of the

place as its ministei-.

The ReA". George Herrington remained minister of

this Church for 10 years, AA^hen he remoA-ed to Western

Australia, where he died in October, 1908. He Avas

greatly loved, and a tablet has been placed in the C*hurch

in memoriam to him. FolloAving ^Ir. Herrington the
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Rev. Cumberland Claik supplied for a short time, and

then the late Rev. J. Burchett ^\ as minister for three year.>

,

when he left to take up work in Adelaide. The Rev.

D. Milne, jun., followed Mr. Burchett, and remained

at Milang for four years, when he left in 1907 to go to

the Murray Plains, the Rev. D. McXaughtan coming

from the Murray Plains to Milang, where he carried on

the work until 1912. Milang is one of those Australian

towns which has not grown. It has after all these

years a population only of 400 people, and in it now
there are three places of public worship, although our

own was the first. Besides the Congregational Church

there is a Church of England and a Baptist Church

known as the Church of Christ. Milang was able

during Mr. McNaughtan's pastorate to sUpjJort a

minister through the fact of the Parkin Mission com-

bining with that Church and employing its minister

to go to Narrung. The Methodists having started

work at Narrung, the Governors of the Parkin Mission

thought it advisable to withdraw from that j^lace, and

now the Secretary of the Union, the Rev. Penry Jonet;,

is endeavouring to bring about an arrangement by
which Milang may be worked in conjunction with

Macclesfield

.

Kingston, Lacepede Bay.—(Population, 600

;

houses, 126 : places of worship, three). At a distance

of 183 miles from Adelaide stands the township of

Kingston, where for some years a Congregational

Church existed, and worship has been regularly main-

tained. The Rev. D. Milne had been for many years

an earnest and devout bush missionary, sustained by a

Society for evangelising the remoter districts. Having
been removed from the northern district to the south-

eastern, he made Kingston his home in 1864. He had
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travelled in tlic country for several years before, then

he settled do\vii in the town, and gave the people more

frequent services than they had enjoyed before. Mr.

Milne's diocese was a vast one, extending in some direc-

tions 60 to 80 miles from the centre. He travelled

from station to station on horseback among the squatters-

in that part of the country, holding services ,teaching the

children, and distributing tracts. After his settle-

ment there a Church of eight members was formed,

in which the brethren gave their experience of God's

gracious dealings with them, and then gave the right

hand of fellowship to each other, and ga\e a call to

Mr. Milne to take the oversight of them in the Lord,

which he accepted. That was on September 12, 1867.

In 1869 the Revs. Charles Manthorpe and F. W. Cox

went to Kingston and held an ordination s(Mvice, the

former giving the constitution of a Christian Church,

and the latter giving the charge to the mini.^ter : after

which the Lord's Supper was partaken of by the ( hurch.

A new place of worship was opened in 1870. costing

about £500, the Rev. J. Jefferis conducting the service.

XotAvithstanding the promising appearance, the Rev.

J). Milne was compelled to withdraw from the scene of

his labour, where one might labour successfully, but

two would certainly fail. He laid the foundation but

others built thereupon. In 1873 he resigned his

pastorate, and withdrew soon after to Border Town^

which is the centre of the large Tatiara squatting and

farming country, there to recommence with un-

diminished courage the arduous labours he had under-

gone in previous years at Kingston. The building at

Kingston was subsequently sold.

The following paragraph appears in the Year Book

under date March 31st. 1883 :— ' The Church property
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at Kingston has been sold for £361 to the Anglicans,

who have been renting the building and using it for

Public Worship for more than two years."

Border Town.—(Population, 359; houses, 110).

. It is 292 miles from Adelaide, and has four places of

worship. It was, until a year ago, when the Intei-

colonial railway united it to civilization, the outpost cf

everything. Mr. Milne had been in the habit of visit-

ing the place in his prolonged pastoral visitations for

years before he settled there, and he had maintained

religious services at several places around. He was

invited to settle there by a union of all denominations.

In May, 1874, a Church was formed of five members,

since which time 42 names have been added to the

roll, of whom 27 remain in fellowship at the present

time. Worship was conducted in the school-house

until 1879, when the present church was built and

opened on January 23, 1880, by services conducted

by the Rev. W. R. Fletcher, M.A. The cost of the

building and some later improvements was £690, of

which £250 was a loan from the Chapel Building Society,

now partly repaid, and intended to be wholly dis-

charged during the Jubilee celebration in 1887-8.

There is a Sunday-school of 70 children, six teachers,

and a good library.

In 1912 the population is about 600, and the number

of houses 150, and there are five places of public wor-

ship.

The services in connection with the Jubilee of Con-

gregationalism in this State in 1887 were conducted by

the late Rev. John McEwin.

In 1892 a Young Christians Union was formed on
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the suggestion of Mr. C. J. Joiiner, of Port Adelaide

Church, who was then the school teacher at Miuidalla.

Mr. Mihie gave up the work at Bordertown in 1893,

as he had seen that the Avork of the Parkin Mission

at Coonalpj'n and Frances needed more attention than

he could give them while minister of another Church.

The Rev. W. S. Pearse was minister for five years

until Xovember, 1898, and did a good A\"ork. And lie

was followed b}' the Rev. J. Thomas, who was minister

until November, 1902.

In 1907 Mr. D.Milne, jun.. left Border Town to study

for the ministiy, and was subsequently the minister

on the Murray Plains {vide Murray Plains) and at

Milang [vide Milang) ; he is now the minister of Stawell

Church, Victoria.

The Rev. W. HaAvke followed :\Ir. Thomas, and

exercised a successful ministry until August, 1907,

when he went to Medindie. Mr. Hawke was followed

by the Rev. A. Isaac, who remained until jMarch of

this year. ^Ir. T. D. Webb is now the minister, who

came from Kadina, and has been in Border Town
since August.

" In looking back over the past," the Secretary

writes, " we can thank God and take courage." The

father of Congregationahsm in this district (the Rev. D.

Milne) was a faithful pastor here for twenty years.

It is pleasing to notice that he, being dead, yet speaketh

in his sons and daughters who remain in the Church.

Miss Milne, the youngest daughter, is organist at the

present time, and for twentj^ years a Milne has held

the office of organist or some other important position

in the Church. The following local preachers have

helped the Church and its missions :—Messrs. Mathin-

son Kirby, H. Milne, A. E. Milne, Lampe, and Truman.
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As we go to press we learn some ten or twelve j^oung
people from the school are seeking admission into the
Church as a result of a Mission conducted by Dr. Chap-
man and Mr. C. Alexander, of America.

PooGI^'EGORIE, at a distance of nine miles (popula-
tion, iS

;
houses, seven). Service is held in a weather-

board building, erected by the people on the i)lace.

Here Mr. Milne goes once a fortnight, and on the other
Sunday the people hold service among themselves.

.Sunday scholars, 15 ; teachers, three.

A faithful band of workers continue to carry on the
-work in this place. Mr. E. W. Mathinson has done
si)lendid service here, and indeed it is due entirely to
his devoted services that the httle church is full of

life.

Cannawigra.—Work here was started a few years
after Pooginegorie was founded. The work is well
sustained, but the friends are looking forward to a
greater realization of the Christian spirit. Mr. R.
Lampe is the Superintendent of the school, which
has twenty-two scholars.

MuNDALi.A, a place six miles a^vay, where six mem-
bers are united in Gospel bonds, and three Sunday-
school teachers have a school of 25 scholars. The
service is held in a public room, built for general pur-

poses, and it is alternated with the Wesleyan friends.

A})f)ut six years ago it was decided 1o close the service

here, as other Christian bodies were taking up the work.
The Methodists have built a church and the Anglicans
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are engaged in l)uil(ling one. Mr. Isaac continued

to conduct a \\eek-night cottage service, but nothing

further has been done since he left.

Frances.— Work was commenced in this place in

189(» by the Rev. 1>. ^Milne, under the Parkin Mission,

who had chaige of the whole South-Eastern district from

roonaljiyn to Frances. Mr. ]\[eldruni followed, and

later the Rev.s. H. C. Nelson and A. \V. Gordon. In

the year 1006 the Rev. Geo. Slade was appointed to the

charge of Frances, and laboured thei'e for five years,

leaving to take charge at Truro, when ^Ir. H. P. Lam-

bert, the present missioner. undertook the work.

Akdinoa.— Whiie\-^ ValJcy Church.—(Population, 245;^

houses, 53 : 27 miles south of Adelaide.)—A Congre-

gational place of Avorship was built here in 1848 on an

acre of land granted by the South Australian Company,

and the Rev. Isaac Prior asked to officiate as minister.

This he did till June, 185(1, when he resigned the over-

sight. Immediately after the congregation invited

the Rev. Ch. Hall to minister to them. In November

of that year the Rev. T. Q. Stow visited the place on

the occasion of the anniversary, and after morning^

service a Church was formed by six members from

Freeman-street and six from other places uniting in

Christian fellowship, Mr. Stow giving them solemn

charge on their duties and their privileges. Mr. Hall

was called to the ptastorate about a year after this.

The Church and congregation increased so much that

a new and larger place of worship was much needed,

and was carried into effect soon after on Mr. S. White,

owner of the flour mill, giving a piece of land on section

229 for the purpose. On September 19, 1800, the

foundation-stone was laid, the pastor, the Revs. R. C-
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Tlockhait (Wesleyan) and R. W. NeAvland taking part.

The sum of £41 was collected on the occasion. The

place Mas opened on April 28, 18G1, the Rev. F. W

.

Cox, of Adelaide., conducting the services morning and

evening, and the Rev. Js. Benney in the afternoon.

At the meeting the ne^t day the report stated that the

building had cost £371 , and that £341 had been collected

towards the amount. Thus a debt of £30 was left,

which ]\lr. SI. White at once j^aid, so that the place

might be opened free from debt. The decrease of

population steadily taking place, the Rev. Ch. Hall

bade farewell to a sorrowing congregation in ^Maich,

1863, since which time the building has been used by

the Baptists.

H.Ariv Vallkv (12 miles from Adelaide, on the

South-road).—l)r. ^lontgomery, the local physician,

gave an acre of ground for a cemetery, and for the

building of a place of worship. The first place was a

small and rough structure standing at the north-west

corner of the acre, and there the Rev. Fd. Baker,

formerly a mi.'^sionary in Madagascar, ministered cnce

a day, coming over from his place at Morphelt Vale.

The Rev. A. R. Philps removed from Truro to Happy
Valley in ^larch, 1853, taking charge of the Church

theie, and that also at Morphett Vale. In consequence

of the improAcd state of things ensuin<r a ne\\ place

of woiship was soon |)roposed. The South Australian

Company gave a half acre of land on the other side

of the road, to which another half acre was added for a

manse at a sulxsequent period, and the ]n'esent buikling

was erected at a cost of £710, of which £410 Avas col-

lected by the time of o|)ening- December 21, 1856.

Mr. Rhilps left in March, 1858, and, returning to Truro,

was follosved in January, 1859, bv the Rev. C'has.
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M;inthorpe, who had rccentlx' arrived fioin l-'nulaiuL

The next change took place in consequence of the calf

Mr. Manthorpe received to take the position of ns.'-istant

minister at Freeman-street, which office he entered'

upon in March. 18()1. After this the Revs. Js. Sleigh

(now missionary in Lifu). John Roberts (now in the-

Presbyterian ministry in Victoria), D. Badger (who

rendered %aluable service from Mor])hett \;\\v, A\here

he Avas pastor), and our venerable father in (cd, (hs.

Hall, exercised successively the ministry of the gci-pel''

in the place. Mr. Hall is the on)}' one whof-e ministry

was of any great length. ?!e entered thereupon in

November, 1804, and labouied there in the Lord for

about ten years, and saw the fellowship increase fiom

10 to 50. During his ministry the snug little manse

adjoining the church was erected for his u^e. In

March, 1874, ^Ir. Hall thought it his duty to resign,

and was succeeded by a minister from the Primitive-

^lethodist Connexion— the ]?ev. John Parl)cr, who-

remained tw o years in the place, and is now labouiing

in Victoria. Since that time the people felt themselves-

unable to maintain a minister of their own, and threw

themselves on the Lay Preachers' Association for help.

They then united themselves in affiliation with the

Church in Hindmarsh-square, .Adelaide, whose minister

(the Rev.F.W.Cox) regularly visited them for pastoral

purposes.

The Secretary of the Lay Preachers' Association (^Fr,

W. Creasy Harris) has been kind enough to furnish us

with the following further particulars of the history

of this Church.

The services have been maintained reguku-ly and

continuously by the members of the CongiegationaJ
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Lay Preachers' Association ever since the retirement

of the hist settled i)astor, the Rev. Jno. Barber, which

took place thirty-five years ago. If it had not been

for the voluntary and efficient services of these brethren

the church would either have been closed or passed

into the hands of some other denomination. The

congregations have been well maintained, frequently

numbering about 40 in the morning and between 50

and (':() in the evening.

1 he Ju1)ilee of the Church was celebrated on March

6, 1907. when Mr. E. H. Beaney conducted two ser-

vices. On the following \^ednesday afternoon a

Devotional Service was conducted by the Rev. Thomas
Hoj)e. The service Avas followed by a tea and public

meeting, at which many visitors from toAvn were pre-

sent, and a number of the old members who had wit-

nessed the laying of the fonndation-stone fifty yeai.s

before.

Tn 1911 a hall adjacent to the Church was built,

and it is now used on Sundays for the " kindergarten"

class in connection uith the Sunday-school.

The work in the Sunda3'-school is very satisfactory,

and the attendance maintains a good average. It is

held in the morning before the regular service, and the

children take a great interest in it.

Regular contributions are made annually to the Home
and Foreign Mission work of our Churches, and the

cost of trap hire for the supply of the services and other

expenses are met by the ordinary revenue of the Church.

During the last twenty-five years the hand of death

has been busy in our midst. Among those who have
been called to higher service are— Mr. and Mrs. Klose,
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Mr. and Mrs. Partridge. Mr. and Mrs. Sauerbier, Mr.

Appleton, and Mr. and Mrs. Mason. These brothers

and sister.s have left memories in the Church which

will be cherished for many years to come.

MoKPHETT Vale (])opulation—township, 64 ; dis-

trict, 685 ; 15i miles from Adelaide
;
places of worship,

three). Here we have lost our standing, as in some

other cases. A Union cha]^el was built in the earlier

days, where the Rev. Ed. Baker ministered in con-

junction wuth Hapjiy Valley. The people being

desirous of forming a C'ongregationiil (hurch, invited

the Rev. D. l^adger to the pastorate, who was ordained

to the ministry of the Word in that place, the Revs.

R. W. Newland, t'h. Hall, F. W. Cox, and John Hotham
taking part. He look the charge in 1863, and dis-

charged its duties with the energy and success that

would be expected by those who know him. He
left in 1866, in consequence of changed views on the

subject of baptism, and went to Victoria. Since

that time service has been discontinued by the Congre-

gational body, as the place is supplied with religious

ministrations, at least up to its full needs.

AF vccLESFiF.LD (popidatiou, 22~
; houses. 48 : places

of worship, 5 ; 27 miles south-east of Adelaide).

In the early days of the colony seveial of the meuibers

of the mother Church in Adelaide remo\ed to the

neighbourhood among the iirst settlers. They felt the

importance of the apostolic injunction, "Not to for-

sake the assembling of themselves together," and met

together in tlie building now called the " Old Brewery.'"

In the year 1844 the Rev. J. B. Austin arrived fi-om

England, where he had exercised the Christian ministry

at the chapel at Nun Green, Peckham, at which place
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lie vas ordained. Mr. Austin came to occupy a con-

siderable estate called " Lashbrookc," near Maccles-

field, where for many years he carried on the usual

business of a country gentleman. He carried on public

A\orship in the brewery until it was felt that a place of

worship must be built, which was soon accomplished

in the erection of a humble house of i!;um slabs, holding

about 50 people. The land was the generous gift

of Robert Davenport, Esq., J.P., and the place was
duly transferred to the Congregational body.

In the year 1848, by a vigorous effort the present

substantial church was built, capable of seating 150

people. Mr. Austin continued his ministry till 1857,

Avhen the friends at Mount Barker, desiring t(j have a

Congregational place of worship, invited Mr. Austin

to help them by his services. The Rev. S. I>. Harris

took charge of Macclesfield during the attempt to

establish Congregational worship at IMount Barker.

We say '' attem])t " for the movement ended in failure,

and Mr. Austin returned to his foimer Mork at Maccles-

field in about two years, retaining his position as pastor

there till 1876, when he retired into jtiivate life after 32

years' service. Mi'. Austin Avas a man of extensive

reading and considerable general acquirements— literary

and scientific— with also a consideiable knowledge of

medicine, wliich was very useful to ihe neighbourhood.

He died at a very arlvanced age in January, 1882

and was buried in Mitcham cemetery. After his

withdrawal from the ministry the lay i)reachers from

Adelaide conducted the services there with acceptance

until the close of 1879, when the liev. J. C. MciNIichael

was called to the pastorate, which he exercised with

great acceptance for four years, and during his ministry

a vestry was built at the back and a porch in front of
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the church. The land also was enclosed and planted.

After Mr. McMichael's retirement services were-

regularly maintained by the Mes.srs. Robert and K. 1).

Daveni)ort, of Battunga, the congregation numbering:

from 20 to .'iO, while the Rev. S. L. Harris occasionally

administered the Lord's supper to the Church members.

It should be remembered also that the low condi-

tion of things arose partly from the actual declension'

of population, and partly from tlie fact that there-

is a considerable Roman Catholic |)oinilati(Mi in and

around the place.

There is little to report in the way of progrt^ss duiing

the last 25 j^ears, as during the whole of that period

the Church has been practically without a pastor.

It is due to the whole-hearted service of Mr. Ernest

Davenport and his devoted family that the Church

has been able to maintain its position against great

difficulties. In 1903 Mr. WiUiams. of the Parkin

Mission, took charge of the work for two years, and

ably assisted by Mrs. Williams, did an eftective work.

But, although the people had only to raise £70 per

annum, the financial strain was too gieat, and the

arrangement terminated.

In 1901 the Rev. John Beukers, now of Western

Australia, was the minister for one year, and of two

other causes. Services also were rendered for a time

by the late Rev. Thomas .Kyte, who paid a quarterly

visit. In 190S Mr. Mclntyre, then Presbyterian

minister of Mount Barker, undertook a fortnightly

service for a year.

The Sunday-school work is carried on largely by^

Miss Dorothea Davenport, who is enthusiastic in her

work among the children.
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MoTNT Barker (population, 1,000 ; houses, 260

;

places of worship, six; 21 miles from Adelaide).- .As

we ha\e already mentioned services at this place, it

will be as well to complete the story oF our eltorts

there. While the Rev. J. B. Austin was carrying on

service at Mount Barker, the Rev. Mark Dixon arrived

from J\Dgland for service in South Australia. Under
the direction of the Congregational Union he went to

Mount Barker, as it was vmderstood the May was quite

open, and he carried on the work for a year or two,

when he joined the Presbyterian body, and shortly

after\\ards left the colony for Victoria. A place of

Avorship was partly erected in the town, but the roofless

walls remained for many years a standing reproach

to some one. All the services we ever held theie were

conducted in the workshop of a good friend who lent

us the place for the sake of the cause.

For the building mentioned above Mr. Thomas Good
gave the land. Some time during 1858 the building

was begun. There was a good gathering, at the laying"

of the foundation-stone, of friends from Adelaide,

at which were Mr. ('. Hope Harris and his

father. The Register of August 28, 1858, has the

following paragraph :

—
" The affairs of the C'ongrega-

tionalists are somewhat out of joint in this place, as a

few months ago the foundation-stone was laid for a

church t<j an artistic and somewhat costly design.

But when the walls were almost completed the building

was al)andoned owing to difference of opinion among
the Building C'onunittee and the difficulty of realising

financial promises."
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Mr. Good, who gave the land, was the contributor

•of practically all the money that was raised. In 1885

or 1880 he applied to the Union for the land to be

transferred back 1o him. The Union had no ])owcr to

do this, but consented to its sale by auction on Mr.

•Good's behalf.

GoROMAN'OEi. Vali.ev (nine and a-half miles from

Adelaide).—The place was named, not after the Coro-

mandel coast in India, but after a ship of that name
arriving in the early days, some of whose sailors ran

away and took up their abode in the place. By the

instrumentality of the Rev. T. Q. Stow, the Eev. C.

P. Watt Avas settled there as pastor, but he left in

1858, and there has been no Congregational worship

*ince.

Mr. C. H. Harris suj^plies the following :

—

" The early settlers in Goromandel took jjossession

-of their land in 1840, and a few years after Congrega-

tional services were conducted l)y lay preachers in Mr.

•Gill's house near the Sturt, now occupied by Mr. Cook.

" The chief supporters Mere Messrs. Matthews,

Umpherstone, Bartlett, Horner, and Hunt. The Rev.

Edward Baker, of ]Mor])hett Vale, conducting service

once a month. According to a printed report drawn

lip by Mr. J. T. Shawycr in 18.55, it appears that Coro-

mandel became one of the Home Mission stations in

1851. Shortly after this the Rev. C. 1). Watt )-ecently

arrived from Uemarara, settled there as pastor and

schoolmaster, and lived in the house now occui^ied by

Mr. WcXtchman.

" The building where the services were held was

-erected by the residents for a chapel and district school,

on land given by ]Mr. Matthews, now the cemetery.
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yiv. Watt conducted service one part of the Sunday

and the Wesleyans the other part until they moved

further down the valley to Mr. Shepley's house.

" On the opening day there was grand singing, Avhen

Messrs. C'hinner, Daniels, and Burford came from

Adelaide to assist. The singing usually was led by

^Messrs. G. Darby, G. Grossman, and T. Matthews

performing on the violin, flute, and violincello respec-

tively.

'' This little chapel has long ago disappeared, and

the site is occupied by the graves of those who once

wor^hipiDcd there."

Brighton '.population, 850 ; houses, 205 ;
places

of worship, two ; 10 miles south of Adelaide).—In 1843

a place of worship was opened on the Union principle,,

to be used by various denominations, the moiiiing

service being reserved to the Congregational body,

Mr. WilUam Giles and Mr. J. J. Barclay behig the-

preachers. This appears to have continued for some

years, with the addition of services at Glenelg, carried

on in coiuiection with Brighton. We observe in the

public records that the Rev. W. Xicholls is named as

pastor of both places in 1856-7, when the name of

the Rev. J. Kelsey appears as pastor in 1858, and

continues till 1862. Since that time the place of

woiship has passed out of use, and being subsequently

pulled down, the land has l)een reserved as a burial

ground.

EowAROsiowN (five miles from .Adelaide).- - Rehgious

service was held in Mr. Fabian's schoolroom for many
years by the agents of the Home Missionary Society

and others, the Rev. ¥. W. Cox. taking a week-night

service there from 1859 to 1861, al)out which timc^

the services were discontinued.
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Glenelo (population, 2,724 ; houses, 700 ; six and

a half miles from Adelaide).—In September, 1847,

public worshi]) by the Congregationalists was begun

in the house of ^Nlr. J. J. Barclay. Not man\' weeks

passed before the number assembling became so great

as to move the residents to take steps for the ei'ection

of a house for the worship of God, which was soon

•effected by the energy with which it Avas taken up by

the people. A piece of land Avas given for a site, on

which before the year was out a small and very plain

building was erected Avithout a penny of debt, and in

which the Hev. T. Q. Stow preached the first sermon

in December the same year. The same devoted men
who had maintained the services in the private house

continued to supply the place for the next tAvo years,

Messrs. Giles and Barclay taking alternate Sundays.

The next step in the history of the place Avas the ordina-

tion of the Rev. Chas. Hall as the first stated minister

of Glenelg. He accepted the office in June, 1849, the

ordination folloAAing soon after, Mr. StoAv, of course,

taking the principal part. On Mr. Hall's leaving,

About a year after, the two lay preachers before-named

again took the serAnces, until the place came under the

charge of the Rev. W. iSicholls, during 1856 and 1857.

After this (ilenelg \\ as placed on the preaching plan of

the Home Missionary SocietA' in Adelaide, and re-

gularly supplied by its agents. In the early part of

the year 1858 the Rev. Chas. E. Palmer arrived from

England, and conducted the services at Glenelg Avith

such marked acceptance that it was the commencement

of a ncAv era in the history of the Church. Mr. Palmer

was educated at Glasgow University, and had exercised

his ministry at Warrington previous to leaving Eng-

land. He AAas a preacher of great oratorical poAver,
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^nd so deeply impressed the people of Glenelg that

crowds attended, and filled the little place to over-

flowing. Among the hearers might he seen occasionally

the stalwart form of the Governor, Sir Richard Graves

MacDonnell, sometimes only jnst able to get inside the

doorway. At that time " Government Cottage,"

Glenelg, was the only ont-of-town residence of vice-

royalty. This state of things was not tolerable for

long, and in April, 1859, the foundation of the second

Congregational sanctuary was laid, and the place

opened, though in an unfinished condition, in December

the same year. Glenelg was at this time rapidly

growing in population and in wealth, and was claiming

for itself what was not more than its due—to be the

premier watering place of the colony— a position

which it has maintained hitherto, rival claimants

notwithstanding. Mr. Pahner's views of Church

order undergoing a change, he conferred with Bishop

Short, and in 1861 he returned to England, and was,

after the usual period of silence, received into the

Church of England, where he still ministers.

The opening of the new building, we have said, was

an epoch in the history- of the Church, as the elegant

Gothic structure in the principal street was in marked

contrast with the first building, which Mr. Palmer

himself said reminded him of a " packing case in a

puddle," as he first saw it on a dreary day with pools

of water around. The disappointment at his departure

was considerable, and for the next six months the

ministers of Freeman-street, in Adelaide, regularly

supplied the needed service. The Rev. Chas. ]\Ian-

thorpe was at that time one of the ministers at the

Mother Church, and his services were so acceptable to

the brethren at Glenelg that he was invited to take
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the oversight of them in the Lord. On receiving a^

regular call he entered upon his work on May 4, 1862.

Mr. Manthorpe arrived in this colony in the year

185S, having pre\'iously ministered in Newport. Essex^

for some time. We have referred to his work at Happy
Valley under that heading. It appeared that now
his real life-work opened before him, in the providence

of God, in the call to Glenelg. It was here that the

special characteristics of his large-hearted and genial

ministry could find fair scope. Mr. Manthorpe found

the place in a low condition, the house of God un-

finished, and a considerable debt weighing down its

energies. Within a year the £1,300 debt was reduced

by £500, while in a short time the cheerless aspect of

the interior was changed by its completion and comely

decoration. During the next twelve years upwards

of £2,000 were expended in making the building M'hat

it eventually became, besides the erection of a manse

for the minister at a cost of £1,050. Thus far we

have sijoken of the material things of the church, but

the spiritual work was not less actively carried on.

There was no Sunday-school at the beginning of ^Ir.

Manthorpe's ministry. In 1887 there were 270 children

under regular instruction, and 24 teachers. There

was no Church formed, but on April 2, 1863, twelve

brethren and sisters were formed into a fellowship in

Christ, and there are now 213 members united in

(.'hristian jirofession.

The next stage in the history of this important Church

is the erection of the third sanctuai-y, where the preach-

ing of the Gospel and the simple oixlinances of the

religion of the Lord Jesus might be fittingly proclaimed

and celebrated. Glenelg was growing, and the favour

with which the ministry of Mr. Manthorpe was received
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was growing too. In May, 1877, a Committee to

consider the case being appointed, they purchased the

adjoining block of land for £714. On October 27 the

foundation-stone of the new church was laid by Mr.

Jas. Counsell : and on September 19, 1880, the building

was opened with solemn service. The Committee

departed from the precedent of the second church

by adopting a design Italian in character, with a lofty

tower visible from afar by land and sea.

The interior is 80 feet by 50 in the clear, and is pro-

vided with sitting accommodation for 658, which can

be with small expense increased to 350 more, while, if

thought needful, galleries can be put up at any time.

The total cost of church and land was £6,900, of which

the sum of £3,500 remains to be Hquidated. A new

organ was put up in the church costing £600, of which

£250 had still to be raised.

During the 25 years since the close of Mr. Cox's

record the population of Glenelg has increased to 5,100.

There are 1,031 houses in the town, and 10 places of

public \\orshiii. In " An Historical Sketch of Glenelg

Congregational Church," prepared by Mr. H. C. Talbot,

and which he has kindly made available to us, he points

out that in Glenelg up to 1852 the only church was

our own. " Up to this time all denominations had

worshipped in the little church, but in May, 1852, a

building was erected by friends of the Church of Eng-

land. It was in a very unfinished state, having caUco

windows and mother earth for a Hoor. Bishop Short

preached the opening sermon."

The names of William Giles and J. J. Barclay having

been mentioned by Mr. Cox, the following information,
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gathered from Mr. Talbot's sketch, will be interesting

to our readers :

—

'* William (iiles, one of the Pilgrim Fathers of this

State, arrived in October, 1837, and was appointed a

special magistrate by Governor Hindmarsh in 1838.

"In 1841, on the retirement of Mr. D. McLaren,

the father of Dr. Alexander McLaren, Mr. Giles became

manager of the South Australian Land Co., retaining

the position until 1861, when he retired

Besides the little Brighton and Glenelg Churches, Mr.

Giles took his share in supplying the following places :

—

Miteham, Enfield, Morphett Vale, Happy Valley,

Houghton, Shipley, Edwardstown, Glen Osmond, Port,

and Alberton. When he went to reside at Glenelg

he took the larger number of services at that place,

leaving his colleague, Mr. Barclay, to take the more

distant stations. He died at his residence, ' Beau-

mont,' on the 11th May, 1862, aged 70 years, and was

buried in the Clayton Church Cemetery, Kensington."
" John James Barclay, another of the Pilgrim Fathers

of the State, came from the Silver-street Chapel, Lon-

don, with his wife, arriving in October, 1837, by the

' Catharine Stewart Forbes,' being deputed by the

British and Foreign Seamen's Society to open a branch

in South Australia.

"Mr. and ]Mrs. Barclay were two of the 11 to sign

the compact at a meeting held in a tent provided by

the Colonial ^lissionary Society on the 19th December,

1837, upon acre No. 5, Adelaide, in North-terrace.

Forming themselves into a Christian Church, receiving

each other in the Lord with affection and confidence,

and intending by Divine help to walk consistently

with the important and delightful relations into which

we now enter." .... For the 30 years Mr.
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Barclay lived in this State, he laboured unceasingly in

the service of the Master, and those who had the

privilege of knowing him personally, realised what a

debt the Congregational Church owes to him.

" He fell asleep in Adelaide on May 21, 1867, in his

58th year, and was at the time of his death a deacon
of the Hindmarsh-square Church. He was buried

in the West- terrace Cemetery."

We also note in the Sketch the Rev. C. Manthorpe,
who became minister of the Church in 1863, was elected

Chairman of the Union in that j-ear.

Of the 11 original members ^hen the Church was
/first regularly formed, the only two surviving are

Mrs. Manthorpe and Mrs. Counsel].

James Counsell and William Johnstone were the

iirst deacons.

In May, 1887, Mr. Manthorpe completed 25 years ser-

vice, and the occasion AAas fittingly marked.

In 1888 the Church passed through a financial crisis,

Taut by the munificent bequest of John Martin, of

Plympton, who left to the Church £3,000, and efforts

made by the people themselves, the debt was reduced in

1889 to the small sum of £900.

InMarch, 1891, Mr. Manthorpe was appointed a repre-

sentative of the Union, with Mr. Kirby, to attend the

meetings of the Congregational Council in London, and
before leaving was presented with a testimonial. Dur-
ing the absence of the minister the jiulpit was supplied

by the Rev. R. Mackay, of London. On the 26th

March, 1893, Mr. Manthorpe terminated his ministry

at Glenelg to the great sorrow of the people he had
taught so faithfully in things si)iritual. A year or

two later he accepted a call to the Parkside Chuich,

now known as Manthorpe Memorial. Soon after ihis
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his health l)egaii to fail. At the opening of the new

Church on December 4, lSi)8, he was seized witii ilhiess^

and he died tAvo days later.

On March 24 two memorial windows and a marble

tablet were placed in the Church in loving memory
of the late C'harles Manthorpe.

The windows unveiled by Miss Manthorpe bear this

inscription :
—

>'T0 THE GLORY OF GOD
and memory of Charles Manthorpe.

Blessed are the dead wlio die in the Lord.

He shall receive the crown of life.
'

'

And the tablet unveiled by F. W. Cox—
"This stone is erected by a grateful people in loving memory

of the Rev. Charles Manthorpe, Pastor of this Churcli from
May, 18G2, to April, 1893. Born March 31st, 1836, died

December 6, 1898. 1 will give you pastors according to my
heart, who shall feed you with knowledge and understanding.

March, 1900."

The Rev. George Rayner, who for eleven years had

been the rarely gifted and highly esteemed minister

of the Congregational Church at Homebush, Sydney^

in response to an invitation, at once unanimous and

pressing, entered upon the f)astorate on December 9,

1894. Eloquent and intense in his preaching, with a

fine discernment in exposition, tenderly solicitous as-

a pastor, Mr. Rayner has won the affection of the

entire church.

During the period of ]\Ir. Rayner's ministry at Glenelg

spiritual vigour and generous impulses have proceeded

side by side. In an especial degree has the whole-

hearted and effective work of the teachers been wit-

nessed to by the new life frequently introduced into-

the Church from the Sunday-school.

Mr. Rayner has during the time he has been at

Glenelg given generously of his distinguished ability

and rare gifts to the services of our churches at large.
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He occupied the chair of the Union for the year 1899-

1900. At a time when we were in need of an oflficial

of tact and able to inspire with a magnetic j^iersonahty,

Mr. Rayner wilhngly alloAAed himself to be nominated

as Secretary of the I'nion, and he did not a Httle to

guide our aflairs at a critical time in our history. He
'Occupied this office for four years in the period 1903-

1907. Tt was largely due to his enthusia-jn that the

S.A. Conqriqaiiovalisi was launched in 1905. and he has

ably conducted it as editor ever since.

The Sunday-school has been from time to time,

more or less closely connected with such organizations

as the Young Christians' Union, the Society of Christian

Endeavour, Bible Classes, the Young Men's Class, and

with the present iu'-titution, the Young People's Cuild.

All of these, A^ith the hearty and consistent support of

the Church and congregation, have made their influence

felt for good, and have greatly helped and encouraged

the officers and teachers in their work.

Xo reference to the earlier years of the Sunday-

school would be complete without a grateful and loving

tribute to the a\ ork and memory of the late Mr. Frederick

Caterer and the late Mr. James Twiddle. The fornier

was an indefatigable. superintendent for a long period,

the latter an earnest worker and Superintendent of a

morning school for years. Messrs. H. D. Cell, W.
Herbert I'ldllipps, and ^^ . Storrie have been Su])er-

mtendents in later years : the present occupant of

the office being Mr. H. D. Cell, who is supported by
an efficient staff of officers and teachers.

Of these Mr. W. Storrie was accidentally drowned
on December 24, 1909, while bathing. A sorro\\ful

people erected a memoiial.

Through the energy and financial helj) of Mr. Phillipps

new class-rooms weie built.
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Section II.

—

Adei aide.

Having thus dealt with the C'hui'ches south and east

of Adelaide, we jn'oceed next to tiiose of Adelaide

itself and its suburbs not included in our previous-

notices. First of these is

H ixn.MARSH-SQUARE Chuuch—^Thcold niotliei' ( hurch

under the care of the Rev. T. Q. Stow, was not without

its troubles and anxieties. As the result, two of the

deacons—the Hon. W. Peacock and Mr. J. J. Harclay

—

quitted the fellowship of Freeman-street chapel, feeling-

that there was room enough for a second Church in the

city. Mr. Peacock, being a man of considerable wealth,

which he had gained in business in the city, built at his

ow'n expense a place of worship in a street off Rinidle-

street, which was opened for worship in June. 18.51, the

Revs. M. H. Hodge, of Port Adelaide, and George Stone-

house, the Baptist minister of Lefevre-terrace, North

Adelaide, taking part in the services. The Rev. J»

Haynes, Avho had arrived in Adelaide in the previous

year, was called to the pastorate, and a congregation

was soon gathered. Mr. Stow, with a largeness of

heart not always seen in ministers who have occupied

a leading position in a neighbourhood, announced to his-

people that now, if any of them were dissatisfied with

their present position, they might find a new spiritual

home at the new place. Several of them acted on

this suggestion then and afterwards, by joining the new

Ebenezer Chapel. Very soon after the gold diggings-

were discovered in Victoria, and the immediate result

was the outflow of the male population becoming so

great that it was a rare thing to see grown and active

men in Adelaide. A story is told of that strange

eventful time that children on the doorwavs looking-
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out into the street would cry, " Mother, here is a man /''

Consecjuentlv in this, as in some other cases, the place

of worship was shut, minister and people alike migratirg

to the expected El Dorado in Victoria. In June, 1853,

the Rev. John Hotham, of whose history and character

notice has been taken before, arrived, and wa>s

invited to supply the pulpit for a year, subject to

the approval of the Church, should one be formed.

The offer being accepted, the place was re-opened on

July 24, 1853, with special services, and the Church

re-formed on the sixth of the following September,

when 20 Christian people united themselves in Church

fellowship, of whom only one was on the Church roll in

1887. On the 30th May, 1855, Mr. Hotham resigned

his pastorate, as his desire was to engage in farming.

He preached his farewell sermon on >^ovember 17 of

the same year, and was immediately followed by the

Rev. Ed. Dewhirst, who had come round from Victoria

about that time. Mr. Dewhirst was formally called

to the pastorate in January, 1856, but resigned his

position in January, 1857, in consequence of his adop-

tion of Baptist views. Mr. Dewhirst has for many
years occupied the important post of Chief Inspector

of Schools in the colony. Mr. Stow then took the

general oversight of the Church, frequently supphing

the pulpit himself.

The next stage in the Church's history was the call of

the Rev. F. W. Cox to the pastorate. He arrived in

the colony on November 13, 1857, and immediately

entered upon the work at Ebenezer, being called to

the pastorate at the end of three months from that

date. He remained in that position for 40 years,

living in unbroken harmony and affection with the

people. Previous to his arrival here he had ministered
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for several years in the town of Market-Weighton,

Yorkshire, where he left a people with whom he main-

tained constant correspondence up to the time of his

death.

In the year 1860 the question of a new place of wor-

ship, more suitable to the growing population, was dis-

cussed at a Church meeting, when the Hon. W. Peacock

promised to give pound for pound on all the money

raised during the next year. The challenge was

accepted, and the suni of £1,030 11/8 was collected,

which Mr. Peacock doubled, and to which Mr. Thos.

Graves gave £50 17 9, being 10 per cent on the amount.

The tender of Messrs. English & Brown \\as accepted,

being £3,094 for the church and £565 for the school-

room, Mr. Geo. .\bbot being the architect. The

building was opened on September 5, 1862. The

style is modified Byzantine, and the ground floor 70 x

50 feet. The place could easily be seated for 601'

people, the present number of seats being 450. The

land itself cost £600. The opening services betian on

Friday with a service, at which the Rev. Js. .Jefieris

preached from John iv. 23. On Siiuday the Rev. F. W.

Cox preached from Haggai ii 9— " The glory of the

latter house shall be greater than of the former, saith

the Lord of Hosts ; and in this place will I give peace,

saith the Lord of Hosts." A very refreshing communion

season followed, in which brethren from other Churches

joined. The Rev. Ch. Manthorpe preached in the

afternoon from 2 Cor. iii. 10. and the Rev. C. W. Evan,

B.A., in the evening from Matt. iv. 4—" Man shall not

live by bread alone," &c. The whole services were

closed by a tea meeting on September 11, in White's

Room, of which 830 persons partook, and an enthusiastic

pubhc meeting after. The collections were— On the
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Friday £35, on Sunday £54 7/6, and on Alonday £35
;

lotal £124 7/6. Besides which a sale of goods was

held on Thursday, September 10. which realised

£351 3/11, thus making a grand total of £495 11/5

during the three days. The whole services were a

season of great spiritual refreshment. Since that time

there has been little to record. Whether the proverb

of the blessedness of the nation that has no history

will apply to Churches also we Avill neither affirm nor

•deny. There has been a doubling of Sunday-school

accommodation by placing an upper story to the old

room at a cost of about £1,000, from which it is hoped

to remove the remaining debt during the currency of

the Jubilee vear.

For years the congregation continued large, and the

jninister exerted a \\ide and beneficent influence, being

helped in this respect by his wife— a daughter of the

late Mr. Richard Aldersey, of Xoarlunga—-whom be

married in 1863. One of the pastor's daughters— the

late Miss Lois Cox-was the first lady missionary to

go from .\ustralia to India. She established at Salem,

on behalf of the London Missionary Society, an

orphanage afterwards known as the Lois Cox Home.
Mr. Cox resigned from the pastorate when he reached

his eightieth year, in !S97, and lived in retirement

for seven years before his decease on March 29. 1904.

His widow and youngest daughter still reside in Wake-
field-street, and take a warm interest in Church affairs.

In ready response to a request of ours, Mr. Bernard

Scrymgour has committed to writing the following

iippreciation of Mr. Cox's ministry ;—

" ' In loving memory of Francis William Cox, who
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Avas for 40 years the pastor of this Church." So runs;

the inscription on the memorial tablet erected in our

Church.

For the greater portion of that time the writer was
privileged to sit under his ministry.

In looking back and trying to summarise the impres-

sion of his life left on my mind, the first outstandings

feature is that from earliest days there came from the

apparently stern exterior glimpses of a tender, sym-

pathetic heart within, and as one grew older and learned

to appreciate more and to discern better, closer contact

showed how true the judgment of earlier years had
been, only the heart was infinitely tenderer than we
had imagined.

The next thing, and perhaps it was the dominant

note of his life, was his unswerving loyalty to duty.

There should be no sparing of self, he thought, when
duty called. If a thing was the right thing to do it

must be done at all costs. And Avhat he practised

in this respect himself he was continually enforcing

in his pulpit utterances. At times his strong sense of

right made him appear hard and unyielding, but,

looking back, it can be seen how that finely tempered

conscience would have no half measures : a thing was
right or it was wrong. If right, it must be done, and

if one had done wrong he must make all the reparation

possible, and be careful never to repeat the action.

For a man who was in some respects conservative,

he approached Scriptural truths with a wonderfully

open mind, and his whole attitude seemed to exemplify

what was in the mind of the Rev. John Robinson

who, in his farewell address to the Pilgrim Fathers

before they embarked for the Xew World, said :
' For

I am veril}^ persuaded, the Lord has more truth yet
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to break from His Holy Word : I beseech you to re-

member, it is an article of your Church Covenant that

ye be readj' to receive whatever truth .*hal] he made
known to you from the written Word of G-^d.' There

was, therefore, no narrowness in his teaching, nothing

of bigotry, but more and more an unfolding of the

Fatherhood of God and his wonderful love to His

children

.

Then what a vast store of knowledge was bis! ' All

put away,' as someone once said, 'in little drawers,,

each drawer neatly labelled and ready for use v.hen

requirf^l.' There seemed to be no subject with

which he was unfamiliar, and it was a great pleasurer

to have to consult him on various topics and find how
in a few minutes he could pour out a stream of concise

information which would otherwise have taken hours

to collect. The amount of reading which he did was

tremendous ; he always seemed to have advance copies

of the latest books. He had the ability to digest and

make his own at once all that Avas worth retaining.

In all things he was a man of method, everything

had an appointed time. In Church matters all Avas

carried on strictly in accord with Congregational usages»-

He kept records of every Deacon's meeting, and, l)eing

one of Isaac Pitman's first pupils, the notes were often

taken in shorthand.

You never found him rushing to church just in time

for the service ; at least a quarter of an hour before the

time of starting he could always be found in his vestry.

There was a quiet orderhness about him which was

part of his very nature.

The early records of Congregationalism show what a

valiant champion for religious freedom he was in the

young days of this State. State control of religion in
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any form was intolera1)1e lo him. and it is largely owing

to his wise foresight and that of his comtemporaries

that we enjoy the religious freedom which is ours to-

day.

Congregationalism in this State has no name which

stands higher than that of Francis William Cox, and,

while in our youthful days he earned our respect and

esteem, when we were privileged to come into closer

touch with the inner man, Ave learned to love him."

Mr. Cox was succeeded liy the Rev. S. Lenton. who

held the pastorate until near the end of 1904. The

Rev. Henry Gainford took over the reins of govern-

ment on the Xew Year's Day following, and with a

view to making the services and meetings more attrac-

tive—the population having largely migrated to the

suburbs- ran the Church on "institutional" lines

Avith A-arying success. When he accepted a call to the

Carlton Church, Victoria, the pastorate of Hindmarsh-

square was offered to, and accepted by. the Rev. J. T.

Huston. The neAV minister is a young man, full of

energy and of a desire to accomplish something for

the benefit of his felloAvs. He makes a special appeal

to young men, and invites them freely to discuss with

him their doubts and difficulties. His AA^ork is being

carried on upon broad lines, and Avith a recognition

that in a large degree mental and bodily vigoui' and

strength of soul may often be closely related terms.

He has throAvn open his library for the use of his con-

gregation in the Guild room, and by means of classes

and lectures on biblical, economic, and popular sub-

jects, is gradually making his influence felt in many

other Avays besides through his pulpit utterances.

Halifax-street Schooirooat and Prea(Hin<: Sta-

TTOX.—The pastor anfl people of StoAV Memorial (lunch,
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seeing the need of evangelistic -work in this portion

of the city, moved in the matter in 1874, but delays

took place from various causes, so that the building

was not opened until September 15, 1878, when it

appeared that £589 6/11 had been collected, and that

£548 more were required to complete the building.

The services carried on in the place have been in

the fullest measure successful in doing good to both

the younger and older portion of the population. Mr.

Grayson's energetic labours in the school have been

highly valued. The preaching service on the Lord's

Day is sustained by the Lay Preachers' Association.

It is now r.8 years since this work was inaugurated,

and during the whole of the time Mr. Laurence Grayson
has been identified with it. He has been Sui^erin-

tendent of the school from its inception, and is really

the pastor of the Church. He is held in great affection

by the people, and it must be very gratifying to our

friend, who has also for many years been a deacon of

Stow Memorial Church, that God has so richly blessed

his life's work. Mr. Grayson has had the good fortune

to have associated with him in his work one of his

three daughters ever since they were old enough to

teach. As each has been compelled to relinquish

her task a sister has been found to carry it on. ]\Irs,

Robert Hogarth and Mrs. Allan Edwards were teachers

at Halifax-street up to the lime of their marriage,

and now Mis.^ May (Jrayson is the devoted leader of

the kindergarten, which is largely attended and beauti-

fully conducted.

The Misses Burgess and Grayson conduct a most

successful Girls' Club, and a Mothers' Meeting, which

has Vjeen the means of great good for many years, is
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led by Mesdames Bakewell and Holder.

The ])ulpit is supplied by the students of Parkin

College.

North Adei AroE Church.—For years previous to

any steps being taken North Adelaide had attained to

dimensions that rendered it desirable that a Congrega-

tional Church should be established there. On August

15, 1859, the desire took shape in a public meeting

in the Temperance Hall, Tynte-street, when it was

moved by the Rev. F. W. Cox, and seconded by Mr.

R. A. Tarlton—" That this meeting considers it desir-

able to take measures without delay to secure the

erection of the intended Congregational Chuich."

At this meeting the Rev. J. Jefferis M.A., LL.B.,

was present, and moved the following resolution, which

Mr. Thos. Graves seconded :—^" That the following

gentlemen be requested to take the oversight of affairs

as a Committee of Management :—Rev. T. Q. Stow,

Rev. J. Jefferis, Hon. Capt. Bagot, Messrs. MacGeorge,

G. Shaw, E. B. W. Glandfield, Manoah Morris, A.

Hay, M.P., D. Kekwick, R. G. Bowen, Henry Giles,

R. Stuckey, Thos, Graves, W. H. Beaney, R. A. Tarlton,

Wenlock, C. Fisher, R. Nairne, R. Milne, J. M. Link-

laker, Chas. Todd, Robert Tod, J. Whinhani, G. Crawley,

W. Johnstone, W. Towns(md, M.P., Jas. Lucking, Jno.

Richardson, J. Harrington, T. Barlow, and E. A.

Schroedor."

Of this Committee the only members identified

with the Church in 1887 were Messrs. Kekwick and

Beaney. The Committee appear to have throAvn an

untiring amount of energy and enthusiasm into the

project. They canvassed the colony for subscriptions,

-and they appealed to friends bej'ond the seas. So

successful were they that in the course of two years and
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a quarter they managed to collect the large sum of

i4,751 ; and among the notable contributors are the

names of the late Sir Richard MacDonnell, Go\ernor

of the colony, the late Sir Titus Salt, of Saltaire, York-

shire, the late Mr. Hopkins, of Hobart, and the late

JNIr. G. F. Angas.

The decision of the Committee was that the church

should be of the Grecian or Greco-Italian style of

architecture, and that its total cost should not exceed

£3,500. The former provision was strictly adhered

to, but we all know how the limits as to cost have

been exceeded, for the sum expended from first to

last on the church and its adjuncts is not short of

£16,000 to £18,000.

The Church was formed on October 20, 1S59, when 52

members entered into Christian fellowship, of whom
Mr. and Mrs. Kekwick, Mr. Frost, Mrs. Robert Tod
Mrs. Wicker, Mr. and Mrs. George Newman, Mr. George

E-obertson, Miss Wilson, and Mrs. Moyses were still

associated with the Church as memliers when this

record was written. On December 2 the Revs. Js.

Jefferis received the formal call to take the oversight

in the Lord of the new Church, Avhich he accepted.

Worship was carried on in the Temperance Hall, Tynte-

street, until the present building was erected.

The Rev. Js. Jefferis came to this colony under advice

of his physicians in England, a change of climate being

absolutely necessary for the maintenance of any fair

measure of health. He was educated at New College

Ijondon, and took degrees at the London University.

After leaving College he was about to settle as pastor

over the Church at Saltaire, then worshipping in the

beautiful and costly sanctuary erected by Sir Titus Salt
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for the use of the officers and workpeople in that won-

derful creation of his enterprise and skill— Saltaire.

Here, and at once, the hand of God pointed in another

direction. God had a great work for his servant to do

in these new lands, and we are reminded of the Apostle

Paul and his companions—" They assayed to go into

liithynia ; and the Spirit of Jesus suffered them not
"^

(R..V.)- Coming, therefore, to South Australia, he

found a place preparing for him in the good providence

of God, and we hesitate not to say He equally prepared

His servant for the work. Mr. Jeiferis' qualities for a

locality where so many young men dwelt were unique ;

for while he had the hearty buoyancy of youth, he had

great practical wisdom, with a power of setting others

to work,.and keeping them at it. His style of preach-

ing also was generally attractive and impressive. No'

wonder, then, that the people speedily emerged from

the dulness and straitness of the hall into a new and

beautiful structure, admirably placed within view of the

whole city. In May, 1860, a Bible-class was flourish-

ing with 38 members, which was subsequently expanded

into a Young Men's Society, which rapidly became

the principal one in the city, and formed one of the

most noticeable features of the North Adelaide organi-

zation. The foundation-stone of the new church was

laid by the Rev. T. Q. Stow on May 15, 1860, £500

being placed in various sums thereupon during the

service. On the 1st of May the same year the first

deacons were appointed, being Messrs. Thos. Frost,

I). Kekwick, Robert Milne, M. Morris, and R. A.

Tarlton. The new church was opened Avith fitting

services on Friday, February 22, 1861, but was at the

time in an unfinished state both inside and out. The

Rev. T. Q. Stow preached on 1 Kings viii. 11, "The
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glory of the Lord filled the house," and Ezek. xliii. 5,

" I will fill this house with glory." On the following

Lord's day the Rev. W. Harcus conducted the morning

service, and preached from Psalm xlviii. 12-13, " Walk

about Zion, and go round about her ; tell the towers

thereof," &c., Mr. JefTeris himself taking the evening

service. The collections amounted to £220 at the

services. The auspicious circumstances of the open-

ing have been verified by the history of the Church

all through, though its career has not been unclouded.

About two years after the opening Mr. Jeiferis re-

ceived an invitation to the pastorate of the Congrega-

tional Church, Pitt-street, Sydney, but to the great joy

of his people he declined it. It was not till the year

1870 that the building was actually completed, by the

erection of the tower and dome, and finishing the walls

inside and out, so as to bring out its fine proportions.

The style is Venetian-Ionic, with interior dimensions as

follows : - 92 ft. by 49 ft. 6 in. ; height, 28 ft. Sittings

on the ground floor, 600 ; in the gallery, 200. In the

basement are fine schoolrooms and other apartments

for the service of the Church, such as vestry, kitchen,

&c. Some of these have been now superseded by the

noble pile of buildings, consisting of vestry, lecture

hall, and other apartments in the rear of the church,

making the whole one of the best equipped places

for all Church purposes in the colonies. In 1877 Mr.

Jefferis had another call to Pitt-street, Sydney, and

felt it his duty to accept it, to the great sorrow not

only of the Church and congregation, but of the people

of Adelaide in general. A very noble presentation

of plate was made to him before his leaving, the funds

for which were gathered from various classes and

creeds, showing how widely he was respected. Thus
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after 17 years of fruitful work the pastorate was left

vacant.

The Rev. Osric Copland succeeded Mr. JeiTeris in

July, 1877, and during his pastorate the above-

mentioned lecture hall and other buildings were erected.

^Ir. Copland was educated at Cheshunt College, and

previous to his coming to South Austraha he had been

labouring in the eastern colonies, more or less inter-

mittently, in consequence of weakness of health. Now,

restored to vigour, he was ready to enter upon regular

pastoral work, even in a case presenting such demands

for hard work as that of North Adelaide. For seven

years he did his Masters work with all fidelity, and with

the growing respect and affection of those who knew

him. After that circumstances arose which led to the

severance of the tie that had bound together pastor

and people. In 1884 Mr. Copland removed to Victoria,

where he noM- labours as the pastor of the ( ongregational

Church, Prahran, with great success and acceptance.

For 15 months the Church remained without a stated

minister, until in September, 1885, the Rev. Samuel

Hebditch arrived from England to take the oversight

of the Church. Mr. Hebditch was a Highbury

student, and in 1848 began his ministry of the

Word, which he exercised in Woolwich, and for

some years i)i Bristol, and subsequently at Clapton

Park, London, where he had a prominent posi-

tion in the London ministry. Removing, for

reasons of ill-health in his family, to Australia,

he took a j-ear's service in Collins-street Congregational

Church, Melbourne, in 1880. Thus he became known

to the Churches in this hemisphere, and so favorably,

that an invitation was sent to him from the North

Adelaide people to become their pastor, which he
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accepted, and began his ministry in September, 18S5.

His large experience of life, and his njatured Avisdom
made him a power for real usefulness in the C'huich

over which he presided ; and all the institutions of

North Adelaide Church were Avell sustained under his

able ministry. During the 28 years of the Church's
history between 700 and 800 members were admitted
to fellowship, of whom about 250 were communicants
in 1887, while 7,000 children and 250 teachers were
entered on the Sunday-school roll during the same
time.

The ministrations of 1\]t. Hebditch were marked ])y

ihe most devoted piety. I.ove unfeigned, born of

the Spirit of C'hrist illuminated his character, and was
revealed in his conduct. He laboured for souls as one
that must give an account. After serving faithfully

for three years he was compelled to resign on account
of ill-health The shadow of death was u]ion him. A
fortnight later, before his resignation took effect, he
passed into the presence of his Lord. His memory is

iragrant still.

The vacant pastorate was filled a year later in 1 8S9

by the Uev. Frederic Hastings. He zealously and
faithfully served the Church during a short but strenuous

career. He was an able lecturer and public speaker,

and contended vigorously for the principles on which
the Church was founded. He resigned in November,
189.3, and returned to London, where he still exercises

the office of the Christian ministry.

In January, 1894, Dr. Jetferis, then pastor of P.el-

l^rave Church, Torquay, Avas invited by telegram to
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resume his old pastorate. Ke accepted the invitation

and arrived from England in May, 1895. Thencefor-

ward for seven years work went steadily on. The

church was renovated at a cost of £oOG. Two friends

provided new gas pendants. The young men decorated

and furnished the Lecture Hall. A debt of £3,000

on the church ])remises was successfully grappled with.

Ther*" were many additions to church fellowship. On
November 1(>, 1899, the pastor refeired to his intended

retirement. He had promised five yeai's of service, and

already six had gone. He ottered to remain another

year on condition that a co-pastor was appointed who

might become his successor. To this the church

agreed, and elected the Rev. \V. H. Lewis, of Eallarat.

for a year. At the end of that time, on March 0, 1901

,

Dr. Jefferis retired, having been pastor altogether i'5^

years.

On the termination of Dr. Jefferis' second pastorate

a great farewell meeting was held in the church. The

Rev. (t. Ra;^nier, of Olenelg, paid an eloquent tribute

to the ministry of this great man. He recalled how

Dr. Jeflferis had exercised for half a century nearly a

mighty influence in the Southern Hemisphere. He
had ever been an older brother among the younger

ministers, and was the first to encourage one when he

recognised a good bit of work had been done. Mr>

Rayner concluded his tribute Avith the pathetic words :

" My father, my father, the Chariot of Israel and the

horsemen thereof.'" Refei'ence was also made to that

gentle lady whose gracious influence in the home, and

devoted ministry in Sydney and this city to women and

children had been a great source of strength to her

husband's work. She had ever been the friend of

the poor, and made the lot of every one coming in.
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contact Avith her happier through a generous friend-

ship and unbounded hospitahty.

Happily Dr. and Mrs. Jefferis still reside amongst us

enjoying the measure of peace and rest they Loth so

richly deserve. They still help on our common work

in ever}' way possible to them. The doctor's voice

is heard frequently in our assemblies aiid pulpits with

unabated vigour, and he continues to move audiences

with that spiritual power and intellectual massive-

ness always characteristic of his public utterance.

Mr. Lewis was chosen to fill his place. The ministry

-of Mr. Lewis was marked with great devotedness.

His preaching Avas full of fervour. The sacred eloquence

which is characteristic of our Welsh brethren was most

manifest in him. He served the Church faithfully

for five years, resigning his post on February 1, 1905.

Mr. Lewis has been for some years the minister of the

leading Congregational Church in Brisbane.

His friends in this State hear gladh^ of his good work

and strong ministry in the Northern capital.

For two years and four months the church remained

without a pastor. On May 29, 1907, the Rev. A. E.

Gifi'ord of Malvern, Victoria, responded favorably to

-an invitation, and in August commenced his pastorate.

He is w'ith us still, full of zeal and activity in Ihe^Iapfer's

•cause. Numbers of earnest and thoughtful young

men have been attracted to his ministry. His week-

day classes for the study of Biblical history have been

largelj^ attended. The Mission at Lower North Ade-

laide has been joined more closely to the Mother Church.

The Sunday-school has been reorganised and l)ids fair

to be one of the best in the cit}'.
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Mr. Gifford is particularly a young people's minister.

Under his teaching a large number of them are having

their minds opened to the broader issues of the ( hristian

life, and are " learning to a])prehend with all the saints

what is the breadth and length and height and depth,

and to know the love of Christ which passeth know-

ledge, that they may be filled with all the fullness of

God."

f)ur brother is a force in the social life of the com-

munity, and has already Avon a place for himself in the

esteem of all the brethren on account of his theological

learning, his wise statesmanshi]), and his unswerving

devotion to Christian ideals.

Lower North Adelaide.—During the pastorate of

the Rev. J. Jefferis, the abundant energy of the people

found an outlet in what was then called Irishtown,

but now known as LoAver Xorth Adelaide. Here a

place was built in 1886, and religious worship and a

8unday-school have been regularly maintained to the

present day.

The following account has been compiled from the

Souvenir published by the Church on the occasion of

its Jubilee i)i Xovember. 1910 .--

In 1879 Mr. H. \V. Beaney, who had been associated

with the work as teacher and preacher, became Sujier-

intendent of the school. He held office until 1882, but

continued in the school as leader of the Young Men's

Bible Class for years later.

Concerning the work and influence of ^Nlr. Frederick

Basey, who became associated with L.X. Adelaide

work as early as 1866, we can only express our gratitude

to the Almighty Father for such a life of con.secration

and service. He so endeared himself to the people
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in their homes, and was so earnest in his public utter-

ances that he became known as the " Bishop of Lower

North Adehiide." For many years he sustained,

ahnost single-handed, the mid-week services, not only

preaching, but leading the singing and even pulling the

bell.

In 1882 Mr. C. F. C'hennell filled the Superintendency

having with hhn Mr. E. Saint as leader of the Young

Men's Class, and Miss A. M. Beaney, now Mrs. H.

Matthews, of Quorn, in charge of a fine class of young

women. The two class-rooms at the rear of the church

were added at this time, mainly through the energy

and enthusiasm of the Young Ladies' Class. The

necessary money came as a distinct answer to prayer.

An important development at this period is due to

Mr. Chennell's foresight. Realising that the children

of the district were roaming the streets on Sunday

mornings, he started a service especially for them on

September 24. Mrs. L. BeviJaqua was the first

organist.

Twenty-two attended, but in October their numbers

had increased to 42. The influence of these services

has been wide-spread. Two years later Mr. Chennell

resigned office and became a teacher ; Mr. S. A. Warman
being elected to the leadership of the school; 143

scholars were now on the roll. House-to-house visita-

tion and careful watchfulness of absentee scholars were

prominent features at this time. Miss F. M. Beaney,

now the wife of Rev. H. A. Gunter, of Tumby Bay,

succeeded Mrs. Barr as leader of the Young Women's

Class. The present leader of the Mothers' Mission, Mrs.

Jas. Brown, has now been in office for 35 years. Fort-

nightly meetings are held, and two sales of clothing,

&c., are conducted each j^ear. The poverty of the
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district has at times been keen, and the kindly services

of the Committee have been invahiable, especially

in the winter months. The faithfnl work of Mrs.

Reedman, sen., must certainly be recorded ; she has

been a " mother in Israel " for 40 years, and is still

ready to serve with practical s^'mpathy any case of

need

.

It was in 1891 that a step was taken that was to be

of untold beneiit to the work. Mr. William G. Thomp-

son, then a teacher in the parent school, was approached

by the workers and req\;ested to become their Super-

intendent. He consented, and was duly appointed

by the Church. He brought to the task an intense

love of young life, an ever-sunny disposition, and an

untiring zeal in his Master's service.

In 1893 a Y.P.S.C.E. of an interdenominational

character was started with nine members. Miss

Helene S. Weger, who was called home in 1901. was

one of the foundation members and also a faithful

servant in both Church and school.

On the initiative of Mr. John T. Cain the Young

Men's Guild was formed in 1890, and he was httingly

appointed chairm.an ; later on Mr. A. Althorp was leader,

and now Mr. Chas. Whiting conducts the work. Scores

of young men have received mental and s])iritual

stimulus from this organization.

In the following year the children's service was

changed into a Junior C.E. Society with Miss Suther-

land as Superintendent. She still holds the office,

and has over 50 boys and girls as mem.bers. Knowing

the ravages caused in the district by strong drink

Mr. Thompson and his co-workers conducted for several

years a Temperance Society, thus disseminating a
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healthy total abstinence sentiment among the chil-

dren's homes. Evidences of the fine hold Mr.

Thompson secured on the young people are afforded

by the successful floral literary and musical competi-

tions conducted, and the frecjuent social gatherings

held. An efficient choir now serves the Church under

"the leadership of ^Nlr. W. Knill, who for nine years

has spared neither time nor energy in the interests of

the singers.

Since 1905 a steady, quiet eflort had been maintained

in the direction of securing a more up-to-date and

comfortable building, especially for the school work,

the roll then showing over 200 scholars. The young

men in one year aimed at and actually achieved the

raising of £100 for the fund. The sudden removal of the

beloved leader and organiser of all this activity on

September 5, 1909, naturally cast a damper on the work

for a time, but, eventually, when it was decided to

make the new building a memorial to Mr. Thompson's

18 years of service, the spirits of the w^orkers revived,

and thus a distinctive feature of the Jubilee was the

laying of the foundation-stone of the new chvu'ch.

Mr. Thompson died on Sunday morning while on

his way to conduct services at one of our Churches.

GiLBERTON (Thompson Memorial Church).- The

laying of the foundation-stone of this church in Park-

terrace by Mrs. W. (i. Thompson took place on Satur-

day, November 26, 1910. The Rev. A. E. (Ufford

presided, and Dr. Jeiferis, who had begun the work

.50 years before, offered the Dedicatory Prayer.

The church was formally opened for public worshij)

on Sunday, October 20, 1911.
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In eoiuiection with the opening services Mr. J. B.

Ander.son, in giving a lecture on " Tarlyle," spoke of

^Ir. Thompson in these terms :
—

' The late William Thompson is held in loving

remembrance for the deep interest which he took in

all philanthropic enterprise. The pleasant memories

of his })ersonality are cherished by all who knew him,

and he is remembered as a genial friend, an honourable

l)usiness man, and a Christian gentleman. May his

life be to us a perpetual benediction I The broken

ranks have to close up, and we who are left have to fit

ourselves to fill the places rendered vacant by the

relentless hand of death. This may best be done by

trying to apprehend the selflessness and nobility of

character of the men and women who have made

righteousness the corner stone of the State's greatness.

Therefore, while we mourn for our departed friends,

may we realise the sacred character of the legacy be-

(jueathed to us and endeavour to administer it with

patience and devotion."

And so the story of the work at Lower North Adelaide

will be continued in the history of Gilberton. It is a

Branch Church, the members belonging to the fellow-

ship of North Adelaide.

We notice with satisfaction Mr. F. Basey and hi»

family, now living in the neighbourhood, are again

associated with the church.

MEDrvniE CnrRCH (two miles from Adelaide).—On
the 30th September, 1881, Messrs. G. P. Doolette, J.

]M. Anderson, J. F. Conigrave, T. W. Harris, W. Creasy

Harris, and J. J. Stuckey met in the Y.M.C.A. library

" to consider the wisdom of commencing evangelistic

services in the suburb of Medindie." Mr. Doolett&
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reported that a suitable piece of ground had been

secured, and he had taken upon himself to call for

tenders for the erection of a wooden building. It

was resolved, " That the necessarj- steps be taken to

establish a preaching station in the suburb of Medindie

on the suggestion of Mr. Creasy Harris, who was en-

couraged by Messrs. J. M. Anderson, G. P. l^oolette,

and the late Rev. F. Searle in connection with the

Congregational or Independent order of Churches."

On Pecenxber 4, 1881, the wooden building was

opened. Messrs. R. Searle and F. Basey x^reached in

the afternoon, and the Rev. F. Searle in the evening.

Shortly after this ^Fr. P. Birdsey started a Sunday-

school with 10 scholars.

The mission prospered so much that it was decided

to form a Church. Accordingly a meeting for the

purpose was held on April 20, 1882, when Rev. 0.

Copland presided. The following members were-

enrolled as a Church of Christ : Mr. and Mrs. P. A.

Howells, Mr. and Mrs. Trimmer, ]Mr. and ]\Irs. R.

Morgan, Mr. and Mrs. G. Cant, Messrs. J. Williams, jun.,

and P. Birdsey, Misses M. J. Williams and Middleton,

and Mesdames Poole, Bastian, and Middleton. The

first deacons were three in number, the late J. Williams,

jun., W. Trimmer, and P. A. Howells, the latter also

being appointed Church Secretary, and Miss Xorman

(late Mrs. Bignell) as organist.

The work still continuing to prosper, it was not long

before the Church was strong enough to invite a pastor.

In the course of time the Rev. S. Lenton, late of New

Zealand, received a unanimous call to the pastorate,

which he accepted. The recognition services were

held in January, ISS.'i, About twelve months after

this the necessity for larger premises was felt so much



146 THREE-QUARTERS OF A CENTURV.

that arrangements were made to secure a larger site,

with the result that a fine stone building was soon

erected, capable of holding 450 people. The new house

of prayer was opened on January 20, 1884.

It was not long before the need of a larger school-

house was apparent, and the old schoolroom was made

twice its original size. So steady has been thegro\\th

of the school that premises are once more too strait

and the Superintendent (Mr. P. Birdsey), with his

teachers, are raising funds for further enlargements.

Mr. Lenton's energetic pastorate made for the

building up of a strong Church in the growing neigh-

bourhood.

About a year after this, the necessity for larger

premises Avas felt so much that arrangements were

made for the present site, £5 10/ per foot being paid

for the land, with the result that the present church

was erected at a cost of £947 ; the seating, 160 ; land

£495; organ, £70; making a grand total of £1,072.

To enable the members to carrj^ out the contract, it

was necessary to borrow £1,000 at 8 per cent, on the

building and £400 at 7 i^er cent, on the land. The first

trustees were Messrs. CI. P. Doolette, J. M. Anderson,

George Brookman, G. Cant, C. Ekers, R. Morgan, W.

Trimmer, J. Williams, jun., and P. A. Howells : to

these gentlemen we owe a deep debt of gratitude for

undertaking so big a financial obligation.

A Sunday-school was then needed, and the old

wooden church was raised by jacks, placed on wheels,

and drawn round to the site of the new l)uilding. When

it reached its destination, however, it would not turn

the corner, but the stout hearts of Medindie were not
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stopped by such trifles, and the building was divided

into two pieces and shifted into the position it now
holds at the back of the church, the vestry and other

rooms being added to it later.

Of the struggles and ups and downs of the young

Church only the brave pioneers know. The land boom
was broken, drought was prevalent over the country,

and money was scarce ; but still they pressed on.

We cannot do better than quote the words of the Rev.

S. Lenton in a recent reminiscent address, in which

he said :

" V^ery little of the money spent in erecting

the church was contributed by rich men. It had all

come out of the self-denial of the hard-working mem-
bers, its pastor and his family. If ever a Church was

consecrated by the self-denial, faith, and prayers of

its members it was the Medindie Congregational Church,

and thej^ could well understand why the old folks of

Medindie were enshrined in his heart ; they had fought

shoulder to shoulder, and had won right through."

The Rev. S. Lenton proved himself to be a young
people's pastor, and it was not long before a Young
Christians' Union, Band of Hope, Young Men's Literary

Society, and Young People's Society of Christian En-
deavour were inaugurated, and there are many men and
women throughout the Commonwealth, and even further

afield, in every walk of life, who recall with pleasure

the years so profitably spent in dear old Medindie.

For 16 years Mr. Lenton went in and out among his

people as their pastor, their confidant and friend.

Hardly a joy, sorrow, or trial entered into the mem-
ber?' homes that has not been shared by him. His

counsel was sought by the young and his sympathy
by all, and it was with the deepest regret that his

resignation was received in April, 1898, in order tc



148 THREE-QUARTEES OF A CENTURY.

succeed the late Rev. F. W. Cox at Hind marsh-square.

During the following two years, with the exception of

a brief pastorate of the late Rev. J. Burchett, the

Church was sujiplied by visiting ministers and lay

preachers.

In March, r.tUu, the Rev. Percy R. Riley was called

to the pastorate. Shortly after receiving the call

he Avas married to Miss Turton, of Sydney, and Mrs.

Riley proved to be an ideal minister's wife. She was

instrumental in starting the Girls' Guild, and inaugurat-

ing the penny-a-week subscription towards the extinc-

tion of the debt on the church For about seven

years they faithfully served the Church, and won, by

their sterling character and hard work, the confidence,

esteem, and love of all.

In July, 1907, the present pastor. Rev. W. Hawke,

received and accepted a call to the Church. His

popularity is general, and with a united and enthusiastic

congregation to back him up, the Church has made
wonderful progress. During the five years he has been

with us over £500 has been spent or the property, in

addition to ordinary expenses ; over £100 saved by

the members giving their time and talents in doing

the necessary work in improving and renovating the

property, and about £36 in gifts to beautify the building.

The need of better accommodation for the Sunday-

school became so urgent that the Church took into con-

sideration the cost of building a new school and class-

room, but, the cost being so high, it was decided to

build only a portion, viz., the kindergarten room, 32 ft.

X 20 ft. ; Men's Bible Class and Social Room, 20 ft. x

11 ft. ; and kitchen, 20 ft. x 7 ft. 6 in. To do this it

was necessary to demolish some old buildings that had

been condemned by the health authorities. The men
gladly responded to the invitation of the pastor, and
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woiking bees were again started to demolish old build-

ings, dig out trenches, and to mix and put in a rein-

forced concrete foundation. The material used

weighed about 40 tons, the work took about five Satur-

day afternoons. The ladies provided afternoon tea.

The foundation-stone was laid by our pastor, Rev. W.
HaA\ke, on October 21, 1911. amidst great rejoicings.

The new building, which is built on the north side of

the church, will cost, when completed, £495 10 \

Already £182 have been raised and donated towards

this. The front is of freestone and cement dressings

to match the church, with a 10 ft. verandah running

the full length of the building ; the walls are of cavity

brick construction. A fibrous jDlaster ceiling, with two

large ventilators, and a seven-light casement window

finished with a neat leadlight design, will luake it very

attractive to the children. The building was designed

by Messrs. J. R. Brookman and S. Walters. Mr. A.

A. Brown was the contractor, and Mr. A. J. Wiley

supervisor of works. In 1911, Mr. B. Brookman (life

deacon) offered to bear the cost of incorporating the

Church, which offer was gratefully accepted, and in

April, 1912, the necessary documents were signed by

Mes.srs. J. R. Brookman, G. H. Ekers, R. Y. Morgan,

¥. A. Arbon, and A. J. Wiley, as sealholders. The

spiritual life of the Church has also made steady ad-

vancement, and the membership has increased from

87 to 125. Mr. Aubrey C. Stevens, formerh^ a Sunday-

school scholar and member of our Church, is now
studying, and will shorth" be ordained to the ministry.

Thirty years ago the debt on this Church stood at

£l,f)00. to-day it stands at £344.

We are indebted to Mr. A. J. Wiley for the continua-

tion of the record of this Church. He has been in

office as deacon for 15 years.
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Section III.— Suburbs \\ estward.

Taking a course westward from Adelaide, the nearest

place of worship is

HiNPMARSH Church (population, 9,149 ; houses,.

1,776). The following history is communicated by an

officer of the Church : —The Church at Hindmarsh \^ as

the second Congregational Church established in South

Australia. Hindmarsh was one of the earliest suburbs

laid out, and amongst the first inhaljitants were a few

staunch friends of Congregationalism, M'ho determined

to establish a Congregational service. In 1 838 a humble

place of worship (ver}^ little better than a mud hut) was

erected, a Sunday-school was commenced, and occa-

sional services held. This building eventually gave

place to a more commodious structure, and in 1849 a

Church was formed, consisting at first chiefly of mem-
bers transferred from Freeman-street. Messrs. John

Burnell, sen., and Charles Blackwell were the first

deacons, and the Rev. C. D. Watt was called to th€>

pastorate. His ministry continued until 1854, when

he resigned, and the Rev. John Kelsey was elected

to the vacancy. In the meantime, however, the

old property was disposed of, and a larger church

was erected, with a manse adjoining. Considerable

interruption was caused by the departure of the people

to the gold diggings, and about the middle of the j^ear

1856 Mr. Kelsey resigned the pastorate, and a vacancy

of about two years followed, during which period the

pulpit was supplied by the agents of the Home Mission,

the late Mr. Wm. Giles cspecialh' rendering the cause

good service. In 1 858 the Rev. Wm. Wilson, a student

of Glasgow and formerly minister at Falkirk, arrived

and took charge of the Church at once. Up to this

time no proper Church records had been kept, and the
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Church Avas in a state of disorganization. Mr. Wilson

resolved to re-form the Church, and this was done in

July, 1858, when 37 persons were enrolled as members.

Mr. Wilson set to work with great vigour
; the congrega-

tions rapidly increased in number, new^ members were

added to the Church, a large Bible class was established

for young people, cottage prayer meetings were com-

menced, and soon the place became too small for the

numbers attending. In I860 a gallery was erected

at the eastern end of the church. After a very success'

ful pastorate of five years, Mr. Wilson resigned, havinsr

accepted a call to the Church at Kadina. A few

months later the Rev. S. L. Harris, of Macclesfield,

accepted the call of the Church and became pastor.

The Church membership vias still increasing, and the

Sunday-school was growing rapidly, and further ac-

commodation became an absolute necessity. To meet

the need a schoolroom was erected alongside the church

in Robert-street in 1867. Mr. Harris continued his

pastorate with great acceptance until July, 1872, when,

in consequence of age and feeble health, he was obliged

to resign. In December, 1872, the Rev. John McEwin,

a student of Union College, accepted a call to the

pastorate, and was ordained to the charge of the Church.

Mr. McEwin entered upon his ministry under very

favourable auspices. He brought into his work all the

vigour and enthusiasm of youth, and again the Church

made a great step forward. In 1881 the Church

authorised the purchase of a site for a new building,

and in August of that same year it was decided that a

new church should be built capable of seating 600

persons, and costing, with land, about £3,500. The

Hon. Alexander Hay laid the foundation-stone on the

13th April, and on the 3rd December of the same year
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the opening services were conducted by the late Rev.

D. Jones Hamer, of Colhns-strcet, ^Melbourne. About

the middle of the year 1884 the Church was consider-

ably disturbed by some prominent members of the

Church adopting the doctrine of Healing by Faith,

and it was mainly through the opposition of these

members that the Rev. J. McEwin was led to tender

his resignation on 31st December, 1884. On the 1st

May, 1885, the Rev. W. F. Turton, who had recently

arrived from England, assumed the pastorate. The

faith- healing element however, became a serious

distress to ]Mr. Turton, and he and one of the deacons

tendered their resignations to the Church. This led

to the Church adopting a resolution forbidding the

introduction of that doctrine at anj^ of the Church or

echool services. This caused some 16 or 17 members

to withdraw from the fellowship of the Church, and Mr.

Turton was requested to withdraw his resignation, but

refused to do so, having accepted a call as assistant

pastor to the Rev. D. Jones Hamer, of Melbourne.

On the 1st July, 1886, the Rev. J. W. Jones, from

Brecon College, lately arrived in the colony, accepted

a call to the pastorate, and continued to do good work

for the Church until he left for Victoria. The present

number of Church members is 220, and there are nearl}'^

300 children attending the Sunday-school. The

scholars took a great interest in the new church, and

raised £500 tow^ards its cost. There is a Young
Christians' Union in connection with the school, and

also a strong Band of Hope, both doing good service in

the cause of religion and temperance.

The Rev. J. W. Jones' term of office was noteworthy

from the fact that during his pastorate the Church

completed fifty years of its existence, and on Sunday,
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October 28th, 1888, the Jubilee Celebration was com-

menced, and on the folloAAing ^Monday a large number

of people sat down to tea in the lecture hall. An
interesting feature at this function was an " Old

Colonists' Table," around which sat a good number

of the pioneers of this State and of Congregationalism.

Some members of this interesting group had been active

workers in connection with the erection of the " Hind-

marsh Mud Chapel." Among those who spoke at

the gathering were the Revs. W. Wilson and John

McEwin (former pastors), Messrs. John Pickering, sen.,

J. W. Adams, H. Shearing, and C. Blackwell, who had

been members in the " Mud Chapel." During the

meeting, in response to a call from Mr. J. Pickering,

sen., about a dozen of those who formed part of the

first Congregational Church at Hindmarsh, stood up.

In 1890 the young men presented the Church with

a pipe organ, which, though not a very large one,

proved pleasing and serviceable, Messrs. E. C. Vardon

and R. Sharpies being the principal movers in the

matter, and the first-named gentleman donating a

very considerable portion of the amount of its cost.

Among some of the principal Organists and Choir

Masters of our Church have been Messrs. J. Pickering,

C. R. Morris, E. C. Vardon, E. G. Mitton, George Noble,

and W. Hunwick.

In July, 1890, the Rev. George Williams accepted a

call to the pastorate, and for nearly four years faith-

fully discharged his duties, when he resigned to take

over the pastorate of the Church at Timaru, Xcw
Zealand.
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Population in 1912, 11,000; houses, 2,!?fi7
;

places

of public worship, 14.

In 1894 the Rev. Thomas Hope, who was then in

charge of the Church at Waverley, X.8.W., was invited

to assume the office of minister. Mr. Hope had made
a host of friends in and around Adelaide during his 17

years pastorate at Clayton. While minister there he

had served the denomination as Chairman and in many
other ways. The announcement of his acceptance

was hailed with delight on all sides, and was taken

as an omen of prosperity and spiritual welfare for the

Church.

Mr. Hope, in his ministry, has always made it a

condition of service he would not be expected to accept

any money from the Treasurer when the church would

have to incur debt to pay him. Immediately on

entering on the duties of pastor he discovered there

was an overdraft at the bank of £100 on the current

account. He made it clear to the deacons this must

be cleared off, and if in the future the choice should

lie between having an overdraft and being unable to

pay the ministerial stipend, the latter alternative must

be accepted.

There was also at the time a mortgage debt of £1,600

on the church property. A year before the close of

his 14 years ministry, Mr. Hope had succeeded in

getting that amount reduced to £555. At the anni-

versary Mr. J. ^r. Reid announced that he and ^Nlr.

H. Hunwick would each give £50 towards the extinction

of the debt, and that he himself would collect £175,

providing the people would by their efforts raise half

the amount of the debt, £275. This was accomplished,

and Mr. Hope had the satisfaction of seeing the church
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«o embarrassed by debt when he began his ministry,

at its close freed from all financial obligations.

During his ministry Mr. Hope began work at Xorth

Croydon, and was instrumental in having a church

formed and building erected there.

He terminated his ministry at Hindmarsh on Sun-

day, May 31, 1908, having been a preacher for 40 years,

31 of which were spent in South Australia, 17 at Clayton

and 14 at Hindmarsh. He was greatly assisted in bis

work by Mrs. Hope, a daughter of the late James

Frew, of Fullarton. ]\Irs. Hope was a great force

among the women of the Church ; she is distinguished

for her enthusiasm in the cause of all our Churches, and

her devotion to the interests of the youns people.

The ministry was closed with a Comnnmion Service.

Mr. Hope had seated on either side of him at the table

Messrs. W. Herbert Phillipps and Thomas Caterer, who
liad occupied similar positions at the first Communion
conducted by him at Clayton 35 years previously.

His life-long friend, Mr. Peter Wood, and members

of his family were also present. He mentioned in the

course of the service he had been greatly helped in his

mmisterial work for the last three years bj^ Mr. H. G,

>\elson (now our minister at Maclaren V^ale).

Although Mr. Hope was far from being a strong man
physically, he has, apart from his great ministerial

work, rendered yeoman service to our Congregational

C^hurches. As was mentioned, he has been Chairman :

he was also Secretary of the Union for five years, and

held the same office in Union College for a similar

period. He was Secretary of the London Missionary

Society for six years, and of the Adelaide College

from its commencement until the Council handed

over its work to the Parkin Trust. He became
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Secretai\- of the Parkin Mission on the death of Mr-

Cox in March, 1904, and still continues to hold the office-

A great farewell social was tendered to the retiring

minister in the Hindmarsh Town Hall on Tuesday,

June 2, at which the late Mr. J. Aston took the chair.

The Clayton and Hindmarsh people united in paying

a fitting tribute to the close of so forceful and prominent

a ministry. Messrs. J. E. Mitton, George Brand, C.

Hope Harris, Senator Vardon, the Revs. J. C. Kirby

and L. Robjohns all spoke feelingly of the spiritual

power ]Mr. Hope had been in this and another State.

It was said in the Chimp s "much of Mr. Hope's sue-

cess as a pastor has been due to his strong personality,,

his tactfulness, and his loving sympathy, and there is

not a home circle in our Church in which he has not

entered into its joy, its sorrows, its troubles, and its

victories. Little children love and trust him, young

men have made him their confidant, and the aged count

on his sympathy."

We close our brief notice of the ministry of one so

greatly loved with an epithet applied to him in our

hearing by the Chairman of the Union, the Rev. A-

Depledge Sykes, " He is God's good man."

From August, 1908, until June, 1912, the Rev.

Percival Watson was the Minister. The people pro-

fited greatly under the preaching and teaching of INIr.

Watson, the various institutions of the Church were

quickened, and the financial position was considerably

improved. A new pipe organ \\'as placed in the build-

ing at a cost of £400 ; of this amount £300 was con-

tributed by the people themselves and £100 by an

anonymous donor. Mr. Watson relinquished the

pastorate oversight to take charge of the Church at

Gawler, to the sorrow of the Hindmarsh people.
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During the last few years the hand of death has

"been busy among the faithful of many years standing

in the Church. Mr. J. E. Mitton, who died in June,

1904, had been Superintendent of the school for 49

years, and was one of the original 37 members of the

new fellowship when the church was reorganised under

the Rev. W. Wilson in 1858.

Mr. Joseph Aston died in March, 1909. He was

suddenly seized with the illness which ended in his

death while attending a gathering connected with the

Church. He died a few hours after being removed

to his home. He was admitted into Church Fellowship

in 1860, elected to the office of deacon in 1885, and

was treasurer of the Church from 1888. He succeeded

Mr. Mitton as Superintendent of the Sunday-school.

A few days after Mr. Aston's death Miss C. Mitton,

who had been connected with the school for 50 years,

was called home. She was admitted into fellowship

in 1872, and had been a Sunday-school teacher for 35

years.

A stained glass window has been placed in the church

to the memory of J. E. Mitton, J. Aston, and Miss C.

Mitton by the scholars of the school, and was unveiled

by Mr. J. E. Mitton, the present Secretary of the

Church.

In August, 1910, a resolution Avas passed at the

Church meeting asking the Rev. T. Hope to accept the

position of honorary pastor as a token of esteem and

appreciation of the services rendered so faithfully to

this church during many years past. Mr. Hope

accepted this position.

The rjhurch has sent a goodly number of men into

the Christian ministry. The Rev. G. Slade, of Truro,
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Mr. H. C. Noll, of Salisbury and Messrs. Douglas,

Northey and H. L. Curnow, of Parkin College, were

all members of the Church.

The school has a roll of 160 scholars and 15 teachers,

the kindergarten an attendance of about 50 children.

There are Bible Classes for young men and women,
and two Christian Endeavour Societies.

There is a Ladies' Auxiliary to the Home Mission

and a Ladies' Visiting Committee, both of which are

doing good work.

Mile E>jd.— This district of late years has become

very thickly populated, and in consequence of the

removal of the goods sheds of the railway from North

terrace it has become an important centre. The first

Congregational service was held in the Thebarton

Institute on October 10, 1908, when the Revs. J. C.

Kirb}^ and G. Rayner officiated. The work came under

the supervision of the Rev. W. Penry Jones, the Secre-

tary of the Union, who, with the assistance of the Lay
Preachers' Association, conducted the services. Mr. J.

Dunstan, a student of Parkin College, is now the pastor

in charge. In 1910 a felloAvship Avas formed, when

the Rev. T. Hope and the Rev. W. Penry Jones called

upon those present to form themselves into a Church.

The Church under Mr. Dunstan is making progress,

a block of land has been purchased, and it is hoped a

building Avill shortly be erected.

Port Adet.aide.—(Population, 3,193; houses, 588;

7 J miles from Adelaide; places of worship, seven.)

—

It appears that the Rev. T. Q. Stow began Congrega-

tional worship at the Old Port (known as Port Misery)

in 1838, and in 1839 Air. Ciles and Mr. Barclay held

worship on the stacks of timber that were collected
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for piling when the present port was forming. Service!!-

were held afloat also during both these jears. In the

latter year Mr. Stow put up a small building of native

posts and palings while the present Port buildings were

being erected, getting the use of a warehouse as soon

as one was ready, in which the Revs. C. B. Howard,

T. Q. Stow, J. Drummond, and R. Haining took the

services, when a wooden building was put up about

where St. Paul's Church now stands, and the Rev. Mr.

Newenham took charge of the congregation there in

the interests of the ('hurch of England. In the year

1847 services were conducted to mixed congregations

In Mr. E. Bayley's sail-loft by the Revs. J. Strongman,

•C. D. Watt, and others. In September, 1849, the

Rev. M. H. Hodge arrived from England on his way to

Victoria, preaching one Sunday in Freeman-street

rhapel, and the next at the Port. This led to a move-

ment on the part of the Christian people at Port Ade-

laide and Alberton to arrest Mr. Hodge's further pro-

gress eastward, and ended in ]Mr. Hodge beginning a

ministry for the Lord of 1*8 years' duration. Mr.

Hodge listened to the appeal to stay and help them,

and be their guide and overseer. The Church was

formed in October, 1849, in the sail-loft in Wills-street,

and met there until the stone church was built on a

piece of land given by Capt. Hall, on which (apt.

Bickers' warehouse now stands. The congregation

-consisted at that time of representatives of all denomi-

nations, who, as population increased, separated them-

selves to assist in forming Churches of their own order.

The building becoming too small for the congregation,

a new building was determined upon, and begun close

by the side of the older place in St. Vincent-street.

Before the walls were half up the mighty rush to the
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goldfields of Victoria took place, and there the building

stood from 1851 till 1852, there being neither congrega-

tion tior minister for that time. The shepherd him-

self Merit with the Hock, and pitched his tent with

ihem ill Frier's Creek. Though Mr. Hodge did not

get nuich gold by digging, he came with £'500 collected

from those who dug, for, in an honourable sense, if he

could not dig, he was not ashamed to beg for the cause

of God. It was, however, some time before the re-

turning population settled down to the quiet habits of

church-going people, but when they did the walls were

reared to their full height, and in due time the church

was finished. The opening took place towards the

latter end of 1853, and, though the building was " not

a triumph of architecture," it was convenient enough,,

and, being 60 x 40 in the clear, was seated to hold at

least 500 persons. The church came to an untimely

end by fire in 1866, as preparation was being made for

the annual meeting on April 30. The chimney caught

fire, and in a short time the whole place was consumed.

Several friends— C'apt. Bickers, J. Stone, and J. Grosse

—

bought land in the interests of the Church, and the

people took up the cause most vigorously. Adopting

the design of Mr. Js. jNIcGeorge, a very excellent piece

of Gothic work, equally pleasant to the eye and suitable

for its purpose, was soon built. The first stone was

laid on July 16, 1867, with much interest, by Mr.Thos.

Graves, and the meeting in the Town Hall at night was-

presided over by the Chief Justice (Sir R. D. Hanson).

On the 13th December, 1868, the church was opened,,

the services being conducted by the Revs. C. W. Evan
and Js. Henderson, both speaking from the same text.

The SU711 of £183 was collected at the time, and £IT

at a lecture subsequently. The total cost of the new
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place was about £6,000, of which £1,800 was unpaid

in 1876, when the bequest of a gentleman (Mr. Grosse)

who had been a faithful worker in all the interests of

the Church, enabled the friends to discharge the re-

maining debt. The revered pastor who had founded

the Church had the satisfaction before his death on

Januarj^ 13, 1877, to declare the place now free from

pecuniary encumbrance. Mr. Hodge was greatly

esteemed for his quiet consistent character. He

pursued the even tenor of his way, never making an

enemy, and preaching the gospel of the grace of God

on the old lines, undisturbed by—perhaps ignorant of

—the clamour and confusion of the noisy world of

Modern Thought, as it was called, around him.

The Church then called to the pastoral office the Rev.

M. ^IcK. Dick from the Congregational Church at

Alma. His health was feeble, and he did not long

continue his services at the Port, but gradually sunk

under chest disease, leaving the congregation to mourn

a faithful minister and intelUgent teacher. He died

on February 10, 1880. After some months' interval

an in\ntation was given to the Rev. J. C. Kirby, of

Croydon, near Sydney, to come round and supply the

pulpit for a time, which he did, and was regularly

called to the j)astorate, the recognition services being

held on November 16, 1880 ; and the union still con-

tinued to the mutual satisfaction of both pastor and

people for 28 years. Perhaps there could scarcely

be a greater contrast than that between the first and

this minister of Port Adelaide Church. The first

quietly going along the old paths, and the latter full of

that intense individuality which marks all his utter-

ances, and strikes at once the popular mind. But

wisdom is justified of all her children, and the Port
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Church had perhaps never been better attended nor

exerted a stronger influence than it did under ilr.

Kirby's ministry. There was in full operation a large

Sunday-school, Young Men's Society, and all the other

adjuncts of an active Church.

In 1912 the population of Port Adelaide is 24,020:

houses, 5,100, and 27 places of pubHc worship.

From the Jubilee record of Congregationalism in

Port Adelaide we take the following note, which is of

historic interest :

—
" Some little time elapsed before

A new pastor was selected, but towards the end of the

3^ear (1880), as the result of a suggestion of Dr. JeiTeris,

our present minister (Pev. J. C. Kirby^ was invited

to take charge of the Church. This he consented to

do, and the recognition services were held on November
16, 1880."

From the same publication we also take the

following :
-

The first Congregational Church in Australia entered

by the Rev. F. W. Cox was the Old Port Congregational

Church. Speaking of his experiences he says :^
" My very earliest recollections of the province of

South Australia are connected with the Port Congrega-

tional C'hurch, its old pastor, and some of its people.

" After nearly 100 days on board the ship ' Vic-

toria ' (Captain Forgs) we dropped anchor outside, and
in a short time a whale boat came oif, in which was
Magnus Manson and among others Dr. Everhard to

look after a fine young bull we had brought. The
wind being just what was needed, the pilot soon had

the anchor up and we sailed right up to the wharf.

"The next morning was Sunday, November 15,

1857, and, stepping on shore with my dear mother

((who rests with God) we asked for the Congregational
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Church, and soon found it. It was verj- dehghtful to

sit in the Lord's House on Lord's Day and unite with

the Lord's people in pubhc Avorship. I know we were

as near to God rounding the ('ape or flying along in

the ' roaring forties,' for ' the sea is His and He made
it,' but it was delightful to be in the midst of Christian

brethren in quiet worship. Your old pastor (not

very old then) preached, and the whole service was

refreshing to our souls.

" As soon as the service was over a lady of pleasing^

and comely appearance turned round, ' Perhaps it is

Mr. and Mrs. Cox ; we have been looking for you for

some time.' Then came the request from someonCr
' You will take the service to-night, sir, I hope.' Of

course, I was glad to make the promise, and I preached

that night on Heb. iv. 9, ' There remaineth therefore

a rest for the people of God.' I suppose the change

from the ever rolling sea to the quiet of the land sug-

gested the text.

" I met many good and true men at that time, some

of -w hom remain to this day, but most are fallen asleep,

for more than a generation has passed away since the

time when I landed and worshipped with you at my
first Austrahan service. How little could any of us

think that the stranger in the place on November 14,

1857, would be recalling the Lord's mercies to them

and to him just exactly 42 years afterwards. ' Ble.'-s

the Lord, our souls, and forget not all His benefits.
'^

At this Jubilee raise again your Ebenezer and thank

the Lord for the Godly ministers he has given you,

crowning all His other mercies, temporal and spiritual."

The lad who ushered the Rev. F. W. Cox and Mrs.

Cox into a seat on the occasion of their arrival in Port

Adelaide is now Mr. J. C. Haddy, of Adelaide.
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Dr. Jefferis has often recalled Mith pleasure the fact

that he was responsible for the coming of Mr. Kirby

to Port Adelaide. When the pastor Avas celebrating

the 25th anniversary of his ministry, it was said of

him :
" He was then enjojdng the unique experience

of preaching to more people than when he took charge

of the Church 25 years ago."

Mr. Kirby came to the Port after having spent seven

years in Queensland and 10 in Xcav South Wales,

Avhere he had served Ocean-street seven j^ears, and the

Home Missionary Society for three as its organising

Secretary.

He was Chairman of the Congregational Union of

New South Wales in 1880.

He was born in Buckingham, England, in 18.37, and

came with his parents to Australia as a lad of 17. He
boasts he descends from CroniAvellian Independents

on one side, and members of the Society of Friends on

the other.

Through various circumstances he found that the

Ohurch needed thorough reorganization. This was

brought about cautiously, with the minimum of friction.

The deacons' meeting was established on a proper

basis, and the diaconate enlarged and given due place

in the working of the church. The Young Christians'

Union, in imitation of the excellent society at North

Adelaide, was brought into existence in order to develop

the piety of the young people.

Gradually changes were introduced into the order of

service. The service of praise was greatly enriched

by the introduction of the organ on the initiation of

Messrs. J. W. Channon and W. H. Thompson, and

subsequently by the new hymnal and the work of the

late Mr. A. W. Mortimer.
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In addition to his pastoral labours, public matters

have largely engaged Mr. Kirby's attention. He gave

three lectures in the schoolroom of the Pirie-street

Wesleyan Church, which resulted in the formation of

the Social Purity Society, of which Sir John C'olton

was President, and the Hon. D. Murray and Mr. C. H.

Goode were Vice-Presidents, and Mr. Kirby and Mr.

Derrington, Secretaries. Through their exertions great

changes were effected in the law for the protection of

young girls, and experience shows that they were wise

and effective and also moderate.

The operations of the South Australian Society have

led to changes of the same nature in the laws of Xew
South Wales, Tasmania, Victoria, and Western Aus-

tralia. The working of this society led Mr. Kirby

to perceive that the whole political and legal status of

woman was defective and ought to he amended. He
immediately joined with others in initiating and carry-

ing out an agitation for woman's suffrage, which has

brought about the enfranchisement of women. ].,ater,

in conjunction with the Right Rev. Bishop Harmer

and the Rev. J. G. Raws, he obtained righteous change

in the affiliation act.

All branches of the Church's life flourished under

Mr. Kirby's ministry, as is shown by the following

account :

—

"The following societies and organizations connected

with the Church testify to its manifold activities, and

form a varied means of correspondence Avith the young

life with which we arc surrounded. As a measure

of the vitality of our members they are not without

present significance, but it is impossible, even approxi-

mately, to compute the amount or the value of the

good they have done and will continue to do bj' their
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reaction on the community. The Sunday-schools

have always proved a nursery to the Church, in which

the young are trained for future membership, and

many who are now matured in the Christian faith look

back thankfully to the time they spent under instruction

in the schools. Happily the school does not stand

alone, for the Church has other means of proclaiming"

to the world the gospel invitations and good tidings,,

and these in their diversity have enriched both the

social and the Christian side of Church life. The Young:

Men's Christian Society, founded in 1881 by Messrs. C.

H. Johnson and W. F. Fennel, has been of incalculable

service to the Church, and many of its old members

having been developed, instructed, and confirmed in

their Christian life under its training have become useful

members of society, who otherwise would have drifted

away from Church influences, for all fish are not caught

by the same bait. Another organization, more im-

portant even than the Young Men's Society, is the

Young Christians' Union, which originated in the time

of our present pastor, stands to-day a monument

to his faithful oversight of the souls under his care.

Like the school, it has added many members to the

Church roll, although it has not exerted so strong an.

impression directl}' upon the external work of the

world as the Young Men's Society. Probably its

influence has been as great, but, being less easily re-

cognised, is apt to be less esteemed. Meeting, as it

does, on a week day, it awakens thoughts of sacred

things among those who attend its meetings on occa-

sions when they are in danger of being crowded out

by the activities and duties as well as by the pleasures

of daily life. Its membership, too, has always been

larger than that of the society having its membership



HISTORICAL RECORD OF OUR CHURCHES 167

confined to young men. The Band of Hope, another

organization, works not only to resist the drink, but

to make its members proof against a form of temptation

terribly succumbed to in our town. Mr. T. Todd,

jun., and Mr. J. C. Crawford have worked hard in

keeping the meetings going, but they have done more,

as they have brought about a union in the Port of all

similar bodies. Mr. T. Todd, jun., being the pro-

moter, founder, and first President of the Port Adelaide

District Band of Hope Union. The Church rightl}^

rejoices in possessing a member instrumental in found-

ing a society which has done so much good in the

town. A Junior Literary and Debating Society

meets in the T'ort schoolroom on alternate Monday's,

and, although its work is modest, it is exerting an

influence on the right side."

The Rev. Dr. Roseb}^ of Sydney, now living in retire-

ment, wrote of his friend, Mr. Kirby, in the Justralian

Tndepend^nl of January 15, 1892, as follows .

—
" It

is indeed a labour of love to write a heartily appreciative

notice of an old friend. My thoughts go back to those

days when, in the early morning, ' while it was yet

dark,' ^Ir. Kirby and myself used to meet together to

explore the mysteries of the Greek grammar, to try to

make sense out of Sir William Hamilton's doctrine

' The Conditioned,' to read Whately's logic, and to

analyse sentences a la Morrel. For it is always to

be remembered that, though Mr. Kirby has never

made any show of the mere technique of scholarship,

he has the formed and disciplined habit of those who
know what it is

" ' To scorn delights and hve laborious days,'

And 1 venture to say he has not even yet quite forgotten
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his ' sequence of tenses,' or his ' Barbara Celarent,

*Dari; Foriocjue.'
"

Dr. Roseby also tells this interesting story oi ]Mr,

Kirby :

—

" The Rev. Joseph Beazlej^ the first minister of

Redfern, was one of his sterling and helpful friends.

It is curious that, when on taking leave of Mr. Eeazley

on his departure from the colony, he asked his friend

and benefactor how he could repay him for his kind-

ness. Mr. Beazley replied, ' You help other young

men as I have helped you.' ' A charge,' Dr. Roseby

adds, ' which Mr. Kirby has nobly fulfilled.'
"

Mr. Kirby has been conspicuous for his labour- on

behalf of the social well-being of his fellows. We
remember a subject it was said he was advertised to

preach upon. It was " The Unprotected State of the

Wharves." That is characteristic of the man.

We heard the following, however, from his 'ciwn

lips :—When the late Mr. C. C. Kingston was Premier

he sent for the pastor of Port Adelaide Church, and

said to him words to this effect :
" Xow, Mr. Kirby,

we are here to do good. If there is anything I can do

to protect women or children, let me know and I and

my colleagues will do it." Mr. Kirby went home, and

after a few days he did get an idea. He went to Mr.

Kingston and told liim there was something lie could

do, and it was this. "Whenever an unmarried woman

has a charge of parental responsibiUty to make against

a man, let her have the right to sue him before the

baby is born." Mr. Kingston at once saw the justice

of this, and promised to frame an Act of Parliament.

That provision is now sanctioned by law, and it is no

exaggeration to say it is Mr. Kirbj's law.
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For 28 years Mr. Kirby remained the pastor of the

f'hurch.

We can best sum up the influence of this man's
Avork by quoting from the ConcjrerjatinnaJist of X.S.W.
the follo%\'ing sentences :

-

" His ministry was a great office nobly exercised
;

the Gospel was in his mouth a great message faithfully

^nd appropriately delivered. Nearly always he

brought us the wheat without any trace or sign of the

chaff. Another direction in which Mr. Kirby has

specialised, or rather it was so much of a passion with

him that one feels it would be more fitting to say nature

specialised in him— at any rate. Mr. Kirby was a great

humanitarian. He had an irrepressible impulse to-

wards the advocacy of practical social reforms. A
more ardent Christian patriot Australia has not known.
He loves his kind, and very few have done as much as

he, and fewer still done it so disinterestedly, to bring

about gentler manners and purer laws. His influence

has been felt in every Australian State."

Mr. Kirby was twice Chairman of the Union, and
Avent to Europe in 1891 to attend the International

Council of our Churches in London. Ever interested

in the work of God's people in all parts of the world,

he made the occasion an opportunity to visit several

of the London Missionary Society's stations in India.

On Tuei^day November 17, 1908, a magnificent

farewell was given to the greatly loved minister at the

church. Representatives from pubUc, rehgious, and
philanthropic bodies were present to pay tribute to

one who had done so much to uplift the life of this and
two other States.
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Mr. Kirby had been pastor of the Church for 28;

years. A httle after his retirement, Mrs. Kirby, his^

companion for nearly 43 years, passed away. She

was the daughter of a Mr. Hall, barrister of Bristol,

England. Of her Mr. Kirby says :
" She had great

capacity as a minister's wife. She had seen the world,

and had visited London and Paris." In the quietest

way she exercised a great influence over the women

in the Churches of Avhich her husband was pastor.

"She could listen to all and never repeat a story. She

was of systematic devoutness and greatly hel])ed me
in all my work."'

In 1900 Mr. Kirl)y appointed the Hev. John J3eukers

as his assistant, and the arrangement worked very

happily until in the following year Mr. Beukers was

officially appointed the junior pastor of the Church.

He was a man of striking personality, and had a varied

experience. He had served in the navy and the

merchant service. Notwithstanding the roving kind

of life he had led in his early days, he acquired the

student habit. His ministry was characterised by a

certain ruggedness of style, and at the same time a

wide theological knowledge wiiicb was evidence of a

serious purpose to speak to men's mind as well as their

hearts. Considerable success attended his efforts to

revive the week-night .service at the Port. In 1908

Mr. Beukers left Port Adelaide in answer to a call to

take up work in Western Austraha, where he has been

engaged e\-er since in successful Mork among the ]ieople

there.

In February, 1909, the Rev. Lionel B. Fletcher, of

Kurri Kurri, New South Wales, was inducted to the

pastorate. Since Mr. Fletcher began his ministry

prosperity has attended the Church. He continues
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to attract large congregations, and has already become

an influence among onr Churches. The enthusiasm

of Mr. Fletcher is contagious. Under his leading a

church has been built at Ottoway, land purchased for

a Sunday-school at Cheltenham, and a great plan for

renovating the church and building a kindergarten for

the school has been undertaken : the whole scheme

^vill cost £1,500.

In recent months the Church moiu'ns the death of

two of its oldest members and life deacons - Mr. Joseph

Stone, one of the foundation members, who died at the

ripe age of 92, and Mi'. J. T. Davies, A\ho died at the

age of 84.

Ottow-AY. —Mr. Beukers, Avhile one of the ministers

at the Port, took over the charge of a Sunday-school

which had been conducted by ^Nliss Hiscock, and formed

the North Arm Sunday-school. He also gave the

people there a regular monthly preaching .'^ervice.

This work was carried on aftei- he left by Messrs. Leslie

Smith and A. C. Nelson. When Mr. Fletcher came

the school Avas moved to OttoA^ay, and a church was

built by aid of the Chapel Building Society. The

church was opened in April, 1911. The Church mem-
bership soon rose to 25, and there are 95 scholars on

the loll.

The Port Church contributed £150, which was spent

on the land, furniture, and balance of the building

•expenses.

This year the people have bought additional land,

which gives the property a frontage to three streets.

Mr. A. C. Nelson is in charge of the \\ork, and Mr. Cecil

Taj)p, the Superintendent of the Sunday-school.



172 THREE-QUARTEKS OF A CKNTURY.

(iiKi.TENHAM. A |)i(>(t' of laiul has been ))in(hafecl

by the Forward M()\eiiic'iit Comniittee with a view to

building a church, as (he town is rapidly urowing^

and a consideral>le nunihej- of C'ongregationalists are

li\ing there.

Semai'HORE. - It is sulhcient to mention liere that

after long and serious consideratioii on the part of Mr,

Kirby and the deacons of the Port Church, a branch

cause was started at the Semaphore in 1899. The
building, which is situated in Jagoe-street. is sub-

stantially constructed. The dimensions are <)() ft.

by 30 ft. The building was at first used for

Sunday-school purposes only. Our Church was the

first to introduce Divine worship oji J^e fevre's I'enin-

sula. In the fifties Mr. Hodge held services in the

house of the father of the late Mr. H. Kmes.

A Branch Church was opened in .Jagoe-street in 1899.

A vigorous Sunday-school is carried on. The-

services have been variously sustained, but with the

exception of the .short pastorate of the Rev. Jno.

I>eukers and the Rev. S. Faulkner, there has been no
settled minister. Recently a fellowship separate from

that of the Port was formed, and there is every pros-

pect of the development of a strong church.

During 1910 Mr. Paul H. Joseph was as.sistant at

the Port, and as such exercised the oversight of this-

( hurch

.

Yatal.a.— Befoi'e leaving the Port Adelaide Church,

and the Rev. J.C.Kirby's labours there, notice should

be taken of a branch preaching place originated by the

active efforts of the Port brethren. There are some

houses al)out the Stockade partly occupied b>- those

engafred in the Labour l^rison, and far from ojipor-
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t unities of public worship other than the Stockade

services. Here services Avere regularly maintained

in the State schoolroom for some years, rented for the

purpose since 1883.

Ar.BERTON.—A mile or two on the Adelaide side of

Port Adelaide stands the township of Alberton. Here

service had been carried on by aid from Adelaide and

Port Adelaide until a place of worship was built, and

the Rev. C. D. Watt settled there as pastor in 1858,

after he left C'oromandel. His ministry was continued

there until his leaving the place in 1862, after which the

place was supplied by the lay preachers, until it \^as

eventually dropped, and the place of worship let as a

private dwelling, The original building was erected at

the cost of Mr. Ridley, the inventor of the stripping

machine for harvesting purposes.

The South Australian Independe7d for November,

1880, contains the following paragraph :

—
" This long

standing item in your Committee's report will not

appear again, as it has at last been sold for £100,

and the money deposited in the Savings Bank to the

credit of the Union."

Kilkenny.—About 3f miles from Adelaide on the

Port line a new toAvn has suddenly sprung into exis-

tence, in consequence of the establishment of seme

large loundries and factories needing the large space

which was available in the fields there. In the a ear

1885 (June 16) the first stone of a new place was laid,

and the building opened for service on August 16,

Mr. R. Searle presiding. The fellowship Avas duly

formed on October 15, when the Revs. John McEAvin,

J. ('. McMichael, and F. W. Cox were present to give

solemn counsel to the l)rethren and sisters numlioring

15 thus brought into communion, which number has



174 THREE-QUARTERS OF A CENTURY.

increased to 30 since that time. ]\lr. McEwin has been
the chief mover in the formation of this Church, and
takes the oversight of it as honorary pastor, being

aided by the valuable services of the Lay Preachers'

Association. The land cost £110, and the building,

which is 38 ft. 6 in. x 28 ft. 6 in. in the clear, cost £306.

There is a Sunday-school of 70 scholars, and a Young
Christians' Union of 45 members in close association

with the Society at Port Adelaide, both being presided

over by Mr. W. H. Jones, of the latter place.

Ill 1890 the Rev. J. C. Kirby took charge with bene-

ficial results for a few months. In the same year an

arrangement was made ^\ith the Rev. John C*hapman,

of Hamley Bridge, to take the oversight of this Church
in conjunction with his own. He preached at regular

intervals, and gave one week every month to the

pastoral duties. He was only able to sustain this for a

year, as the demand upon his time was too great. His

ministry was greatly appreciated by the people.

The Rev. W. Wilson followed him, and was minister

of this Church, as well as of Henley Beach, until his

death, which, to the sorrow of his congregations, took

place early in 1895. His work was of an enduring

character, and the gentle Christian spirit manifested

by him in going in and out among the people was an

example to all.

The Rev. Thomas Hope, ever the friend of Churches

in trouble, became the pastor in charge for three months,

and then the Rev. Martin L. Johnson, of Hamley
Bridge, did as Mr. Chapman had done, viz., worked the

Church in conjunction with his own charge. Mr.
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Johnson's passionate preaching and his scholarly attain-

ments (lid much to help establish the flock in the faith.

After Mr. Johnson gave up the work in 1896 the

<'hureh was without any pastoral oversight for a number

of years. The services were maintained bj?^ the Lay
Preachers" Association with great acceptance.

In 19('] the Rev. John Beukers, of ^^ estern Australia,

became the minister of this Church, and of those at

Salisburj' and Macclesfield. Mr. Beukers was a gifted

man, and one of rare industry and devotion. Under

him the cause greatly prospered. He severed his

connection in consequence of an invitation to be Mr.

Kirby's assistant at Port Adelaide and Semaphore.

The services were then carried on liy Messrs. H. G.

Xelson, J. Dunstan, and Noll, students for the

ministry, and in 1910 the Rev. L. W. Farr. of Camden
•College, was invited to the pastorate. Mr. Farr is

the joint minister of Croydon N. and Kilkenny. The
<'hurch is vigorous under Mr. Farr's ministry.

There is a strong Sunday-school, of which Mr. Percy

Nash is Superintendent, and there are 140 scholars on

the roll.

Extensions have been made to the building>. the

biicks for which were largely made by the men of the

congregation in Mr. Beuker's time under his leadership.

The church at the commencement was hea\ily in

debt, but the people are now looking forward to being

clear of debt this year.

Interest is sustained in various ways in Foreign and

Home Mission work.

The name of Mr. A. K. Xorman is always associated

with Kilkermy Church. He has been for many >ears

a member, and has done a great deal to help it in its

work.
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(!Roynov (3 miles from Adelaide).— For a number

of years since IDO.*? this cause was worked as a branch

of the Hindniarsh Church, first as a Sunday-school^

and then as an evening preaching station.

Owing to the kindness of ^Ir. and Mrs. Boscombe the-

meetings of the school were held first at their residencc

The rapid growth of the school, however, made it

necessary to erect a building and land was purchased

at the corner of A\'illiain and Thomas-streets. The

formal opening of the building took place on August 30,

1903. when the Rev. J. Lloyd conducted the services..

The first Superintendents were Mr. T. T. Hartshorne

and Miss TapHn. At the ])resent Mr. G. Brand, sen.,

controls the school, ably assisted by a band of willing

workers.

At the end of 1910 a fellowship was formed, and a

call was issued conjointly with the Kilkenny Church

to the Rev. Louis W. Farr, of Sydney, to become the

minister of the Church. Mr. Farr arrived, and began

work on the 1st January. 1911. and since then the

work has grown considerably. The membership of

the Church has increased and the Sunday-school still

under the Superintendency of Mr. G. Brand, sen., is in

a flourishing condition.

The present building is of iron, lined with wood,

and the property, consisting of 150 ft. frontage by a

similar depth is situated in a growing su})urb.

The debt on the property is £140, and the people

have £50 in hand for the building of a new church.

There are 35 members on the roll, and 100 scholars

in the school.

He>;iey Be4CH.—In consequence of the growing

population of this watering-place, services were Ijegun

there in 1883, and a suitable place of worship was built
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at a cost of £(M0, \Ahich is regularly supplied by the

lay preachers, aud is placed under the fostering care

of the brethren at Hindmarsh, whose pastor (Rev. J.

W. -Tones) visits the place. The attendance is about 30.

and the Sunday-school numbers 29 children.

A fellowship Avas formed in 188»» under Rev. J. W»
Jones, and the first members were Miss Stanford, Mr,

A. Wright, Mr. and Mrs. Fabian, and Miss Fielder.

The Revs. George Williams, W. Wilson, D. Milne,

jun., T. Hope, and S. Lenton in turn have ministered

here, and gradually through the faithful ministries

of these servants of God a ])romising church was built

up.

As a result of vaiious efforts of the members and

adherents of the Church, the original debt was cleared

off in 1894. The congi-egation increasing a little later

the building «as enlarged.

In 8e))temher. 19<.'5, the Ghuich. feeling itself strong

enough to sustain a ministry of its own, an invitation

was given to Mr. P. Watson, a young student of great

promise Avho had already done good work at Port

Pirie, and was at that time assisting the Rev. S. Lenton,

of Rose Park, in his dual pastorate of that chui'ch and

Henley Beach.

Mr. Watson's ministry at once attracted |)ul)lic

attention.^ The congregations increased greatly. The

church seemed at last to be fulfilling the expectations

of its early friends. The ministci- was greatly lo\ed

by his peojjle, and awakened in many a real desire icy

know more of the deej) things of (Jod. Mr. Watson

brought a happy ministry to a close in July, 1908, by

accepting an invitation to become the successor to Mr.

Hope at Hindmarsh.
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Mr. Watson was succeeded by the Kev. F. Priest,

who came from Hamley Bridge in Febniarx , 1909.

Mr. Priest had exercised a potent minist)> in the

Northern town. He was a student of Hackney CJol-

lege, and on leaving that institution was appointed

by the F^iountrees of York to assist in their social work.

He was a keen theologian, and had already attracted

considerable notice in the I'nion by papers he had

read dealing with theological questions of burning

interest. His ministry was a strong one, and char-

acteristic of his congregations was the large number of

young men attracted by his preaching.

By a set of curious circumstances his preaching

reached to New South Wales. When the Rev. Dr.

Roseby decided to retire from a long and successful

ministry at Marrikville, Mr. Priest was sought out and

invited to supply there for a junnber of Sundays. The

result was he received a cordial invitation to succeed

this great man. Mr. Priest accepted the invitation,

so that again in Xovember. 1911. this church was

pastorless.

In August of this year the J^ev. Dudley Bright

Ashford. of Kempton, Tasmania, became the minister,

and Mr. Ashford is looking forward to many years of

useful work.

The Henley Beach friends are rallying around their

new minister, and a new manse is just being completed.

We commend the enterprise of our friends. Ex-

perience is teaching us it is wise for every Church in the

early days of its life to secure at least a home for the

minister and his family. Men enter the ministry at

great sacrifice, and the burdens are very much lightened

when the people of the churches make it a point that

their ministers are properly housed.
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Section IV.— vSuburbs Eastward.

Kensington. High-street (population, 10,087 ;

houses, 2,200; places of worship, 11). The Rev.

Henry C^eetham, who had laboured in the Lord for

about three years at the Burra Mine towTiship, removed
to Kensington in consequence of the exodus of the

mining po])ulation to Victorian goldfields. He began

his ministry on Januarj^ 4, 1852, when the Church was
reconstructed with a fellowship of 22 members. Mr.

Cheetham's faithful labours were continued there for

nearly 20 years, he resigning the post on ^larch 12,

1871. During that period the friends raised for their

pastor above £300 in addition to the stipend he re-

ceived year by year.

In 1872 the Rev. W. Nicholls took the pastoral charge,

which he held for about three j^ears, and was succeeded

by Mr. John Randall, whose valued services were given

without cost for some time. The building eventually

passed into the hands of the Bible Christians, who have

maintained services therein to the present time without

that acknowledgment of the prior claim of the Congrega-

tional body, both legally and moTally. which has been

repeatedly urged upon them.

This building was subsequently sold to the Seventh

Day Adventists.

Houghton and Paracompe (i3opulation, 1.50 : houses,

40 : places of worship, two : 13 miles from Adelaide).

In 1841 the Congregationalists first held service in

Houghton in a little smoky hut, the late Hon. Thomas
Reynolds often riding up on horseback and preaching.

Mr. John Martin, the draper, and the Rev. C. D. Watt
also often used to supplJ^

A few years later the Episcopalians, the Wesloyaus,

and the Congregationalists joined together, and built a
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place of worship called the Union C'hapel on ati ;illot-

nient given by Sir John ^lorphett, the people them-

selves carting stone, sand, burning lime, sawing the

timber, splitting the shingles for the roof : and so

the place was built, and later on was plastered and

properly floored. The late ]\[r. Playford (father of the

present Premier) conducted the opening services,

which were a great success.

In 1851, owing to nearly everyone leaving for the

Victorian diggings, service was discontinued till 1854,

when Mr. Reeds, Mr. Longbotham, and Mr. < lews

waited upon the late Rev. T. Q. Stow% and the place was

then supplied by the Congregational Home Missionary

Society. Later on the Episcopalians, not meeting

with sufficient support, abandoned the station, and

still later the Wesleyans built a place of their own.

In 1873-4 the Trustees of the ITnion Chapel transferred

their interest in the place to the local District Council,

and when the Congregationalists determined to build

a place of their own, Mr. and Mrs. 0. McEwin and

family, who were Presbyterians, threw in their lot with

the Church, which was thus considerably strengthened

by the addition of so worthy a family. In 1875 a

suitable piece of ground was purchased, and a church

erected costing about £600. It may be mentioned

that the building was opened free of debt. The foun-

dation-stone was laid in August, 1885, by the late

Mrs. G. McEwin, and the following ministers took part

in the opening ceremony :— Rev. Dr. Jetteris, LL.B.,

C. B. S.ymes, B.A., F. W. Cox, J. McEwin, J. R. Fer-

guson, and W. Wilson. A Church was then formed of

20 members, and became affiliated with North Adelaide

Congregational Church, and the connection was not

severed until 1882, when the Rev. W. J. Webster,
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ironi Sydney, became pastor of the Church. His

pastorate lasted three years, and was very effective

in building up the Church. j\Ir. Moorhouse, a student,

afterwards had charge of the Church during his holidays.

The place was then supplied by the lay preachers, who
<lrove up every Sunday, and took two services after-

noon and evening.

A brother connected with the place from his biilh,

and a deacon, writes :

—
" Thi'oughout the whole of our

history we have been wonderfully blessed by Ciod.

His hand has truly led us in every step. We have

been and are still being supplied with preachers who
are filled with G':d's Holy Spirit, and who always

preach Christ and Him crucified. Many a heart to-

day remembers the Sabbath in which they were led

into the little church at Houghton, and there met
with their Saviour. Our '''hurch membership has

reached 60, several being added every year. We
have also a Sabbath-school held in the morning, in

which there are 120 scholars, with an average attend-

ance of 85. The staff consists of a Superintendent,

14 teachers, and a librarian, who has charge of a lil)rary

numbering 800 books."

The Rev. J. Webster mentioned in Mr. Cox's record

moved to another sphere of work in 1885, and left

behind him a lasting influence.

For the next six or seven years there was no minister

available, so the Church had to rely upon the services

of lay preachers, who rendered most efficient and

helpful aid. Among those who led the services were

Messrs. F. Basey, S. Devenish, Furlong, and Fry.

After this the Church was fortunately settled with
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the Rev. B. Dorman as minister. He was a

deeply spiritual man, he was consecrated to the

service of the Master, and his life is held in dear

memory to this day. During the six years of

Mr. Dorman's ministry a substantial manse was

built. The late Mr. George McEwin, one of the

foundeis of the Church, bequeathed a sum of money

to help liquidate the debt incurred by the building of

the manse.

After a vacancy of some time Mr. (icorge Cooper

was appointed to the work. Mr. Cooper was an ener-

getic worker, and during a ministry lasting nearly four

years he passed the "Extra Mural" course of stud}'

for candidates for the ministry, and was ordained a

regular minister in the Church amid the rejoicing*

of his people. It was ]\Ir. Cooper who started work

on the Paracombe Blocks, and, although the services

were carried on with interruptions, they were the means

of paving the way for the greater work which was to

follow. The Rev. G. Cooper's influence will always be

felt in the district, for he was a man of grit and ability.

]\rr. Cooper left in response to a call of the Church at

Wallaroo.

Then for two years up to 1908, the Rev. W. Penry

Jones, the .Secretary ot the Union, was the pastor in

charge. Although Mr. Jone.^' services were very

acceptable to the people, he was unable to give the

necessary time to his ministerial duties. It was on

his suggestion Mr. A. W. Gordon, of Adelaide College,

was invited to become the minister, which office he

has maintained for nearly four years. From the very

beginning of his pastorate he began to move the church

forward.
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The success of Mr. Gordon is chiefly among young
people. He is essentially a man for young men.
In addition to his pastoral work he has founded and
conducts the local Orpheus Society, a choir of 50 male
voices. He holds also in connection Avith the Church
shorthand, book-keeping, and English classes. The
Church membership has reached the fine total of 145,

30 of Avhom have been received in Mr. GorHf/u's time.

At the beginning of the present year Mr. Gordon, in

the face of much opposition, moved to have a church

built at Paracombe.

Mr. Reuben Chapman came forward with the offer of

a block of land, and a meeting was held. Ably suj)-

ported by Mr. Chapman, the approval of the residents

was obtained, and now a splendid cause is flourishing.

A felloAAship had been formed of ten members on

October 14, 1911.

The following points about Houghton are interest-

ing :—
The Prayer Meeting sustains a missionarj^ in China.

The Sunday-school is vigorous and strong. Mr,

Robert McEwin is the Superintendent with 150 scholars

and 20 teachers. The school at Paracombe is also a

strong one with Mr. P. Chapman as Superintendent

with 70 scholars.

The Church mourns the loss b}'- death of valuable

members in the persons of Mrs. Reuben Chapman, Mr.
F. Lewis, and Mrs. D. Clements.

It would be unfitting if this historical sketch were
closed without some reference to that large-hearted

human, Mr. Robert McEwin, who has been a pillar -

we might safely say sometimes almost its only prop-
of this Church now for so many years. The people of

Houghton never will know how great is their obliiration
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to him, who seems to have made their spiritual needs

the first care of his life. We pray that Mr. and Mrs.

McEwiii may be spared for many years to each other

and thus be enabled to continue in the good works in

which they have always abounded.

Teatree (Jully.—There is no information available

concerning sei'vices held here, beyond the fact that

during 1858 the Rev. Jas. Howie conducted services

in a large room (part of a mill) leased for the purpose

in rotation with Houghton, Shipley, and Glen Osmond,

before his settlement at Maclaren Vale.

Glen Osmond.—For several years, from about 1850,

services were conducted here by lay preachers, tirst in

a cottage, then in a barn, and afterwards in the Govern-

ment schoolroom, Messrs. C. Smedley, J. Darling. T.

Reynolds, and others rendering valuable assistance.

A Sunday-school was formed, children of several

denominations attending, and it was called the " l^nion

Sunday-school."

Among ministers who assisted were the Rev. (i. 1).

Mudie, C. D. Watt, Jas. Howie, and V. W. Evan, B.A.

About 1860 Congregational services were discontinued,

as Anglican services were being regularly conducted

by the Rev. W. H. .Mudie, the son of our minister, who

had laboured here.

Beaumont.—In early times several notable Congrega-

tionahsts resided at and near Beaumont. Among these

were Messrs. WilUam Giles, S. Davenport (afterwards

Sir Samuel Davenport), J. Cleland, H. Giles, W. Berry,

and Mrs. Robert Frew.

In 1860 these friends interested themselves in the

erection of a stone chapel, on land owned by Mr. James

Siuith. The opening service was conducted early in
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1861. Afternoon Sunday-school and evening services

Avere regularly held for a few years, and the attendance

seemed to justify the effort that had been made, Irat,

owing to removals of those most interested, the cause

languished, and some time in the early seventies services

were discontinued.

After a lapse of several years without being used

for religious purposes, the proi^erty reverted to ^[r.

Smith, b}' whose trustees it was sold, and now forms

part of a dwelling house.

Clayton Church, Kensington'.- In the earlier years

of the colony the Rev. J. M. Strongman ministered pro-

bably about 1849 and onward. In the year 1854 a

Church was formed in the house of ^Ir. John Roberts, a

gentleman of considerable property, and a former

member of the Church of the Rev. John Clayton, of

London, in memory of whom he named the church he

afterwards built. The Church was formed on May 7,

1854, and consisted of 29 members, who, on uniting

themselves together, called to the spiritual oversight

of them the Rev. J. H. Barrow. Mr. Barrow had

exercised his ministry in Yorkshire, and was also

connected with the newspaper press in England. In

this colony Mr. Barrow continued his journalistic

labours on the dailv papers, first with the Berjister and

afterward- with the Advertiser. His abilities as a

preacher (as well as a writer) were of a very high order,

so that the first place speedily became too small for the

worshippers, when Mr. Roberts built a small place

on his own land in WiUiam-street. This also the

congregation soon outgrew, and the building known as

Clayton Church—the first of the name—was erected,

and opened on April 13, 1856, the Rev. John Gardner

preaching in the morning and the Rev, T. Q. Stow in the
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evening. The situation of tlic church was a very

coramau(Uug one, bein" at the top of the Parade, and

visible in the long line of road and street for miles awav

to the west. The ministry of Mr. Barrow ceased in

1858, the pressure of his literary work demanding his

whole time, when he was succeeded after an interval

by the Rev. J. W. ('. I^rane. Mr. Drane was a New-

port Pagnell student, and came here from Hanley, in

Staffordshii'e, the same place from which Mr. Newland

also came. He came out under the direction of the

Rev. J. I.. Poore, and felt himself aggrieved by the

representations made to him in England, so that his

ministry, though an able one, soon came to an end, and

he removed to (Queensland. In November, 18()(>, the

Rev. William Harcus came out to occupy the pulpit,

leaving the pastorate he had happily filled at Doncaster

for a colonial charge. He was a Cotton-End student,

going through the visual course there, leaving in the

year 1848. Mr. Harcus. like his predecessor, having a

call to joitrnalism, quitted the pulpit for the press,

resigning his charge in December, 1865, to the great

regret of those who knew him best. He died on

August 10, 1876. He was followed by the Rev. E.

Griffiths, a New C^ollege man of 1853, who came from

the pastorate of Tenby, in Wales, to that of Clayton

Church, entering upon his work in April, 1866, and

leaving it in 1872. After an interval of nearly two

years the Rev. Thomas Hope arrived and entered

upon his work on the 7th of May, 1874. During his

pastorate there was steady progress both in things

spiritual and material. In 1875 new schoolrooms

were built to make room for the increasing numbers.

The foundation-stone of the present building was

laid by Sir Edwin Smith. M.P., who is one of the
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oldest members of the Cliuich, in the presence of a

large assemblage on the 27tli June, 1882, and the

top stone of the spire by G. Wood, Esq., on January 9,

1883. Mr. Wood Avas aecompaiiied up the interior to a

temporary- staging by the Hex. T. Hope, Messrs. Davies,

<'aterer, Vickery, and the contractors, whence he and

Mr. Davies ascended to the sunindt of the sjjirc, at a

height of 125 feet by means of workmen's ladders

outside -a remarkable feat, for which Mr. Wood's

early nautical training had qualitied him.

In the tower facing Norwood Parade there is a large

sculptured stone, 10 feet by 6 feet, representing a New
Testament scene, "

( hrist being Pi-esented at the

Temple," composed of seven life-.sized figures. This

work of art was executed by Mr. W. J. Maxwell, from

his own design, and was a gift from him to the Church,

of which he and his wife Avere then members. The

building was opened on May 17, 1883, and is, without

question, one of the most beautiful of the many houses

for the worship of (iod that adorn the face of South

Australia. The new building was opened formally by Sir

Samuel Davenport, ainidst the devout rejoicings of the

friends, when a short dedicatory service was conducted

by the Revs. T. Hope and F. W. Cox. A tea-meeting

was held in the old Church at G.30, and a public meeting

in the new Church at 7.30. Services in connection

with the opening were continued on the four following

Sundays ; on May 20, by the Revs. T. Hope. R. S.

Casely, and W. R. Fletcher, M.A. : May 27, the Revs.

<). Copland, J. V. Simpson, and D. C)'Donnell . Jmie 3,

th(! Revs. T. Hope, and C. Manthorpe : .lunc id, the

Revs. Allan Webb and F. W. Cox.
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The foUowiiip; is the description of the hiiilding :
—

The structure is early English ; the nave 6G ft. by 4-^

ft. 6 in., and it is arranged to seat 580 |)ersons on the

ground floor. The spire is not only the highest church

spire in the colony—rising 125 feet from the ground

—

but is undoubtedly the most elegant. Indeed, the

whole of the exterior reflects great credit on Messrs^
( "umming & DaWes. the architects. The cost of the

whole was £7,580, of which £3.000 were collected by

the time of opening. I'nder Mr. Hoju-'s intelligent

ministry the work \\as carried on with full \ igour and

efficiency in all the usual agencies foi- benefiting the

Church and congregation, young and old.

While all thi> was going on. the Sunday-school was

steadily growing in numbers and efficiency. Highly

succes.sful floral and industrial exhibitions were held

from time to time in coimection with it, Avhilst a Young
Men's Society and Young Christians' Union Avere main-

tained in a flourishing condition by committees under

the guidance of the pastor.

Mr. (Tilbert Wood, a generous and staunch sup])orter

(^f religious Avork, and for many years a deacon at

Clayton, died on the 24th of September. 188G, and an

artistic mar})le tablet to his memory was placed on the-

eastern wall of the new building. ^Ir. Wood's death

was a severe blow to the Church, but it soon became
evident that his place was being worthily filled ])y hi*

eldest son. Mr. Peter Wood.

Mr. T. Caterer, for nuiuy years senior deacon and
Superintendent of the Sunday-school, removed to the

Semaphore in 1884, leaving a gap not easy to fill.

His years of dev^oted service and self-sacrificing labour
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have won for him a high place in the annals of the

Church.

Happily Mr. Caterer still enjoys good health at the

ripe age of 86, and is living with his nieces at Medindie.

Having received an invitation from the Church at

Waverley, X.S.W., to become its Pastor, Mr. Hope

tendered liis resignation, but at a largely attended

meeting was unanimous^ requested to withdraw it.

Being, however, on the eve of his marriage, Mr. Hope

decided to begin his new life amid fresh surroundings,

and accordingly accepted the call.

His resignation took effect at the end of August, 1 890,

in the seventeenth year of his pastorate. A farewell

meeting was held, at which the Church presented him

with an illuminated address. Presentations were also

made by the Sunday-school and Young Men's Society.

The erection of the new Church at a total cost of

£7,580 in years of depression is a striking testimony to

the esteem in which Mr. Hope was held. At the time

of his leaving the whole property, including the manse,

had cost £12,000, with only a det)t of between £3,000

and £4,000 remaining.

About the time the new building was opened, the

cemetery adjacent was partially closed, interments

being restricted to relatives of persons who already

held ground there. This was done by an order from

the Commissioner of Crown Lands, as empowered by

Act 19 of 1862.

The presence of the Rev. H. C Nicholls, pastor of

the Congregational Church at Dedham, Essex, on a

visit to Australia, brought him under the notice of

friends here, which resulted in a call being given, and
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his laiiTiistry at Clayton began on Sunday, May 3,

1891, a public welcome being accorded him a few days

later.

Mr. Nicholls resigned his charge at Dedham, and

cabled to Mrs. Xicholls, who, with the family, arrived

early the next year, and was heartily welcomed.

Mr. Nicholls threw his whole energy into Church work,

and sought to stimulate the xarious auxiliaries into

greater intellectual activity. At his wish the " Young
Christians' Union " was merged into a " Young People's

Society of Christian Endeavour," arid the Young Men's

Society re-organised. The revised version of the

Bible was introduced for use in the services, and soon

after, the Congregational Hymnal also.

Mr. Nicholls was greath* assisted in his pastoral

work by his wife, whose piety, sympathy, and tact

rendered her a welcome visitor in the homes alike of

rich and poor. The Clayton Branch of the South

Australian Mothers' Prayer Union was initiated by

her, and her large Bible-class of young women was a

centre of far-reaching influence.
*

Shortly after our friend's removal to Victoria the

news of the death of Mrs. Nicholls came to the sorrow

of a host of friends who loved her dearly.

In the year 1900 Mr. Nicholls visited England, and

during his absence the })ulpit was a(;ceptably supplied

by the Rev. A. S. Devenish, M.A.. of Adelaide, from

April to September, inclusive.

The half-yearly meeting of the Congregational Union

and Home Mission was held here in April, 1903, after an

interval of twenty-two years, and again this year.

After a little more than twelve years' work at Clayton,

Mr. Nicholls tendered his resignation, and joined the
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Presbyterian body in Victoria. A\ht^ie several of Mrs.

Nicholls' relatives reside.

A member of the Church has kindly supplied us with

the following notes on Mr. Nicholls :
—

"The Rev. Henry George Nicholls. before coming to

South Australia, was for nearly 17 years minister of the

•Church at Dedhara, situated in the picturesque valley

of the Stour, in North Essex.

"At the time of .Mr. Nicholls' arrival at ( layton in

May, 1891, South Australia was passing through a

period of commercial depression, as a result of which,

hundreds of people left the surroxniding district, and

the financial afiPairs of the State were at a low ebb,

resulting in the numerous bank failures of 1S93,

Notwithstanding this he drew good congregations,

and succeeded in getting the debt A\hich stood on the

Church property considerably reduced.

"Mr. Nicholls showed himself to be a man of active

habits, quick perception, and ready wit. His mind

overflowed with ideas, which were largely directed

towards the improvement of conditions of ^\orship.

His pulpit ministi'ations were marked by ability and

earnestness. He read widely, piepared carefully, and

never gave what cost him nothing. Prolific in choice

phrases, his imagination seized upon symljols and

analogies aflame with spiritual significance in illustra-

tion of the subject matter. Bj' turns didactic, ex-

pository and experimental, his discourses were marked

by rapid transition of style distinguished by great

verbal dexterity, often impressive, but never dull.

"His last sermon at Clayton was preached on Sunday,

6th August, 1903, and a valedictor}' meeting. j)r('siderl

over by Sir Edwin Smith, was held on the 8th, when



192 THREE-QUARTERS OF A CENTURY.

ail illuiiiinatcd luldross. and a purse containing £100'

were presented to liini with the best wishes of those

present."'

The Church was fortunate in l)eing able to obtain the

services of Dr. Jefferis to ])reside at some important

meetings, and also to preach on several Sundays.

The Rev. Joseph Robertson, M.A., kindly con.sented

to act as Moderator to aid in securing another minister.

An invitation to him. however, fiom a Church in

Queensland, opened the May for inviting Mr. Robertson

himself to come to Clayton. Accordingly a meeting of

the Church and congregation was convened on Decem-

ber 9. 1903. and a call was given, the acceptance of

which in Jaiuiary, 1904, elicited consideiable enthusiasm

at Clayton, regret at Stow, and congratulations from

other Churches of our denomination.

Mr. Robertson began his ministry at Clayton on the

10th of April. 1904, and a public tea-meeting was held

to welcome him and his family on the 1 4th, at which

Sir Edwin Smith presided, and addresses were given

by officers of the Church, and by neighbouinng ministers.

Mr. Robertson was led to accept the call to Clayton

largely because he thought that he might be able to do-

a good work among the young life of the Church. This

expectation has been realised by a considerable addition

to the membership, in which the young people are

prominent

.

As a tangible expression of good-will towards the

new pastor, Sir E. T. Smith. Mes.srs. P. Wood, and H.

Dunstan furnished the vestry with book-shelves and

vvTiting table, and made considerable improvements to

the manse at their own expense.

The.se gentlemen had also made large donations to-

wards the reduction of the debt to supplement the
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systematic efforts made throughout the Church. thu&

by the end of May, 1905, the sum of £550 was paid

off. In this connection Mr. Wm. Herbert Jones,

Secretar>- and Treasurer, has rendered good service by

keeping before the congregation the importance of

reducing the Church debt and energetically workhig

towards this end.

The Rev. Ashley H. Teece. B.A.. succeeded Mr.

Robertson, and began his work on Sunday. August S9,

1909.

Mr. Teece came from Xewto\\n. Tasmania, where he

had been the minister for nearly four years. He i&

the son of Mr. Richard Teece, the Actuary of the A.M.P,

Society, of Sydney. He is an alumnus of Camden

College, and the Sidney University ; he had also

studied for two years at Hackney College. London, to

Avhich he was transferred from Camden College.

Under Mr. Teece's ministry all the activities of the

Church are flourishing, and some new ones have been

brought into being. The membershi]) had increased

from 198 to 250.

Under his guidance Mission Stud> Clas.ses have been

held, and the subscrii)tious to both Home and Foreign

Missions have been increased by the formation of a.

band of contributors called the Missionary Hundred.

]\Ir. Teece has also greatly interested himself in the

social needs of the young men of the neighborhood,

which were not V)eing met by existing organizations,

Througli his exertions a hiiilding was erected and

furnished for a gymnjisiuni. reading room, and lounge

at a cost of £1,450. These rooms are open ever>- week-

night with a satisfactoi-y resnll. .Mr. Teece had gained

expei-ience in work among hoys through association

with the Uiiiversity Christian I nion's Social Work in

his undcrjiradnate davs.
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-Mr. Teece preaches a l)i()a(l evangelical gospel,

a\oiding inflated oratory and cant phiases, and has a

happy manner in his talks to children. His sermons,

though written onl in full, arc delivered wiihout re-

ference to manuscript or notes, and his \ oice can be

distinctly heard in any part of the large building.

He is an energetic and dexoted jtastor. visiting the

various members of his flock without distinction.

Mr. \y. Sanders has been organist since 1895. He
has organised an effective choir, whit-h is now capped

and surpliced. Through his devotion the choir has

become splendidly efficient, and the musical part of

the service adds solemnity and beauty to the worship.

(JoLLEOF, Park Church.— Jn the early part of 1879

it was considered that an effort at Church extension

should be made in the rapidly rising eastern suburbs of

the city, and it was stated at a meeting of the Union

<,'ommittee that six gentlemen were willing to contri-

bute £700 to make a beginning at College Park. In

-consequence of this the design of Messrs. Cumming and

Davies was accepted for a building in the Early English

style, Mr. Wark undertaking the woik for £3,070.

This was to give sittings for 500 persons, with ]jossi-

bilities of increase eventually up to l.OOO. The

stone of the church was laid on the 17th November,

1879. liy His Honor the Chief Justice. While the

building was in course of erection the (onnnittee deter-

mined not to WAit for the completion of the building,

but to commence services at once, by the erection of a

wooden structure at the back. Avhich could afterwards

be used as a schoolroom. This was carried into effect,

;and the present schoolroom was erected at a cost of

£125 ; and regular service commenced on December

14, when the Rev. W. R. Fletcher preached in the
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morning, and afterwards presided at the first communion

service, and the Rev. O. Copland in the evening.

In the meantime the Council of the Congregational

Union resolved to appoint Mr. Fredk. Searle, late of

New College, London, as their agent, to conduct ser-

vices at College Park until a Church had been formed,

and the necessary steps taken to invite a pastor. Mr.

Searle entered upon his duties on December 21, 1879.

On February 2nd, 1880, a Church was formed of 11

members from North Adelaide ( hurch, five from

Stow Memorial Church, two from Port Adelaide, two

from a Baptist Church at Ipswich, and one from the

Primitive Methodist Church, Norwood— in all 21, which

number increased to 100 during the ministry of the

Rev. F. Searle. There were also appointed as deacons-

Messrs. W. C. Calder (Secretary), R. :M. Steele (Trea-

surer), W. Rutt, and D. H. H. Weir, the Rev. F. Searle

being pastor.

The new church was opened by the Rev. Jas. Jefferis,

LL.B., of Sydney, and during his visit the pastor was

duly ordained to his sacred office, the Revs. W. R.

Fletcher, O. Copland, F. W. Cox, Chas. Manthorpe,

W. Wilson, and Thos. Hope taking part in the service.

Mr. Searle devoted himself with all the energies of his

soul to the building up that Church in numbers and in

the knowledge and love of God, visiting from house to

house in the neighbourhood with ceaseless diligence.

At the same time he originated various Societies for the

benefit of young and old among his own people, to-

gether with an open-air service in the neighbourhood.

Mr. Searle was not in robust health, and the many
cares arising were too much for him, notwithstanding

intervals of rest, which it was hoped would tend to

re-establish him. He passed away from his labours on
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«arth to rest with Christ on July 24, 1883, at the age of

39. His character was descril)ed at the time in the

di.ristuin Cohoii^i thus, and the testimony is true:

—

•'Our deceased friend was identic and lovable: no

brilliant elo(iueiK'e or sparkling wit, but earnest, practi-

cal, thoughtful. He was a faithful friend, a devoted

husband, a loving father, and a faithful minister. His

ruling ))assion was love for souls—for this he lived, for

this he has cheerfully laid down his life. He has fought

the good fight and finished his course, and now, we
doubt not, Clod will give him some higher work io do.

* He, being dead, yet speaketh.' " After his death

a sum of money was raised as a memorial of him. to

found a '" Searle Scholarship " in Union College.

The next step in the Church's history was the appoint-

raent of a Committee in England to send out a successor

in the pastorate to him who had fallen asleep, and

eventually the Rev. J. Reed Glasson came from Eng-

land to take the oversight of the Church in the Lord.

]Mr. Glasson began his work in NovemVjer, 1 884, receiving

the due call of the Church in December following,

which he accepted. He has been faithfully labouring

in the work of the ministry, certainly not without diffi-

culties and trials which the providence of God has

permitted to come upon him until the present time.

Difficulties, we say, on account of the heavy debt of

about £2,000 remaining on the building, and which is

the more burdensome from the general depression

existing in the colony ; and trials, in the loss of one

nearest and dearest, who had accompanied him from

England, and whom he married after his settlement

there. Under Mr. Glasson's hand all the means of

doing good to young and old are in full and successful

operation. The Sunday-school and young people's
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societies are in a flourishing condition, and everything

gives promise that with a revival of prosperity the

Church will assume a position of greatly enlarged

usefulness with its growing numbers. Mr. Glasson

was a student at Bristol, and had exercised the ministry

in Manchester previous to leaving England.

In May, 1894, Mr. Glasson accepted a call to Teriace

Church, Wellington, New Zealand, over which he still

presides. In compliance with an invitation he had

occupied during March the vacant pulpit of the Terrace

Church in Wellington, New Zealand, and on April

18 he received an invitation from the Church there

to the pastorate which he accepted. As soon as it

became known that there was a possibility of losing

Mr. Glasson, there was on the part of the members

of College Park Church a universal expression of pro-

found sorrow, while on the j^art of many public men
who had been associated with him in social reform move-

ments there were expressions of deep regret. During

the nearly ten years of his pastorate at College Park,

Mr. Glasson won the affection and esteem of every

member of his church and congregation, and of many
outside with whom from time to time he had been

brought into contact. Many arguments and much
pressure were brought to bear to induce Mr. Glasson

to remain at College Park. But when, at a special

meeting of the members of the (*hurch on May 1, his

resignation lay before them with the earnest request

from Mr. Glasson that no more efforts should be made
to induce him to remain, as he had definitely and

finally made up his mind, the members thought that

nothing could be done except to accept the resignation,
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which was accordingly done with great leluctance,

and amid many signs of profound sorrow. A large

and influential conunittee was then a])pointed to ar-

range for a hearty send off.

During the nearly ten years wliich elapsed, he en-

deavoured to the best of his ability to discharge the

important duties ]3ertaining to his office, in face of

many financial and other difficulties. He was well

known as an advanced and ardent social reformer, but

only on rare occasions directly referred to such ques-

tions from the pulpit. ' When the Rev. Hugh (Jilmore

died, Mr. Glasson was selected to succeed him as Pre-

sident of the Christian Sociology Societ}- in Adelaide.

In public movements Mr. Olasson took a lively and

intelhgent interest. He has been Chairman of the

South AustraUan Congregational Union, was appointed

one of the delegates to represent South Australia in

the Congregational Conference in London in 1892,

and when in New Zealand he represented the ( ongrega-

tionahsts of South Australia at the X^nion meetings

held at Auckland.

The Rev. J. W. Piatt, B.A., was then invited to take

oversight of the Church for a term of three years

.

During his pastorate the effort to replace the American

organ, which had been in use since the Church was

erected by a pipe organ, after slumbering for some

years, was revived, and brought to a successful issue,

and the organ now in use was erected and opened.

Mr. Piatt was succeeded by the Rev. M. L. Johnson,

B.A.,whowas a South Austrahan by birth and educa-

tion, although finishing his ministerial training at

Camden College. Mr. Johnson's sound judgment and

logical powers gained him a reputation throughout Aus-

tralia as a theologian, which was recognised by his
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election to the Chairmanship of the Congregational

Union, for the year 1903-4, but before the completion

of his term of office he accepted a call to Balmain, New
South Wales.

The Rev. W. A. Keay was pastor from July. 1904,

to Marcli, 1907. The Sunday-school had for many
years been working in a small way towards the establish-

ment of a fund for the proWsion of suitable accommoda-
tion for its work. Fresh efforts were put forth for

this object, the sympathy of the Church was enlisted in

the cause, and the suggestion of one of the members
(Mr. C. W. Rutt, F.S.A.I.A.) that the eastern end of

the Church should be divided off to form a school hall

was carried out, and proved a great boon to the school,

besides making a great improvement in the appearance

of the Church, lu the following year three class-

rooms were added, one of which is used as a vestry.

The funds for the alterations were all obtained before

the work was put in hand. The same year a handsome
stained glass window was erected by Mr. Stanford, of

West AustraUa, a former member of the Church, in

memory of his father, who had for many years filled

the position of deacon.

For eight months after Mr. Keay's resignation the

pulpit was filled bj^ supplies, the week-night services

and other meetings being conducted by various mem-
bers. In December, 1907, Mr. R. E. Chapman, of

Busselton, W.A., was welcomed to the pastorate,

and was ordained to the ministry. He then

entered upon his work with the good wishes of his

many friends among the people of our Churches, who
remembered the good work done by his father, who for

many years was minister of the Churches at Maitland,

Hamk'v Bridge, and Port Pirie.
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In January, 1911, Mr. C-hapman's pastorate ter-

minated, he having accepted a call to Western Aus-

tralia. The Church then invited Principal Bevan and
students of Parkin ( 'ollege to take up the ministerial

work of the church during the college session then

commencing. The result met with general approval,

so the experiment has been continued for the present

session ; the Sunday and wcck-night services are

regularly conducted by the principal or one of the

students. During the four months summer recess full

pastoral charge for a month was taken by Mr. A. C.

Nelson, and for three months by ^Ir. Paul Joseph, of

the College.

The work of the Sunday-school ha^ been ettieiently

maintained throughout the history of the Church,

but is now smaller in numbers than it has been for

many years. Two or three years ago the old fashioned

infant school was replaced by a properly equipped

kindergarten with good results. A cradle roll has

also been in existence for some years.

One of the first institutions established in connection

with the Church was a " Young Christians' Union,"

on the lines of that introduced at North Adelaide

by the late Mr. Thomas Frost. This was replaced

after many years of useful life by a young people's

" Society of Christian Endeavour,'" which, however,

seems never to have obtained a permanent gi ip of the

young people, and for the last year or two it has been

practically in abeyance. Its younger offshoot, the

"Junior Endeavour Society," has had its periods of

ebb and flow, but it was never in a more healthy and

flourishing condition than at present.

Literary Societies have been started several times,

have run their course for a longer or shorter time.
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und then died. The last move in this direction is a

*' Young People's Club," combining literarj' and other

pursuits of a more social character ; but this has not

been long enough in existence to shoAA' ^vhether it will

prove a success.

The Church has from the first laboured under a

heavy debt. This was at first £3,000, but now stands

at £1,150.

Home Missions have Ijeen looked after by a regular

collector, and an annual collection is usually taken up

in both Church and school.

Foreign Missions are also supported through the

efforts of a collector, and an annual collection in the

Church. A monthly collection is also taken for Foreign

Missions in the school, and the Endeavour Society

collects for "' The Lois Cox Home " in India.

Mrs. Bevan's keen missionary interest has given

this work a great impetus.

A Semng Circle meets fortnightly at Mrs, Bevan's

residence, the resulting work being forwarded annually

to China or India.

The Rev. A. E. Francis, the minister at Heme Hill,

N.S.W., went into the ministry from this Church.

Rose Park Church.— Mr. H. Savage brought the

case of Rose Park under the notice of the Rev. W. R.

Fletcher in 1882, but it was not till a year after that

the matter was brought formalh- before the Union

Committee, when on January <6, 1883, it was decided that

steps should be taken to establish a Congregational

Mission there. The place had been occupied as a farm

by Mr. Prescott under the South Australian Company
from very early years, but now the land coming into

the Company's possession was open to settlement,

and began to be covered with suburban residences.
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Two aUotnients w cne purchased on the Parade, together

100 ft. by 165. The movers in the matter began

Avisely by erecting a substantial stone building, which

was to be the future schoolroom when the larger struc-

ture should be built. For this Mr. T. H. Smeaton
gave the plans, and the building was erected ff)r £625,

of which Stow Memorial C^hurch contributed £200, the

proceeds of sale of land and Mission Hall at Parkside.

AVhile this was being put up. services were held under

the grandstand on the racecourse, in which also a

Sunday-school was held with 69 scholars and nine

teachers. The foundation-stone was laid on Septem-

ber 21, 1883, by Mr. R. Searle, who was Chairman
of the Union thai \ear. The opening services were

held on December 2, 1883, when the Rev. 0. Copland

preached in the morning, and the Rev. W. R. Fletcher,

M.A., in the evening, after which a Church was formed

of 25 members, who partook of the Lord's supper at

the close of the public service. On December 19 the

Church gave a call to the Rev. W. S. Fernie to take the

oversight of them in the Lord, which he accepted.

]\[r. Fernie arrived in Adelaide in April. 1883,

for the ])urpose of rendering ministerial helj) ta

his brother—the Rev. B. X. Fernie, of Kapunda

—

whose health was so impaired that he needed assistance.

Steady progress has been made both in Church and

school from that time. At the third anniversary there

were 250 scholars in the school, and 44 members in

Christian fellowship, while the congregation is as laige

as the place will comfortably hold. Since the erection

of the place it was found needful to add to it five new
classrooms for the efficient carrying on of this most

importaixt part of the Church's work. These cost

£400, and were opened in April, 1884.
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From the souvenir published on the 21st anniversary

of the Church we gather the first services were held

in the dining hall of the racecourse on Sunday, July 1,

1883. The Rev. Thomas Hope preached in the morn-
ing and -Mr. R. Vena])les in tlie evening.

List of Foundation Members.

N.B.—Members sf ill in FeUowdiip nxirked icith (istcrisk.

*Henry Savage * Louie Barlow

'^Emma Savage Hannah Venables

Catherine Ann Savage Robert Venables

Oeorge (rould Bailow Elizabeth Sinigear

Lydia Barlow Charlotte Barlow

Priscilla Davis (leorge BarloAv

Malcolm Edwards Ehza Wel)b
* Ellen M. Barkn\- Margaret Hendrie

*AIice E. Barlow Thomas Hendrie

*Ebenezer Barlow M. J. Baker

AmeHa EtI wards Walter Graves

*Ellen Bailow Thomas H. Sraeaton

^Frank E. Cornish

An admirable message to the people was written

by the present minister, the Rev. S. Lenton, which we
reproduce from the above mentioned souvenir.

" Twenty-one years ago oui' Church was founded,

consequently Ave have leachc^l one of those hill to^Ds of

our pilgrimage, when we ma\- well pause and for a

biief moment ponder the past and obe\^ the command
of God to Israel :

" Thou shall remember all the way
which the Lord thy God led thee."

Our 21st birthday is a distinct and solemn appeal

to memory. It is just that part of life's unfinished

journey when birthdays begin to hint and intimate

th(! pensive influence of the past. From that time
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onward tlicv arc «iio\\ ingly suggestive of llie soloiniiitj'-

ot the past as i) sIoan ly Urngthens itself out . Memory's-
thoughts become " long, long thought-.""

A glance at the text f|uote(l above (Deut. viii. 2>
will show tliat CJod had a threefold purpose in His
dealings with His people.

(i.) "To prove thee and to know Mhat is in thine
heart." To put this thought into a more modern
form -to unfold, to develop, to bring out into active

life and work the i)o\vei-s and character of the heart.

(ii.) " To hunible thee."" Remeinber. the heart of

humiHty is love and the strength of life is love.

"True love is but a liimililr. low lM)rii thing.''

The soul truly loves only as it is humble.

•And love is Heaven and Heaven is love.''

(iii.) "To know . . whether thou wouldst keep
His commandment or no."' What is this Imt to bring
His children to loving obedience.

Brothers and Sisters in Christ, is not this the glorious

purpose of orn- Father during the twenty-one years ?

Think 1 Remember ! Give thanks I

From this i-esting })lace we must " go forward,"
tread a path which hitherto our feet have not pressed,

God is with us.

There are struggles before us, for life is not only a

journey and effort, but a conflict. The road Avill nut
always be smooth and bright, but (Jod is with us. Joys
snatched in the face of difficulty and danger are specially

poignant.

We have Church work l^efoie us, a local mission tO'

discharge. Those in our neighbourhood have claims

u})on us. We have Church interests to foster, a liroader

felloAvship with hearts, a warmer spiritual life.
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Let us pray, let us work. Christ calls, the needs

of soulvS call. Let us arise and be doing, for God is

with u>;.

New Church Building.—In February, 1899, it

was decided to start a fund for the erection of a new
church l)uilding, and, £600 having been raised by
April, 1901, plans which had been prepared by Mr. J.

A. Tillett were approved, and the erection of church
decided upon. It was not. however, till the following

Octob.T that the work was commenced, the foundation-

stone being laid on October 30th by His Excellency

Lord Tennyson. The oj^ening services were held on
April i^Tth, 1902, the arrangements for the day being :

—

Prayer Meeting, 8 a.m. ; C^ommunion, 10.15 ; Services,

11, Rev. L. Robjohns, B.A. ; 3, Children's Service, Mr.
Savage : 6.30. Rev. Geo. Rayner.

Pastorates.—The pastors of the church have been :

—From January, 1884, to July, 1888, Rev. W. S.

Fernie : from April, 1889, to January, 1898, Rev. W.
Penry Jones ; from November. 1898, to October,

1902, Rev. L. Robjohns, B.A. ; from March, 1904,

Rev. S. Lenton.

Two of these ministers besides Mr. Lenton are

still at work in this State. Mr. Penry Jones
is the Secretary of the Union, and Mr. Robjohns
at Mount Lofty. Mr. Fernie is in the ministry

in Now Zealand. It is also worthy of notice that

the Rev. R. O. Nadebaum, B.A., our minister at Broken
Hill, was a boy at this Church, and proceeded from
it to study for the ministry at Oxford. The Rev.
J. E. Cresswell, of Keith, also went out to the ministry

from this Church.
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Of the foundation inembers, Mr. Henry Savage has

been the Superintendent of the school for a quarter of

a centur3\ and was recently Chairman of the Union.

Mr. Cornish has l:)cen Treasurer of the Church for a

great many years, as well as Finance Secretary of the

Union, and is Chairman this year.

Mr. Lenton continues to exercise liis ministty with

profit to the people in the neighbourhood.

Knoxville. — Less than a mile from Rose Park, near

to the Asylum grounds, a new jilace was opened
b}^ private enterprise in 1887. The building is

a peculiar one in form, being octagonal, 83 feet

across, with classrooms added to two of its sides.

The building cost £300, land £75, beside labour given,

and it is supplied by lay-agency, and has a Sunday-

school Avith 70 scholars in attendance. The congrega-

tion numbers about (5(>. A Church of II members
has been formed.

This little Church has continued to hold its own
during the last 25 years. I'nder Pastor R. Venables

efiFective work is done, and there is a good Sunday-
school.

Parkside (about 1| miles from Adelaide.)—A wooden
building, costing about £150, was put up by the brethren

at Stow Memorial Church a few j'^ears ago Worship
was maintained for some time, and it wa-? intended to

have placed a minister in charge. Circumstances,

however, led to discontinuance of services there, and
the place was sold.

Unley (Manthorpe Memorial).—In the latter part

of 1890 the Church Extension Committee of the Con-

gregational Union thought that there was an opening

for a Church of our denomination at New Parkside,
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After some enquiiies had been made an allotmeiit of

land was obtained at the corner of James and Frederick

streets. Two places were submitted to a committee,

which was chosen to give eifect to the suggestions of

the Church Extension Committee, one to cost £110

more than the other—the lowest pilced one was chosen.

The building was to l)e semi-Gothic with a bell tuiret

and porch in front ; exclusive of the land, the total

coet was to be £450. The foimdation-stone was laid

by the Rev. C. A. Benv. of Wolverhampton, England.

On March 20, 1892, the building was opened for

worship. Three services were held and were well

attended. Two months later 24 ])ersons entered into

a solemn covenant to unite themselves in church

fellowship. Revs. W. Wilson and F. Hastings were

present at the conseciation service. After giving

short addresses, prayer was offeied. the right hand of

fellowship was given to those mIio were to form the

church, and the meeting then closed with the Benedic-

tion. Rev. W. Wilson acted as .Moderator for nearly

two years. The Rev. ('has. Manthorpe ])egan his

ministry on Xovember 4. 1894 : it lasted for four years.

When two years of his ])astorate had expired, the

necessity for a larger building was ])ointed out, and in

three months a proposal was made to dispose of the

pi-emises then in use and devote the proceeds towards

the erection of a new edifice elsewhere. A sale was

effected, with a proviso that the use of the building

should l)e granted by the purchase)- on Sundays and

Wednesday evenings to allow time for the erection of a

new structure. The price paid was £280.

An allotment situated at the corner of Edjnmid-

street and facing ITnley-road was chosen on which to

bnild <he |)resent Church ; it was pmchased for £150.
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Effoit^^ were now nuulf to obtain contributions for

th(> lu'w premises, and at the close of May, 1897, the

funds amounted to £417. inchided in this was the cost

of the allotment which had been paid to the vendor.

A ticsitrn for a new building was submitted by

.Mr. (' K. Taplin and approved of. Tenders

were called for (its size was to be GO x 35 feet), the

lowest tender was £1.127. The foundation-stone

was laid on .May 31. I SOS. l.y .Mrs. S. ,1. (now Lady)

Way.

The ( "hiucli w as opened for worship on the last Sunday

in Xovember. 1S98. The o]iening services were con-

tiiuied foi- a {period of four weeks. The pastor's decease

took jilace l)efore these services were concluded. The

name of the church was altered to that of Manthorpe

Memorial to ct)nnnemorate the work of the late Rev,

Chas. Manthorpe. The membership during the late

pastor'^ ministry reached 64 during the four years of

his pastorate. Mrs. Manthorpe ])resented an enlarged

photo, of her late husband to the Church. It waS»

received with thanks, and it is now hanging in the

minister's vestry.

In th(> early part of ISOO Rev. J. M. Sands was sug-

gested as a possible successor to the late pastor. He

occupied the vacant pulpit for four Simdays, which

resulted in a call ])y the Church to the position, which

was acce]»ted. The first Sunday in May Avas chosen

for the commencement of his ministry. At the

close of October, 1900, the roll of members was

98. At the beginmng of 1903 the numl>er of

deacons was increased to nine. The roof of the

church was strengthened, at a cost of £39 8/, to allay

certain ominous sounds during a gale of wind. In

Juh , 1903, tenders for a School Hall were called for ;
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the one accepted was for £740. The foundation-stone

was laid by Mrs. J. G. Jenkins on October 3, 1903.

The hall was opened in January of the next year.

The church roll numbered 134 at the end of 1904,

Three years later a unanimous call from the Congrega-

tional Church at Waverley, New South Wales, was

given to the pastor, which he declined. His decision

was received by the jnembers of the church with great

satisfaction. A motion expres.sing full confidence and

hearty appreciation of the work done by Mrs. Sands and

himself for the benefit of the chinch and neighliourhood

was unanimously carried. Home and foreign missions

are supported.

A few years ago creaking noises in the roof

made some of the worshi]ipers uneasy. This led

to an examination, which caused the deacons to

discontinue the use of the building it\ the interests of

the public safety, and to carry out the necessary repairs,

so that the comfort of those inside the building should

not be disturbed during the hours of public worship.

An appeal was made to the congregation for help to

meet the amount needed. This was most generously-

responded to, but the expense exceeded the estimate

by a large amount owing to the muisual nature of the

work .to be done. Consequently a debt had to be

incuned, but an effort was made at once to reduce the

debit balance. One of the C-hurch members offered to

supplement all contributions to the extent of five for

every 20/ raised. The deacons have been assured

that there is now no need for the slightest fear regarding

the safety of the structure.

In December, 1908, Mr. Sands accepted a call to the

Church at Rockdale, Sydney, X.S.W., greatly to the

regret of every one. A public fai<'\\ell and social was
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given to our friends, at \\hich tfstiinoiiy wa.s borne

to the faithful work carried on by tlic beloved niiiiister,

Mrs. Sands, and their sons.

The Rev. A. B. Rofe, of .Meiboiuju'. coinniciu-ed his

ministry on July 11, 1909, and, aftei- a vigoroii> tll?)Ugh

brief pastorate, resigned on November 30 in the follow-

ing year. The Rev. J. E. James, B.D.. of New Col-

lege, Jjondon, on the adviee of Senator J()se])h Vardon,

came out to undertake the duties of minister on October

15. 1911. Mr. James is attracting large congregations,

and the membership of the Church is increa.sing, and

there are many signs of quickening life among the young

people of the congregation. He has established a

monthly young people's service, at ^hich the chuvch

is crowded.

The Manthorpt Mest^etujer. the monthly < hurch

magazine, is now in circulation. The iirst publication

in May last was four hundred copies, every one of

which was sold. This magazine promises to be a great

help in quickening the activities of the Chmch.

Mr. J. Blackwell, the greatly loved Suixnintendent

of the Sunday-school, died suddenly on Se])tend)c-r 9,

1910. A tablet has been erected to his memory in the

Church, and was unveiled l)y the Rev. T. Hope on

July 23 of last year. Mr. Blackwell \\'as also deacon

of the Church for 17 years.

The Sunday-school continues to grow, and so much

does it grow that ste})s have had to l)e taken to extend

the accommodation, particnlarly foi' the kindergarten.

A piece of land has been purchased for the purpose

of extending the school buildings. There are many

acquisitions for the benefit of the young people, in-

cluding a girls' gynniasium class, football and cricket

clubs, and the Unley Bo>s" C'lub. One of the officers
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of the '^^'hiirch writes :

" Altogether the prospects with

Manthorpe are very bright. Since Mr. James took

over the pastorate the attendance at the Sunday and
week night services has increased very considerably,

and all the seats in the Church are allotted."'

HiGHGATE.-This is a new suburb about Ih miles

from Unley. Our work was begun here by the Rev.
E.J. Stacy, now of Maitland, who conducted a Sunday-

school and services in his own home in 1910. When
Mr. Stacy went to Maitland a block of land was bought

and a building was erected. The first service was
conducted in the new church by the Rev. L. B. Fletcher,

of Port Adelaide. A Church fellowship was formed

in November, 1911, in the presence of the Rev. W,
Penry Jones and Mr. Henr\- Savage. ]\ressrs.

Maddeford and R. Whittle w^ere chosen deacons. Mr.

Maddeford is also Superintendent of the Sunday-schooL

The Church was at first under the charge of the Secre-

tary of the Union, but lately the Rev. J. E. James, of

Unley. has taken charge of it.

Shipley.—About six miles from Adelaide, at the

foot of the Black Hill, is a place where Congregational

worship has been maintained for many years past in

the midst of a small population. It appciirs that

worship was begun in the house of Mr. R. Ellis, near

the river Torrens, and when the population had in-

creased by the sale of the land, the house became too

small for the worshippers. The services were main-

tained by the students of Mr. Stow—Messrs. Badger,

Ayling, and Taplin, with help of Mr. Wm. Ciiles, Hon.

Thos. Reynolds, Mr. Wm. ToAviisend. M.P., and others.

A meeting was held on July 19, 1853, and a collection

made, headed by .Mi-. Stow with £5, and a dozen of the

inhabitants gave each a similar sum. while others gave
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less according to their means. One of the people

—

Mr. H. Horsey—gave a piece of land, and the building

was linished and opened by the Rev. T. Q. Stow on

June 18, 1854, he preaching from Col. i. 28, when £14 6/

was collected. After the opening, services were

conducted as before, until the Rev. ('. D. Watt, as

ministerial agent of the Home .Mission, became pastor.

When he left the lay preachers conchuted the seivices,

the Rev. F. W. Cox taking a monthly service there

from 1859 till 1870. Subsequently the place came

under the care of the ministers of Clayton Church

—

Revs. E. (.'liffiths and \V. Harcus who visited it for

pastoral purposes for some years. hi later year.< Mr.

J. A[. Do\\ ie conducted the services without help from

others, and without other recom})ense than that of

doing the Lord's work.

Shipley is noA\ known as Athelstone. Little

lias been done here since Mr. Dowie gave up the work.

The building is in a bad state of repair, and there are

two Methodist Churches within a mile. Mr. Teece a

vear or two ago was asked by the Union to revive our

work here, but after careful investigation declined.

Mount Lofty CniTRfH. -At a distance of lU miles

from Adelaide by road aad 19 J by rail, and about 1,700

feet above the sea, is a small but rising township of the

above name. The desire to escape the hot nights of the

plains in the months of December, January, and

February has led a number of Adelaide citizens to build

houses in the neighbourhood. The opening of the

intercolonial railway considerably increased the popula-

tion, so that it was thought desirable to build a Con-

gregational Church there.
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A meeting of the inhabitants was called at the house

of Mr. Teague in April, 1881, for promoting the building,

and land was given by Mr. Teague for the purpose.

This was, however, transferred back to the donor,

and he gave £50 instead, other land being purchased

for £97. The building was commenced, finished at a

cost of £650, and opened on the 8th Januaiy, 1882,

the late Rev. F. Searle conducting the opening services.

Arrangements were made for the supply of the pulpit,

many friends giving help. Mr. Gore's valued services

being largely employed. The late Rev. Thos. Beswick

was engaged also to take alternate Sundays. The

Church was formed on March 11, 1883, the Rev. F. W.

Cox presiding, when 12 members were united in Christian

fellowship. Soon after this the Rev. J. C. McMichael

took charge, and rejidered important service until the

end of October, 1884. After some time a minister

was obtained from England with the help of Mr. R.

Searle, who was at the time visiting the mother countrj^ :

this was the Rev. J. East Harrison, who arrived with

his family in May, 1885. He occupied the manse,

which had been built at a cost of £600, but did net

remain more than about a year, withdrawing from

the place to Victoria, and settling at St. Kilda. After

this an invitation was given to the Rev. John Lloyd, of

Wallaroo, to take the oversight, without giving up his

work at the latter place, to which he agreed, and acted

in this dual pastorate to the satisfaction of the people,

not\^ithstanding the distance between the two places.

The membership increased, and a good Sunday-

school was formed. The sittings in the Church are

all free, the income being derived from weekly offerings.
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The Rev. Thomas Kyte came to this Church in 1889,

and soon after the Church was enlarged hy the lengthen-

ing of the walls at the southern end.

In 1898 the Church and manse were declared free

of debt. In October, 1900, a picturesque effect was

given to the building by the addition of a porch.

After twent}^ 3^ears of faithful service Mr. Kyte was

attacked by an illness which caused his death on August

1. 1909. at Henley Beach.

The Register had the following note on the work of

this much loved minister :

—
" He was born in England,

and received his education at Cotton End. He entered

the ministry in 1873, and arrived in South Australia

some years later. He was an ex-Chairman of the

Union, and took a keen interest in the work of the

London Missionary Society. As a preacher he had

a splendid reputation for lucidity and depth of thought,

and his sermons reflected the high integrity which

always distinguished him. Xot less niai'ked were

his humility and piet}', and the verdict of all who knew

him intimately was that he wa* a good man.'''' We
remember his telling us once how he came to enter the

ministry. " It was through Dale," he said, " I attended

his Bible class. He seemed to take a fancy to me,

although," he added with characteristic humility. "I

could never understand what Dale saw in me more

than in any other of the men."

The report for 1910, in referring to the death of Mr.

Kyte, says :
" About twenty-nine years ago he came

to South AustraUa under the auspices of the Colonial

Missionary Society. His first charge here was at

Kadina. From Kadina he went to Trinity Church,

Perth, Western Australia. After a few years in the

W^estern State he returned to South Austraha, and soon
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after was invited to become the pastor of the Church

at Mount Lofty. Here for nearly twent}' yeart; he

exercised a gracious ministry, that will be long re-

membered by those privileged to attend it. As pastor

he was trusted and beloved ])y all. The increasing

years of his ministry, instead of leading to less interest,

served to deepen the love of the people for him, and to

increase the harmonious relations that existed between

him and the members of the Church and congregation.

His removal has brought a sense of loss to all who were

privileged to associate with him in the general work
of the denomination. But this has been felt more

deeply by the j)eople of his charge than by anj' others.

The prayer of those who knew him well in ministerial

work, and who realise the need of our Churches to-

day, is that • the Lord may send more such labourers

into the Vineyard.'
"

A tablet has been erected in the Church bearing this

inscription •

—

"In Loving Memory of

THOMAS KYTE,
For twenty rears pastor of this Church.

Born 1844, died 1909.

A faithful servant. '

'

The Church was without a pastor until June, 1910,

when the Rev. Leonard RobJohns, B.A., who had been

working in Sydney for eighteen months, was appointed.

Mr. Robjohns is still the minister, and there are many
indications that the Church is healthy.

In April, 1911, the foundation-stone of a new^ school-

room was laid by Mrs. Thomas Kyte, and the building

was formally opened by Mr. F. Basey in the following

September. The total cost was about €fiO(). and all

except £13f) has been paid off through the generosity

of the friends of the Church near and far. and a fete
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organised by Miss Tibbits in the grounds of Mr. Joseph

Bower. The fete was opened by Lady Bosanquet

in December last year. Since the opening of the

schooh'oom the school has increased in numbers and

efficiency. The Imilding was designed by Mr. F. H.

Counsell.

My. F. Basey was associated with the Church tor

many years, and did a great work among the young

people. Ill-health compelled him to leave the hills for

the warmer climate of the plains. He is now asso-

ciated with the Church at Gilberton. where he worked

so enthusiastically when he first came out more than

40 years ago.

The people at Mount J..oftj' were plunged into great

sorrow a few weeks ago by the death of Mrs. Bower, a

devoted member of the Church for many years. She

was a generous supporter of all Christian work, and a

regular worshipper. She died as the result of a motor

car accident.

Section V.— T^orthern District.

Salisbury (about 1 2 J miles north of Adelaide

;

population, 441 ; houses, 111
;
places of worship, five.)

— Before the railway was opened this place was of some

importance, but the railway weakened it by carrying

travellers past it instead of their passing through it.

Services were carried on there by supplies from Adelaide

in the early days, but the first minister who visited the

place regularly was the Rev. C. D. Watt, who went over

from his place at Hindmarsh to render help. About

the year 1857 the Rev. G. D. Mudie came from Ports-

mouth and settled there. Mr. Mudie had been a

Hoxton student, and was for several years pastor of the

English Congregational Church in Hamburg, but was
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afterwards minister of the Churches in C'hesterfield

and in Portsmouth, from which place he came to

South Austraha. in 1861-2 the Rev. W. Nicholls

became minister, Mr. Mudie holding service in the

Court-House for a time, afterwards taking the office

•of chaplain to the prisoners in the Stockade, which

office he held until his death on February 17, 1871, at

the age of 81 years. When Mr. Mudie was at Ham-

burg he held services in the same building with Merle

<i' Aubigne, the historian, with whom, and we believe

Niebuhr also, Mr. Mudie was on intimate terms. Mr.

Nicholls remained for several years minister, when the

Rev. J. R. Ferguson arrived from home, and began his

work here on June 11, 18G5, which he continued till the

year 1883. During part of this time Mr. Ferguson was

pastor of the Presbyterian Church at Golden Grove, a

few miles away, where also he resided. Mr. Ferguson's

ministry was of an earnest and intelligent order, and

his friends regretted that the smallness of the population

prevented his giving the whole of his attention to Sahs-

bury. During his pastorate the young men were

brought under good influences, both mental and

spiritual, b\' the establishment of classes for their

benefit.

After the retirement of Mr. Ferguson to Yorke's

Peninsula, Mr. Kirby and the Port Adelaide people

took charge of Salisbury, and still maintain Christian

ordinances in the place. The Rev. Geo. Hoatson

also ministered in the place for a brief period before Mr.

Nicholls took charge.

The Rev. J. C. Kirby, however, took much interest

in the (Jhurch and endeavoured to stimulate the mem bers

and adherents to greater efforts in the work, and in
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this he met with a ^ood deal of success. He also

secured the services of .Mi', (now l\ev.) C Herrington

to take charge of the ('hur(;h, and Uiter the Hvv. \X. P.

Jones, then of Rose i'ark Church, took the oversight

for a period, but the greater portion of the work (h^voh ed

vipoii the Lay Preachers' Association, to the members

of which the Church has ever lieen under a heavy

obhgation for seivices ungrudgingly rencU'red during

its history.

The long stretch of 19 years, from 18S2-91. had its

periods of depression, when it was a struggle to keep

the fiag flying, but there were also seasons of success

and brightness which served to obliterate the sense of

defeat and made it worth while to fight on.

In 1001 efforts were made by the I'liioii 1«> help

some of the weaker Churches to greater usefulness by

getting them to combine their forces, where con-

veniently situated, and engage a minister to take charge

of thon. These efforts led eventually to the a])point-

ment of the Rev. John Beukers of Busselton. West

Austraha, to take charge of Kilkenny, Macclesfield,

and Salisbury. (^wing to its l)eing separated from

the other ( hurches by too great a distance, Macclesfield,

was afterwards left out of the arrangement, and Mr.

Beukers continued as pastor of Kilkemiy and Salisbury,

financial assistance being granted by the Union.

The Rev. J. Beukers' jiastorate continued till the

beginning of l<\*bruarv, 1906, when he was (tailed to

be assistant pastor at Port Adelaide. Mi'. Beukers'

work was characterised by vigour and solidity, and

many who were privileged to sit under his ministry

look back with gratitude for the spiritual food supplied

by him.
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At the beginning of May, 1906, the Rev. Percy R.

Eiley, now of Gordon. New South Wales, became the

minister in charge, giving one service each month,

and one fuii Sunday every quarter. In addition to

the Sunday serWces, ^Ir. Riley paid frequent week-day

visits, and the outcome of his connection with the Church

A\as a greatly increased interest in its work on the

part of its members. His term lasted for nearly a

year, and during that time he succeeded in getting

things placed in good working order, and proved himself

to be a fine organiser.

Mr. A. W. Gordon, a student for the ministi-y at

Adelaide College, took the oversight of the work and

began his ministry in March. 1907. In January, 1909,

Mr. Gordon accepted an invitation to the Church at

Houghton, and thus terminated a helpful and successful

work.

Within a very short interval the oversight of the

€hurch passed from ]\Ir. Gordon to the Rev. ^\. Penry

Jones, the Secretary of the I'nion.

On June 24. 1909, the foundation stone of a new

vestry, the building of which was the outcome of a

suggestion made by Mr. Riley, was laid by Mr. T.

Keyworth, then 82 years of age, who had been con-

nected with the Church since its foundation.

For many years— especially dining the interval

between the retireniciit of the Rev. J. R. Ferguson in

1882,andthecomingof theHev. J. Beukers in 1901 — the

< 'hurch sernces had been supplied mainly by the Lay

Preachers' Association, and we may safely assert,

without the whole-hearted aud self-denying labours of

these earnest Christians, the doors of the Church could

not have been kej)t open.
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A feeling was gaiiiiiiji giotiiKl, liowevtM-, that a foi-

Marcl moveiiiont shotihl l»c' made that the Chmcli iiiight

have a j)ennaiieiit rosidoiit iiiiiiistci'. Tlic i(l<-a was

a bold ouv. for so small a CluiitOi. The rcsidt was tlxat

Ml'. H. ('. Xoll. of Hindmarsh, was finally appointed

the permanent minister a year ago.

The experiment has proved most succcssfnl. and

under Mr. Xoll the congregations have increa.sed.

The Snndav-.sehool is not a large one, hnt the scjiolais

are regnlar in their attmidance. and several pii/.es have

heen taken in the I'nion competitions. A Junior

Endeavour Society is kept regularly at work, and a

Ladies' Auxiliary is the most helpful organization con-

nected \vith the Chinch.

The Seeretarv of the Church is .Mr. I']. .Moss and the

Treasurer Mr. \V. J. McXicol.

Mrs. W. T'oker is the oldest meml)er.

Gawter (population, 1,900; houses, 408: places of

worship. 7: 25 miles north). -In the earlier days

several denominations oF the Church held services in a

schoolroom near the I'iver South Para, and the Con-

gregational Churcli takes its rise from this source.

Mr. Win. Oklham. afterwards of Kapunda, had much

to do by his zealous labours to originate the Congrega-

tional interest in the place. The first ordained minister

who ministered in the place was the Kev. Cieo. Pink-

stone, who arrived in South Australia in 1849, and wa.-

directed there by Mr. Stow. Circumstances led to his

speedy removal from thence, and he never held another

charge. A Church was first fonncd on Christmas

Day, 1851, when eight persons united togethei- in the

holy bonds of Christian fellowship- tvo being fronii

St. Xeots, one from Morphett Vale, and fi\e others.

They were constituted a Church \\ith appro])riate
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service, iVIr. Stow presiding, and calling upon each

one to stand up and bear testimony to his faith in

Christ, then giving suitable exhortation, and com-

mending them all to the care and guidance of the

great Head of the Church. One of the number (Mr.

Ed. Aggett, formerly home missionary in Devonshire)

was then called to the pastorate, Mr. Stow asking him

the usual questions, and oflfering prayer for God's

blessing. During 1851-2 the infant C^hurch suffered

in the usual way from the departure of the men to the

Victorian diggings, the minister—as was not uncom-

monly the case—following his flock. Mr. Wm. Barker

was one of the original members, and was appointed

the first deacon of the Church, and was for many years

after one of the most active and influential members.

The Rev. John Milbourne Lewis, of Lyndoch Valley,

Avas called to the pastorate about this time, entering

upon his work on April 10, 1853. Mr. Lewis held the

office till he entered into rest on September 29, 1855.

After him the Rev. Js. Leonard, B.A., London, under-

took the pastoral care of the Church. He came from

Perth, Western Australia, and during his ministry the

Northern Association of f ongregational ministers was

formed, holding its first meeting at Gawler October 20

and 21, 1857. Mr. Leonard's ministry was solid and

evangelical, and his character highly appreciated by

the people, and during his pastorate the enlargement

of the church took place. He resigned in December,

1860, a long interval following, during which the founda-

tion of a new building was laid by Alexander Hay, Esq.,

on ]\rarch 17, 1861. The next pastor was the Rev.

O. 0. Howden— a Cotton End student, who came

from the Church at Corfe Castle to South Australia,

and whose ministry during its too brief term was very
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acceptable to the people. His ministry began ()cto))er

22. 1S61, and ended on August 31, 1863. During its

course the handsome new church wa.s opened with

solemn service, with the aid of the Rev. Jas. Jeft'eris,

.V1..A., LL. B. An interval of many months passed,

during which the Rev. Ch. Hall rendered timely aid,

until the Rev. C. J. Evans arrived from England, and

began his ministry on Septembei- 29, 1864. Mr. Evans

was a student of New York Theological Seminary,

and had exercised his ministry at Putney, Surrey, pre-

vious to his coming to (lawler. During his ministry

the manse was built and the gaidcn walled in. Mr.

Evans resigned in March, 1871. He had travelled

much in America and in the Holy Land. After his

departure the Rev. J. ('. McMichael arrived from Bal-

larat, and accepted the charge for twelve months on

April 13, 1871, but at the end of that time continued

his services until June 30, 1876, when he resigned,

shortly after leaving the colony for a prolonged visit

to England. Mr. McMichael was a Rotheriiam student

and was pastor at Staleybridge before he left England

for the colonies. For many years he had laboured

in Victoria before his arrival in South Australia. The
Rev. M. M. Whitton, the next pastor, entered upon

his work on August 2, 1876. He was a student of

Victoria College, and came from Landsborough, Vic-

toria, to (Jawler, where he remained till September,

1879. leaving the Church to enter upon journalism,

first in Gawler and subsequently in Adelaide. In

August, 1880, the Rev. J. H. Lewis, a Bristol student,

and lately of Oamaru, Xew Zealand, arrived in South

Australia. He was in delicate health, and it was

feared, from the first that his time for work on earth

was destined to be short. His brief ministry was of a
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aiatuie to draw all hearts towards him, and, Avhat was

ibetter. to his .blaster also. His singular gentleness

•of spirit and devout tone were very impressive, while

his bodily weakness evoked tender sympathy from

all who knew him. He felt his work was done, and

resigned on December 28, 1881, and on the 2nd January

following he went home to God, mourned for Ijy all.

The Rev. Wr. Jones, a student of Western C'oUege,

and serving in the ministry of the Lord at Devizes,

Wilts, was next called to the pastorate. Arriving in

August, 1882, he at once entered upon the work with

that intelUgence and energy that characterised him,

and under him the Church prospered in all depart-

ments. A vestry was added to the church at a

cost of £125, the debt on the building of £300 cleared

off. a beautiful organ set up costing £200, and various

•other impro\ ements made both in church and man.se.

We cannot close this account of Gawler \\ithout

reference to the Duffield family, who have been from

the first staunch supporters of the ( hurch and all its

institutions. Mr. Duffield was a large mill-owner in

the town, M'ith extensive interests in various parts

of the colony. He was one of the earliest members,

and a deacon in the Church. Since his death on

November 5, 1882, the widow and daughters have

continued their close association with, and interest in,

all that concerns the welfare of the place, whether

material or spiritual. Since then another of the old

pillars has been removed in Mr. Js. Davies. the senior

•deacon— a man of God after the oldei' stvle.

Tlic ))0]>ulation in 1912 is 5.00O, and the places

of pMl)lic worship 12.
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The Ke\ . W. Jones continued toexerci.se his ministry

until 19(H, when he resigned in answer to an invitation

to Milton. Queensland. Mr. Jones' influence on this

Church will never be effaced. For nearly twenty

years the deeply spiritual note of his ])reaching was

sounded. The tribute paid by Mrs. Kingsley to her

husband may justly be paid to him :
" Stern towards

nil forms of wrong and oppression, yet most stern to-

wards himself."

The news of his sudden death in Queensland in 1007

was the occasion of great sorrow to the people who
had known him for so long and loved him so well.

In 1903 the Rev. A. H. Austin, B.A.. came to Gawier

from Camden College, Sydney. Mr. Austin was a

South Austiaiian boy, the grandson of the Rev. J. B.

Austin, of IVtaccIesfield, and was known in this State

for his work on the Murray Plains and at Kadina.

His was a thoughtful ministry and he continued ta

build up the congregation in the Faith. Mr. Austin

was ably assisted by his wife, who is also a graduate of

the University of Sydney.

The outstanding feature of iVIr. Austin's work was the

inauguration of the work at Sandy CVeek. In 1905^

Mr. Austin went to Sydney to take up work at Mosman,

where he is still working with great success.

In Noveml)er, 1906, the Rev. F. Warner, who for

some years had been assistant minister to Dr. Bevan,

succeeded Mr. Austin. Mr. Warner was an able

organiser, and appealed to the young people particularly,

there being about his sermons a literary and poetic

grace. He did a good deal to strengthen the work of

the literary societies of the town, and not a little to

foster the sjjirit of worship in the Church.
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In August, 1908, a window " In Menioriam " of the

Rev. Walter Jones was unveiled by the Rev. Joseph

Robertson, M.A.. in the presence of Mrs. Jones.

In the following May a railing was put round the

grave of the late John Milbourne Lewis (see above) at

Gawler River, and a tombstone erected thereon. Mr.

Lewis had exercised a brief ministry of 2i years in the

early days of the history of the church. Although

brief induration, a great deal of work was crowded intO'

that little time. There are living still a number of

people who bless God for the day they came under the

influence of that godly man. His ministry was cut

short by his untimely death, and he was buried, at his

own request, at Gawler River. At the ceremony of

unveiling the memorial there were present—Mr. E.

Lewis, a grandson, Mrs. Stapledon. a daughter, and

Miss Ethel Lewis, a granddaughter of this much loved

minister : there were also present Mr. S. L. Dawkins,.

an old friend and member of his flock, the Rev. F.

Warnei-. and others lepresenting the GaM'ler Church

and Dr. S. L. Dawkins, the Ghairman of the >iorthern

Association, who was the originator of the movement to-

perpetuate the memory of Mr. Lewis. The stone

bears the ijiscription :

" Erected by friends in memory

of the Hev. J. ^l. Lewis, Minister, of Gawler Congrega-

tional ("hurch. 1853-] 855. He being dead yet

speaketh."

In August, 1902. Miss Mary Aim H. Duffiekl died.

She with her sister. \\ho still ]i\«'s at ()!aA\ler and wor-

ships in the Church, was a foundation member and

daughter of the late Walter Duffield.

Mrs. Duffield died on May, 15, 1890. Miss Mary

Ann loved the Ghurch, and gave her best in money

and scrvi(!e thai the house of (Jod might l)e propeily
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sustained. B\' will she bequeathed £2,000 to be

invested for the support of her father's church.

A window has been placed in the ('hurch in memory
of her on which is depicted the figure of Dorcas dis-

tributiiig her gifts to the poor. This window was

unveiled in 1903 by the Rev. W. H . Leivis. th(^ ( 'hairman

of the Union.

In 1898 two new classrooms \ver(^ added to the school

at the cost of £120. a large part of which was (•ontribnted

by Miss .Mary Ann Duffield.

The Rev. J. C. McMichael (see above) died in

February, 1898.

In September. 1 900, a ])resentation was made to

Mr. B. E. Deland on attaining his 70th biithday. Mr.

Deland was a foundation member and deact )n . .\lthough

he removed from Gawler with his family a little after

this, he continued as a member and honorary deacon

until his death.

In 1901 the spire of the (Iniich was completed in

•commemoration of the -lubilee at the cost of £1*^0.

The Messenger, the Church magazine, was first

published in January. 1907. and the Ouil<l Room was

furnished in the same year.

In 1908 the Church was further beaiitified l)y the

•gift of seven illuminated cathedial windows from Mr.

W. (Mlbert Payne as a thank offering.

In this year Miss Ellen Turner, who had been con-

nected M'ith the Church and Sunday-school for many
years, died. .\t the time of her death she was Secretary

of the school, and was greatly loved by teachers and

scholars. A few days afterwards Miss Amelia Wise

was accidentally killed while engaged in collecting funds

for the Sunday-school picnic.
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Recently the Church has suffered loss by the removal

of Mr. A. Sheard and his family.' Mr. Sheard was

Treasurer of the Church for many years, and had

helped the work in many ways.

Gawler has always been a generous supporter of the

London Missionary Society, and since 19U5 has solely

maintained a native missionary in China. The deacons

are hoping in a little while to begin an effective work in

raising funds for our Home Missions. Miss Turner

is noted for her zeal in the missionary cause, and has

done a great deal to stimulate efforts in that direction.

At the beginning of 1912 Mr. Warner left to re-

sume his former work in connection with Collins-

street. Melbourne.

The Rev. Percival Watson, of Hindmarsh, began

his ministry in August. Pastor and people are very

hopeful in regard to the future prosperity of the Church.

The Diamond Jubilee of the Church was reached on

Christmas Day, 1911. A proposal was then made to

raise £500 to build a kindergarten room. £250 has

been collected, and it is expected the work will be pro-

ceeded with shortly.

Mr. W. Gilbert Payne is the Acting Treasurer of the

Church, and Mr. H. B. Crosby is the Secretary and

Superintendent of the school. There is no debt on

the property, and the minister is comforta)))}- housed

in a modern manse with every convenience. One

who is greatly devoted to the Church observes :
" There

is no limit to what Gawler could do if the people only

realised their power."

Sandy Creek (six miles from Gawler).- There being

a considerable settlement of people in this district and

no Church within four or five miles, Mr. Austin was

moved to make some provision for the spiritual needs
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*of the residents, and ser\ ices were first held in the

residence of Mrs. J. Moore. On September 21, 1004,

the foundation-stone of a new Church was laid by .Airs.

A. H. Austin. ^^.A., and on Xo\ ember 23 the first

service was conducted by the Rev. W . H. Lewis, the

Chairman of the Tnion. 'I'liere was a large assemblage

of ministers and friends from Adelaide. Since then

regular services have been held on Sunday afternoon

by the minister from dawler, and a monthly evening

service. In speaking of the A\ork a deacon of Tiawler

generously says Sandy Creek is one of the brightest

pages in our history. Xo one can estimate the amount

of good the building of our Churcli among those scat-

tered dwellings has done.

In July, 1907, the foundation-stone of a vestr}' was

laid by Mrs. Warner in the presence of a large gathering.

Lyndoch Valley (population, 448 : houses, 74

;

36 miles north of Adelaide).—In the early years the

students of Mr. Stow opened a station here, and the

Rev. John Ayling, one of the number, became pastor,

in which office we find him in the records of 1856. In

1859 a preaching station was opened at Rowland's Flat,

and which was worked in connection with the mother

Church at Lyndoch Valley as long as Mr. Ayling re-

mained. Some time in 1861 the pastor resigned and

went to New South Wales, where, we believe, he still

labours in word and work in connection with the

Presbyterians. The place has dropped out of view

since that time.

Mr. C. Hope Harris, who has made the story of the

little country churches, we did not succeed in main-

taining, his special concern, and has visited most of

them during the last forty 3^ears, gives the following

fuller information about this church :

—
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In 1850 a preaching station was opened here, sup-

plied by the students and lav preachers at great cost

•of time and strength. A chapel was built by the

residents in 1851 on land given by Mr. Burfield, the

iamily of Springbett giving considerable help in carting

stone and other material for the structure. The Rev.

J. M. Lewis, afterwards of Gawler, was its first preacher.

He was succeeded by the Rev. John Ajding, one of

Mr. Stow's students.

Among the earh^ members of the congregation were

the folloAving families :—Springbett, Winton, Rayner,

Rushall, Barge, Lawes, Potter, Johns, Button, and

Thomas.

The building was used through the week for a day

school by Mr. Ayling, who was assisted for some years

by Miss Nellie Turner (afterwards Mrs. Debney).

In 1859 branch preaching stations were opened at

Rowland's Flat and Sandy Creek (Sandy Creek in loco),

and a few years later Mr. Ayling moved to Sandy

Oreek as schoolmaster. He went from there to Victoria,

where he joined the Presbyterian Church.

About 1860 Anglican and Baptist Churches were

erected here, and a Bible Christian Chapel in 1865, at

which time regular services were discontinued in our

church, and most of our members went to the other

services.

The building continued to be used as a day school

with Mr. Wilkinson as teacher ; it was mortgaged

between 1870 and 1875 by a trustee (Mr. Hipwell) to

help to raise funds to hm\d an adjoining residence for

Mr. Wilkinson.

Upon the erection of the State school the old building

went out of use, and was sold for a small sum by the

mortgagee to Mr. Geue, who turned it into a residence.
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The property has .since changed hands several tiines^

and is at present occupied by two families.

Another piece of land given by Mr. Burfield in early

times for a cemetery is now vested in the District

Council.

Kapunda and Bigot's Well (poi)ulation, -2,290
;

houses, 541
;
places of worship, six ; 49 miles north of

Adelaide).— This place owes its development to the

discoverv of the copper mine, which for many year.*

gave full employment to a large number of persons.

Religious services were conducted by Mr. Oldham, who

was officially connected with the mine under Cai)tain

Bagot, in the schoolroom, and steps were being taken

for the erection of a house for worship, when the exodus

to the goldfields took place and stopped everything for a

time. In the year 1858 a Church of 12 members was

formed, and Mr. Oldham called to the pastorate, who

accepting, was duly designated to the work in November

of that year. On the 3rd February, 1859, two deacons

^Messrs. Wm. Lewis and Anderson—were appointed,

and in May of the same year the Rev. Oeo. Hoatson

ministered for a short time to the people. :\Ir. licwis,

the senior deacon, writes the following :—In Janua^5^

1861, the Rev. Morgan WiHiams, B.A., of Fording-

bridge, Hants, accepted the pastorate, and continued

his pastorate up to April, 1874, when, to the regret of

the whole Church, he resigned and left for New South

Wales. His ministry was eminently successful. The

church was enlarged by iidding a transept and vestry,

and the ( hurch financially became self-supporting.

A commodious place of worshi]) was built at Bagot's

Well and a Church formed, and flourished for some

years, but owing to many removals from the neigh-

bourhood (the farmsteads being absorbed in larger
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holdings), the Church disbanded and the building closed,

until latterl}' the German Lutherans occupy it at a

nominal rental. At Alma also a cause was started, a

Church formed, and a suitable building erected. On
the 21st June, 1874, the Rev. Wm. Hopkins, of Mary-

borough, Victoria, became the pastor, and continued

up to January, 1876, when he resigned and became

pastor of the Church at Port Pirie. Through the

recommendation of the Rev. F. W. Cox, Mr. B. N
Fernie, a student of Spring Hill College, who had

come to settle in South Australia, visited Kapunda.

He received a unanimous call, and accepted the

pastorate. On the 7th of Ma\% 1876, he was ordained

as the pastor, the Revs. F. W. Cox, W. R. Fletcher,

J. Jefferis, and others taking part in the services.

Within three months after he was prostrated by illness,

and during a long period the Rev. W. 0. Ashton (Baptist

minister) kindty conducted alternate services in the

Baptist and Congregational Churches for the united

congregations. Mr. Fernie on his partial recovery

continued to discharge the functions of his office to the

utmost of his power, weak in bodj^ but strong in mind,

earnest, eloquent, learned, loving, and loveable, until

1883, when he was again prostrated. He left for England,

with his wife and two children, hoj)ing the voyage

might benefit his health, his brother, the Rev. W. S.

Fernie (now of New Zealand) undertaking the oversight

of the (Jhurch during his absence. Soon after his

return Mr. Geo. Herrington was appointed to assist

him in the ministerial work ; but on the 6th of April,

1885, his sufferings and ])odily ailments for ever ceased,

for on that day God, whom he loved with all his soul

and served with all fidelity, called him to his eternal

rest. Between April and October, 1885, the pulpit
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was .supplied from various sources, when Mr. J. \V.

Piatt, B.A., who had accepted in July the invitation

pi the Church to become its pastor, entered upon his

ministry, and was ordained and recognised as the

•pastor of the Church on the 5th of November following.

the following ministers taking part in the services :

—

Revs. F. W. Cox, W. R. Fletcher, W. S. Fernie, S.

Hebditch, W. Jones, A. Jones, and W. H. Xewboukl.

At the anniversary of the Church held in October, 1886,

it was shown the Church had under Mr. Piatt's pastorate

.greatly prospered during the year numerically,

: spiritually', and financially, the Church members at

that date being 108, with four deacons—Messrs. E.

Austin, R. Cameron, W. Lewis, and John Small.

The Rev. J. W. Piatt, B.A., resigned the pastorate

.in October, 1888. The Rev. A. G. Fry, minister of

«Johnston Memorial Church, W.A., and formerly of

; Balmain, Sydney, was unanimously invited to the

•..charge of the Church in December, 1888, and began his

'! ministry on February 3, 1889, and has continued in

.office ever since— a period of four and twentj^ years.

hDespite deaths and removals the Church has continued

.: to prosper, and at the present time is one of the strongest

and most active of our country churches. The mem-
liership stands at about eighty. There are four

.i,deacons and four deaconesses. The Sunday-school has

; about one hundred scholars and ten teachers. A
,y quarterly service is held at '' Illawarra," Bagot's Well,

,! where good congregations assemble. The Church has

.ibeen favoured for many years with the services of an

^efficient choir under the conductor.ship of Mr. Ceo,

1; Anderson. Hne of the most successful institutions

.!.in connection with the Church is the Mutual Improve-

ment Society which meets fortnightly, and has a roll of
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Ijetween fifty and sixty members. A block of land,

adjoining the Church, has been bought and paid for,

a.nd here it is intended to erect a school hall to cost

about £600. Plans and specifications have been

prepared, and promises and mone>' are in hand to the

a,mount of about £360. Some years ago £110 was

spent in renovating the church and in placing anew fence

round the whole property. There is no debt on the

present property.

No man in our ministry has exercised such an in-

fluence on the town in which he lives as Mr. Fry. In

looking at the list of offices he holds outside of his

•Church, we feel Kapunda owes a great debt of gratitude

to Cod for sending so good and true a man to be the

minister. Mr. Fry has been on t he Council of the School

of Klines for 20 years, and for a number of years a

member of theDistrict Committee of the State Children's

Department. He is also on the School Board of Advice.

He has been on the Institute Committee for 23 years,

is one of the seal holders of the institution, and has been

on the Book Committee for many years. He has

been the Secretary of the University Extension work for

six years. This position entails an enormous amount

of work, as the Secretary has to receive the fees and

make all entries besides having to arrange and super-

intend the examinations. Mr Fry has been the

President of the Kapunda Mutual Improvement Society

for nearly 24 years. This Society is most successfid,

and exercises an uplifting influence in the town.

Besides these things, Mr. Fry is the President of tlie

local branch of the British and Foreign Bible Societj',

and is connected with various other institutions in the

town. -Mr. Fry is ably assisted by Mrs. Fry, who has

thrown her strength into the Sunday-school work, and
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has for many years coiiducted a WOtnairs Hiblf < lass

in her house every Sunday afternoon.

Hurra (Kooringa) (population, 2,400; houses, 501);

places of worship, five : 100 miles north).— In 1845

the accidental discovery of copper led to a conij)lete

change in the as])ect of the country round by the influx

of a large population. The only call made on the

fortunate shareholders in the Burra Mine vt^as the original

£5 a share, each of which returned for many years £4()

a year in dividends. Steps were taken to supply

the spiritual needs of the people, and lirst l)y the

Methodist bodies, as most of the miners belonged to

them. In 1849 the Rev. H. Cheetham arrived on

December 25. and soon after went up to the place,

beginning Congregational worshij) in the house of Mr.

Burgess on .March 31. 1850. where also a Church of 13

members was formed. The Mining Company making

a grant of land, the building of a house of prayer was

entered upon at once, and was opened by services

conducted bj' the Revs. T. Q. Stow and Lowe (Wesleyan)

on September 29. Mr. Cheetham had previously

accepted a call to the pastorate on August 29. The

very promising opening for our work at the Burra

was brought to an abrupt close by the gold discoveries,

and Mr. Cheetham returned to Adelaide about the end

of 1851, and settled at Kensington, where he laboured

faithfully for about 20 j-ears.

Fitful attempts to maintain or revive the interest at

the Burra have been made by the Congregational Union

repeatedl}^ the building being used as a schoolroom for

many years, but it was at last disposed of, and our work

there numbered among our failures.

The following paragraph concerning this place ap-

pears in a printed report of the Congregational Union
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of 1880 :

—
" As it was foiuKl that the chapel at Kooringa

was not likely to be used again for the purpose for

which it was built, and no title could be obtained

unless so used, it was rehnquished to the S.A. Mining

Association on their paying the sum of £100. which

iimount was deposited in the Savings Bank.

Anoasto.v (population, 800 : houses, 200 : 51 miles

north-east). - By the kindness of the Rev. Jas. Leonard,

B.A.. the following record is given - In the year 1844,

through the liberality of the late Mr. G. F. Angas. a

plain V>uilding was ei'ected in the townshi}) of Angaston,

capable of seating about 100 persons. The services

were conducted chiefly by the Revs. W. Oldham, Jas.

Sawle, and George Stonehouse.

On the 18th of June, 1849. a meeting of the friends

was held to consider the advisability of uniting in

Christian fellowshij). and the Rev. T. Q. Stow was in-

vited to form the new Church. This he did on August

19, 1849, and administered the l^ord's supper to the

infant Church. Immediately after this Rev. J. Sawle

was called to the pastoiate. which he accepted, and

remained the pastor of the Church until his death on

November 6, 1854. when the 'lunch lost a man of

earnest piety and remarkable natural gifts.

• Just before this sad event the members of the ( hurch

and congregation had rcsohcd to erect a, la)gc and

handsome building, wliicli was eventually completed,

and opened in 1855. In June. 1855. the Rev. J.

Hannay, a Baptist minister, who had recently arrived

from England, leceived a call to become the pastor of

the Church, to which he acceded.

In .May. 1801. owing to some serious differences

occurring between the ])astor and the ]nde])en(kMits who
were memV>ers of the Church, a painful controversy
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took place, which ivsulterl in most of the IndepciKleiiti?'.

leaving the Church and })nilding a place of worship

for themselves, which was opened in September of

the same year. (^n the 2nd of October those seceding

from the original Church formed themselves into an

Independent or Congregational Church, the other

becoming exclusively Baptist. For a time the Rev,

R. L. Coward and others, ministerial and lay. officiated,

or imtil the new Church felt itself in a position to

support a resident pastor, when a request vas sent to

England for one, and in response the Rev. John Gibson

came out, and was duly elected in April, 1863. Mr,,

Gibson continued his ministrations here, and also at

North Rhine, where likewise a Church was formed

under his supervision, and elsewhere during a period of

11 7I years. A movement was subsequently started

in favour of a reunion of the two Churches, viz., the

original and seceding ones. This praiseworthy object,

which was initiated by the latter, was, however, v ithout

any satisfactory issue. Mr. Gibson's pastorate was a

happy and successful one. and very general regret was

felt when he resigned it in order to return to England,

This was testified to by the sympathy and liberality

of his numerous friends and the public on the eve of

his departure.

After an interval of a few months the Rev. K. N»

Morris, B.A., of Sydney, was invited to undertake the

pastorate. This he consented to do for three years,

which period, less three months, terminated in January,

1877.

The Rev. .Mr. Hartley, lately arrived from England,

next occupied the pulpit for a brief period.

In April, 1877, the Rev. T. E. O. Mell, of Tasmania,

arrived, and was elected to the pastorate in the following
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month. Mr. Mell's ministry lasted two years, during

which, and largely owing to his ministerial and other

exertions, our new and beautiful church was erected

at a cost of about £2,200, towards which Mr. J. H!'

Angas in particular and others most liberally con-

tributed, the old building being thereafter used as a'

schoolroom. In 1882 the new building was beautified

by the insertion of a large handsomely coloured window,

also the gift of Mr. Angas. Indeed, to this gentleman

the Church has been largely indebted in a variety of

ways throughout its existence for his unstinted

liberahty. (^a Mr. Mell's departure, the Rev. E. H.

Scott, from Melbourne, became the pastor. This was

in June, 1879. Mr. Scott's pastorate lasted one year,

terminating in June, 1880.

Various efforts were made for more than a year to

secure a suitable pastor, resulting in an invitation for-i

warded to the Rev. .Alfred Jones, of Glastonbury.;

Mr. Jones arrived in July, 1881 , and was at once received

and welcomed as the minister-elect of the Church.

The relationship then entered into between pastor and

people continued without interruption, mutually cordial,

harmonious, and satisfactory. In the course of that)

relationshi]) the debt upon the new building was wholly*

:

liquidated, new and connnodious sheds for horses were*

built, and other imi)rovements effected, so that the;

entire property, including manse and grounds, being!

wholly without encumbrance of any kind, now con-

stitutes one of the most complete and pleasing (!hurch

properties in the colony. In addition to the central

Church, Mr. Jones had two branch congregations, viz.,

Angas Park and Rock\- Valley, at which he periodically,

officiated

.

\
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One hundred and ninety-eight persons altogether

have received enrolment as members in the Church

records, 38 of whom were added during Mr. Jones'

ministry. The Church at that time comprised upwards

of 60 members. The Sunday-school contained about

80 children, taiight by nine teachers.

In 1912 the population at Angaston is about 1 .200,

and the number of houses 250.

The Rev. Alfred Jones resigned as pastor in October,

1888. after a pastorate of seven years. His was a

zealous and vigorous ministry. He removed to

Victoria to become the minister of Camberwell Church,

where he still labours. Upon the suggestion of Mr.

.Tones an invitation was immediately sent to his old

friend and fellow -student, the Rev. John E. Kelly,

of Dunedin. Xew Zealand, to become the minister of

this Church. Mr. Kelly entered upon his labours in

December, 1 888. His ministry will be long remembered

for its faithfulness and tenderness, but during the

whole time of his too short pastorate the shadow of

death was upon him : still he cheerfully fvdfilled his

duties to the last and manifested to all an example

of a saintly life. He died on October (i, 1890. leaving

the memory of a life consecrated to the Saviour he

loved and served. The Church still cherishes his

memory, and the influence of his work is still felt.

The Rev. W. M. (irant, of Port Chalmers, N.Z.,

who had been a friend and neighbour of Mr. Kelly,

entered upon his duties as minister on May 20, 1891.

He laboured patiently in word and doctrine for 16

years. .Mr. Grant was respected not only in his own

Church but all through the wide district in which he
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lived. He resigned his pastorate in January, 1907,

and returned to his old Church at Port Chalmers,

where he still labours.

On September 1, 1907, the Rev. F. V. Pratt, of

Katoomba, New South Wales, began his ministrj-.

Mr. Pratt was a scholarly and earnest preacher, and

during the three years of his ministry the Church

increased and prospered. To the regret of the people,

Mr. Pratt closed his ministry in August, 1910, having

accepted a call to the Wycliffe Church, Surrey Hills,

Victoria. The Rev. J. G. Wright, who is still the

minister, came from Truro to take charge of the Church

here in October of the same year.

In looking over the records of this Church we notice

Mr. William Birks, afterwards of Clayton, was the

first Secretary, and also the late Mr. William Clark, a

great supporter of the Church for many years, was

Secretary at one time. The Rev. James Leonard.

B.A.. also was a valued helper by his wise counsels

and his faithfulness to duty, and was Secretary for

more than ten years. This service was interrupted

by his death in August, 1891. Mr. Alfred T. Friend

is the present Secretary.

The deaths of Mr. J. H. Angas and Mrs. Angas were

severe blows to this Church, for from the very beginning

they had been faithful workers and supporters. Among

the manj' generous provisions made in Mr. .\nga«;' will

for the support of religious and charitable institutions

was a bequest of £2.000 as an endowment for this

(^'hurch.

The name of Salter has been associated with

Angaston from its beginning, and we are glad to kno^v

that Mr. and Mrs. Edward Salter are still connec tc
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with the ("hurcli, ami extend that hospitality to our

people at Mamre Brook, which has always been

characteristic of their home.

Mr. Samuel Smith, another foundation member, died

on June 15, 1889. at the age of 77. He served as

deacon and Superintendent of the Sunday-school.

Mr. Sidney Smith, his son. died in November, 1908.

The Smith family are still represented in the Church

by Messrs. Walter and Osborne Smith.

Mr. Fred. Thorne is Treasurer. Support is given

to both home and foreign missions, and a large amount

of help to the sick and the afflicted is distributed by

this Church. Angaston, thiough its association with

Mr. Angas, has always taken a special interest in the

work of the Children's Hospital, and the annual collec-

tion in the Sundav-school is one of the largest taken up

in our Churches. The Superintendent of the Sunday-

school is Mr. Fulton Salter.

The extension of the railway to Angaston has made

a great difference in the activity of the town, and there

is every reason to ])elieve that under the able ministry

of Mr. Wright the future of the Church is a bright one.

Rocky Valley.- This mission has passed through

many vicissitudes since it was first commenced (vide

supya). Services have been abandoned more than

once since they were first held at the residence of

Mr. .las. Fowler, but Mr. Grant took a great interest

in the work, and largely under his influence a Church

was erected and opened for public worship in 1894.

This is a most vigorous little Church, and the wor-

shippers are most grateful that a house of prayer has

been erected in their midst. The members at Rocky

Vallev are members at Angaston.
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Penrice.— Ill April, 1911, the trustees of the Angaston

Church purchased from the Methodists the historic

Church at Penrice, which was opened for Congregational

services on Apri] 28 by the minister of Angaston, Mr.

Wright. A Sunday-school also has been formed by

Mrs. R. Placer, who is assisted by other teachers.

The Angaston friends are greatly encouraged by the

response made to their efforts for them.

North Rhine, Keyneto,\.— About eight miles east-

ward of Angaston, and close to the property owned by

the Angas family, is the estate of E\ andale, where the

family of the late Mr. Henry Evans have continued the

good work begun by him years ago. The influence for

good of the Angas family in the neighljourhood on the

side of social progress and religious truth can scarcely

be over-estimated. From the first settlement of Mr.

Evans in the neighbourhood the religious activities

began, and his dwelling-house was opened as a true

" Bethel "— God's house- where Mr. SaMle, the minister

at Angaston, Dr. Birks, and others laboured in word and

doctrine. In 1857 another venerated pioneer in the

neighbourhood, Mr. Joseph Keynes, living about two
miles away, helped on the work by opening a small

house on his estate for public worship, where the Re\.

K. L. Coward preached on August 2'.i, and continued

to hold services there and at North Rhine and Evandale.

In 1859 a schoolroom was built on ground given by Mr,

Keynes, to be used for divine worship also. This

was opened on April 12, and in it was begun the first

Sunday-school in the neighbourhood on November 29,^

1864. A growing congregation demanded a larger

and better building, which was set about with spirit

in 1885, the first stone l)eing laid on May 9th by Mr.

J. Howard Angas, with fitting service and an addre.sa
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by Mr. Angas, the Revs. J. (Jibson, A. U. Philps, F.

li. Coward taking part also. A sumptuovis tea fol-

lowed, and the collections of the day amounted to

£210. The building was opened on November 5 of

the same year, the Rev. J. Gibson conducting the

services. The Church at the North Rhine was formed

in 1868. when Mr. Gibson and Mr. Coward jointly

consented to conduct the services. This arrangement

was carried out in the most harmonious manner until

Mr. Gibson resigned the pastorate of the Angaston

Church and left the colony in December, 1874. Mr.

Coward also at the same time resigned his position at

the Rhine, after labouring there 13 years and a-half,

to take charge of the Collingrove congregation. In

the year 1874 there was built a commodious vestry

At the back of the church. The Rev. R. N. Morris,

B.A., late Principal of (Vamden College School, Sydney,

came to the Angaston Congregational (*hurch. and at

the unanimous wish of the Rhine Church became its

pastor, and supjjlied the pulpit every alternate Sunday.

The Rev. A. R. Philps, of Truro, also rendered very

acceptable service to the Church. The Rev. T. E. O.

Mell became pastor in 1877. and. assisted by the Rev.

J. Leonard. B.A., supplied the pulpil for two years.

The Rev. P^. H. Scott occupied the })astorate for some

time, and was followed by the Rev. John Nelson, who

commenced his ministrations on 8th April, 1883.

Through the kindness and liberality of Mrs. S. L. Evans

and several other friends the Church supported a

minister as sole pastor of Rhine and Pine Hut Creek

for some years. During Mr. Nelson's pastorate Mrs.

P'vans built a very commodious manse of six rooms and

f.resented it to the ('hurch for the minister's residence.
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During the last 25 years the hand of death has been

busy in this Httle Church. Charles Dansie, William

Heath, and now quite recently his son, John Heath,

Joseph and Mrs. Keynes, Sarah Lindsay Evans, her

son, Henry x\ngas Evans, and A. Lindsay Evans, son

of H. A. Flvans, who was cut off suddenly in the very

prime of life, are now numbered among those who,

being faithful to the witness here, were called to the

higher and happier service above.

Mr. Nelson remained the minister until 1889, when

he returned to India to take up a former work. It is

interesting to notice that Mr. Nelson a little while ago

returned to Adelaide after many years of work in India,

hoping to spend the closing years of his life in some

quiet service.

The Rev. Fred. C. B. Fairey followed Mr. iVelson in

1890, and continued in the pastorate for twelve years.

In 1892 an arrangement was made by Mr. Angas

and the minister and people of the Church that an

afternoon service should be given in the Collingrove

Chapel. This arrangement continued until 1911, when

the Collingrove (I^hurch passed from the Congrega-

tionalists to the Anglicans {vide, Collingrove).

After twelve years of service Mr. Fairey resigned his

two charges to take up his residence in Tasmania, and

in 1902 the Rev. Leonard Robjohns, B.A., of Rose

Park, was invited to the joint ministry of Keyneton

and Collingrove.

During his ministry the Church was considerably

altered and improved. The interior was completely

renovated, and a handsome barge-board erected over

the front of the building. And a porch was added to

the main building by the members of the Evans family
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in memory of Mr. Lindsay Evans, a deacon and en-

thusiastic worker of the school, who had been called

away with terrible suddenness on November 6th. 1903.

The window of the porch is a representation of the

Ascension of our Lord.

Also the manse mentioned above as the gift of the

late Mrs. S. Lindsay Evans was improved by the addi-

tion of a large and well-hghted study adjoining the

house.

The late Mr. J. H. Angas further Vjeautitied the

Church by having placed in it two stained-glass windows

in memory of his sister, Sarah L. Evans and her husband,

Henry Evans, who had shoAvn great kindness to him

;and Mrs. Angas in the early days of their life out here.

Also a window has been placed in the ('hureh " In

Memoriam " to Mr. John Heath, who was for many

years a deacon and Superintendent of the school.

The subject is our Saviour blessing the children. It

was chosen on account of Mr. Heath's work among the

children on the North Rhine. The window bears the

inscription :
" To the glory of God and in loving memory

of John Heath, who died 26th July, 1909." Erected

bv his fellow-worshippers.

This custom becoming more general in our Churches

of putting in illuminated windows in memory of those

who have rendered distinguished service in the Church,

we commend as one which perpetuates the memory

of our dear dead, and at the same time adds to the

beauty of the House of God.

The Church also possesses a beautiful Communion

Table, placed there by Mr. and Mrs. Richard Keynes

and Mrs. (t. Bagot in memory of Mrs. Joseph Keynes,

who died in July, 1903, bearing the inscription : "In

Memoriam Anne Taunton Ke^mes."
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Mr. Robjohns left to take up woik in New South

Wales, and was succeeded by the Rev. Frank Wheen,
B.A., of Victoria, in 1908.

While this Church is only a sinallone in consequence

of the district being a thinly popul;tted one our friends

there are generous supporters, not only ot their own
Church, but of many others whose need of assistance

appeals to them. And a real interest is taken in Home
and Foreign Mission Work.

Mr. Wheen has instituted a Christian Endeavour
Society which is well attended.

In 1906, it having been thought gold was discovered

in payable quantities at what is nou called Golden
Gate, situated about 2i miles south of Collingrove

on that estate, Mr. and Mrs. Robjohns visited the place,

accompanied by Mr. Percy Evans. So many people

had come into camp, and there was such a large number
of families living in the immediate vicinity without

any means of a ministry in higher things, it was deter-

mined that something should be done. The first

service was held under a gum tree. Mrs. Robjohns
played on a little organ provided by Mr. Evans and
Mr. Robjohns simply read the Scriptures and prayed

.

This commencement was not encouraging, for beyond

one or two people looking shyly around the sides of

tents, Mr. Evans was the sole congregation. But our

friends felt there was a call here to service, and when
they visited the place a second time the blacksmith's

shop was quite full.

A rough iron and brick })uilding was thrown up
largely through the help of Mrs. Angas, and at the tea

meeting with which we celebrated the opening, there

was one of the largest gatherings we have seen in the

district.
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Wlicii Mr. Robjohns left Keyneton in 1908 the work

of this Mis.sion was taken u]) by the Rev. F. V. I'ratt

and the friends at Angaston.

The work was continued by I\'li . Wright until a few

months ago. Owing to the mines closing down, and

the people moving from the camp, the {)lace of service

was altered to Mount McKenzie, a short distance from

Golden Gate, in the State schoolroom. It is hoped

that in a little while the building which was hastily

erected at the mine will be moved to this place, which

is nearer to the dwellers on the blocks.

Pine HfiT Creek.—This Church is an offshoot from

the North Rhine Church, and is about 12 miles from it,

on the Murray Flats. Services were begun here in

1880 by the labours of the Rev. E. H. Scott for the

benefit of the settlers around. They\vereso successful

that a suitable building was soon greatly needed, and

the foundation-stone was laid by Mrs. J. Keynes on

August 24th, 1882, and the place was opened by public

services conducted by the Rev. O. Copland, of North

Adelaide, on Good Friday, 1883. The building is 43

feet by 23, and the total cost, with later additions,

has mounted up to £344, without including the hearty

labours of the farmers in the neighbourhood in carting

sand, lime, and stone to the spot ; and every penny of

debt is now paid. There is every convenience for a

country church—tank for storing water, sheds for

convej'^ances, and stable. The Church was formed on

July 27, 1884, Mr. J. Jackman, sen., being deacon, and

13 members united in fellowship, to whom 12 more

were added by the devoted labours of Mr. Nelson.

The Church is formed on total abstinence principles.

Mr. Nelson held service at Sedan, another place on

the Flats.
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Murray Plains.- For a number of years services

on the ^lurray Plains have been conducted at

Towitta, Rhine Villa, as well as at Pine Hut,

so the further story of the Church at Pine Hut
Creek is told under this heading. During ^Ir.

Grant's ministry at Angaston the Methodists con-

ducted services and built a Church at Towitta. They
were, however, unable to sustain the services from

Angaston, a distance of some 20 miles. The Church

was purchased by the Congregationalists through the

Chapel Building Society in 1897. The Rev. D.

McNaughtan formed a fellowship there in 1898. In

1895 Mr. A. H. Austin undertook the charge of our

work on the plains following the Rev. Michael Harris,

who had gone to Port Elliot. The two Churches then

were Pine Hut and Rhine Villa.

The Rev. D. Milne, jun., took charge of the work

in April, 1907, having previously laboured at Milang

for four years. I'nder him the Churches of the plains,

with one exception, have prospered, and the work has

been greatly enlarged.

Mr. Milne has proved himself upon the Plains a

worthy son of his father, the Rev. D. Milne, that fine

pioneer preacher of the South-East, who died a little

more than a year ago. He achieved the crowning act

of his work a little time before he left for Victoria.

Recognising the scattered nature of the parish and

the necessary isolation of the separate Churches, he

organised a Central Committee of ' Management in the

affairs that are common to all the C'hurches. The

committee is composed of the following .—Mr. W.
Shannon, of Towitta ; Mr. W. T. Vigar, of Pine Hut

;

Mr. G. A. Payne, sou., of Rhine Villa ; Mr.W. L.White,

of Sedan ; Mr. P. T. Dcwhurst, of Black Hill, and the
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minister or the moderator tor the time V)eing. With

such a strong committee we hope soon to heai of " The

Murray Plains United Mission," properly constituted,

with all its properties owned by an incorporated society.

We thank (rod for the noble succession of ministers in

this mission, and we hope when the River has become

the big thing all wise people think it will become, that

we shall have a strong self-supporting Church in each

of these places. The Rev. S. A. Faulkner succeeded

Mr. Milne.

Pine Hnt Creek, the oldest ('hurch of the group,

is not quite as vigorous as it was in former times.

This is due to the fact there has been a decrease in the

population of the immediate neighbourhood.

Rhine Villa was really the daughter of the Church

at Pine Hut. There was no building, and services

are still conducted in the local Institute. The work

at Rhine Villa was started by Mr. Genge. Mr. Austin

did all his work with the aid of a saddle horse, and

under the auspices of the Parkin Mission began work

at Punyelroo, on the Murray, in January, 1896. Mr.

Austin was succeeded at this Church by his brother,

the late Rev. Reginald Austin, who died some years

ago at Parramatta, where he was minister. Mr.

McXaughtan succeeded Mr. Austin and went on to the

plains in the middle of the great seven years drought,

which broke up in 1903, and Avas a faithful minister

amongst the people in their deep distress, often render-

ing financial assistance from his own pocket. He was

greatly assisted in his work by his father and Miss

McNaughtan, who lived with him for a number of years.

Whilst on the plains Mr. McXaughtan was married to

Miss Young, the school teacher at Pine Hut, and Mr.

and Mrs. McNaughtan laboured together for four years.
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Altogether ^[r. ^IcNaughtan had been nine and a-half

years on the plains \\hen. in 1907, he left to take charge

of our Church at Milang.

Here the work has been particularly encourag-

ing, and the people are in good heart. About

£70 has been collected to build a much needed church,

and we are in hopes that very soon the fellowship will

Tiave a home of its oAvn. Mr. Milne, before he left,

had also obtained promises to the extent of £fiO.

For many years ours has been the only English

service in the township, but lately the Anghcans have

instituted a monthly service.

TowiUa.—The cause here under Mr. Milne has

prospered, and there has been a marked increase in

the congregation and in the fellowship.

The church was opened by the Rev. R. Austin in

October, 1897, but he was only able to continue his

work for two more Sundays in consequence of his

removal to Camden College, Sydney. Mr. McXaughtan

then took charge, and Mr. C. Dansie was appointed

deacon, which office he held until the time of his death

in 1907.

Mr. ilcXaughtan opened and conducted a Sundaj^-

school at 10 in the morning, and sustained the office

of Superintendent until relieved by Mr. Murray Shannon.

Mr. Shannon, who removed to another district, was

succeeded ]>\- Messrs. C. Maley and W. Lambert in

turn. In 1903 ^Ir. Edward Salter, of Angaston, was

so moved by the account given to him by Mr.

McXaughtan of his work that he ga\e £30 to help on

the cause at Towitta. This money was used in enlarg-

ing the church building.

Sedan. —Since Mr. McXaughtan's ministry began it

has been the custom for our minister to reside in Sedan
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as the tno.st central placi- of this ut'oup of settlements.

Mrs. .MeXaughtaii did something for the English

residents by holding a Snnday-school in a barn adjoining

their residence. Mr. Milne held services in his house

for a time, and, as soon as the Institute was built,

succeeded in establishing a regular morning service.

He was enabled to do this through relin(]uishing the

work at Swan Reach, which our minister up to that

time had undertaken for the Parkin Mission. It is

pleasing to note that in these outlying places, with all

the demands they make upon a minister's time, Mr.

Milne was able to devote himself to matters of pul)lic

interest. When Mr. George Payne initiated the move-

ment which resulted in the l)uilding of the fine institute

recently opened, Mr. .Milne threw all his energy into

the work, and allowed himself to be appointed SecretarJ^

The building cost between £oOO and £()(!(. and of this

he raised £350.

Black Hill.—Twenty miles from Sedan. A work
was established here in res})onse to an invitation ex-

tended to Mr. Milne by Mr. P. T. Dewhurst. A bi-

monthly service was establisiied in April. 1909, and

has been maintained ever since. The largest congrega-

tion in the district assembles at this service held in the

school hall. Mr. Milne got the people to build a

public hall, which is nearing completion, and when that

happens the service will be held in it.

Hay ward'n Hill.—Twentj^-hve miles from Sedan.

Under the Parkin Mission Mr. McNaughtan began work
by paying to the township a bi-monthly visit and

visiting the outlying parts. Mr. Milne has continued

that work.
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Walker's F/a/.—Thirty miles from Sedan. Mr.

Milne inaugurated services here which are held everj'

three months at the residence of Mr. J. B. Phillis.

The parish covered by the Murray Plains is 400 square

miles in area. Every Sunday our minister travels a

distance of from 25 to 35 miles by buggj'. On the

Sunday he goes to Black Hill he has to cover a distance

of 50 miles.

LoxTOX.—Ninety miles from Sedan. This work

was commenced by Mr. ^lilne. as Avas also the work at

Eastern Well (half way ijetween Loxton and Sedan),

both of \\hich are now superintended by the Agent

of the Mission living nearer to the Kiver.

Truro (population. 265 ; houses, 53 ; 5Ti miles

north'; and Wheal Barto>-.—Mr. Ed. Hague has

draw^n up an admirable histor}' of this Church, tut

unfortunately too long for insertion here. We learn

irom it the following particulars :

—

The whole country was formerly a sheep-run belong-

ing to Mr. G. r. Angas, and in 1S49 copper was dis-

covered in the neighbourhood, and two t(.\\nships

(Truro and Wheal Barton) were laid out. [hv owners

oi both being anxious for Congregational worship, a

place was opened for worshi]! in Wheal Bai;ton in

August, 1850, at which the Revs. J. SaAvle and H. L.

Coward officiated. .Mi'. Coward had licen a school-

master at Golden (irove. and A\as recommended by the

Rev. T>. J. Draper for the office of teacher and preacher.

Mr. G. W. Cotton also held services, and tin- Rev. R.

Flockhart, in the Wesleyan interest, in the place.

When the gold was di.scovered the usual rush took place,

and everything was brought to a stand foi' a lime,

the minister going to Victoria with his peoi)k'. In

January. 1H54, the P»e\ . Abel R. Philps arrived from
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Kngland. ami began his work at Tnuo in the following

month, and soon a Church Avas formed of nine members,

of whom, after the lapse of 30 years, six still remain in

fellowship. Mr. Philps left in 1855 to take charge

at Happy Valley and .Morphett Vale, in consequence

of which no Church meetings were held, nor was the

Lord's Supper administered for about four years,

though pubhc worship A\as maintained by Mr. Coward

after his return from the gold diggings. Mr. Philps ic-

sumed his charge at Truro on the first Sunday in 1859,

and the Church was reconstituted in ]\Iay following with

a fellowship of only four members, to whom were added

20 more in the course of the next five years. The

next important point in the Church's history was the

l:)uilding of the present comely and convenient place of

worship, which was opened on October 25, 1860, the

llev. T. Q. Stow presiding, and about 300 persons

lieing present. At the tea meeting afterwards the

whole of the cost, amounting to upAvards of £600, was

paid, and the place opened free from debt. On the

following Lord's day the Revs. J. Lyall and John

Hannay conducted the services which formed the closing

of the celebration.

Mr. Philps' .second jiastoratc clo.s<'<l in June, 1866,

having lasted 7J years. wIumi he removed to Victoria,

and was pastor at Kew for .some years. The Rev.

P. Barr was the next pastor, entering upon his office

in December, after a few months' previous work in the

place. Mr. Barr Avas a GlasgOAA- student, and had been

labouring on the Peninsula as assistant to the Rev.

W. Wilson at Kadina and Wallaroo. About the

same time a manse was proposed, and speedily the

building was raised for the minister's use. During

Mr. Barr's pastorate the Church fellowship was in-
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creased by open piofe.ssicn of 29 brethren and sisters,

and two out stations were opened and worked for some

time near Mount Rufus, at one of which a Church was

formed, but subsequent^ absorbed in the Truro Church.

]\Ir. Barr found the labour of working these extremely

laborious, as he rotle eight miles over rough roads every

Sunday afternoon, and had to get back for evening

service at his own place. It was not wonderful that,

though he looked robust, his health gave way, and

serious symptoms of lung disease were apparent, which

were not slow in developing themselves. The people

gave him a rest from his labours, and, raising £51 in

three days (to which about a dozen pounds more were

added in Adelaide), they sent him to New Zealand,

hoping for the best. But his work was done. He
was worn out. The frail bod}^ could not endure the

strain an active and energetic spirit put upon it. He
spent himself in his Master's work, who is not forgetful

of his work of faith and labour of love. He quietly

fell asleep at the house of his brother, at Dunedin, on

December 6, 1875, aged 49.

Mr. T*hilps then entereil upon his third pastorate at

Truro. He had been living on his estate at Denbies,

close by, and preaching at North Rhine since his return

from Victoria ; and now that his son-in-law had gone

to his rest Mr. Philps resumed his former work. At the

first Church meeting thr following lesolution was

passed, and entered on the Church book ; - " That this

Church, hearing of the death of its beloved pastor,

wishes to testify to his diligent and faithful discharge

of his pastoral duty while here, and to the uprightness,

consistency, and Christian love that marked his con-

duct." The resolution expressed also the warmest

sympathy with Mrs. Barr, and earnest prayer that Cod
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would s(i])ply all her need. .Mr. Philps did not remain

pastor for long, for. suffering from painful and wasting

disease, he fell asleep on October 5, 1 876. The Church

had again to express its sympathy with the widow and

family, and its deep sorro\'* that the earnest and

eloquent ministry of their late pastor should ."^o soon have

ended in death.

The services in God's hou.se were maintained by the

labours of the Rev. R. T.. Coward and Mr. Ed. Hague

until the entry of Mr. Wm. Hy. Xewbould on his duties

as minister of the place in June, 1877, and so great was

the effect of his ministerial work that 14 new members

were added to the Church in the first six months of

his ministi'v, while at the saiiie time services were

begun at IDutton. about four miles away, in the Herman

church kindly lent for the purpose. Mr. Xewbould

was solemnly ordained on November 23, Revs. Fletcher,

Cox, and others taking part. During the next year

16 members were added to the Church, and preparations

made to enlarge the building, which were carried into

effect by the erection of a transept, completed and

opened in May, 1879.

Creat improvements have been made in the Church

pi'operty at Truro. The manse has been enlarged, a

Stable built, trees and shrubs for .shade and ornament

planted, and there has never l)cen a standing debt on

the property. There are 64 regular communicants,

and 1 4 others, occasional ; Sunday-school, 78 scholars
;

Young C'hristians' T"'^nion, 40 members. Happy

people whose God is the Lord !

The population of Truro in 1912 is 390, and the

number of houses 70.
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Truro and Button will for a very long time be asso-

ciated with the name of William Henry Newhould.

After a ministry of thirty years Mr. Xewbould resigned

in September, 1907. to the sorrow of those to whom he

had ministered for so long. He intended spending

whatever years should be left to him in helping his

brother ministers and our Churches. But these were

not to be man}^ for towards the close of 1009 he was

made aware of a serious illness, and an ;mmediate

operation was declared to be necessary. No real

danger was apprehended. l)ul he passed (juietly away
on October 31, 1909.

The Rev. Joseph Robertson, M.A., of Ipswich,

(Queensland, writes in the ^ongregatiovnlist of December
1909, concerning him as follows r

—

" Truro was his first and only ministerial charge.

iDut his soul went out beyond the town and the sur-

rounding squatters and their stations, and he rendered

splendid and disinterested service in the regions l)eyond.

Thirty years ago he m ent, a young minister with a wife

and little child, to take the oversight of the Truro

<!hurch. The work prospered, the r'hurch was crowded,

and many a life was touched to finer issues by his

earnest, persuasive, winning ministry in the ])ulpit and

in the parish. ... It was a large ]iarish for the

Murray River ran thirty miles away, and he. not con-

tent with a fairly large congregation and district in

his immediate neighbourhood, began missionary work
there and other distant parts. Something of that

work I saw in a practical manner, for more than once

I was with him in missionary journeys. I especially

recall a trip to Blanchetown, on the Murray, when I did

the preaching. It was a time of drought. The
rabbits were eating the bark ofi the lower parts of the
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trees, and the sheaoaks had licen .stripped for fodder.

The day was hot and the way was long. Alontc the

way we stopped and he paid pastoral calls, and 1 saw

his work and influence in homes remote from ( hurehes.

For thirty years he did that, and thoii'jrh towards the

end the Parkin Mission subsidised the work, it was

initiated b\- him and carried on by him for many years

on his own motion without fiiiancial help. J have

seen him start in rain, and I lunc seen him start in

blazing heat and dust. On one occasion he and 1

drove from Truro about ^Vl miles to a tea meeting on

the Murray Flats. The next day we started at 8

o'clock in the morning to return. That morning he

had an attack of lumbago, from which he not infre-

quently suffered. He could scarcely sit in the buggy

for pain. I had to take the reins. On arrival at the

manse a telegram was put into his hand. .A funeral at

Blanchetown, 30 miles in another direction, required

his presence. He had already been there twice within

eight days to see the person who was now dead. She

was a Roman Catholic, but had asked him to see her

through, and to conduct her funeral service.

'' But 1 said ' You aie not well enough to go : let

me do this for \()u." He would not consent : away he

went bright and cheerful.

" With all his pastoral and missionary work he did

not fail to give time to reading and preparation for his

pulpit, and T have heard him preach sermons of a high

order. Time was w^hen Truro was more thickly

populated, when large numbers of 3^oung men were

to be found in his congregation. To them he was

accustomed to ))reach on special themes, and it was

beautiful to see. as the yea»s w^ent by, young men

meeting hitn in ditTerent ])laces and recalling the hcl|)ful
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services of da_v!« gone l)y. As a minister he was devoted,

faithful, tactful, sympathetic, indefatigable.

" I have had sent to me a ]).i|)cr in which T tind

Bishop Thomas speaking at Blanchetown. and re-

ferring to my friend in terms of high appreciation.

" The newspaper says :
' While conducting a service

at Blanchetown the Bisho]) of .Adelaide referred to the

loss the district had sustained through tht death of the

Rev. W. H. Xewl)Ould. Congregational minister. Dr.

Thomas referred to AFr Newhoidd a- one who had

given up the best ]>art of his life fo>' his felloAvs
"

" As a man and a friend how true and real he was,

how genuine, how trustworthy and reliable, how kind

and unselfish, how sympathetic. .As a minister devt)ted

and faithful, as a man true as steel, as a friend one to

be trusted with your whole heart. Did he travel,

how men oj)ened up to him. Xot di.scovering the

clergyman, men were drawn to him as a man and a

brother. One to whom they v,ere attracted and to

whom they could speak as they could not flo to many."

.\n " In I\lemorian\ " window has been placed in the

northern end of the church by the people to whom
]\rr. Xewljould ministered. And also one to the memory
of the late Thomas Scott, Avho was for many years a

faithful member and supporter of the < hurch.

The members of the Shannon family have given a

window, floral in design, in memory of their father and

mother, Abraham and Eliza Shannon. Tt bears the

inscription :
" To him that overcometh 1 wdll grant to

sit wnth Me." The editor once heard a membei- of

this family say :

" We can never be grateful enough

to our fathers in the early days who made it their first

business to erect a place where Ood could be wor-

shipf»ed. The children will never know in this world
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how much thej' owe to that act of piety." And the

remark seemed to him a fitting commentary on the old

Scripture, " .\nd he renioved from thence ....
and pitched hi.=; tent .... and there builded he

an altar unto the T.ord.'"

Mesdames C. Grieve and F. G. Scammel, of Stow

Memorial, and Mrs. R. Keynes, of Keyneton, have placed

a Gommunioii Table and chair in the (^hurch in memory

of their brother. \l)raham Shannon, who followed in

hi.> fath<^r's steps in being a devoted member of the

Church. Ke died after a brief illness in 1907. He

was for many years the Treasurer of the Church.

The Rev. J. G. Wright, of Hobart, succeeded Mr.

Newbould. and dtn-ing the two years he was there he

endeared himself to the ])eople and maintained a

vigorous and large-hearted ministry. Towards the

close of 1910 Mr. Wright gave up the charge to succeed

the Rev. F. V. Pratt, M.A., at Angaston.

The Rev. George Slade followed Mr. Wright, and is

still exercising the office of the Christian ministry with

profit to the })eople.

At Dlttton (population, H7 : bouses. •?<
: iS\ miles

north) a new place of worship has been built, a branch

Church formed, a Sunday-school established, and

another out-station at Frankton developed as an off-

shoot therefrom. Mr. S. E. Walder has done noble

work at T)utton in the cause of God and man. The

writer l)elieves that in this favored township there

are tv\o churches—German and Fnsrlish— and not one

public-house.

Blan( HETOW> . -The Rev. \N . H. Newbould, of

Truro, commenced work in this district in the year

1899 under the Parkin Mission, visiting it once in two

months, and in 1 S96 he extended his labours to
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Punvelroo. continuing until hh death in 1909, when the

Rev. J. C. Wright undertook the work. The Rev. D.

McNaughtan. and afterwards the Rev. D. Mihie^

visited these districts on alternate months. In the

beginning of 1911 Mr. J. T. Loughhead was appointed

to the charge of the Blanchetown district, which in-

cluded Swan Reach and Eastern Well. Mr Loughhead

is still in charge of this district, and is doing good

work.

CoLi.TNGROVE.— .\bout four miles from Angaston i»

the estate and the residence of Mr. J. H. Angas, bearing

the above name. Here was erected by Mr. Angas

for the u.se of his family and the work people mainly

a very elegant small church, where the Rev. R. L,

Coward ministered in holy things, and did so for many
years.

After the death of the Rev. R. L. Coward on August

29, 1893, the Rev. F. C. B. Fairey, the minister of

Keyneton, was appointed by Mr. Angas to take charge

of the services at Collingrove. He continued in this

office for a number of years until his resignation in 1902.

The Rev. L. Robjohns, B.A., his successor at Keyneton,

was then made the minister.

I\Irs. Angas had conducted for many years a Sunday-

school in the Church, and was assisted in her work
during part of that time by Mr. Lance Fletcher, son of

the late Rev. Hoby Fletcher, who went to England to

complete his studies for the ministry at IJncoln and

Mansfield Colleges, Oxford. He is now one of our

honoured ministers in England.

The chapel at C-ollingrove was the outcome of a

suggestion made by Mr. Coward. Up to the time of

its erection Mr. and Mrs. Angas allowed Mr. Coward to
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conflu(;t services first in their house and afterwards in

a room on the station. It was the practise for Mr.

and Mrs. Angas during many years to drive into

Angaston to attend service on Sunday jnorning, and

after a hasty hnich to make their way on horseback

over to Keyneton. where they conducted a Sunday-

school in conjunction with Mr. and Mrs. Henry Evans.

Mr. John Heath, of Heath ville, who died in 1909.

was very proud of a letter he possessefl written now

nearly 50 years ago by Mr. Angas asking him to become

a teacher in the school, of which he was the Super-

intendent.

It \\'as only when the claims of his own station j>eople

made themselves felt by them that Mr. and Mrs. Angas

gave up their work at Keyneton, and bestowed their

w^hole attention to the spiritual needs of their own

people.

There are still living at Keyneton and C'ollingrove

those who remember a visit paid to the churches by

Mr. F. Basey and the late Rev. F. Searle. They tell

us the first time they heard the new hymn, " Shall Ave

Cather at the River," was when Mr. Basey sang it on

the occasion of that visit.

Mr. Angas died on the evening of May 17, 1904, to

the great sorrow of his family and of the httle congrega-

tion which had been so closely connected with him by

the closest of ties, viz.. a communion of worship. We
think it appropriate here we should quote from his

biography written l>y Dr. H. T. Burgess, of the Children's

Hospital :

—

" Being a Congregationalist by choice, Mr. Anuas was

naturally more deeply interested in the affairs of that

denomination than of any other, and by his gifts to
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its funds in connection with certain movemenl--. ' He
being dead yet speaketh.'

" When the Jubilee of that Ijody was celebrated in

1887 an effort was made to raise {'30,000 in order to

liquidate all Church debts, and Mr. Angas offered to

contribute 10 per cent, on the amount obtained. The
total results only reached about half the sum that

was aimed at, but Mr. Angas did more than his promise

by giving £2,000, and this was added to the funds

of the Chapel Building Society, from which loans are

granted to country and suburban Churches free of

interest, or on very easy terras. Hence the gift instead

of being absorbed in current expenses, has a permanent

life of usefulness.

" When the TAventieth Century Fund project was
launched its promoters had a less ambitious design.

" The documents containing a statement of what
was proposed wei'e forwarded to Mr. Angas, and they

bear the following intercalation: 'Wanted £15,000,

£500 after shearing, also 5% on all contributed in

excess of £10.000.- (Signed) J. H. A.'"

The gifts bestowed upon our Churches as well as

churches of other orders, his princely endowments of

public institutions in these and other lands are referred

to in Dr. Burgess' book. But the stories of private

benefactions and thoughtful kindnesses bestowed on

countless numbers of people in all kinds of positions

never will be read, for they are known only to those who
were the recipients.

His body was laid in the family vault at T.indsay

after a private service in the Collingrove Chapel con-

ducted by his minister, the Rev. 1j. Robjohns. At the

grave Mr. Robjohns was assisted by the Revs. Joseph
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Robertson and W. M. Grant, who paid an eloquent

tribute to the memory of this dear friend.

-Mr. Angus, among numerous other benefactions,

bequeathed £2,000 to the Congregational Union, £2,000

to the Congregational Ministers' Widows and Orphans
Fund, and £2,000 for maintaining the worshi]) of God
at the little church he loved so well.

A little after her husband's death Mrs. Angas con-

ferred with Mr. Robjohns about doing something to

pei'petuate the memory of her husband in connection

Avith the Church. A number of suggestions were

considered, and it was finally decided by her to add to

the church an Apse "In Memoriam" to her husband.

This was completed and dedicated to the Glory of

God and to the memory of J. H. Angas on August 26,

1906.

The beautiful reproductions of Fra Angelicos Angels

empannelled above the Communion table \\ere the

gift of Mrs. Roby Fletcher, Avidow of the late Rev. W.
Roby Fletcher, a close friend of Mr. Angas.

Mr. Angas was an earnest Xonconfonnist, as the

members of dissenting bodies are called in the old

land. He was proud of the fact that a Nonconformist

had always been at the head of the Angas family.

Mrs. Angas, who had been in feeble health for many
years, survived her husband by scarceh" six years.

She was constantl}'^ a source of anxiety to her friends,

and a great sufferer. She bore her suffering with rare

fortitude up to the last. Until a few months before

she died she plaj^ed the organ at the Church on Sunday
afternoons. She was never so happy as when seated

at the organ in church surrounded by the girls she had
taught to sing.



HISTORICAL RECOED OF OUR CHURCHE8, 263

She loved to spend the quiet hours of her life sitting

at the window of her room where she could see the little

ivy-covered church peeping through the trees.

She passed away in the presence of her son and his

wife, her nephew, her nurses, and the Revs. F. Wheen
and L. Robjohns at sunset on Thursday, April 14, 1910.

Her body was laid to rest beside that of her husband
at sun down according to her request on the following

Saturday.

The funeral, in the presence of a large concourse

of people, was conducted by Mr. Robjohns, who was
assisted by the Revs. F. Wheen and F. V. Pratt, who
spoke very tenderly of her goodness.

Although Mrs. Angas was left to us for so brief a

period, she crowded into the few short years an astonish-

ing amount of care and solicitude for those in any need.

She continued to support everything in which her

husband had been interested, and what she regarded

as the crowning work of her own endeavour was the

establishing and endowing of a fund which she handed
over to the care of trustees for granting pensions to

distressed gentlewomen.

Early in 1911 Anglican services were substituted

for the old order, and the Anglican Bishop of Adelaide
" dedicated " the church.

Alma.— Fifty-three miles north of Adelaide the

extensive upland plains drew farming population to

them, and the friends at Kapunda, though 20 miles

away, had their Christian sympathies drawn towards
the people who were without religious ordinances. The
Revs. M. Williams, B.A., and Wm. Oldham, with some
lay brethren in the Church at Kapunda, conferring

with the friends at Alma—Messrs. Aitchison, Frcebairn,

and Kelly—decided to give them help. So preaching
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services were started, and maintained with regularity

for some years, until a ministei' was found who would

settle among them. The first was the Rev. E. W.
Stephens, who came from one of the ."Methodist bodies,

and settled there in 1866, and remained for two or three

years. On his resigning the Rev. W. Oldham took

the oversight of the Church until the year 1872, when

the Re\'. J. A. Dowie was ordained on the 21st of May
pastor of the Alma Church, working also Salter's

Springs in connection with it. Mr. Dowie was educated

in the colony., but went to Glasgow to complete his

preparation for ministerial work in the college there.

He remained at Alma for a year or two, and was suc-

ceeded by the Rev. M. M. Dick, who came from Glasgow

also, to take the charge of the place, which he retained

until February, 1877, when he removed to Port Ade-

laide. The people at Alma had built s<jme j^ears before

a substantial place of worship on a plot of land of about

two acres extent, on which also a comfortable manse

with outhouses and stables was erected.

The Rev. E. G. Atkinson followed Mr. Dick in the

same year, and occupied the manse with his family till

his removal to Hamley Bridge in April, 1882, where he

remained as pastor until he removed to New South

Wales, to the sorrow of the people among whom he had

laboured in the Lord.

Before this happened, there had sprung up a town-

ship at Hamley Bridge, about ten miles to the south, at

the railway junction on the northern line, and the two

places had become united in the pa.storate. But the

difficulty of the minister's residence at Alma Plains,

where the manse was. while the bulk of the people

were at Hamley Bridge, was the cause of frecjuent un-

easiness, which was I)vou2rht to a climax bv the remo\ al
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of the minister to the latter place. The history,

therefore, of the older < 'hiirch became merged in the

younger.

Hamley Brtdge (population, 213 ; houses, 41 ; 44

miles north).- At this place the Primitive Methodists

were first in the field, and the Rev. S. Gray visited

irom Riverton as the centre in 1872. The people

collected about the Northern railway junction, and a

township was laid out. in which Mr. Jenkin Coles gave

an allotment for Primitive Methodist use. It appeared,

however, that it could not be satisfactorily worked,

and our Methodist brethren freely transferred their

property to the Congregational body for Church pur-

poses in January, 1874. On this a neat Church was

built, 36 feet x 20, a great deal of the work being done

by the people themselves, so that only £270 was needed

in cash. The place was opened on September 21,

1874, the Rev. J. R. Ferguson conducting the services

with great acceptance, and at the tea meeting after-

wards there being a small debt left, the whole was

paid off on the spot. At a subsequent period a good

vestry was built at the back for £52, and furnished as a

chamber also, so that many a minister, whether resident

or visitor, has found it a wonderful convenience to have

a resting place on the spot instead of having to travel

iar in the dark over bad roads.

A Sunday-school was opened in June, 1874, which

has been a great blessing to the neighbourhood from

that day to this. All this good work arose, under God,

from the visit of the Rev. ]\I. M. Dick, who came over

from Vlraa, preaching first in Mr. Bell's office— in the

previous year. Mr. Dick's presence and effort and
able service put the people in good heart to enter

upon these works, and enabled them to carry them
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through so successfull\ . Mr. Atkinson, as mentioned

under the previous heatling, took up his abode at

Hamley Bridge .so as to i)e in the midst of the people,

and dwelt among them, doing good work as a faithful

minister, until his resignation in April, 1883. After hia

departure the brethren sought the ser\ices of Mr. T. S.

Williams, a student of Union College, Adelaide, so

far as he could render them, until he was settled over

the Church as its pastor in October, 1883, and \\ith all

the energy of youth did the Lord's work among young

and old to the advantage of all, and with manifest

tokens of the Divine blessing. Mr. U'illiams left the

Churches at Alma and Hamley Bridge in consequence

of a call to the pastorate of Port Victor Church, which

he accepted, ending his work on December 30, lS8r».

The Church at Hamley Bridge was foinied by the Rev.

M. M. Dick on May 9, 1875. when 13 members were

united. Since then 65 members have been received,

of whom 25 are now on the roll.

After the retirement of the Rev. T. S. Williams the

Church was without a pastor until November, 1888,

when the Rev. John Chapman, of Maitland, entered

upon his ministry. During Mr. Chapman's time the

manse was erected, the Churches at Hamley Bridge and

Alma were renovated, new organs purchased for both

Churches and the debt on the Alma Church reduced.

Mr. Chapman left in 1891 to take the Church at Port

Pirie. The Rev. J. W. Jones, of Broken Hill, became

the pastor in 1891 and in 1893 went to take charge of a

Church in Melbourne, and is now Secretary of the Vic-

torian Union. His ministry was much appreciated

and both of the ('hurches were vigorous during his

stay. The Rev. M. L. Johnson, B.A., came to Hamley

Bridge in February, 1893, and remained as minister of
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the two Churches until 1898. His great ability as a

preacher and his devotion as a pastor made him a

power throughout the district. He left to take charge

of the Church at College Park. In 1898 Mr. L. A.

Wilson, for many years a deacon at the Hamley Bridge

Church, died. He was a most lovable man and a

devoted Christian. The townspeople erected a stone

over his grave to testify to the esteem in which he was

held for his services to the Church and the community.

Mr. Johnson came from Adelaide to officiate at the

funeral.

After Mr. Johnson's departure the Churches were

supplied with various ministers and lay readers for a

time, and among them was the Rev. A. S. Devenish,

M.A., who occupied the pulpit for 14 Sundays. In

May, 1900, Mr. R. J. Rose was invited to the ministry,

and was ordained two years afterwards by the Revs.

J. C. Kirby, Thos. Hope, and W. M. Grant to the

office of a Christian minister.

On 10th July, 1900, the memorial stone to the

additions of the Church was laid by the Hon. E. Lucas,

M.L.C., when Mr. Joseph Bell gave a sketch of the

liistory of the Church. On this occasion addresses

were delivered by the Revs. J. C. Kirby, A. C Fry, and

the Rev. M. L. Johnson, B.A.

Mr. Rose resigned in September, 1903. .Mr. .Johnson

received, and accepted, a unanimous call to resume

the pastorate, and cntei'ed upon his second ministry in

February, 1904, but he only remained until June, 1905,

when he left for Balraain, New South Wales. His

second ministry was greatly blessed of Cod, and when

he went to Sydney he was followed by the good wishes

of many to whom he had been minister and friend for

so long. In October, 1905, the Rev. Fred. Priest, of
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Hackney College, London, who had been associated'

with the Rowntrees in social work at. York, became

the minister. In Mr. Priest".- time the balance of the

debt incurred in extending the Church at Hamley
Bridge was raised, and a new system of lighting in-

stalled. Mr. Priest drew large congregations, especially

of .young people in the evening, and to the regret of

his people resigned in January, 1909, in response ta

an invitation from the Church at Henley Beach. In

June of the same year the Rev. John Chapman, of

Bunbury, W.A., also began a second ministry here.

In July of the following year a Junior Church ]\Iembei'-

ship was established at Hamley Bridge, and for twc

years meetings have been carried on by the jiastor

and Mrs. Dawkins with astonishing success. Dr. S.

L. Dawkins was really the founder of the movement,

and has rendered valued assistance to it. In 1911 the

Alma Chiu'ch was renovated and new ceilings fixed

;

a new organ was also purchased. Mr. Joseph Black, a

member of the Church for 30 years and for over 25

years a deacon at Hamley Bridge and a Sunday-school

teacher, died during that year to the sorroA\ of the

people at large. He was a man of great faith and

unflagging zeal. Mr. Jose]ih Bell, who has l)een

associated with the Church from the beginning, has

been Superintendent of the Sunday-school for 40

years.

The young people in the Sunday-school and in both

Endeavour Societies are pledging themselves to raise

fvmds systematically for Home and Foreign Missions,

Gladstone (population, 729 ; houses, 179 ;
places

of worship, four ; 134 miles north).— The district of

country now known as the Xorthern Areas had been

from the first occupied as sheep runs by specially
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wealthy squatters. It was opened to farmers some

18 or 20 years ago, and people migrated there from all

parts of the colony to take advantage of the rich virgin

soil. The Congregational Union co-operated with the

Presbyterian Synod in dispatching two brethren—the

Revs. J. R. Ferguson and James Henderson— to spy

out the land, and to agree upon mutual action in

evangelising so as not to overlap each other's work.

It was decided that Gladstone should be worked by us,

and efforts were made and money spent abundantly

for about nine years, but all in vain. We failed to

establish ourselves in the place. We can merely hint

at the successive points. We began with schoolroom

services in 1874, the Rev. A. Buchanan visiting the

place occasionally. In 1877 Mr. George Thompson
was sent, and remained about ten months. The third

effort was at the instance of the friends on the spot,

when the Institute was opened on May 12, 1882, by

the Rev. W. Wilson, who agreed to render service for

two Sundays everj" month. In 1882 a meeting was

held, and it was decided to build, and land was bought

for £50 from Mr. H. J. Stock, a firm and true friend

to the interest there. The Rev. A. Scales worked in

the place for some months, and was followed in 1883

by Mr. T. S. Williams, a student of Union College,

who did much to revive the attention of the people,

but on his removal the substitution of Mr. T. J. Hoare

failed to maintain the interest, and we retired from the

scene.

Mr. Harris says : "No minister was available as a

settled pastor ; some of those most interested had left

the neighbourhood, and the funds of the Union were

being too largely drawn upon, so after about nine

and a-half years' effort our people withdrew, and the
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land was subsequently transferred back to Mr. Stock

on repayment of the original price."

(Georgetown, Gulnare Plains, Laura, Jamestown,

Caltowie, and Belalie P^ast had also a share of our

evangelistic attentions about the same period, but

nothing permanent resulted.

Port Pirie (population. 1,600
;

places of worship,

eight; 154 miles north).— This town rose from its

primeval mangrove swamp in consequence of the

opening of the areas mentioned before to wheat-growing

instead of wool-producing. At once an outlet for

produce was needed, and one which was accessible to

ocean-going vessels. Happily for Congregational

interests in the place, the first H arbour - Master,

Captain R. B. Williams, was a member of the

Church at Port Victor before he went to Port Pirie,

and he at once, in obedience to the apostolic command
" not to forsake assembhng together." called meetings

at the houses of like-minded friends, aiid (lod has

blessed them, and made them increase with the true

divine increase. Ministers from the settled districts

V^egan to visit the people, whose cry was "Come over

and help us," the Kevs. W. Wilson, (has. Hodge,

and J. R. Ferguson, among others, responding. This

was in 1873, and the next year the Rev. A. Buchanan

came from Western Australia as travelhng evangelist

in the Areas, a sort of work for which he was eminently

fitted. In the course of this year an allotment of

land was bought for £45, but Mr. Buchanan removed

to Green's Plains and became the settled minister there

in place of the Rev. R. G. Bayly, who had transferred

his services to Maithuul. In November, 1875, a Church

was formed with solemn service, conducted by the

Rev. J. C. McMichael, at which also Messrs. H. B.
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Williams and T. U. Scrutton were appointed deacons,

and the Lord's Supper partaken of. The Rev. W.
Hopkins removed from his pastorate at Kapunda to

take charge of the Port Pirie Church, and began his

work on January 16, 1876. The people then had

courage to rise and build, though at first in a humble
way. They put up a wooden building, with seats for

120 persons, at a cost of £245, where they continued

to meet for the next year and a-half, when the services

of Mr. Hopkins were brought to an end by his resigna-

tion and removal to Glenelg. During the year 1877

the infant Church was helped by supplies from Adelaide

and other places, but the burden of the work fell on

Messrs. T. U. Scrutton and J. L. Coombe, whose services

were of great value.

The Rev. Palmer Law came into the colony in April,

1878, and his attention being directed to Port Pirie,

he went there, received a call duly, and entered upon
pastoral responsibilities on June 30. He was a

Western College man. During his ministrj' the present

stone building was put up at a cost of about £1,000.

The stone was laid in September, the Rev. W. R.

Fletcher, M.A., preaching, and the opening of the

Church took place in February, 1879, when the Rev.

F. W. Cox officiated. The place was seated for 350

persons, with the possibility of enlargement for 500 if

need be. Mr. Law left Port Pirie in September, 1880,

to establish a new congregation in North Adelaide,

which intention was never realised.

In the following year the Rev. Wm. Wilson, well-

known for his valued services in Hindmarsh and other

places, and at this time working with the Presbyterians

at Koolunga, was called to the pastorate, and entered

upon his work in May, 1881. The present substantial
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manse was built for liiin on the Church property at a

cost of £700, and paid for in three years. All the

sittings in the church were occupied, and an enlargement

of the place was imperatively required, and accomplished

by a suitable addition in 1 882. But any one who knows

the energies of Mr. Wilson will easily believe that

expansion of his field of labour woukl l)e sought. And

so it happened. First, at Wheatlands an afternoon

service was set up : and then at Xapperby another

Sunday afternoon service was begun, the Wesleyan

friends making over the latter i)laee to Mm. These

were, of course, worked with the aid of lay helpers.

Besides this a Sunday-school was begun for the children.

The ships in the port were visited and services held, a

Bethel tlag having been obtained from the Seamen's

Mission in London.

The Church has suffered from short harvests in the

Areas, and consequent removal of valued friends and

helpers, one of the most serious being that of Mr. T. U.

Scrutton, who has recently left the place. But the

grace of God M'ill not leave honest and persevering work

unblessed.

The wonderful growth of thi.'^ town is seen on coo^-

paring the latest information .supplied to us wdth that

given at the beginning of the account of this Church.

The population is now about 10,000, and there

are 2,000 houses, and there are eight places of public

worship. Mr. Wilson resigned his charge in 1890.

He was a faithful minister, a notable theological scholar,

and always to the front in advancing the interests of

young men. During his pastorate a literary society was

founded which became a strong and vigorous institution.
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Then a heavy debt was on the property to the extent

of £1,200, and the interest to be paid annually \\ as

nearly £100 Mr. Wilson, feeling the strain of raising

this amount annually too great upon him, resolved to

relinquish the work.

At the time of writing the Church property is valued

at £4.000, and there is only a small building debt of

£260.

The Rev. John Chapman succeeded Mr. Wilson in

1891. He faithfully laboured here for ten years, and

then left in ansAver to a call to become the minister at

Bunbury. W.A.. in 1901.

The Xapperby and Pirie East Mission Churches

prospered greatly under Mr. Chapman's care.

Notable at this time were the Sunday Morning Prayer

:\Ieetings held in the Church at 7 o'clock in the summer,

when petitions were offered for a blessing on the flay's

work in the Church, Sunday-school, and among the

shipping. At ten the Berean Bible Class was held,

which was well attended, and once a month an

evangelistic service was conducted in the Church after

the evening service by the Christian Endeavour Society

under the leadership of the pastor. The Sunday-

school also was in an efficient state.

Looking back upon those workers who during these

years have crossed the bar, we remembe^ first Mr.

Francis Edwards deacon and Superintendent of the

school, a man of humble spirit but mighty in faith.

He was never happier than when he was engaged in

personal conversation with those who were concerned

with their soul's deepest need. He truly went about

doing good, spreading his message with the tracts he

distributed and relieving human suffering by his medical

knowledge.
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Mr. J. C!. Lewis was a deacon for many years, and a

consistent Christian. He devoted much of his leisure

to the advancement of tlie Church.

Mr. Charles Ceddes, the oldest member of the Church

at the time of his death, had been Superintendent of

the school for 14 years. He devoted his best gifts to

the advancement of the rising generation.

Captain R. B. Williams (vide swpra) died suddenly in

Jaimarv. 1901. He \\as the founder of Congiega-

tionalism in Port Pirie, tlie first deacon and Treasurer

of the Cliurch, and lield these offices continuously for

more than 26 years.

The Rev. G. A. Hill, M.A., entered on the pastorate

in Octol)er. 1901, l)nt \vas com])elled to resign in July,

1904, on account of ill-liealth. He afterwards joined

the Presb3"terian Church in Xe\\ South Wales.

The present minister, the Rev. K. C. Holton, has

been in the Church since 1904.

The institutions of the Church are all doing effective

service. Besides the Sunday-school there are

Endeavour Societies, senior and jimior, a pastor's

Bible Class, and a Caiechumen Class. Mr. Holton is

now conducting the third catechumen class. They

have all l)een fruitful in bringing yomig people into

fellowship with the Church. There is an effective

choir imder the leadership of ^Ii'. Xancarrow and Miss

Forsaith.

The property- consists of a stone ( Imrch with a spire

and two vestries, a schoolroom, which is the original

wooden church, a manse, and a cottage for the care-

taker.

Renm.vrk.—Woik was commenced here in 18S9

by the Parkin Mission. The Kevs. (.Tcorge Herrington,

T. S. Williams, John Chapman, A. Hodge, Hampden
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Cooke, and Mr. A. S. De^ inish each supplying for a

month. In March. 1890, the Rev. W. T. Kenck
entered upon the work and remained there until 1892^

when he left to take over the work at Trinity Church,

Perth, W.A.

In October, 1892, the Rev. T. B. Logic took charge

and continued until his death in 1898. The Rev.

George Williams had charge from August, 1898, until

April, 1904. Following Mr. WilHams, the Rev. R. J.

Rose, Messrs. A. W. Gordon, J. F. Dunstan, and A. S.

Meldrum continued the work until Xovember, 1909,

when the Rev. W. Jarrett was appointed. At the time

of writing the Rev. J. C*asley, who came from Tasmania,

is in charge, and is doing good work.

Broken Hilt (population, 34,000 : houses, 5,654 -,

334 miles from Adelaide).-

The year 1887 found the Broken Hill C'hurch in its-

infancy, the town of Broken Hill having only been

founded a few years previous to this date. The Church
as a Church was founded by the Rev. W. T. Kench,
now of Perth. Western Australia, under whose ministry

the cause prospered greatly. Previous to the ministry

of Mr. Kench there had existed a Congregational

Hall doing work of a distinctive nature, resembling

that of a modern mission. Its affairs were governed

by a committee of management with the minister as

Chairman.

The minister to inaugurate this Mork was the Rev.

Keith McKie, and he is affectionately remembered by
many early residents of Broken Hill for the great work
he accomjjlished in its early days. Subsequent to

Mr. McKie the Rev. J. W. Jones had charge of the

Church, and he was followed for a year by the Rev.

Hampden Cooke, now Secretary of Mill Hill Public
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School, near London, and reviser of Dr. Weymouth's

translation of the New Testament. Mr. Kench follo\\cd

and established a real Church fellowship.

After Mr. Kcnch's retirement the pastorate was

successively occupied by the following ministers :

—

Revs. A. Hodge, W. Pearce, W. Keay, W. Jarrett,

and A. Francis, the present pastor being the Rev.

R. O. Xadebaum, B.A. The Church has gone through

many vicissitudes. For some years it was one of

the most prominent Churches of the town ; but owing

to frequent changes in the pastorate, coupled with its

isolation from the other Congregational Churches, in

its later years it lost a great deal of its influence.

During the past 18 months it has regained some lost

ground, and is slowly growing in numbers and spiritual

influence. There has been a revival of interest in

many branches of Christian work, and a number of

organizations are at present in a healthy condition. The

Church at present consists of about 40 members, who

are earnest for its welfare. The liranch of the Ladies'

Auxiliary to the ( 'ongregational Unicoi and Home Mission

of S.A. is steadily increasing in numbers and zeal, and

is exercising a good influence in the Church and upon the

community at large.

A Girls' Guild has been in existence for some years

and has done magnificent work. Lately a more

systematic programme of intellectual, spiritual, and

practical affairs has been devised, and the girls are

deriving much benefit from their meetings. The

iSunday-school is steadily growing. There are about

120 members, including 14 teachers. A kindergarten

class was established last year under expert leadership,

and has about 50 members.

Owing to its isolated position the Church is denied
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fellowship with members of other Churches of our

order, and needs the warm support of the denomina-

tion to strengthen it.

During the last eighteen months a fund was raised

to build a manse for the minister. A piece of land was

given by Mr. A. Stenhouse, of Broken Hill and St. Kilda,

Melbourne, and the Church, with the help of friends,

raised £300 for this object. \^'ith the aid of a £300

loan from the Chapel Building Society of South Aus-

tralia the manse has been built, and the Church has

now a comfortable five-roomed house as a permanent

residence for the minister.

Mr. Nadebaum, the present minister, was a public

school teacher. After graduating at the Adelaide

University he proceeded to Mansfield College, Oxford,

under a scholarship provided by the late Mrs. J. H.
Angas. He completed his theological course at Ox-
ford, had some experience at the University Settlement,

Mansfield House, in the East End of London, and
travelled in Germany. Palestine, and Egypt before

returning to Adelaide. He was recently married to

Miss Hales, B.A., a teacher in the Norwood High
School. He is a quiet, cultured preacher. Has a

wide knowledge of men, and is greatly assisted in

his work by his gifted and enthusiastic wife. The
Church already gives signs of progress and effec-

tiveness under the leadership of the devoted minister

and Mrs. Nadebaum.

Palmerpton and Port Darwin, Northern

Territory.—It is a far cry from Port Pirie to the shores

of the Indian Ocean, but it is the next place to the

north where we have had T'ongregational worship.

It is a 1,600-mile gap between the two. When shall

that vast space be filled with people of European



278 THREE-QUARTERS OF A CENTURY.

descent, and worshipping the Hoh^ One with simple

Scriptural service
'

In 1872 the siHrnll schooner " ]\Iarv King " took out a

party of settlers to the new tropic lands of South Aus-

tralia, and among them was our energetic friend, Mr. A,

Gore, going out for trading objects. The Government

Resident, Captain Douglas, freely gave a room in the

residence for a morning service, as only an evening one

had been held hitherto, Mr. Gore officiating. This he

continued from August 4th until Xovember, when he

left for Adelaide, where he made such representations

of the needs of the place that a wooden building was

at once put together and conveyed by ship to

Palmerston. Unfortunately. Mr. Gore was prostrated

by malarial fever on his return : and in the utter con-

fusion of a new settlement, and gold discoveries con-

tinually being made, the building could not be put up.

In the meantime the Rev. Mr. Bogle, a Wesleyan

brother, having been sent up by the Conference, the

building was transferred to him and set up, remaining

to this day the only house for the worship of God at

Palmerston. It was in our hearts to have done the

work, but the providence of God seems to have put it

into other hands. We are thankful those hands were

so able and efficient. Mr. Gore was able to render help

to our Wesleyan friends when Mr. Bogle was itinerating

in the interior bj' taking public services at Palmer-

ston.

Green's Plains (about 105 miles west of Adelaide).—

The countrj'^ began to be occupied by farmers after the

copper discoveries, and in 1866, when the Rev. D. M.

Davies was pa,stor at Wallaroo, a preaching station was

opened a few miles to the westward in connection with

the Wallaroo Church. About a year after the Rev. W.
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Wilsou, of Kadina. took the oversight and maintained

the services with the help of lay preachers until 1873.

The Rev. R. G. Bayly had charge in 1874, and the follow-

ing year the Rev. And. Buchanan removed from Port

Pirie to take charge, extending the circle of operations

to places in the neighbourhood for some miles round.

Mr. Buchanan was specially fitted for such work, ami if

anyone could succeed in the circumstances, he would be

the man. He had great fervour of spirit, and energy

that was indomitable, and it was with great sorrow

that the brethren heard of his determination to return

to West Australia. A group of stations was thus left

without an overseer, as we were never able to supply

the place left vacant.

Kadfna (population, 1,521 ; houses, 420
;

places of

worship, six ; 117 miles west).—This and the next

township (Wallaroo) as well as others on Yorke's

Peninsula, own their origin to discovery in 1860 of

wonderfully rich deposits of copper in what are known
as the Moonta and the Wallaroo mines, the former of

which has raised copper to the value of £4,579,097, and

the latter £2,030,143 up to the end of 1886. More

than that, there was never a single penny of the share-

holders' money called up for the Moonta mine working.

The following history of the Kadina Church and its

neighbouring Churches is abbreviated from the pen of

the Rev. W. Wilson, its pioneer pastor .

—

On June 12, 1861, a preliminary meeting was held in

Mr. G. N. Birks' store for the purpose of forming a

Congregational Church at Kadina, the Rev. T. Q.

Stow presiding. On Sunday, June 23, the Rev. T. Q.

Stow preached in Mr. Stacy's store to a very large

congregation. On August 13 it was resolved '" That

a Church of Christ be now formed, and that worship
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be carried on in the Congregational Chapel about to be

built in Ewing-street." During the first few months

of the Church's history several ministers from Adelaide
'" occasionally occupied the pulpit of the church.'"

The Rev. W. Wilson, then of Hindmarsh, occupied the

pulpit on the first two Sundays of March, 1862. On
July 11. 1862, the first deacons of the Church were

appointed, viz., Messrs. John Xott, T. H. Hall, and

Lloyd Summers. Early in December. 1862, a call to

the pastorate was presented to the Rev. W. Wilson.

Mr. Wilson had then been pastor of the Church at

Hindmarsh for five years, during which time the Church

was formed anew, having virtually ceased to exist,

and prospered greatly both temporally and spiritually

so that pastor and people were very unwilling tc> part

with each other. Mr. Stow then, among other well and

fondly-remembered last words, urgently entreated

Mr. Wilson to make it his particular care as a member
of the Congregational Union Committee that the flock

of God over in the wilderness of Yorke's Peninsula

might be provided with an under shepherd. Mr.

Wilson promised to do so, but little did he think bow
he was to be required to keep this promise. When,

however, he received the call from the Church at Kadina,

and on consultation w ith his brethren of the Congrega-

tional Union Committee found that no suitable minister

might then be expected from England for this sphere,

he accepted this invitation as a call from the Lord to

follow Him into the wilderness. Mr. Wilson's ministry

at Kadina V>egan in the middle of April, 1863. The

friends at Port Wallaroo— where a Congregational

Church had recently been formed—soon applied for

part of his services, and to this application an affirma-

tive reply was given, and regular worship was com-
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\nenced thei-e. A |)laee of wofship was built, to the

Gost of which £ t(K) was contril>iited liv fiiends in Ade-

laide and other parts of the colony within two months.

A Sunday-school was formed in the old chapel from

-the very first, under the superintendence of Mr. C'lezy.

•of the Xational Bank, and a weekly meetins: and Bible-

•class established. M'out this time Captain (new Sir

W. W.) Hughes generously offered to par £15(1 per

iinnuui towards Mr. Wilson's salar\-, and to pay half

Ihe cost of the erection of a church, if he would go to

reside at Wallaroo.

On April '2~
, 1S64. a Missionary Society was formed,

and coriespondeu'-e with Christian friends of other

denominations on the Peninsula entered into, with a

view to missionary work amone our aborigines. It

was felt that we must get a ]nissionary entirely devoted

to this work. and. being utterly at a loss where to look

for one. we engagr'd in special ju'ayer for this object.

and soon found that before we called Cod had answered.

•Our Moravian brethren in Cerniany had sent ou^ four

of their missionaries to labour among the aborigines

in the centre of the Australian Continent, which the

long drought prevented . ilrs.A!. \. .\ldersey. foniitrly

a missionary in China, received them into her house,

and. hearing of the desire to liegin missionary opera-

tions among their aborigines, ]\lrs. Aldersey sent Messrs.

Walder and Kuhn to the care of the ])astor of the

Kadini (hmch. .-\ beginning: of the work was made

at once. A shed in the minister's yard was con\ erted

into a t/emporar\ school, and a ct)ttage taken for the

acco;n)nodation of the children. .Mr. Kuhn. having

faith in (lod that He would estalilish a mission there,

consentcKl to remain as guest .it the ( ongregational

manse until thi« could be fully accomplished. The
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result was that the pceseut Point IVaice AboriginaB

Mission, with the Rev. J. Ivuhii as Superintendent,

grew out of this leading of divine providence, and has

been the means of immense blessing to the native tribes

on the Peninsula.

Fanners began nov to settle on Green's Plains.

These looked to the Kadina Chm-ch for the su])ply of

religious services, which were conducted at first in

tents, and afterwards in n pine chapel erected bv the

settlers for public worship ir; connection with the

Kadina Congregational Church. The services held in

this chajiel w^ere for several years the only regular

religious services held betweeri Kadina and the River

Light. In Tuly, 1865, the Rev. Peter Barr came to

assist Mr. Wilson, with the assistance of the Home Mis-

sionary Society, ^!r. Wilson to board him at the manse.

After a year's assiduous useful labours in this field

Mr. Rarr accepted a call from the Congregational ( 'hurch

at Truro, where his eminently diligent and useful

labours till the time of his entering into rest are well

known.

In 1S66 the Church at Wallaroo had become so strong

that it wanted a minister of its own, and Mr. Wilson,

declining to become that minister, they called to the

pastorate the Rev. D. M. Davies. Mr. Davies was

solemnly ordained to the work of the Christian ministry

in the Congregational Church, Wallaroo, by the Rev.

F. W. Cox and the Re'-. W. Wilson, assisted by other

ministers of the town.

The Presbyterian friends, greatly aided by the

liberality of Sir W. W'. Hughes, erected a substantial

new church, and the Rev. D. M. Davies, having soon

accepted a call from the Welsh Congregational Church,

near Ballarat, Victoria, the Congregational Church at
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Wallaroo felt itself unable to call another minister.

Soon after this Mr. Wilson had the great pleasure of

assisting the ministers of the various surrounding

<lenominations at the ordination of the Eev. John Lloyd

as pastor of the Welsh ( *ongregationa] Church at

V>'allaroo, which may he long remain to be, enjoying

as great and even greater blessings than the Lord has

already bestowed upon him and his deeply - attache 1

flock.

Meanwhile the wanr of a new church had lone been

ielt at Kadina. and a site havinjr been ymrchased. a

comfortable new church was erected and oj)ened on

S'uidny, April 2i, 1870. by the Hev. J. Jefferis, of

North Adelaide, preaching in the morning and evening,

and the Rev. \. Michie, Presbyterian minister of

Wallaroo, in the afternoon to overflowing and. deeply

-

interested congregations.

The new church continued to be tilled with a regular

congregation, and a Sunday-school was gathered under

the superintendence of Mr. J. N. Lewis, of the South

Australian Bank, which required the accommodation

of both old and new chapels. Many, too. wpic added

to the Church, in one year 25 having been added from

the world, besides additions by transference from other

Churches.

A valuable feature in the ''hurch's operations Mas

a Young Men's I-iterary Society, under the care of Mr.

Wilson, as its President, which continued for twelve

years.

\t the close of January, 1878. the pastor resigned his

position at Kadina with the view of going home for a

season, and so great was the regard and the interest felt

in his dey)arture that testnnonials amounting to about

jE'^00 were presented to him and his family from Kadina
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and nei!j;hbourho(xl and fi'om Adelaide ;>nd the .subiHl)^.

The York ''s Peninsula Aboriginal ^fission T'omniittoe

also presented Mr. Wilson with a valuable gold watch.

On arriving at Cape Town Mr. Wilson met the Kev. T.

Kvte on his way to South Australia, and was able to

direct, his way to Kadhva. where he settled, beginning

his ministry in August. IMTS. Mr. Kyte, being an able

preacher, laboured witlx iiuu'li arceptance at Kadina

until Deceiid.er 'U, 188 1, when he accepted an invita-

tion from the Congregational Church in Perth, W'estern

Australia. Tu Aprih 18S5, the Pev. W. Watkins, having,

l)een invited to a twelv'-monthj^' pastorate, accepted

the invitation, and remained with the Church for that

time. The pulpit was then variously sup]jlied for

several months. The Church at Kadina has since tliat

time called iMr. Alfred Hodge, of Union College, son

of the Rev. C. Hodge, to l)e their nn'nister, and he having

accepted theii- cordial call. ])egan his ministry on-

Novem})er 1. 1886, which ministry may the Lord:

long niaintain and rendei- \ovy fruitful in the salvation

of souls, and the strong and pure ui)-building of His

Church at Fxadina on the one foundation which He hatb

laid in Zion.

In 1912 tlie population of Kadina is 2,000, and at

the Wallaroo Mines, 1] miles distant, there are 3,300

people : number of houses, 400 ; and at Wallaroo

Mines, 787
;

places of public worship, six, and two at

Wallaroo Mines. Mr. Hodge fulfilled the duties of the

pastorate for nine years, when he accepted a call to the

Broken Hill Congregational Church. Mr. A. H. Austin,

a student from Adelaide, who afterwards went to

Camden College and graduated at the Sydney University,
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and is iiow a minister at Mosnian's Bay, Sydney,

fuhilied the pastorate for a Little while. In turn the

Pvev.s. D. McNaughtan, G. Hill, M.A., the late Rev. B.

Dortnan, and Mr. Xorinan Beaney were ministers for

brief periods.

The Rev. R. J. Rose took charge of the Church in

May. 1906. Owing to a slump in the copper market

and the continued bad harvests in the district, the

Church suffered considerably. Many of its most

active and loyal supporters during this period of financial

depression were compelled to remove to other districts,

but there still remained a faithful few, and with in-

creased activity in the copper mines and the return

of good seasons, efforts were made to raise funds to

repair the Church property, and about £100 was raised

for this purpose. Tn February, 1907, it was decided

to erect a school hall at the rear of the church, to be

named the Wilson Memorial Hall, that the name of

the first minister might be perpetuated. Mr. Wilson

for forty years rendered magnificent services to our

Churches in South Australia. On March 6 the founda-

tion-stone was laid by Mr. Wilson's daughter, Mrs. E.

H. Bakewell, a member of Stow Memorial Church.

On May 1st the opening ceremonj' took place, when Mr.

Ernest Wilson was asked to open the door of the build-

ing. Portraits of Mr. and Mrs. Wilson, presented by

Mrs. Bakewell, were also unveiled by Mr. E. Wilson,

The cost of the hall was £500, the Chapel Building

Society advancing £250. On December ;Ust, 1908,

Mr. Rose terminated his pastorate. Mi. Thos. D.

Webb, a student, began his pastorate in Jamiary,

1909, and by degrees the Church has improved in

membership and attendance, and has been freed of the

financial obligations incurred during troublous years.
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In October, 1911, the jubilee of the Church wa.s cele-

brated, and the Rev. A. Depledge Sykes, Chairman of

the Union, preached to large congregations. On this

occasion the Church was again renovated at the cost

of £140. Mr. Webb continued in the pastorate until

July 21st of this year, when he accepted a call to the

Bordertown Church.

Mr. T. Cowley, sen., and Mrs. T. Harwood, who were

received into fellowship by Mr. Wilson in 1867, are

still in office.

Mr. H. L. Curnow, student of Parkin (Allege, is a

member of Kadina.

Wallaroo (population, 4,000 ; houses, 670 ;
places

of worship, seven ; 123 miles west).—This place is the

port of the great mining district of Yorke's Peninsula.

Its principal support is the Smelting Works for the

reduction of copper.

Its history is so much mixed up mth the sister

Church at Kadina that much of what Mr. Wilson has

written apphes to Wallaroo also. A begimiing appears

to have been made about 1864 to hold meetings for

worship, and a Church of 15 members was formed,

the Rev. W. Wilson being pastor. The next step was

the pvirchase of a site and the erection of a church at a

cost of £700, in which the Rev. P. Barr ministered for

about a year. The erection and partial endowment
of the Presbyterian Church by Sir W. W. Hughes
weakened the Congregational interest considerably.

The Rev. D. M. Davies. from Brecon College, North

Wales, arrived in 1866, was duly called and ordained

as already described. Mr. Davies is now a member
of the Legislature in Victoria. After this Mr. John

Lloyd, who was employed on the Smelting Works,

was accustomed to preach in Welsh regularly to his
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compatriots on the Lord's clay ; and very highly valued

^^ere those services from their originahty and fervour,

and from the manifest blessing of God upon them.
< 'ircumstances connected with the works there made it

likely that these services would be lost, which led to an

effort being made l^y the workmen, and backed by
friends outside, to secure j\tr. Lloyd's teaching and
oversight in future. After a year, the people gave

Mr. Lloyd a solemn call to the pastorate, which he

could not see the way clear to accept for some time.

Eventuall}', after prayer and consultation with Mr.

Wilson, he thought the hand of God was discernible in

it, and assented to the call. Mr. Lloyd was engaged

in teaching in the Wallaroo school, when he was ordained

on January 19, 1869, the Revs. W. Wilson, A. Michie

(Presbyterian), Thomas Raston (Wesleyan), Thomas
Garnett (Primitive Methodist), taking part in the

service with the lajang on of the hands of the presbyters.

The Rev. John Lloyd while holding his office in Wal-
laroo, preached in both his native tongue and in English,

with equal acceptance in both. Since his ministry

the church has been finished and seated fully, and a

comfortable manse secured. There are about 100

members in fellowship : Sunday scholars, 150 ; with

a congregation of about 180 on Sunday evenings.

For many years Mr. Lloyd continued to conduct a

morning service in Welsh, and the Church was well

attended, but as years went on the greater part of

his congregation came to be those who did not under-

stand the language, and so an English service was
substituted in the morning. But up to the last Mr.
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]jloyd conducted a week night service in his native

tongue. The Church was always well alteiuled, and

for many years the building was taxed to its utmost.

On the occasion of any special service the Institute

hall had to be engaged. Mr. Lloyd was famous

throughout the State, and his services Mere in great

demand. He received several invitations to pastorates

in this vState and Victoria, but his people would not

hear of him leaving. For some time he had oversight

of the Church at Mount Lofty in the early days of its

history, and was invited to become minister there, but

his attachment to Wallaroo was too strong. He was

a great worker in the temperance cause, and exercised a

potent influence on the lives of the growing boys and

girls of the town. In October, 1904. Mr. Lloyd

attended Bordertown to conduct the anniversary ser-

vices there, this l^eing the only town in South Australia

he had not visited. During the service he was seized

'with illness, from which he never recovered, and he

died at Bordertown in the house of Mr. Milne on October

29th. 1904. His body was brought to Wallaroo,

and his funeral was attended by the largest concourse

of people ever seen at a similar gathering in the town,

and the grief was widespread. Five hinidred school

children inarched in the ])rocession, thus paying their

tribute to him who was known as The Children's

Friend

.

The Re\-. Rees Jones succeeded Mr. Lloyd in October,

1905, and remainetl until April, 1907. In the following

May, the Rev. George A. Cooper, of Houghton, was

invited to become the minister. He carried on an

eificient and effective work. He recently moved to

Milanir.
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For many years, as has already l)eeii observed, the

Church suffered from lack of accommodation. 1 ut

owing to the dread of incurring debt the work of enlarg-

ing the church was continually delayed : but in 160H

it was decided that this necessary work could no longer

be postponed. The enlargement of the Church was

completed on February 5th, when in the presence of

a great gathering Mrs. E. Lloyd, widow of the beloved

minister, re-opened the C-hurch and renamed it the

Lloyd Memorial Church in memory of its first pastor.

TuMBY Bay.—Among the towns which have lately

been attracting our farming population to Fyre's

Peninsula is Tumby Bay. A number of our ])eople

had settled in this town, and it was thought l)y the

Governors of the Parkin Mission that a ( "hiuch should

be established there The work was commenced by
Mr. A. S. Meldrum in 1906. In January, 190S. the

foundation-stone of a church was laid by the President

of the Mission. Senator Joseph Vardon ; and in April

of the same j^ear the church was opened for ])ul)lic

worship by the Chairman of the Union, the Rev.

Leonard Robjohns, and a fellowshij) was formed. A
manse also was built for the residence of our minister.

After two years' service Mr. Meldnnn was removed
to Renmark, and the Rev. H. (i. Nelson, of Adelaide

College, was appointed to the flistrict. Mr. Xelson

continued to do good work until June, 1911, when he

withdrew in response to a call from the Chuich at

Maclaren Vale. The Rev. H. B. Pocock. who canie

from New South Wales, is no« the minister in charge,

and there is every prospect of a successful mini8trJ^

Maitlani) (population, 177 : houses, 61 : places of

worship, four ; 111 miles west).—The following aceoiuit

of this place, situated on Yorke's Peninsula, iti the
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midst of an agricultural district, together with its

various stations, is drawn up by the energetic pastor,

the Rev. John Chapman. It presents an admirable

picture of a working Church carrying out its Lord's

work under by no means specially advantageous out-

ward circumstances.

The first conception of the establishment of Congre-

gational worship arose from the action of the Rev. J.

R. Ferguson in suggestion to the Rev. R. G. Bayty,

and was followed by a visit of the Rev. W. Wilson and

others, who visited the settlers on the spot. This led

to the settlement of Mr. -Bayly, who commenced his

work in January, 1875. He condvicted services in

the houses, and visited many of the families in the

Hundreds of Maitland, Kilkerran, Tiparra, Wauraltee,

and Cunningham. In 1875 an iron church w'as erected

in Maitland, which was enlarged in 1876 ; a manse
also was erected, and an allotment of land, comprising

three acres, was purchased, Mr. H. Pitcher advancing

the monej'. Rev. R. G. Bayly remained in charge

until February, 1881, ^Ahen the < 'hurch roll-book

contained 64 members' names, including the out-

stations, of which there were four —Weetulta. Kil-

kerran. Yorke Valley, and Wauraltee. After Mr.

Bayly's resignation, through some unfortunate dis-

agreement, and the congregation and Sunday-school

scattered, the ser\ices were resumed and conducted

by lay preachers until the arrival of Mr. J. Chapman
from Sydney, who accepted the jiastorate, and entered

on his duties in November, 1882. During the interval,

Weetulta and Wauraltee w^ere lost to the denomination,

and the membership dwindled down to 21 in Xovember,

1882. Soon after ]Mr. Chapman's arrival a new church

was decided upon, the foundation-stone of which was
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laid by the Hon. R. A. Tarlton on December 13, 1882,

Revs. F. W. Cox. C. Manthorpe, J. C. Kirby, and T. M.
Rowe (Wesleyau) assisting. Mr. Chapman was
ordained in the old iron church the same day, the same
ministers assisting thereat. In April, Rev. W. R.
Fletcher. M.A., came over to preach in aid of the new
church building fund, when the large Institute was
tilled with a very appreciative audience. Mr. Fletcher's

sermons made a lasting impression on many. The
church was formally opened in August. 1883, bj' Rev.
T. Hope, the services being continued the following

Sunday, when Rev. J. Lloyd preached. The building

is of stone, with cement dressings, and with the furniture

cost £860, of which £560 was paid off. Revs. F.

W. Cox, C. Manthorpe, J. C. Kirby, and Rev. W. R.
Fletcher, M.A., rendered valuable assistance by
receiving subscriptions fiom Adelaide and neighbour-

hood. Sitting accommodation was provided for 142

;

number of members, 45 ; Sunday-school scholars, 48 ;

teachers, five. The pastor was assisted by the co-

pastor (honorary), Rev. W. J. Kuhn, and a staff of 11

lay preachers.

Mr. Chapman continued his ministry until March,
1888, when he resigned to go to Hamley Bridge.

He was succeeded by the Rev. W. S. Fernie, who
carried on a faithful work for nine years until he went
to New Zealand in April, 1897.

The Rev. T. S. Williams was then minister from
September, 1897, until August, 1910. Mr. WiUiams
did splendid work. He opened a new preaching

station at Cunningham a few months before he left,

and a Lecture Hall at Maitland was completed at the

same time and dedicated to the service of God.
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Mr. Williams' long serv-ice to our Churches was

recognised by the brethren by his election to the Chair

of the Union in 1908.

The present minister, the Rev. E. J. Stacy, began

his ininistry in November, 1910. He was for some

years a journalist in Adelaide and an officer of the

Port Adelaide Church under Mr, Kirby, to whom he

feels indebted for encouragement and help in his efforts

to fit himself for the sacred office. While engaged in

his journalistic work our friend qualified himself for

the ministry by availing himself of the provisions made

by the Congregational Union Committee for " extra

mural" students. He had also given a large amount

of his time to Sunday-school work, and made a special

study of that branch of Christian service. He is

already proving himself a great force in the town and

surrounding district.

In December, 1904. a disastrous fire broke out in the

town. The fenc^e surrounding the property was

destroyed. The Church building and the manse

were in great danger, but happily they were saved.

A District Committee was formed in 1911 of representa-

tives of the three associated Churches— Maitland,

Tippara West, and Cunningham—to manage the

common concerns of the pastorate and C^hurches.

Ktlkerr.4n Church.—Ser\aces were established in

1876, in the houses of Messrs. R. C. E. Philps and J.

Jones, sen. In 1880 the people decided on building a

church. Mr. S. B. Moody gave an acre of land for that

purpose, while others gave donations in money, lime,

stone, sand, and water. The walls were erected, the

roof put on, door and windows fixed, and for three

years the building was used in an unfinished state.

In 1883 it was decided to complete the building, and
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between £60 and £70 was raised and expended in

flooring, ceiling, ])lastering, and painting the interior,

and in renovating the exterior of the building The

church is of limestone, with cement dressings, and

provides sitting accommodation for 72 persons ; it is

nicely furnished. The cost was about £200. ^Jumber

of ('hurch members, 10; Sunday-school scho'ars. 20:

teachers, three.

This Church has now been closed for some years.

YoRKE Valley (Upper).—A preaching service was

commenced at the house of Mr. Pitcher about 1878.

and was continued fortnightly. .\ Sunday-school

was also conducted on alternate Sundays under

the charge of Mr. J. Milhinch. A cottage prayer

meeting was held monthly (average attendance. 15).

YoRKE Vallkv (Lower).—a Sabbath-school was

established in the Yorke Valley public school in 1883,

and was carried on by Messrs. J. H. .Smith

and J. Polkinghorne. Number of scholars in Yorke
Valley Sunday-schools (Upper and Lower), 45

;

teachers, five.

The Rev. J. Chapman reported in March. 1888,

services had been discontinued at Yorke Valley.

Cunningham (7| miles from Maitland).— Shortly

before rehnquishing the pastorate of the Maitland and

Tippara Churches, Mr. Williams received a requisition

signed by twenty-two residents of Cunningham dis-

trict requesting the Congregational denomination to

hold services in the school.

Services were commenced on January 1st of last

year by the Rev. E. J. Stacy. At the conclusion of

the service the Church Covenant was read and explained,

and nine of the persons present signed as foundation

members, and received one another in the Lord. The
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sacrament was administered, and the first church meet-

ing was held.

A Sunday-school is conducted piior to the afternoon

service, and the work is full of promise.

In May. 1911. a Uterary and Debating Society was
started which meets monthly.

Since January a fortnightly Sunday evening service

has been held.

In consequence of a visit of the Rev. A. H. Teece

something will be done foi* the forward movement
of the Congregational Union.

TiPARRA West Church.—In June, 1888. the Rev. J.

Chapman commenced service in a house belonging to

Mr. J. Tilley in this newly-settled district. The
congregations continued to increase until the building

became too small. Early in 1885 it was decided to

erect a Church ; a block of land was given by Mr.

Wakefield, while others gave stone, lime, sand, and
water. A substantial stone church, with cement
dressings, was erected, and opened in October, 1885,

by Rev. J. Lloyd. The cost was about £170. Number
of members, 17 ; sittings, 95 ; Sunday-school scholars,

33 ; teachers, four. Total number Church members
in Maitland and associated Churches, 72 ; scholars

146 ; teachers, 17.

The further story of Tiparra West is much the

same as that of Maitland, with which it is associated.

Tiparra North.—A new station, about nine miles

north-east of the Tiparra West Church. Services

were commenced in this newly-settled district. The
spiritual wants of the people having been neglected,

we felt justified in incurring this additional responsi-

bihty. The work has been discontinued for some
years.
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The following paper has been put in the writer's

hands for use in compiling this historic record, and it

is believed that it can be put to the most interesting

use by printing it here verbatim. The Mr. Giles re-

ferred to is ]\Ir. VVm. Giles, for many years manager of

the South Australian Company, and father of Messrs.

Hy. and Thos. Giles, of Adelaide. The Mr. J. J.

Barclay is the writer of the memorandum following,

who was himself the "Sailors' Society Missionary"

referred to, and who for some time hoisted the Bethel

flag at Port Adelaide as seamen's missionary •

—

"Chronological memos connected with the late Mr. Giles and
introduction of the preaching of the gospel at the various

l)laces in South Australia.

"1837, Oct. 18.

—

Mr. Giles arrived at Kangaroo Island in

company with Mr. Stow.

" 1838.—About March a building was erected at the Old Port,

where services were conducted by Mr. Stow and the then Colo-

nial Chaplain (Eev. C. B. Howard), and the agent of the Bri-

tish and Foreign Sailors' Society (Mr. J. ,J. Barclay).

'
' 1839.

—

Mr. Giles and family arrived in Adelaide from
Kangaroo Island, and were received into the fellowship of the

Chunh at Freeman-street, August 8. About this time the pre-

sent Port was commenced, when Mr. Giles and the agent of the

Sailors' Society preached in the open air on the timber used for

piling. Services also afloat May, 1838.

1840.

—

nindmarsh Mud Chapel (professionally called pise)

was built by the (now) Rev. W. Oldham, when Messrs. Stow,

Giles, Oldham, Webb, and Barclay engaged in turn to supply it

—afternoon at 3, evening at 6.

"1842.—Mr. John Bidley (inventor of the Ridley stripper,

so valualde to the farming interest) built a chapel at Alber-

ton, which was then supplied Sabbath mornings by Messrs.

Giles and Barclay until more pressing engagements nearer

Adelaide led to its discontinuance.

<'1H43,—In December of this year a chapel was opened at

Brighton, and to be used as a Union Chapel by various denomi-

nations. The morning being by consent of the then Trus-

tees to bo supplied by Congregationalists, Mr. Giles and Mr.

Barclay consented to take tliat service, which they continued

to do until October. Is-I'.). when the Rev. W. Nicholls took

charge of the pulpit.
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"A movement took place to enable the VVesleyans to take
possession of the chapel, -which was stoutly resisted by the
Trustees being Congregationalists. who, being the strongest, car-
ried the day. A meeting of the congregation was then held,
which resulted in a joint invitation to Messrs. Giles and Barclay
to take entire charge of the place, when service was held morn-
ing and evening until .Mr. Xicholls took charge of the pulpit.
"On the 20th October. 1S49, the congregation presented to

each of the above gentlemen a large pulpit Bible, suitably in-

scribed, in token of their appreciation of their services.

'

' 18-47.—In Septomlier service was commenced in the house
of a resi<lent at Glenelg. which, in the course of four weeks, had
become so large a congregation that steps were immediately
taken to build a chapel.

*
' In December the old chapel was opened out of debt. Mr.

Stow preaching the first sermon. It was supplied by Messrs.
Giles and Barclay on alternate Sabbaths until the settlement
of the Eev. Ch. Hall, who was ordained by Mr. Stow. Mr.
Hall leaving soon afterwards, the supply of the pulpit again
fell to the care of Messrs. Giles and Barclay. Some time
after this the Eev. W. Xicholls became minister of Glenelg,

who, after a time, found it necessary to retire, when the agents

of the Home Missionary Society took charge of the pulpit,

Mr. Giles from that time taking the largest share of the ciuties,

which he continued to do until the arrival of the Eev. C E.
Palmer, in 1860. After Mr. Palmer 's removal to England Mr.
Giles again took the largest number of the services.

'

' For many years Mr. Giles preached at Brighton in the

morning, and then rode to Hindmarsh and preached afternoon

and evening, alternate Sabbaths the services being taken by
Mr. Barclay. When Mr. Giles went to reside at Glenelg he

took the larger number of the services at Glenelg. leaving his

colleague (Mr. Barclay) to take the more distant stations. Mr.

Giles also took his share in supplying the following places:—
Mitcham, Enfield. Morphett Vale, Happy N'alley, Houghton,
Shipley, Edwardstown, Glen Osmond, Port, and Alberton."



CHAPTER VII.

" Great men have been among us ; hands that penned
And tongues that uttered wisdom—better none."

It is good foi' us in the quietnes.s that comes after

the perusal of the many documents which have come

into our hands to think of " the mighty dead."

]Most of those who have wrought iiobly and spoken

truthfully are noticed under the headings of the

Churches in which they laboured. In putting the

period of our stor}^ rapidly under view one remembers

such names as F. W. Cox, of Hindmarsh ; Charles

Manthorpe, of Glenelg : John Lloyd, of Wallaroo
;

W. C Thompson, of Xorth Adelaide ; J. Aston, of

Hindmarsh-square ; H. T. Fry, of Xorth Adelaide, and

a host of others whose names are written in the Book

of Life. These pass in procession before us, "a cloud

of witnesses," and we are moved to emulate their

devotion and zeal. There are a few, however, whose

story cannot properly be told in connection with any

one Church, and it seems proper mention should be

made of them here.

The first is William Wilson. From a biography in

MS. written by his widow, who died a few years ago,

we gather the following .

—

William Wilson was born in 1827 in an old house on

the l)anks of the River Findhorn, in the Scottish- pro-

vince of Moray. His father, William Wilson, was at

that time superintending the erection of additional

Churches in the Highlands for the Church of Scotland

provided by Dr. Chalmers' Church extension scheme.
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Although formerly a highly esteemed elder of the

Kirk of Scotland, he had just before the l)irth of his

youngest son William, seen it his duty to join the Con-

gregational Church in Nairn, of which he was a deacon

for more than 30 years. An eminent minister of the

Church of Scotland, one of the leaders of the Free

Church, at the time of the disruption in 1843, when

he heard of this good man's death, said to William :

" Your father is gone before me, and my model

Christian man is gone with him. It has been said

that a true Christian man cannot live in a neighbour-

hood without shedding his light over a radius of 12

miles, but I would double the distance for him."

William's mother's name was Henrietta Gardyn,

witnessing to her Huguenot origin. Her ancestors,

although originally banished from France for conscience

sake, had been for long naturalised in Scotland. Her

father was the last of a line of John Card3'ns, of Cardyns

Mill, who then held a small estate from a great chief

of the name of Brodie, on the condition of following

him with all his men in time of war. His last act of

feudal service was assisting to defend Brodie Castle

against the rebels just before the Battle of Culloden.

Mr, Gardyn's ancestors were banished to Moray by

the Scottish Council in the reign of Charles for adhesion

to the Covenant.

In his house there was a place of concealment for

the persecuted which often in time of trouble proved

a place of refuge. Master Hogg, of blessed memory, a

Presbyterian minister, who came over from Holland

j-early at the risk of his life to baptise the bairns and

dispense the Sacrament, was hidden here.

There was a deep glen near the house in which the

persecuted used to meet for worship with a stream
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running through it, at which the children were baptised.

On the banks of this stream the Lord's Table was spread

while watchers were placed on the Cairns around to

give warning of an approaching foe.

So it may be seen William Wilson had Nonconformist

blood flowing through his veins, and it is not to be

wondered at that his coming to this State was fraught

with so much blessing to our people.

One of the daily papers in speaking about his life

and work at the time of his death, which took place

at Port Victor on June 9th, 1895, spoke of him in these

terms .

—

" Another leader has fallen. There are few helpers

in missionary work who render more important service

than the Honorary Secretaries of our Auxiliaries.

Last month we had to record the death of our comrade,

the Rev. G. G. Howden, who had so faithfully served

the Victorian Auxiliary, and now the South Australian

Auxihary has lost its Secretary. Mr. Wilson had not

for a long period filled the position. He only took

up the work two years ago, when the Rev. S. Lenton,

who had been Secretary for many years, resigned
;

but Mr. Wilson was always a zealous friend to the

missionai-y cause. By reading he had an intelligent

knowledge of the work of the London Missionary

Society, and his interest was fed by that knowledge.

Our last communication from him was respecting the

past history of the South Australian Auxiliary, in the

reconstruction of which he took an active part thirty

years ago. We shall miss, when we visit Adelaide,

the warm, personal welcome he always gave us. The

following particulars of his life will interest many :

—

" The Rev. W. Wilson was born in Nairn, Scotland.

Descended from godly parents on both sides (they
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rejoiced in being of the stock of the persecuted

Covenanters), he was early influenced by Divine grace^

and all through life never seemed to lose the fei'vour

of religious influence.

" He was educated for the ministry in (llasgow.

His first charge was in Linlithgow, being ordained

at the age of twenty-one. over the Congregational

Church there, successor to the Rev. W. Knowles.

After three years he removed to Faii^irk. 'neing a larger

population, he thought it a larger sphere for Home
Mission work. After five years of useful work he

accepted a call to this '-olony. and, arriving in 1858,.

he settled a! Hindmarsh. ^^•here he laboured very

happily for five years.

" In April, 1SG3, he went to Kadina. where he

laboured for fifteen years without interruption, except

a three months' tour in New South Wales, Victoria.,

and Tasmania. Here Churches were formed ai Wal-

laroo, Green's Plains, and Maitland ; here also the

mission to the aborigines was established at Point

Pearce, Yorke's Peninsula. . The Rev. Juhus W. Kuhn,

Moravian Missionary, made his home with Mr. and

Mrs. Wilson, labouring successfully among these poor

degraded people in the neighbourhood of Kadina, who

gathered round the missionary and the friends who

helped him. In time the Government gave an allot-

ment of land at Point Pearce, where a house iov the

missionary and protection for the natives was soon

erected.

" The missionary then removed to the station, and

it was a constant source of interest to the Christian

friends in the three townships, and many visits were

paid and gratifying results witnessed in the changed

lives of manv natives.
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'' Tn 1878, Mr. Wilson, with his family, took a trip

to England, where he acted as deputation from the

Colonial Missionary Society. He travelled during the

15 months 7,000 miles in visiting the Churches of this

Mission, and with some success.

" In 1881 he returned to Adelaide, and since that

time spent nearly 10 years of successful labour at Port

Pirie.

" Coming to Adelaide for change at the end of that

time he had charge of two small Churches, Kilkenny and

Henley Beach, acting also as Secretary to the London
Missionary Society, in which he ever took all through

life the greatest interest."

Martin Burgess.—One of the greatest losses sus-

tained by the Congregational Union in these 25 years

was occasioned by the death of Martin Burgess, who
had for many years been identified with our denomina-

tional work as well as with the work at Stow Me-

morial Church. He died after a painful illness at

his residence in Malvern on December 30th, 1900, the

eve of the inauguration of the Australian Common-
wealth in Sydney.

Mr. Burgess was a sound financier, and in all councils

in which decisions had to be made in connection with

the administration of funds, his opinion was eagerly

sought and invariably adopted. At the time of his

death The Register gave the following account of him :

—

".Mr. Martin Burgess was a brother of the Rev. Dr,

H. T. Burgess, and was the eldest son of the late Mr.

Thos. Burgess, who settled in this colony in 1848, and
died about 25 years ago. He was born in Cheshire

in 1837, and came to South Australia with his parents.

He first went to Burra district, where he remained

until 1856, when his parents moved to Noarlunga.
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In the southern town he was for several j-ears associated

with his father in the business of a general store. In

the seventies Mr. M. Burgess joined the late Mr. Jas.

Clark, of Xoarlunga, and carried on a milling and chaff

cutting business under the style of Clark & Co. After

the dissolution of partnership in 1884 Mr. Burgess

took up his residence in the city, and was in partner-

ship with ]\[r. George ^lugg as produce dealers and

wood and coal merchants. He was a prominent

member of the Congregational Church, and an office

bearer in Stow Memorial Church. At the annual

meeting of the Congregational Union, held at the end

of 1899, he was elected Vice-Chairman for the cur-

rent year. He held the position of ^linute Secretary

to the Congregational Union for several years. In-

dependent of his active connection with religious work,

Mr. Burgess also took a deep interest in Friendly

Societies, and was connected with the Manchester

Unity, Oddfellows, and Forresters Lodge. In an

address delivered at the funeral service held at

Stow on the Sunday following his death, the late

Rev. F. W. Cox, who was intimately acquainted with

]Mr. Burgess for many years, sympathetically referred

to him as the centre of a circle of influence. In his

home, in Church, and in other departments of life he

displayed the same sterling character. He had done

his life's Avork with conspicuous ability and energy, and

his place would be difficult to fill. Alluding to the

religious character of ^Ir. Burgess, the preacher said :

" His was not of a demonstrative or emotional sort.

He was more intent on doing the will of God in his

day and generation than in doctrinal or speculative

matters. He did his work with singleness of heart

and integrity of purpose."
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For many 3^ears he was organist and Secretary of the

Church at Maclaren Vale, and held oflfice at Stow
Church at various times as Secretary, Treasurer, and
was for many years a member of the Executive ( 'om-

mittee of the Congregational Union.

He was a Governor of the Parkin Mission from Jul}^

1893, until the time of his death, and was made President

of the Mission upon the death of the Rev. C. Manthorpe
in 1897. He was also Secretary of the Chapel Building

Society.

Mr. Burgess, while living in Xoarlunga, used to drive

into Maclaren Vale to help at the services, a distance

of five miles each Avay. In addition to this, he was
teacher and Superintendent at the Sunday-school at

Noarlunga for many years.

Mr. Cox said of him : "I was especially associated

with him in the Parkin Trust and the Parkin Mission,

and I may say, being an active worker and a responsible

officer in one especially. He was one of those to whom
I could always look for counsel, and \\'ho was ready and
able to give a clear, sharp, incisive opinion in any
matter of difficulty, and to jDoint the best way out of

it. That was a precious quality, and he did all his

"work with energy, fidelity, and conspicuous ability."

What Mr. Cox said about bis particular relations with

him all who came into contact with him knew to be

true. There was no complicated question submitted

to him to which he did not give the most symj^athetic

and careful attention, and we always recognised his

judgment as final.

Mr. Hope, the present Secretary of the Parkin ]\fis.sion,

has remarked more than once :
" There is no man we

miss so much on our Committee as Martin Bnrgcss."

The Rev. S. L. Harris, J. P.—We cannot do better
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than re[)roduce a notice of this -'father" from the pea

of Mr. Cox written for the Australian Independent :
—

On Wednesdoy, January 22, a considerable company
from Adelaide and the countryside around Macclesfield

gathered around the open grave at Battunga to pay

the last rites of respect to an aged and honoured servant

of God. His Master called him to Himself at the

further limits of human life on the 22nd. " Three

score years and ten, and if they l»e four score," says-

the psalmist, yet they are often full of labour and

sorro^^. Xot so in this case, for our friend was in the

midst of his family with all the assuagements of life's-

wearijiess that the love of children and grandchildren

and reverence of friends could bring to bear upon him
;

still the burden of 87 years is not a light one, and those

who pass the usual limit aie ready to write their testi-

mony, '' I would not live always."

The Revs. F. W. Cox and W. Wilson officiated at the

grave.

Samuel Link Harris was a man of good Kentish

family of old date. An ancestor, William Harris, was

one of Queen Elizabeth's captains in that navy which

made her country great in the long Spanish wars in

those tough old days, and was possessor of lands in

Kent, Gravesend, and thereabout. The family motto,

Do tn inns dedit, may have had reference to the stirring

events of those Spanish Armada days. Amias, a

grandson, was one of I'romwell's captains in after days

of strenuous conflict for freedom and for God.

The father of our deceased friend was resident tutor

and theological professor at Hoxton Academy, after-

wards merged in Highbury College, London, where he

received the degree of LL.D. in recognition of his

Hebrew scholarship. Mr. Harris attended the studies
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of his father's college, as they became possible to him,

from the age of six years, so that he was bred in an

atmosphere of scholarship, and became acquainted

with many of the literar}^ and scholarly men of the

early part of the century. His education finished,^

he had to choose between law and medicine, and,.

choosing the latter, \\-as bound for seven years to a

London practitioner. But when free his mind turned

towards the Christian ministry, and by the influence-

of the Rev. J. B. Bull, he was entered at Xewport

Pagnell Congregational College, Dr. John Cam])bellr

of the Tabernacle, also encouraging him. His first

charge was at Falkenham, in Suffolk, of which he was

the first pastor in 1837. In 1840 the pulpit at Clare,

in the same county, being vacant, he was invited, and

for eleven years had the satisfaction of seeing growth

and prosperity until the scene was clouded by a throat

attack, and loss of voice for Avhich there seemed no

remedv but a change of climate. 80 after a public

farewell, he and his family embarked in the "Asia"

in 'May. reaching Adelaide in September. At the

time of his arrival there was the gold digging crisis

in an acute stage. We dare say that everything ia

Adelaide looked as if Chaos had come again, so Mr,

Harris bought land near Macclesfield, and set to work

with some outside help tonuike a home for his young,

family at the picturesque valley at Glen Hurst.

He declined the pastorate of the Church at ^[accles-

field, as the minister, the Rev. J. B. Austin, though

preaching elsewhere, had not formally resigned, but

took the services until the return of Mr. Austin

about eighteen months afterwards. Mr. Harris, at

the urging of Mr. Stow, took occa-sional services at

Freeman-street, Glenelg, and at Cawler until the
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arrival of the Rev. G. G. Howden. At the end of that

time Mr. Wilson, having left Hindmarsh to go to

Kadina, Mr. Harris was called to the pastorate, which

he entered upon in April, 1863. Here for nine years

he laboured in the cause and kingdom of Christ his

Lord. In 1866 he was elected to the chair of the

Union, the duties of which office he performed with

the dignity of a gentleman and the grace of a Christian.

In 1872 he retired from the duties of the pastorate,

and withdrew to the calm retreat of Glen Hurst with

the younger members of his family, rendering help

to the Church at Macclesfield by occasional service,

and doing such public work as his position as a Justice

of the Peace required of him. His ministry was one

of quiet cultured teaching on the older lines of theological

thought, but not without its power and charm to

ihoughtful minds. The noise and bustle and

demonstrativeness of modern colonial life had no

attractions for him. The cool sequestered shade was

the region, whether of outward or inward life, that was

most congenial to him, but he did the Master's work

according to the grace given to him. He once said

to the writer, after he had heard a sermon in which the

more secular aspects of life were dealt with :
" It is

all very well for those who like it, but 1 do like a little

moje of Christ's gospel in a sermon."

One generation goes and another comes, and each has

to present truth in the aspect that presents itself to the

new order. What a mercy it is there are always the

young, the middle aged, and the old in the world, and

in the (^hurch at the same time. Each modifies the

other for good according to God's order.
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John ^IcEwin, for twelve years the minister at

Hindmarsh, was born at Glen Ewin in July, 1845. He
died at his residence in Norwood on May 9, 1894. His

father's home, " Glen Ewin," now the residence of

Mr. Robert McEwin, has always been a centre of

Christian hospitality.

At the ^Memorial Service conducted in his old Churchy

his friend, the Eev. J. C. Kirby, described him as one

who was " faithful unto denlh '" in every interest of

life.

j\[r. ]McEwin received his early training under Mr.

Needham, B.A., of Houghton. He afterwards studied

literature and mathematics under the well known Mr.

John Whinham. As a youth he was employed as a

clerk in the Bank of South Australia, but at the same

time he was preparing himself for the ministry of the

Presbyterian Church.

When fully qualified to receive his licence, Mr.

McEwin found he was unable wholly to subscribe to

the Confession of Faith, and was subsequently invited

to become the minister of the Hindmarsh Congrega-

tional Church.

In \H~-2 he was ordained the minister of the Hind-

marsh Church, and in the same year he was married

to the second daughter of the Rev. James Henderson,

then minister of St. Andrew's Church.

Soon after his settlement at Hindmarsh he formed

the purpose of starting an undenominational religious

newspaper. He thought he could manage a weekly

paper of this kind along with the duties of the pastorate.

In due course The Colonist made its appearance, and

after a time its designation was changed to the Christian

Colonist. The paper never came up to the ideal the

editor had formed of it, and, though in some things he
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may have differed from his most trusted friends, yet

they knew full well that his expressed opinions always

came from a true and honest heart.

Soon after the publication ot the Coloni'^t ilr. McEwin

began to feel that the claims of the paper and the

duties of the pastorate together, formed a burden too

onerous to be borne. He resigned his pastorate,

and gave bis undivided attention to the paper.

He always took an active part in the promotion of

every social, benevolent, and religious cause. He
held for a lengthened period the position of Secretary

to the Industrial School for the Blind. At the time

of his death he Avas Secretary to the Lay Preachers'

Association, was a member of the Committee of the

Aborigines Friends Association, of the Bush Mission,

and was an enthusiastic field naturalist. Nor was he

behind in the political interests of his country, for on

two occasions he sought Parliamentary honours in the

district of Gumeracha.

He was greatly loved by the many people to whom he

ministered in his church, and through the pages of his

paper.

He was cut off after only a few days illness at a time

when it seemed he was most needed by his loving wife

and children, and the increasing number of people he

was leading in the way of truth.

Mrs. McEwin and her two sons, Messrs. George and

Oswald McEwin, are identified with the work at North

Adelaide, Mr. George being a deacon of the Church.

Mr. Guthrie McEwin is a resident of Sydney, and

associated there ^ith our Church at Greenwich.

The Rev. D. Milne, sen., died at Bordertown in

October, 1910. Mr. Milne was born in London within
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the sound of Bow Bells m August, 1827. He was

baptised in St. Andrew's Scotch Church, and taken

up the pulpit steps for baptism according to a very

ancient custom. His education uas almost completely

self-acquired, he having attended school for only a

few weeks. In view of what followed, one can only

admire the energy with which he came to occupy, with

distinction, the high office Avhich he held for so many
years. In 1843 he was apprenticed in I^ondon to a

shoemaker for five years, and afterwards worked at

his trade. He came to South Australia in the

^' Shackamaxon," arriving in Adelaide in January,

1853. His first venture after arriving was a bhoe-

maker's shop in King William-street, where he followed

his trade for some years, and it is interesting to

note that later on he entered into partnership with

Mr. W. Radford in a shoemaker's business at Mount

Lofty. He was married a second time at Mount Lofty

on 26th February, 1862, to Grace Braj^ with whom
he lived happily until his decease, and who, with her

mother, arrived in South Australia in Juh', 1853.

Mr. Milne had 20 children, seven of whom were by a

former marriage. Mr. Milne was converted in the

Balenden-road Methodist Church, London, and imme-

diately gave himseK to God's work by teaching in the

Bermondsey Ragged School. Soon afterwards, at the

age of 16, he became a Methodist local preacher in

London. On his arrival in South Australia he did not

neglect the gift that was given him, for as a shoemaker

in Adelaide he at once had his name placed on the

local preachers' plan, and was soon at work. ( )n

coming to Mount Lofty he continued this work until

1862, often tramping many miles over the hills to take

services, and he made the l)oast to the clay of his death
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that he never missed an appointment on account of the

weather. In winter or summer, in cold or heat, he

was in his place at the appointed time. A great

change came over his life in 1862, when he was ap-

pointed as a missioner for the South Australian Bush

Mission, of which Mr. J. H. Angas was one of the

founders, in which connection he worked in the South-

East and other parts of the State. For five years,

the time in which the Mission was in existence, he

travelled vast distances, from Wellington on the Murray,

to Mount Gambier in the extreme south, visiting towns,

stations, and shepherds' huts, and preaching wherever

he got the opportunity. He became the friend of'

everybody near and far. He was welcomed at the

houses of rich and poor of every denomination. He
was a man of God who kiiew no fear. He would cross

the trackless desert to pay a visit to some lonely outpost.

When in later days roads were formed he woukl use

the hours he was compelled to pass on horseback in

studying, and wherever he coukl find a quiet corner

in a house he woukl unpack the books he carried,

and work strenuously to fit himself for higher services.

On finishing his work with the Bush Mission he went

to Kingstoji (vide Kingston), and for a time carried

on a successful work there. Through his Kingston

pastorate he got in touch with the people of the Tatiara

district surrounding Bordertown, so named in the time

of the gold escorts from Victoria to South Australia.

Tatiara is the aboriginal name for good country. On
leaving Kingston it was to Bordertown that Mr. Milne

turned his attention {vide Bordertown). It was a

happy day for BordertowTi when Mr. Milne settled

there. He selected a small section of land and built a

three-roomed house with his own hands, being helped
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by his eldest son and a labourer. The public school,

the old Institute, and the Congregational Church were

all built under bis guidance. As an indication of the

affection in which he was held by the townspeople he

was asked to lay the foundation-stone of the new
institute, which undertaking was largely due to the

leadership of him who had become an old man in the

service of the town. But Mr. Milne could not be con-

fined to the interests of a little town. He started

work at Mundalla, an adjacent village, where a hall

was built and later at Custom, which eventuated in the

present Pooginegorie Church. Just over the Victorian

border settlers had taken up land at Lillimur and Cove

Plain, and Mr. Milne commenced religious services

amongst the newcomers in these places. Mr. Milne

also was a pioneer minister at Keith, Coonalpyn,

Taileni Bend, Frances, and Bimium, whilst still

minister at Bordertown, and after his resignation in

Bordertown he took up this A\ork more fully, and was

known as the railway parson.

It M'as a great joy to him when his son, who was

born at Kingston, the Rev. David Milne, now of Stawell,

decided to enter the ministry.

In 1906 Mr. and Mrs. Milne paid a visit to the Old

Country to see their relatives still living in England.

He visited the old Methodist Church at Ballenden-

road in which he had given his heart to God and ad-

dressed the Sunday-school.

From his return to Australia in October to within

a few days of his death he lived quietly in his home at

Bordertown, taking occasional services and conducting

a Sunday-school Bible Class for young men and women
in his old church.



CHAPTER VIII.—OUR SOCIETIES.

The Congrec4ational Union.*

The following are the earliest notices of the formation

of the Union :

—

At the close of the services connected with the re-

cognition of the Rev. C. D. Watt, at Hindinarsh, on

Thursday evening, October 4th, 1849, the following

ministers being present—Revs. Messrs. Stow, Newland,

Austin, Watt, Pinkstone, Hall, and Mr. J. T. Shawyer

—it Avas suggested that a Congregational Union of

Ministers and Churches be formed for South Australia.

Eventually Mr. Stow and the brethren near Adelaide

were requested to draw up the draft of a constitution,

to be submitted to ministers at a meeting to be held in

Freeman-street chapel, Adelaide, in November.

January 30, 1850, a meeting of ministers and gentle-

men was held; bj' appointment, at Freeman-street

chapel. Present—Revs. Messrs. Watt, Hall, Baker,

Nicholls, and Messrs. Shawyer, Roberts, Giles, sen.,

RoKe, Bowen, and Aggett.

Rev. T. Q. Stow in the chair. Rev. J. M. Strongman,

Secretary.

An extended discussion then took place, when the

constitution and rules were decided upon.

The Congregational Union thus formed has held on its

way from that time to the present as the Central Society,

bj' which the whole body has had a unitj'' of purpose and

* The Congregational Union and Home Mission of South Australia

were Incorporated under the Act of Incorporation on September

14, 1877.
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action otherwise impossible to it. Indeed, it is not too

much to say that but for its existence and action the

ministers would have kno^Mi but httle of each other,

And the Churches felt but small interest iv. each other's

welfare. The Society, therefore, has special claims on

the su]iport of the community.

Many warm friends of the Union, feeling that the

objects of the two Societies—the Union and the Home
Mission—could be most effectually answered by their

complete amalgamation, the Rev. W. Wilson gave

notice of motion at the meeting at Encounter Bay, in

1861
— " That overtures be made from this Union to

the Home Missionary Society, with view to the com-

bination of the two Societies." It will be needless

to go through the prolonged discussion which arose

from this action. Suffice it to say that it was not

until October, 1865, that the Rev. Jas. Howie gave

notice
— " That at the annual meeting the two Societies

"be dissolved for the purpose of forming one new

organization," which was accordingly carried out in

March, 1866, when the rules of the new Society were

brought forward, and after discussion adopted, to the

oreat benefit of the denomination from that time.

We have re-printed as an appendix a copy of an

old document which has come into our hands. It

is an account of the meeting held in Freeman-street

Chapel in 1850 referred to by Mr. Cox.

The Secretary of the Union is the Rev. W. Pcnry

Jones, Avho was minister of Rose Park Church from

1889 to 1898, and of the Church at Victor Harbour

from that year until 1905. Like many of our preachers,

Mr. Jones is a Welshman, and received his theological

training at Brecken Memorial College, and came to
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Australia, having been minister of the Penywaeii

Church in Monmouthshire for three years. He has

previously been Secretary of the Union, having served

us in that capacity for eight years until he was elected

Chairman in October, 1897. \Vhen ^Ir. Jones took

office first as Secretary, the Home Mission Society had

a debt of £250, and in consec^uence the grants that had

been voted to the Churches could not be paid. The

late Ml'. Chartier, then a member of Glenelg Church,

said in October he would give £50 if the debt could be

hquidated by the time of the half-yearly meeting in

April. Xo one moved to do the work until four weeks

before the meeting, and ^Vlr. Jones realised that the

money would not be forthcoming unless someone

took up the challenge. He therefore set out upon

^^llat many of hi^^ friends thought a hopeless task, and

after very strenuous work had the great joy of seeing

a little more than the £200 required in the Treasurer's

hands before the meeting. The half-yearly meeting

in 1890 was held at :\Iount Lofty, and, owing to the

fact that the debt had been removed from the Home
Mission Society, it was a very joyful assembly. In

1906 Mr. Jones was elected again as Secretary of the

Congregational Union, and he is also now the paid

organiser of the Home Mission work. He has done a

great deal in the way of organising our work, and he

has enthusiastically thrown himself into it. He has

had not a little to do with starting new Churches, and

with the success of the Forward Movement. Our

Churches in the remotest places have been stimulated

by his visits, and helped by his kindly counsel.

The Forward Movement.

In anticipation of celebrating the 75th Anniversary

of Congregationalism in South Australia, Mr. Henry
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Savage, the Chairman of the Union, invited a mxmber

of ministers and laymen to a luncheon at BricknelFs

Cafe in September, 1910. He placed before his guests

a scheme by which he thought they might do honour to

the approaching event in a fitting manner. It was to

raise a fund of £5,000 to be used for the pur])0se of

estabUshing new Churches, Mission Stations, and

generally to extend our work.

Several of the friends spoke in laudatory terms of

the scheme, and promised ^Ir. Savage their sup])ort if

lie would introduce the matter at the annual meetings

in October.

This was done and the following Committee was

appointed :

—

Rev. J. W. Roberts (Chairman, 1910-1911).

Rev. Thomas Ho])e Rev. George Rayner
" A. Depledge Sykes " A. H. Teece, B.A.

" L. B. Fletcher " A. E. Gifford

Mr. Henry Savage Mr. Peter Wood
" F. E. Cornish " Walter Hutley
*' C. W\ Rutt " W. E. Thiem
"" C. Grieve Senator Vardon

Rev. W. Penry Jones (Convener).

When the Connnittee met Mr. Henry Savage was

appointed Chairman, Rev. W. Penry Jones Secretary,

and Mr. W. E. Thiem, Minute Secretary.

At the half-yearly meeting, held at North Adelaide

in April, 1911, the following rules and by-laws were

adopted .•—
1. That the name l)e " Th(3 Coiigregational I'oiwaid .Move-

ment Fund. '

'

2. That the object of the Fmid be to assist in establishing

•new Congiegational Chntehes and Missions i)y purchasing Uin<l

for Cliiu-cii sites, and the erection of suitable buiMings thereon,

<on such terms and conditions as the committee may determine.
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3. That the amount ailvaiic-ed to any one t-ause shall not

exceed £50(».

4. On the formation of a Fellowship the C'hurch shall under-
take the repayment of money ailvancod on the following condi-

tions:

—

First year rejjayment of loan at the rate of 1/ per
week for every £100 in addition to interest.

Second year repayment of loan at the rate of 2/ per

week for every £100 in addition to interest.

Third year and every subsequent year repayment of

loan at the rate of 3/ per week for every £100'

in addition to interest.

5. That the interest on loans he 11 jier cent.

6. That such loan be secured by the first moi-tgage over

the property and an ap^iroved guarantee for repayment. That
when a cause is not indebted to tlie Funds for more than

£200, and requires to borrow money on a first mortgage for

building purposes, the Committee is empowered to take a
second mortgage over the property and approved guarantee as

security.

7. That the Churches or Mission Stations able to repay loans

at a larger rate than specified in Eule 4, will be expected to

do so.

8. That the administration of the funds be in thio hands of a

committee elected by the Council of the Congregational Union
and Home Mission of South Australia (lncorporate<l), at its

annual meeting. That the conimittiee consists of six minis-

terial and six lay members, and rejiort to the annual meeting

of the Council of the Congregational Uuion. The committee-

shall elect its own officers.

9. The committee shall meet when required, but a quar-

terly meeting shall be held at which the Churches and Missions,

aided by the funds, shall present a report of their work, and
representatives of such Churches and Missions be invited to

attend for the purpose of mutual counsel.

10. That the committee be empowered to modify any of these

conditions under exceptional circumstances.

11. Any alteration or amendment to the rules shall be made
at the annual meetings of the Council of the Congregational

Union and Home Mission (Incorporated). Two months'^

notice in writing must be given of any such alteration.

Arrangements were made to visit our Churches tO'

secure the aid of our members and adherents.

The fund was helped materially at the beginning by-

liberal donations from Sir E. T. Smith, Messrs. Peter

Wood, J. M. Anderson, Mrs. L. G. Angas, and others.
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Already the Committee has helped to establish

Churches at Port Noarlunga, Mile End, Highgate, and

King's Park.

The fund now has reached the sum of £1,286, with a

number of promises yet to be realised.

The Congregational Chapel Building Society of

South Australia (Incorporated).

The existence of this Society is due to the wise fore-

sight and liberality of some of the early colonists who
were connected with Congregationalism . The Ebenezer

Chapel, Rundle-street, was erected in 1851 by the late

i\Ir. William Peacock, at his sole cost, and when it was

opened he generously offered, on pajanent of £1,000,

which was only one-third of the amount which he had

spent, to put the building in trust for the use of the

Church and congregation assembling there. This offer

was accejjted by the Church, and one-half of this amount

Mr. Peacock devoted to the formation of a fund to start

a Society for the extension of chapel building. This

amount was paid into the bank on April 15, 1859.

At the half-yearly meeting of the Congregational

Union, held at Clayton Chapel, Kensington, on

November 12, 1856, a Committee was appointed

organising a Congregational Chapel Building Societ3^

At a T'ommittee meeting held August 10, 1857

—

Present, the Pvcvs. T. Q. Stow and C. W. Evan, and

Messrs. J. J. Barclay, R. G. Bowen, G. Wills, and C.

Smedley— the Rev. Mr. Stow submitted a scheme and

rules for a Chapel Building Society.

A public meeting was held in Freeman-street Church

on 14tli December, 1857, under the presidency of the

late Wm. Giles, Esq., J. P., when the Rules of the
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Society were adopted, a Committee appointed, and the
work began.

Collections were made at this meeting, and from
Clayton Chapel, Kensington, a sum of £32 3s. 7d. was
received, being the first of the annual collections made
in fulfilment of an engagement entered into by that
Church with the late Mr. John Roberts, by which the
sums received at such annual collections were to be
paid to the Chapel Building Society until the full sum
of £700 advanced by Mr. Roberts towards the erection

of Clayton Chapel should have been paid. This has
since been commuted by payment of a lump sum.
The Society has been progressing steadily on, and

has rendered much seasonable aid to a number of our
Churches. Its present assets amount to £2,246 18s. 2d.

During the last twentA-five years this Society has
prospered. It has now a capital of £10,318 8s.

The numerous Churches which have been erected

during the period could not have been undertaken if

it had not been for the ready help afforded by this

Society. In addition to the building of churches,

the managers of the Society have taken a })road view
of the purpose of its establishment and ready aid has

jDeen given in the building of manses and schools.

Mr. R. M. Steele is the Secretary.

The Congregational Ministers' Provident
Association.

This Association originated in a discussion which
arose some few years ago when the Union held its

half-yearly meetings at Kapunda, on the best means for

providing some assistance for aged and disabled

ministers. A Committee was appointed, which in
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conference with Mr. John Brown brought up a report

at the next annual meetings to the effect that some

provision should be made to effect insurances on the

lives of the ministers in some good insurance office.

Subsequently the (juestion came up again. Some very

liberal subscriptions were promised. Collections were

made in various Churches, and finally a sum of mone}^

amounting to £1,182 was raised. The Association

took advantage of the " Associations Incor]ioration

Act, 1858," and in the year 1875 formed itself into a

corporate bod}'.

In April, 1881, the character of the Fund was changed,

laeing altered from its eleemosynary character as a

charitable fund, to an equitable one, with provision

for special cases not coming under the equitable provi-

sions. The new Rules may be found in the '" Year

Book" for 1882, page 125.

It is managed by a Sub-Committee of five, appointed

annually by the Committee of the Union from its

own number. Assets in 1887, £3,538 7s. Id.

This fund has made great progress during thr last

twenty-five years, and is nuich more effective now in

the assistance it is able to render to our aged ministers.

In 1888 its capital stood at £3,911 3s. Cxi., but in 1911

it had reached the gratifying sum of £11,472 7s. 5(1.

In 1906 the rules were altered, with the sanction of

the Union, Iw which greater benefits can be given to its

members. Under the new rules published in the

Year Book of 1910, the age at which pensions may
be claimed was raised from 60 to 65 years. A stipulated

pension is paid in proportion to the numbtr of years

spent in the ministry of this State; by the [)ensioner.

A further provision was made by which members may
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be assisted in the ])aynient of assurance prcininins to

approved societies.

These wider provisions are hxrucly due to the laborious-

and disinterested service of Mr. Walter Hutley, who-

has made the prosperity and effectiveness of the

Minister's Provident Fund his special care. In 1917

the rules may be altered so that greater benefits may
be participated in by the members. Mr. Hutley hopes

this will be actually accomplished.

The late Mr. J. H. Angas bequeathed £:2A)()U to the

Wido^NS and Orphan's Fund of the Congregational

ministers of this State. A difficulty arose on account

of there being no such fund in connection Avith our

Union. On the understanding, however, that the

rules should be extended to aid the widows and orphans

of our ministers who were not members of the fund,

his widow and son and daughter generously paid over

to the fund the £2,(100 mentioned in the will.

Mrs. Angas, who died in 1910, made a further con-

tribution bj'^ bequeathing £200 for the same purpose as

that left by her husband.

Three annual pensions of £10 each are paid under the

old rules. Five are paid under the new ; the highest

of these is £52 10s.. and the lowest £16 5s. And in-

surance premiums of ministers are subsidised up to the

extent of £6 annually.

In 1889 the income was £285 16s. lOd., and a balance

of £246 12s. 6d. was left to be distributed in benefits

or added to the capital sum. In 1911 £276 16s. 8d.

was paid in benefits, and £352 was added to capital.

On the death of Mr. Martin Burgess, Mr. K. M,

Steele was appointed Secretary of the fund, which,

office he held until recently. ^Ir. James Counsel] is

the present Secretary.
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The Med-Northerk Association.

Many years ago there was a similar association of

the Churches in the *Southern District, and there-

are living still those who remember the meetings

assembled from time to time under its auspices, and

reference has been made to them by Mr. Cox. There

was also an association of ministers of the Northern

District, but that only met in houses of the different

ministers.

As the result of a conversation betAveen the Rev,

L. Robjohns, of Keyneton, and Rev. W. M. Grant, of

Angaston. in 1904, a conference of delegates represent-

ing the Churches at Keyneton, Angaston, Gawier,

Ham ley Bridge, Kapunda, the Murray Plains, and

Truro was held in July at Angaston. It was decided

to form an Association of the Churches in the Lower

North, and a Committee was appointed to prepare a

constitution and rules for the next conference which

was held at Hamley Bridge. A united public service

was conducted in the evening by the Rev. A. H. Austin^

B.A.. and a Comnumion Service by Mr. Grant.

The Association has now been in existence for eight

years, and meets in the various C'hurches concerned in

rotation. It has done a great deal to foster a real

union between the inembers of the Churches, and not a

little in creating a healthful f.spn^ de corp. Mr. H. B.

Crosby is the present Chairman.

It A\ould be a distinct advantage if the Churches

* From the .Minute Hook of the "Congregational Association of

the South and South Country Districts," in the possession of ^Irs.

W. Cowan Auhl, ehiest daucrhter of the Rev. Jas. Howie, the

following notes have been made ;—First meeting held at Maclarea

Vale. ITth February, 184!); last recorded meeting, the 44th, held

at Port Klliot, Febrnary 23rd, 1864 (a fortnight before the death of

the Rev. R. \V. Newland).
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in the other districts of our State were linked np in

a similar manner.

Ladies' Auxiliary,

Nine years ago a Ladies' Auxiliary to the Congrega-

tional Union and Home Mission was formed under the

leadership of Mrs. J. M. Sands. This is a most valuable

institution, and the women in it have done a wonderful

work in helping on our common work. For several

years they have made the arrangements and canied

them out, in connection with our Annual Festival in

October. Bi-monthly meetings are held during the

year, and efforts are made to get a branch established

in each Church. Conspicuous for their services in this

auxiliary are Mesdames Roberts, Roby Fletcher,

•Cornish, Teece, C. R. Morris, Henry Savage, A. Stow,

A. G. Fry, McEwin, Rayner, Gilford, Hope Harris,

Lenton, and Miss Kirb}^ who is Secretary. The

Auxiliary has succeeded in collecting large sums of

money in support of the Union.

SrxDAY S( HooL Committee.

For some years now a special Committee has been

appointed by the Union at its annual meetings in

October. It is the special M'ork of this Committee to

arrange for the Sunday-schools night during the assembly

•of the Union. It also deliberates on matters of special

interest to the children, and makes it matter of supreme

importance to help in the establishment and organising

of other schools.

The Congregational Lay Preachers' Association.

The following account of this Association is from

the pen of Mr. W. Creasy Harris, for many years its

devoted Secretary, and now President :

—
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In, and since, quite the early days in the histoiy of

Congregationalism in this State, lay preachers have

taken a conspicuous part in maintaining Congregational

services, both in and around the cit}', as well as country

places. For many years there was no organization of

any kind amongst them until the Rev. F. W. Cox

gathered round him a band of preachers who used to

meet quarterly, to arrange a plan of m ork for siq^plying

mission stations, country chiu'ches, and giving such

occasional help to citj" ministers as circumstances

demanded. Acceptable to the people and honoured

of God was the labour of this band of workers in the

harvest field of the Church, and unflagging the energy

and patience of its leaders through times, often thank-

less and devoid of manifest sympathy. This condition

continued for about twenty-four years, until the Rev.

W. Roby Fletcher drew attention to the matter, AAhich

Avas discussed at the half-yearly meetings of the Con-

gregational Union in October, 1879, when a code of

rules to secure united and harmonious action bj^ the

lay preachers of our various Churches was adopted.

The next step was a meeting convened by the Rev.

W. R. Fletcher, and held in Stow Church vestry on

July 5, 1880, at which there were present the Rev.

W. R. Fletcher, Rev. C. Hall, Messrs. J. Tasker,

G, A. Palmer, H. W. Beaney, G. Brookman, sen., R. M.

Steele, and C. Hope Harris. At this meeting the Rev.

W. R. Fletcher explained the object of the gathering

and a resolution was carried forming this association,

iVIr. C. Hope Harris being unanimously elected Secre-

tary, and at a subsequent meeting held on September 28

the Rev. W. R. Fletcher was elected President. Space

will not permit of our giving the constitution and rules

of the Association as first formed, but it was more of
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the character of a Lay Preachers' Guild than it is

now.

At the annual meeting in October, 1888, the con-

stitution of the Association was discussed and revised,

new rules were adoj)ted, and since then it has gone

on the even tenure of its way until 1907, when the

rules were revised again and provision made for the

members vohmtarilj^ to undertake a course of study

and pass examinations entitling them to certificates

if successful. Important as the work of this Association

is in maintaining services in Churches unable to support

a regular minister ; also in occasionally filling vacant

puljuts in cases of emergency, a very important work

has been done in supplying men to the regular ministry.

During the thirty-two years of its existence it has

furnished on an average one man each year who has

gone out into the ordained ministry. This forms a

very interesting list of names, containing as it does the

names of well-known Congregational ministers through-

out the Commonwealth.

It is a rule of the Association that " its members

shall consist of Lay Preachers who are members in

good repute of some Congregational Church, students

ior the Congregational ministry, and such ministers

as ma}^ be willing to assist in the objects of the Associa-

tion."

What ]Mr. Cox did for the Association in the early

days of its life has been done to some extent by other

ministers, including Mr. Lenton, of Rose Park.

Lately, however, Mr. Gifford, of North Adelaide, has

made the Lay Preachers his special concern, and has

thro%^Ti himself into that work with his characteristic

ability. Mr. Gifford is described by one who profits

by his ministry as a great teacher ; it is fortunate that
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the Association has secured him as its guide. Under

him quite a new departure has been made which vre

should think will benefit largely its members.

A circular has been issued with gratifying results

from which the following extracts are taken :

—

Realising the growing importance of Lay Preachers

in relation to the Congregational Churches, and the

need that exists for trained men to occupj^ the pulpits,

this Association has determined to extend the scope

of its usefuhiess by providing for its members an

elementary course of stud}^ to better fit them for their

work, and upon passing an examination in the prescribed

subjects certificates will be issued to members of the

Association.

It is proposed that the ordinary course of study

shall occupy two years, but for preachers who may
wish to take an honours course, we purpose approaching

the authorities of the Parkin College with a view to

the student pursuing his studies in connection with

that institution for a third session.

It is also intended upon completion of the course of

study (with the concurrence of those concerned) to

hold a special service in the church to which he belongs,

recognising him as a Certificated Lay Preacher.

The course as now arranged extends over two years,

and embraces reading in Theology, Congregational

History and Pohty, Sermon Preparation and Preaching.

FIRST YEAR.

First Half—Scripture—General Knowledge of

Chapters I. to IV., Gospel of St. JIark, Authoiised

Version ; Theology, " D'Arcy's Ruhng Ideas of our

Lord," 1/3 ; Pohty, &c., " Monro-Gibson's Protestant

Principles," 1/3 ;
(Christian Study Manuals) and the
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preparation of a written sermon. Second Half

—

Scripture- St. Mark V. to VIII. ;
" Norris' Church

Members' Hand-book," 2d. ; Homiletics, " Dale's

Lectures on Preaching," 6/ (selected portions) ; or

attendance at full course of lectures to be arranged,

and an oral sermon.

SECOND YEAR.

First Half—Scripture—St. Mark IX. to XII.
;

Theology, " W. N. Clark's Outline of Theology"

(selected portions) ; Church Polity, &c., " Pierce and

Home's Primer of Church Fellowship ;
" and a written

sermon. Second Half—Scripture—St. Mark XIII. to

XVI. ; Hooper's Story of English Congregationalism,"

1/ ; Homiletics, Horton's " Verbum Dei " (selected

portions), 5/ ; or attendance at a full course of lectures,

and an oral sermon.

In the same circular there is issued a most useful

list of books which " is not intended for professional

students, but for those whose hour of leisure comes

at the close of a strenuous day."

The Association has the right to sena delegates to

the an)iual meetings of the Congregational Union.

Union College of South Australia (Incorporated).

Union College was originated in 1872, with a view of

afEording an opportunitj^ for young men carrpng on

their education beyond the ordinary school course, and

especially of providing the means of suitable training

for those desirous of devoting themselves to the work

of the Christian ministry. At a meeting in March

of that year attended by representatives from the

Baptist Association, the Congregational Union, and

the Presbytery of South Australia, arrangements were

made for united action in the establishment of a C*ollege.
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In May classes were opened in Mathematics and Natural

Science, in English Literature, and classics for the

literary course, and in Greek Testament as the com-

mencement of the Theological course. In the course

of that year Mr. W. W. Hughes offered to present the

College with the munificent sum of £20,000, l>ut the

members of the Council, after mature consideration,

felt that so large an endowment rendered it desirable

that the basis of the College should be thoroughly

altered. They therefore invited leading ministers

and laymen of other denominations to meet with them

in their classroom in order to discuss the subject, and

it was ultimately resolved, in accordance with the

recommendation of Union College Council, that a

University should be established in Adelaide. An

Association was at once formed for carrjang that

resolution into effect, and Mr. Hughes' gift was, with

his assent, transferred to that body, which at the

connnencement of the following session undertook

all the secular classes, leaving to Union College the

prosecution of its primary object—the training for

the Christian pastorate. To this end the attention

and energies of the Council have since then been devoted.

The liberaHty of the late Mr. G. F. Angas and of other

friends having, in 1877 and 1878, provided the College

with an endowment fund of £3,000, the Council felt

themselves in a position to make alterations in the

mode of instruction by holding classes during the day

instead of in the evening only.

The Bible Christian denomination joined the College

in 1877, thus making the fourth in the Corporation.

From that time to the present year (1887) the College

has done its work, 14 students having entered the

College course. Circumstances arose that led to the
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withclrawment of one of the constituent bodies of the

Corporation, and there was the prospective separation

of others. This led to the dissohition of the College,

and the distribution of the accumulated funds equally

among the four constituent denominations.

The follo\vin£ gentlemen served the College during

its existence as Professors :

—

Rev. Silas Mead, Alumnus of Stepney and Regent's

Park Colleges ; M.A., Lond., 1859 ; Prizeman in II.

Scrip. Exam., Lond. Univ., 1859 ; LL.B., Lend.. 1860 ;

M.A., Adelaide, ad enndem, 1877.

Rev. William Roby Fletcher, x\lumnus of Univ. of

Bonn, and of Lane. Indep. College, and of Owen's

College. Manchester ; Prizeman in I. Scrip. Exam.,

Lond. Univ., 1854 ; M.A. and Gold Medalhst, London,

1856; M.A.. Melbourne, ad eundem, 1857; M.A.,

Adelaide, ad eundem, 1877 ; elected Vice-C*hancellor

of Adelaide University, 1883.

Rev. David Paton, Alumnus of Univ. of Glasgow, and

of the Free Church College, Glasgow ; M.A., Glasgow,

1864 ; D.D., Glasgow (University). 1886 ; M.A., Ade-

laide, ad enndem, 1878.

Union College did a great work, and not the least

part of its work was the giving birth to the separate

Theological Colleges in the State, now so well equipped,

and taking their place in our life as full grown daughters

of the older institution.

But her most illustrious daughter is the Adelaide

I'niversity. Had it not been for the highly commend-

al)le public spirit shown by the Council of the College

to which Mr. Cox has referred the establishment of a

University would have been delayed for many years.

The movement that led to the diversion of £20,000
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from the funds of the College to the foundation of a

University was the outcome of a suggestion of our

"beloved leader. Dr. Jeiferis, and the result of his untiring

advocacy that such a surrender of their rights on the

part of the Professors was worthy of the noblest

traditions of Christianity.

Sir Samuel Way, at that time administrator of the

•Government of South Australia, in an eloquent tribute

paid to Mr. Jefferis in 1877 on the occasion of his

departure for Sydney, referred to the part the doctor

had taken in the matter in these terms :

—

" There is the Union College, of which he is one of

the origi)iators, and A\ith which he has been connected

as a professor from the outset until the present time.

And few will be inclined to underrate the value of the

work which he has done in relation to that institution.

Then there is the University of Adelaide. Now I

believe but for Mr. Jefferis, up to the present moment

at all events, we should not have any University at all.

When Mr. Walter Watson Hughes projected his muni-

ficent endowment it was intended for Union College,

l)ut Mr. Jefferis, with praiseworthy magnanimity,

notwithstanding his close connection with that in-

stitution, made a suggestion which was adopted l)y

Mr. Hughes ; readily assented to by the authorities

•of Union College, and heartily co-operated with by

the Bishop, Canon Farr, and others interested in the

cause of higher education."

" Praiseworthy magnanimity " is not too flattering

a term with which to describe the generous impulse to

surrender so large a sum of money to the foundation

of a wider and more general educational work than

could be carried on by a theological college. This

.action of Dr. Jefferis was characteristic of the man.
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Adelaide C'ongregatioxal College.

The following entry is taken fi'oni an oM minute

book :

—
'' On the dissolution of Union College our

Churches were left \\ithout any provision for the

education of students in this colony. After much
discussion a resolution was passed by the Council of

the Union for the establishment of a local theological

college, to be called the Adelaide Congregational Col-

lege."

The matter was introduced by the Rev. W. Roby
Fletcher, who was appointed Principal. I\Ir. Fletcher

continued to support the college uith his own mone^'

and what funds were availaV)le to us from Union College,

until his death.

The first College Committee meeting was held in

Jaiuxary. 1892.

The Revs. Dr. Paton. W. Wilson, Josei^h Robertson,

]\I.A.. and H. G. Nichoils were on the teaching staff

of the College, together with Mr. Fletcher, the Principal.

Tpon the death of Mr. Fletcher in 1.S9-1- the Rev.

Jos. Robertson, M.A., was aj)pointed Princij)al.

At the haK-yearly meeting of the Union held in

1895, a College Report was presented, in which it

wa.s recommended that the work of the College should

be suspended for the present, which recommendation

was adopted by the Council of the Union. From
that date until the resuscitation of the College in 1906,

no steps were taken to provide for the training of

students to the ministry.

The College, as the report submitted to the Council

of the Union in 1911, which we give in full, goes to

show, rendered a valuable service to our Churches.
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The resuscitation of the College was entirely due to the

«ftorts of Rev. T. Hope, Mhich fact we note in the

account of the Parkin Mission {in loco).

The report was as follows :

—

In accordauee with the resolutiou passed by this Council at

its annual meeting in October last relative to the extra mural

students, the College Council, after careful consideration of the

.matter, resolved to makie the followiug recommendation to the

Council of the Congregational Union:—"That the extra mural

students now under its care be transferred to the Parkin Col-

lege, if agiieeable to the Governors of the Parkin Trust, and

that the Adelai<le Congregational College be now dissolved.
"

'

This resolution was forwarded to the Governors of the Parkin

Trust, who expnessed their willingness to take over the extra

mural students as requested. It now remains for this Council

of the Union to give effect to the resolution of the College

Council, and agree to the transfer jjroposed, and dissolve the

Adelaide Congregational (College. In asking this Coimcil to

accede to our request we may be liermitted to refer to the

-work accomplished by the Adelaide Congregational College since

its resuscitation by this Council in October, 1906. Eight of

the stuilents who during the past five years have passed

through the College are now settled and doing good work in

their respective pastorates, viz., Eev. H. G. Nelson, at McLaren
Vale, Rev. A. W. Gordon, at Houghton; Rev. J. E. Cresswell,

at Keith; Rev. W. H. Rayner, at Dulwich Hill, N.8.W.; Rev.

R. E. Chapman, at Armidale, W.A. ; Rev. S. Faulkner, at

Semaphore; Rev. E. J. Stacy, at Maitland; and Rev. George

Slade, at Truro. These, together with three of the students

now in Parkin College who commenced this course with us,

make up a goodly list of men who all received their training

for their future work, in part at least, in connection with the

Adelai'le Congregational ('ollege. The record of the past five

years' work gives cause for devout thankfulness, and may be

regarded as fully justifying the action of the Council in re-

suscitating the ('oilegc. We have at present four students,

who are taking the extra mural course, viz., Messrs. D. ,T. Wel-

lington, at Port Victor; T. D. Webb, at Kadina; IT. J. liam-

bert, at Franoes; and .). I. Loughhead, at Swan Reach, all of

whom have ftassed their examinations during the year very

satisfactorily. And we have i-eason to believe that in associa-

tion with Parkin College, as extra mural students, they will

•each complete their course with credit, and thus qualify them-

selves for more efficient service in conmection with our church.

There is just one further word, and that is respecting tlic funds

still in the liands of the Treasurer of the CofloLrc Council,

amounting to £40. It was resolved by the College Council, that
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tlio funds now in tl)e hands of tlio Treasuivr of the Adclaido-

Congregational College he handed over to thio Parkin ^lission

anil set apart for the iniri)Ose of supidying its students with
the necessary text-books. In conclusion, we would desire to
tender our sincere thanks to the Eevs. S. Lenton and J. M,
Sands, B.A., who served the Colllege as tutors respectively in

theology and Greek Testament Exegesis, receiving only a very
small honorarium for their faithful and efficient service.

On the adoption of the repoit tho following resf)1u-

tion \\a.s carried :
—

"That this Cauncil records its gratitude to God for the suc-

cessful work accomjdisheil by the Adelaide Congregational Col-

lege, and extends thanks to the Rev. .1. (!. Kirhy (President)

and the Rev. Thomas Hope (Secretary), whose efl'orts brought
the College into existenoe, the Revs. .1. M. Sands, 8. Lenton,
and all wlio had helped in any way to carry on the successful

work. '

'

*

Paekin Trt ST (Incorporated).

Founded by the Hon. W. Parkin in 1877 for the

eckicatioii of students for the Congregational ministry.

(Reference to its ])rogress amII ])e foinid in "Years-

Book" for 1878, page 46: 1879. pages 64 and 112;

also in volume for 1882. pages 38 and 118).

This Trust consisted of £8.000 in money, and about

4.160 acres of land in the Northern Territory, close to-

Pahnerston. The money is not to he used until the

income reaches £1,000 a year. The Secretary (Mr. J.

F. r'onigtave) reported i)i April. 1881. that im])ortant

alterations had been made to enlarge the basis of the

Trust in a manner which will tend to the gieater useful-

ness and value of the institution, as an important

adjunct to the general work of the denomination, and

"vvill extend the beneficent wishes of the founder over

a wider area than was originally contemplated. The

decision not to apply the fund to the purposes of the

Trust until an income of £1,000 a year is reached is

still adhered to, but provision is now niade to the
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effect that the Governors may apply one-half of any

surplus income over and above £1,000 to assist in the

erection, and in the making of additions to chapels

or .schools connected with the Congregational Churches

of South Australia, and the other half of such surplus

income to assist in maintaining aged, infirm, or in-

capacitated accredited ministers of the Congregational

Churches of South Australia, who shall have exercised

the duties of a minister for seven years or upwards in

this province, or to assist to maintain the widows or

families of such ministers.

At the last reports the assets were stated to be £15,222

18s. 8d., of which £628 was income for the year.

The following account of the Trust is gixei^ in the

Year Book for 1910 :—

The principal object of the Trust is the education

and maintenance of students for the ministry among the

Congregational or Independent Churches of South

Australia.

According to the provision of the Deed the Trust was

inoperative until the annual net income exceeded the

sum of one thousand pounds. That position has now

been attained, and the work of educating students

and preparing them for the ministry has commenced.

The Trust is managed by seven governors, four of

whom must lie laymen, deacons, or Church members,

and three regularly ordained ministers. These

governors are elected in July for three-year terms by-

electors, who are ap])ointed anmially by such of the

Churches as arc willing to sub.scribe to the funds of the

Trust, five pounds entitling the C-hurch to one elector,

fifteen pounds two electors, aiid thirty pounds three

electors.
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The assets of the Trust consist of freehold property,

Government stocks, and first mortgages on freehold

properties.

The present governors are : Senator the Hon. Joseph

Vardon (President), Revs. A. Depledge Sykes, A. E.

Gifford, and G. Rayner, Messrs. J. M. Anderson, J.P.,

L. Grayson, J.P., and C. R. Morris, J.P.

It is a far cry from 1876 to 1909, and our hopes were

deferred more than once when it was seen that owing

to the depreciation of investments the time when the

income would reach the stipulated £1,000 per annum

would Ije pushed still forward to the future. But at

last in the report furnished to the Congregational Union

in 1909 it was jojdfully announced :

—

" The Governors have very much pleasure in an-

nouncing that the net income actually received for

the 3'ear exceeds by the sum of £31 17s. 9d. the £1,000

stipulated by the Trust Deed. The net income

accruing during the year, and estimated in accordance

with Messrs. Moulden & Son's opinion, obtained last

year, is £1,038 lis. 2d. The income is therefore

sutRcieiit to render the Trust operative, and the

Governors are taking steps to utilise without delay

some portion of the income in the educating of students

for the Congregational ministr3^ These arrangements

are of a temporary character, pending the establishment

of a permanent and systematic course of education.

It is a .source of great satisfaction to the Governors

to realise that this fund, after so many years of careful

nursing, is now available for carrying out the beneficent

desire, so dear to the heart of the founder of the Trust,

of "educating students for the office of preaching the

Gospel of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ amongst
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the Congregational and Independent Churches of South

AustraUa."

The name of W ilham Parkin must ever find a grateful

place in the minds of Congregationalists of this State

because of his self-sacrificing efforts to provide an

educated and efficient ministry for the Churches of our

order."

And in the following year their report read as

follows :

—

"This has been an eventful year in the history of the

Trust, in that it has marked the coming into operation

of the Trust, the appointment of the first Principal

of the College, and the purchase of a building for College

purposes.

The Governors have been fortunate in securing as

the first Principal the Rev. Llewelyn D. Bevan, LL.B.,

D.D., formerly of the Collins-street Congregational

€hurch, Melbourne. They feel assured that under

Dr. Bevan the foundations of the College work will be

so laid as to ensui^e a broad and sound policy, and that

under his guidance the education of the students will

be such as to efficiently fit them for their life work.

Dr. Bevan entered upon his Avork as Principal at

the end of February, and on March 10 an induction

service was held at Stow Memorial Church, at which the

President of the Trust presided. The induction cere-

mony \\as preceded by a devotional and a Communion

service, at which the Revs. S. Lenton, T. Hope, J. C.

Kirby, A. E. GifEord, A. Depledge-Sykes, and F. V.

Pratt, M.A., took part. The Chairman, in introducing

Dr. Bevan, spoke briefly concerning Mr. Parkin and

his (objects in founding the Trust. Dr. Bevan then

delivered his inaugural address u])on " The Theology

of the Future " which was listened to by a large and



336 TllRKE-QUAllTERS OF A CENTURY.

interested audience. The church wa.s filled, and the

combined meetings Mere of a solemn and inspiring

character.

Considerahle thought was given to the matter of a

huilding for the College work, as the result of which the

Governors have purchased from the trustees of the

late Rev. W. R. Fletcher the building formerly known
as " Wavertree," which will in future be known as

'" Parkin Congregational College." The sum of

£427 4s. 2d. has been spent in thoroughly repairing and

renovating the property.

For assistance in carrying on the work prior to

the appointment of the Principal of the College, the

Governors are indebted to the Council of the Adelaide

Congregational College. In the beginning of the year

the Governors, with the full concurrence of the Council^

took over as students Messrs. A. W._ Gordon, R. E.

Chapman, J. E. Cresswell, A. C. Stevens, A. Nelson,

and J. F. Dunstan, their studies being continued under

the oversight of the Council. Of these students

Messrs. A. W, Gordon, J. E. Cresewell, and R. E. Chap-

man have been granted their Adelaide Congregational

College certificates by the Council of that body. Mr.

Gordon has accepted an invitation to the pastorate

of the Church at Houghton, and Mr. Cresswell has

been appointed by the Governors of the Pai'kin Mission

to the oversight of the Church at Keith, Mr. Chapman

being already in charge of College ]*ark. There are at

present three students, viz., ^Messrs. A. C. Stevens,

A. C. Xelson, and J. F. Dunstan."

Parkin College.

Dr. Bevan came to the College with a world-wide

reputation as a preacher, a theologian, and a man of

affairs. He was born at Llanellv. Caermarthenshire,
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and his family have heen Nonconformists from the

earliest days of British Congregationalisni. He was

educated at University College School. London, where

he was a prizeman in Greek, and at iSe\v and ITniversify

College. He graduated in T.a\\s and Arts at the

University. He took thioughout his course " first

class honours," and was an exhibitioner in the arts

degree. His theological course at New College was

under the late Dr. "Halley.

He is also a D.D. of Princeton University. He began

his ministry as assistant to the great Thos. Binney at

Weigh House Chapel, London, and was afterwards the

minister of Tottenham Court Road. In 1876 he became

the pastor of the Brick Presbyterian Church, New
York, and in 188^1 was Moderator of the Presbytery

of that city. Fortunately for us. Dr. Bevan was only a

Presbyterian for six years, and he returned to I-ondon

in 1882. when he became the minister at Highbury

Quadrant. In 1880 Dr. Bevan sailed with his family

for >re|})ourne to become the minister of Collins-street

Independent Church. He has the distinction of having

been the oflp.cial head oi the Presbyterian Church in

New York, and he was thrice Chairman of the Congre-

gational Union of Victoria. He has been twice Vice-

President of the International Congregational Council

(London. 1891, Boston. 1899). For 20 years he was

a great force religiously, socially, and we may even say

politically, in Victoria. He has always })een interested

in education, and particulaily in that of the Congrega-

tional ministry. For services rendeied in comiection

with the -Melbourne I'Lxhibition of 1888, the French

(Government created iiiin an " officer de Finstiuction

y)ublique de la Kepul)li(iue Francais." When in

]-onflon he was the Dean of New College, and in Victoria
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also he was a lecturer and professor in connection with

the Congregational College. He has served the people

on Parliamentary Committees, boards of charity, and

in various other ways, and did in those 20 years not a

little in contributing to the higher interests of the State

in which he was living. Before leaving England for

Australia he had become closely identified with public

•questions, alwaj^s on the progressive side. He was a

member of the London School Board from }S1:) to

1876. Just before coming to Victoria he was asked

to enter the House of Commons. Four seats were

-offered to him. One of them was the borough of his

native town, where he would have been retiuned

without opposition.

The Congregationnlist of December, 1909, in s])eaking

of the appointment of Dr. Bevan to Parkin College,

said of him :
" It is of gratifjdng interest that Dr.

Bevan is essentially and conspicuously a preacher—

a

preacher who knows how to preach. He is richly

<lowered a\ ith the gifts that make for impressive pubhc

utterance. He has a striking presence, a voice of

clear articulation and remarkable compass ; he has the

instinct of language—knoMs how to strike the in-

evitable word—he is not only an orator, Imt a pic-

turesque orator ; he magnetises, he excites, and rewards

-expectation : his analytical acumen combined with his

imfailing sense of humour save him from extravagance.

Last, but not least, he is a loyal friend, whose friend-

ship will not fail in the dark, battling ho\u\ South

AustraUans will give a warm welcome to Dr. Bevan

and his gifted wife. Happy the students ^^ho will

come under the inriuence of so genial, so striking, so

rare a personality."

There are seven students on the roll taking the full
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course, and one engaged on a preparatory course at

Kyre College. Two of them will be ready in October

to engage in the active work of the ministry. There

are also four " extra mural " students connected with

the College. The College is one of the live institutions

of the State, and stands second to none of the denomi-

national Colleges in range of study. Special attention

is given to the developing of the preaching power of the

students.

Dr. anil Mrs. Bevan have always been noted for

their hospitality, and their home at " Wavertree

"

has already become a centre at which people interested

in religion, letters, art, social questions, and, indeed,

all human affairs, are welcome.

Besides the publication of scattered addresses and

sermons, a number of liooks have come from the pen

of Dr. Bevan. Two volumes of " Sermons to Students
"

were published in America during his sojourn there and

afterwards in England, and a second volume of the

same nature was published in Melbourne. He has

also given us a book which was published in London
entitled '' Christ and the Age."

Parkin Mission.

This was another munificent benefaction of the

Hon. W. Parkin (see year book of 1882).

The following is a copy of the memorial filed in the

Supreme Court, 1883, under the provisions of the said

Act :—
MEMORIAL.

Memorial of " The Parkin Congregational Mission of

South Australia," filed in pursuance of the Associa-

tions Incorporation Act, 1858.

1 . Name of Institution.
—

" The Parkin Congrega-

tional Mission of South Australia."
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2. Object or Purpose of the Institution.- For the

Governors of the Mission to pay and apply annually on

Christmas Day, that is to say the twenty-fifth day of

December in every year, the sum of one hundred pounds,

in twenty .sums or annuities of five pounds each, to

twenty poor widows, of whom those of the Congrega-

tional denomination shall have the preference, and in

providing and paying the stipends of missionaries of

the Congregational denominations.

3. Where Situated or Established.—At Adelaide.

4. The Name or Names of the Trustee or Trustees.

—

William Parkin, Francis WilUam Cox, the Honorable

Robert Alfred Tarlton, .M.L.C, John Fairfax Conigrave,

and Adam Adamson.

5. In whom the Management of the Institution is

vested, and by what means, whether by deed of settle-

ment or otherwise.—In the Governors of the Mission,

as provided by the deed of settlement, bearing date

the nineteenth day of September, one thousand eight

hundred and eighty-two, under the hand and seal of

the said William Parkin.

MouLDEN & Sons, 102, King William-st., Adelaide.

Value about £1.400 a year. Non-availa])le until

1890.

The Parkin Mission is now well known throughout

our State, and has proved a great blessing in those re-

mote parts which otherwise could not have been reached

by our ordinary agencies. The work at Tumb>- Bay,

Renmark, Keith, Tailem Bend, together with the

group of Churches on the Border Downs, at Frances,

Loxton, Blanchetown, Swan Reach, in the Lower
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Murraj^ and at Punyelroo depends for support almost

entirely on the funds of the Mission.

The Rev. T. Hope succeeded Mr, Cox as Secretary,

and owing to his wdse foresight most of the Mission

stations are being put upon a permanent basis.

In the early days of its work difficulty was experienced

in securing the services of suitable men. The agents

available, while good and faithful ministers of the word,

had not the special qualifications for our work which

a sound training for the ministry and a long connection

with the Churches of our order would have given them.

Mr. Hope was quick to see this, and at the first

opportunity presenting itself took steps to have Ade-

laide College resuscitated that men might be trained

by our own teachers to fit them to carry out the purpose

of Mr. Parkin's great heart in founding the Mission.

He provided first a Mission and then a Trust to found

a College where men could be trained to carry on the

work of the Mission. The conditions of the Trust

were such as to make it inoperative for many years.

Mr. Hope saw it was necessary something should be

done at once. Hence the calling into being again of

Adelaide College. Through the efforts of its devoted

Secretary the Mission had a considerable number of

our own trained men on the field when the Parkin

Trust finally came into operation.

The benefactions provided for widows ha\e been a

boon to many God-fearing women connected with our

Churches. There are twenty in receipt of an annual

pension of £5.

The present Governors of the Mission are :-Mr.

Henry Savage (President), Mr. R. M. Steele, Senator Jos.

Vardon, Rev. J. C. Kirby, Rev. Thos. Hope (Secretary).
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Literature.

Several attempts have been made to maintain a

periodical publication, but they have all lacked per-

manence, whatever the usefulness of the magazine

may have been while it existed. The first was by

combined action with Victoria to support the Southern

Spectator, of which the Rev. W. R. Fletcher was editor.

It only lasted a few months in 1858-9. In 1869 a

combined monthlj^ magazine was issued, which con-

sisted of Dr. Campbell's Christian Penny Magazine,

with a sheet of South Australian news inserted, which

lasted about two years. Next in order was the South

Anstralian Indefendent, stai'ted in 1870, which in

September, 1874, changed its name to the South Aus-

tralian Independent and Presbyterian in consequence

of arrangements made with our brethren of the Presby-

terian denomination. This effort had enough of

energy to endure till December, 1879, when the paper

resumed its old name, and continued till the close of

1882. A smaller magazine, bearing the name of the

Congregational Record, was started on a new plan in

September, 1884. It was distributed gratuitoush',

and any friends who felt an interest were asked for

subscriptions, but the Congregational Union bore the

responsibility of it. It ran about 20 months, and then

died of inanition.

To Mr. Cox's notes on Literature we have to add

the South Austrahan Congregaiionalist was published

first in 1905, when the Rev. G. Rayner was Secretary

of the Union. The venture was launched principally

through the energy of Mr. Rayner, and Mr. A. Xorman.

These gentlemen have been editor and business manager
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respectively ever since. The paper continues to hold

its vigorous course, and has proved itself a great help

to our common cause, and it shows every sign of living

to a good old age. It is supported by annual subscrip-

tions paid through the agencies in our Churches.

We must not fail here to notice also the invaluable

service Mr. Cox rendered to our Churches by the com-

pilation of the Jubilee record pubhshed in 1887, of

which the present publication is a continuation.



CHAPTER IX.

The London Missionary Society.

The story of the rise and development of Australia's

Foreign Missionary enterprise is full of interesting

incident. Each of the now Federated States supplies

a different variety of facts, and comparison shows hoAv

manifold are the operations of the Spirit of God.

In the case of South Australia, which was held by

the South Australian Commissioners, a missionary

element asserted itself very early in the transactions of

that Com pan}'. The Chairman of the Board, when plans

were being considered in London for planting a new

colony, not only urged that provision should be made

for the education of the children of the white settlers,

but for befriending and evangelising the aboriginal

population, and he placed on the board room table a

substantial donation towards these objects.

This sketch is being written to show what has been

done by the Congregational Churches of South Aus-

tralia through the L.M.S. during the last 2."5 years.

A glance, however, at the earher period may first be

given. The first Foreign Missionary Committee was

formed in the fifties at the suggestion of the Hon. W.
Peacock, who called a meeting at his house for the

purpose. Amongst the members of that Committee

were William Peacock, Alexander Hay, E. T. Smith

(Sir E. T. Smith), H. Giles, T. Graves, and :\ratthew

Goode. Subsequently the auxihary was re-organised,

the new Constitution being drawn up by the Rev. F. W.
Cox, C. Manthorpe. and W. Wilson. On the new
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'executive the following representative Presbyterians

•were appointed :—The Revs. John Gardner and A.

Lyell, and Messrs. George Young and David Murra}".

The Rev. J. Jefferis, LL.B. (now Dr. Jefteris) was made

Secretary, and rendered splendid service in that posi-

tion for man
J'

years.

The first L.M.S. deputation to the colony was

the Rev. Aaron Buzacott and Teava, a Rarotongan

•evangelist. In 1803 Dr. George Turner, of Samoa,

accompanied by the Rev. Joseph King, visited Adelaide

and conducted a series of meetings.* Several years

elapsed without a visit from a representative of the

Society, but in 1881 the Rev. Samuel Hebditch, one

of the Directors of the Societ}^ came to Australia, and

his zealous advocacy gave a new stimulus to the work

of the Australian Committees in Adelaide and the

other colonies. About this time Miss Bliss, of Mada-

gascar, helped by her addresses to give a definite shape

to the movement amongst ladies which led to the

formation of women's auxiliaries. In 1883 the Rev.

S. O. Newport, of India, created much new interest with

practical results.

During the same year a great step forward was taken

;at the Intercolonial Jubilee Conference in Sydney. A
special session was de\()ted to the work of the ]..ondon

Missionary Society at which resolutions were ])assed

which led to important changes. One of the three

papers on this occasion was read by the late Richard

Searle, of Adelaide. The Rev. J. P. Sunderland, who

*Mr. Hope Harris supplies th(' iiitoiniation that the Rev. J. P-

Sunderland came as the depiitition in IHfi,'). He reiiieni1)ers the

great enthusiasm for ForciLni .Missions cici'tcd l>y ;i, visit nl Dr.

Paton. of the New Hebrides, ahout iSCiT. -Mr. Harris himself

•offered for seivif-e to the South Sea Islands, hut, to the loss of our

Mission work, we think, no opening at the time could be found.
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was then the Society's agent, read an historical paper,

and Mr. King introduced the subiect of AustraUan

candidates for service under the L.M.S. The resohi-

tion which was passed when considered by the London

Board, was favorably received, and the result was the

appointment of three Australasian Examination Com-

mittees who were empowered to recommend locally

trained missionary candidates.

In 1887, twenty-five years ago, the Jubilee of Con-

gregationalism in South Australia was celebrated at

Adelaide, and special ]M-ominence was given at this-

Intercolonial Conference to Foreign Missionary ^^ork

The Congregational Union of England and Wales had

sent a distinguished deputation to represent the English

Churches. It consisted of the late Dr. R. W. Dale, of

Birmingham, and Mr. (now Sir Albert Spicer. Bart.).

Mr. Spicer was then the Treasurer of the L.M.S. , and

he availed himself of the rare opportunity which the

Conference afforded of urging an advance movement

in Australasia in respect to the Society's Avork. He
called together the representatives who A\ere in Ade-

laide from all the colonies, and asked them to consider

whether the time had not come for the Auxiliaries to

combine in such Federal action as Avoukl enable the

Churches of Australia to take upon themselves more

direct responsil)ility in connection A^ith some of the

Society's fields. A provisional Intercolonial Com-

mittee was appointed to take such steps as would

give the Auxiliaries and their constituents an

opportunity of discovering a workable scheme.

It will be difficult in a few short paragraphs to trace

the course of missionary events in South Austraha since

the Jubilee Conference. Very shortly after the way

was opened for young Australians to volunteer for
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foreign service a native of Adelaide applied for appoint-

ment. The first fruits of the new arrangement were

gathered from a South Australian home, the first candi-

date accepted in London being AEiss Lois Cox. Her

short career at Salem. South India, is now familiar

"history. Her intense zeal has not only left its permanent

memorial in India, in the Lois Cox Home, but her

bright example bore fruit in the Australian Churches.

Amongst her own immediate friends and companions

other volunteers gave themselves to the work. ]Miss

Goode and her sister, daughters of Mr. Matthew Coode,

already referred to, were accepted for China, and

joined the Society's important post at Peking. Dr.

Davenport, of Shanghai, is also a native of Adelaide,

"but ha\ing gone to I>ondon for medical training he

offered liiniself while he A\as a member of Dr. Horton's

Church, and was recommended to the Board by the

English Examination Conunittee. Dr. E. J. Stuckey,

Avho went to China seven years ago. has already a

record of service for which the Adelaide C hurches

Tiave reason to he thankful. Eor so young a mis-

sionary he has had s})eedy pi'omotion to a vei'v ves])on-

sible and honomabic position. There are few mis-

sionary institutions in China more important than the

Lockhavt Memorial College, of Mhich he is now the

pi'incipal.

SoiHl', Australia during icccnt yeais has not only

given men and women, luit large contributions for the

Society's work. 'I'lic example set by Ceorge Fyfe

Angas, ('iiaiiiiiaii of the South Australian Con;pany,

was nobly followed by his son. John Howard Angas,

and Xcw (oiiiica has lo-day its Angas Inland .Mission

and its Angas Indusliial .Mission, which ha\-e been

ina<le [)ossible by his nuniilicent gifts. Although his
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life hiis closed, grants are still being made yeaily froiiB

his last large donation toward spiritual education and

industrial work amongst the Papuans, other large

and anonymous donations have been given by others,,

while there has been a steady flow^ of equally acceptable

help through the regular channels of Chiu'ch, School,

Ladies' Auxiliary, and Watcher's Band.

Oui- limited space will not allow us to give a history

of the many incidents of interest which have marked

the progress of the South Australian Auxiliar^• ; the

annual visitation of the Churches by a regular succes-

sion of missionaries from many fields ; the first coming

of the new missionary steamer from London : the

memorable Centenary ^feetings : the visit of Dr.

Wardlaw Thom])son, and later of the Rev. A. X. John-

son. This sketch would not be complete \\itliout

recognition of manifold services rendered by Treasurers-

and Secretaries and members of Connnittecs, and by

those who in Sunday-schools have kept alive the

interest of the young. Some of the South Australian

ministers during the period have rendered an excep-

tionally valuable service by visiting some of oin- ^Mission

Fields. The Revs. F. W. Cox. J. C. Kirby. and W.
Roby Fletcher went and saw for themselves ouj' work

in Lidia, and returned more ardent advocates than

before for larger and more prompt effort to strengthen

the missionary life of the Churches.

Recently the Rev. Josei)h King, who has kindly-

furnished us with the above sketch fd'ter serving the

Society as its Australasian Organising Agent, after

many years of devoted service, relincpiished the office.

That our Churches have not been unmindful of the

claims of other people upon them to make known
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the unsearchable riches of Christ is due in a large

measure to Mr. King's untiring and ungrudging service

to the cause so dear to his heart.

The Rev. G. J. Williams is Mr. King's successor, and

has alread}^ proved himself an able advocate of mis-

sionary enterprise. We have great hopes that our

Churches will do still more for the support of Christian

work among those who are just entering into their

inheritance before the first century of our life has

closed.



CHAPTER X.—CONCLUSION,

In bringing this task to a conclusion one wishes it

had been possible to do greater justice to the theme.

Mr. Cox ended his part of the work with the Mords,

" The subject was a worthy one. Would that the

writer had been worthier of his theme.'" The present

writer can only echo his words.

One thinks of the noble men who have lieen in our

ministi-y and still are carrying on the work. All of

them self-sacrificing, most of them poor " for the sake

of the name." And as these words are written Ave

are reminded none of these things could have been

achieved if it had not been for the gentle women who

have bravely taken upon themselves the heavier share

of the burden pertaining to their husbands' oihce, and

whose highest ambitions are gi-atified when their

children hear the " call " and are ready to wear the

mantle falling from a prophet's shoulders.

One thinks of the Churches, the Communion of Saints.

He sees here in the metropolis, there in the suburbs

and country, and still further out in those far places

where settlers have gone to subdue the forest or fertilise

the desert, and remembers there are men and women

still who care more that their children should enter

into the spiritual heritage of our fathers than for any-

thing else in the world.

It is amazing that anyone should attempt to set

forth in cold print what has been achieved during these

twenty-five years ; but we feel sure our readers will
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believe we have been conscious all the time we have

been writing, while it is possible to record only the bare

bones of dates and events, the real history of our

Churches is written in the hearts and lives of our

people.

In looking back upon the first three-quarters of a

century of our history, some few things are seen to

stand out in striking prominence. We read with

deepest interest the corresj)ondence presented at the

beginning of the book and the account of the con-

troversy that arose out of it. Then we see how near

Mr. Binney came to preaching in one of the AngUcan

Churches, for it was only the limited vision of a

bishop \\hich prevented it, but we are painfully aware

the cleavage between the Anglican and other

Churches is now wider even than it was in those far-off

days.

We have known bisho]is in Australia and Xew Zea-

land who have given ministers of other bodies i)ermis-

sion to preach in the Churches of their particular

diocese, wheii they have been connected with some

great institution like the British and Foreign Bible

Society, but wo have now sorro^^iuUy to admit that the

spirit Avhich made such a concession possible belongs

largely to a past age. If this is so—and there seems

abundant (evidence that it is so—it will be good for us

frankl>- to face the facts in these days when there is so

nuich talk of Christian union in our assemblies and in

the daily press.

This year (1912) marks the 25(>th anniversary of the

Ejectment conse<iuent upon the passing of the last

Act of L'nitormity in .May, 1012. That date marks

the birth of our Congregational Churches. 1')ie

Memorial Hall in London stands as a lasting in(nninu"nt
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to the bravery of our fathers, who counted all things

but loss for the excellency of the knowledge of Christ

Jesus. Our younger readers may not know that this

hall stands upon the site of the old Fleet Prison where

our fathers languished, and alas ! many perished, for

conscience sake.

The Act of Uniformity did not make either the

practise or the creeds of the Christian rehgion uniform,

as the large number of what are called Free Churches

in the Old Land goes to show. And that uniformity

never can be an accomplished fact in matters where

men feel most deeply is shown by the great differences

in the Anglican and Roman Catholic Churches of our

oAni time.

In Australia we live in a land of religious freedom,

but it would seem that for this freedom we have had

to pay the price. It will be a great day in

England when the cathedrals })uilt by the people,

and for the people, will be open to all religious

bodies to worship Cod after the fashion of their

own customs, and it was. curiously enough. Arch-

bishop Jjaud Avho made this possible by his own

relentless policy. The strong action Mhich drove the

Puritans out of the Esta1)lished Church, as Professor

Adeney ])ointcd out in the stirring address delivered

from the chair of the Congregational Union of Pmgland

and Wales in May last, destroyed forever its claim to

be called a National Church. The passing of the

Act of I'niformity was the making of Nonconformity,

and we believe the day is not far-distant when it will

be i-ecognised the great cathedrals of the Old liand

still belong to the whole people and not to an

ecclesiastical section. But in this country the denomi-

national note has been so accentuated on all sides
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that our buildings belong exclusively to the people,

who have erected them. And yet it is to be remem-

bered the Anglican Church has been greatly helped by

the monej' of our own princely benefactors. May the

day quickly come when for all practical purposes we

shall forget our httle differences and all ministers of

religion will love each other and desire to work together

on no other grounds than that of being folloAvers to the

best of their ability of the same great Teacher and

She])herd of men.

The story of our rehgious hfe for the first seventy-

five years of its existence is not the story of one great

Christian people, but rather the story of a number of

denominations who have not yet devised a scheme for

adopting the more excellent way of St. Paul. The

material for this other and larger story has yet to be

found.

The notable achiexement in England during the last

twenty years has lieen the formation of the great Free

Church Councils. lliere is on the one hand the great

Xational Church, and on the other now the Communion;

of those who have been unable to endure the limitation

imposed upon them by the Act of Uniformity. "We

quote at length two tine passage* from I)r. Adeney's-

address, ah-eady referred to.

Til speaking of the idea of Uniformity he says :

"It i< old— old as Catholicism. Some think they find

its roots in the Epistle to theEphesians and the Johan-

nine writings; but the only unity advocated by New
Testament writers is a unity of spiiit and brotheihood.

It begins to show its head in the Ignatian Ei)istles,

Iremeus was enamoured of it ; Cyprian laboured for

it ; Leo the Great, and later Gregor\ the Great, ad-

vanced it ; and yet none of these Fathers carried it to
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the lcnti;lhs of the Restoration Parhamciit in iMi'-ilaiid.

Theit' was iniinitety more variety in the I'oman < athohc

i'hnreh of the Middle Ages than Avas allowed l)y the

latest Knglish Act of Uniformity. A wise Pope Itlessed

St. Francis and sanctioned his ncnel order. Such a

Pop? would have offered a covnmission to ( reneral

Booth, and soiitrht to include the Salvation .Vnny in

Ins ( 'h irch.

'•Previously"—that is to the ])assing" of the Act—
"the Free ('hurchmen were few and fai' between-small

scattered o,roups of (.'ongregationalists, the remnant

left whon their brethren crossed the Atlantic to found

the mifj;hty republic in the West : a few sturdy Ba])tists;

the (^>.iakers, astounding peo]ile, \astly misunderstood,

in ]>art. no doubt, l)ecause of the \au'aries of some of

their wilder enthusiasts, and inxariably ])erseeuted.

Xow' these f)bscure bodies, enriched with a great Hood

of Pui'itan life, partly Independent, mainly Presbyterian,

but that fast verging towards rnde])endency, grew

great and strong enough to be recognised— first in

indulgences, later at the Pex-olutiou. when toleration

was established as a principle of government in this

free country, never again to i)e al)andonefl. The

supine folly of ecclesiastics in the next century cut

another limb from the Church in the form of Methodism,

at the time the one vigorous religious groutli in the

land. The .Methodists were loiiu <hy of throwing

in th 'ii- lot with the Dissenters: they loii<i manifested

a remarkable filial loyaUy to their inothei'. althou'^h

thev cjuld not point to much evidence of her ])arental

kiuflness to them. P>ut what do we se(> to-day ' \

mighty confluence of rivers, of xai'ied names, hroad-

spreading floods, rushing torrents, ti'ickling rills, unite

in the oreat Free Church Movement, and together
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present to the ^vorld a sympathetic fello\vship, a vigorous

Christian life, an active Gospel ministrj^ a national

force, a mission to the world at least as extensive and

as influential as any exercised by the Anglican com-

munion."'

In criticising the position of another Church care

must be taken lest we also fall into the error of imagining

there is a distinctive form of Congregational worship.

"Where there is mechanical movement uniformity is

necessarv. But where there is life, form is as varied

as the organisms are numerous.

Some are watching the movements of modern thought

with painful anxiety. Fear has laid its icy hand upon

our hearts. Shall the audacity of the twentieth

centiuy rob Christendom of its creeds ? "0 foolish

men and slow of heart to believe in all that the prophets

have spoken." Have we not yet learned the lesson

philosophy has to teach. When we can express in

words ;ui article of belief we have already moved be3'Ond

it. To be able to expHcate a doctrine is to be prepared

for some new vision. To sum up the thought of an

age is to have found a olatform from which we may

reach to higher things. We are anxious about the

theologv of the future, but words of long ago come to

us with a fresh insistence :

'• Take no thought for the

morrow . . . sufficient nnto the day is the evil thereof."

Theology belongs not to the future, but to the past.

Congregational Churches at least claim to he eman-

cipated from the thraldom of yesterday. It is faith

for to-day that we need. Our fathers had faith in

God. Because of their faith they icasoned about (!od

and sought through their reasoning to lead their children

into their own faith. The burden of our Lord's teach-

ing was have faith in Cod. Through the thought of
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yesterday we enter into the heritage of those who
^' through faith subdued kingdoms, wrought righteous-

ness, obtained ))romises."

Ours is the taslc so to forniulate and exphcate our

faith that our children may enter into the true apostoHc

succession of those to whom Christ was " the power of

•God and the wisdom of God."

Our Churches and Councils have been not a little

disturbed on account of the theological controversy

of the last five or six years, and we have suffered a

good deal from the bitterness of feehng always attend-

ing such controversies. But through it all we have

•come to see that it is not credal statement which can

unite men and give union to our efforts and aspirations,

but a common devotion to Him Avho declared. '' If

any man would come after Me let him deny himself

and take up his cross and follow ]\Ie."

The question of religious education in the State

schools has come again of late to the fore ;
even in

f;pite of a vigorous opposition a resolution has been

carried in one of our Annual Assemblies affirming in a

general way approval of the movement. It is, how-

ever, difficult to see how any agreement can be arrived

at about what Scripture lessons should be given between

-those who persist in claiming sole apostoUc authority

for themselves and denying the right of those who do

not claim episcopal ordination to be in the (Jhristian

ministry at all. The motive of the movement seems

to be that the several denominations may, through

their ministers or their representatives, impart rehgious

instruction to their own children. It is claimed that

the arrangement works very well in other States, and

especially so in New South Wales. Some of those,

however, who have seen it at work are persuaded that
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it only accentuates the unhappy denominational

differences and delaj's the coming of a day when all

Chi'istian people shall recognise they are one. T'on-

gregationalists generally would \ie\v the movement
Avith greater favour if they saw those anxious to sink

all differences when discussing the education question

not quite so anxious to emphasise them when other

interests ai-e at stake.

To come to what we may call the domesticities of

our common life, it should be noticed the pay we offer

as a general rule to our ministers is shamefully inade-

quate, and this may have something to do with there

being so few members of our well-estabhshed families

offering themselves for the ministry. It Avill l)e a sad

day for our ministry when candidates offer themselves

because of the comfortable living the ministry offers,

but it is a reflection upon our people that so many of

our men do not receive a salary adequate to provide

for the necessaries of life.

It would be a good thing if our Union would declare

that it considers anything less than £200 ]>er annum
and a house as an insufficient amount for a minister

to do justice to his work, his wife, and children. We
would that some influential layman would make it a

concern of his that all our Churches might be brought

to see, during the next 25 years, that this much at least

is necessary.

And we will close with observing we are not Con-

gregationalists because the faith presents a Church in

which <dl members may do as they like, but because our

idea of a Church is one in which we are able to call to

our service the men we believe have heard the Divine

Call in their own hearts.
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These to us are men of God, and are in the noble

sticcession of those who heard

" Beside the Syrian Sea.

The gracious eallinti of the Lord."

The Minister of a Congregational Church is not the

Chairman of a Club, but one Avho has, so to speak,

taken his life and that of those dear to him in his hands

that he msLj become a man of Ood, and as such needs

all the support we can give him.

The minister, ho\\ever, does not make a church.

Our hearts are filled with gratitude after perusing these

pages when we remember the large part given in the

life of the Churches to those who have not recei\ ed

the call to the active ministi-y. and how faithful they

have proved themselves in responding to the calls

that have been made upon them in time, ability, and

money. Many have given their best to God. One

finds himself repeating the famous words of the great

apostle, ' For according to their power, I bear witness,

and beyond their power they gave of their own accord."

And in the knowledge of this, is there not an appeal

to the younger members of our Churches ''. What

Horace found at Rome is tiiie of men to-day. Many

allow tliemselves to become inunersed in the affairs

of life to such an extent that at length " they lose their

lives in the billow." Surely to men whose minds are

tilled with the anxieties of 1)usiness the refreshment

of the Gospel of the Glory of the Blessed God is their

supreme need.
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:\rissTON TO south Australia.

Extracts from Letters of Rev. T. Q. Stow,

Adel.aide, South Australia.

fCopied from the Congregational Magazin'', September,

1838.1

No one of the brethi^eii .'^ent out by the T'olonial

Missionarj^ Society has excited in the public mind

greater interest and sym.pathy, both on personal and

public grounds, than Mr. Stow. He has gone to bear

an important part in the very commencement of,

perhaps, the most hopeful and promising effort of

modern colonization. It is, of course, too early to

receive, as yet, accounts of the spiritual and moral

results of Mr. Stow's missionary labours among his

emigrant countrymen ; but attention is universally

and eagerly directed to the South Australian colony.

Tntelligeuce respecting it will be welcome to many
;

and Mr. Stow^'s numerous friends will rejoice to obtain

tidings of his welfare. The Committee of the Colonial

Society have received two letters from !Mr. Stow,

written after his arrival at South Australia, one luider

date of 31st October, 1 8.37, the other written at different

times during the months of Eebruary and March last.

These communications, though distant in point of

date, arrived nearly together ; and the following

extracts will, v,e are persuaded, be highly interesting

to our readers —
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Arrival in the Coiovv.

When I had last the pleasure of addressing you, I

stated that we were just about to re-embark and leave

the Cape. On the ?Sth of August we went on boai'd,

when another gale arose, which for two days threatened

to drive us on shore. Our ship, however, rode it

out, and through divine mercy we escaped, and after

a tolerable passage we anchored in Nepean Bay on

the ] 5th instant (October) ; and it is remarkable that

the "Catherine Steward Forbes" and the "Sclv, ay''

also anchored there on the same day. On the :70th

we ended our long voyage by dropping anchor in Glenelg

Bay, to our no small gratification, especially that of

Mrs. Stow, who Avas in bed nearly the whole way from

the Cape ; land, however, is fast restoring her. We
are now in our tent at Adelaide, never j-et regretting

that we came. Amidst all Mrs. Stow's sufferings, her

mind has never wavered as to the propriety of the

step we have taken. Indeed, the voyage to her was

as remarkable for the peace of mind she enjoyed, as

for the inconvenience of body which she suffered. I

would regard it as a token for good.

Beauty of Scenery and T'limate, and Fertility

OF the Soil.

What a land is this to which you have sent me !

The loveliness and glory of its plains and woods, its

giens and hills ! But of these you will hear from

others. T cannot, however, leave it out of my estimate

of God's goodness to me, that He has placed me in

so fair and sweet a portion of His earth. Xeither do I

think it unimportant to your Society. Without doubt

the scenery of this rich land will draw from England,

and from India, many whom you wish to benefit.



APPENDIX. 361

The same may be said of the chmate, which is salubrious

and dehghtful. Indeed, anything which shall con-

tribute to the rapid growth of the colony gives additional

importance to your mission. It cannot be without

interest, therefore, to know that the soil is exceedingly

and extensively rich, and subdued with the greatest

ease, so that one half grudges the plough its facile

conquests of these beautiful paiks.

Moral State and Prospects of the Colony.

You will be anxious to know \Ahat aspect the moral

tield presents to me as the future labourer. You will

be grieved to learn that this ne\^ position of human

nature has made fresh disclosures of its folly and

degeneracy. We are minded of Heber's line, '* Every

prospect pleases, and only man is vile." Sottishness

prevails over the lower orders, and irreligion over the

mass. I trust, however, as the community gets more

organised, men's habits will grow more regular. I am

pleased to say the clergyman is evangelical and active.

The Methodists, too, I rejoice to add, have a society,

and are doing good. I hav^e been kindly received by

all persons, and hope, by God's grace^ to be enabled

to do something here. Mr. Giles is at Kangaroo

Island, where he preaches, and where his services are

much needed. Mr. Mcl>aren is sometimes there and

sometimes here ; he is a Baptist, manager for the

*' Company'," and is said to be an excellent preacher.

He has preached often since he came to this colony.

I trust, my dear Sir, I .shall still have the prayers of

my dear friends in England, that God would give me
wisdom, devotedness, and strength ; and, having these,

I doubt not of success. Please to assui'e them,

es]jecially those of our " Colonial Mis.sion," of my
confidence and attachment.
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Great Perte and Merctfct. Preservation in Tarle

Bay.

Ill my letter to Mr. Biuney, three months since, I

stated the clangers of Talile Bay. The extent of these

dangers we did not kno-w till recently. For two or

three nights and days afler we embarked we had dread-

fnl tossings in the Bay, and knew Ave were liable to be

driven on .shore. But the truth is. we were in imminent

peril. Our ship had so drifted that, during the last

night, her keel was within two feet of the rocks. Had

she struck them we must have gone to pieces, as the

sea was so heavy, and should probably have ])erished,

as the night was dark, and we were a mile from shore.

.About four individuals only, inchiding the captain,

knew of our situation. The rest were kept in ignorance.

Cod mercifully kept us. His name be praised.

Commencement ov ^Mission and Formation of

Christi.\n Chttrch.

I am gathering a congregation, though, of course,

not very fast. Our Church has been formed about two

months, consisting of thirteen members and two candi-

dates. We have also begun a Sunday-school, which

promises weU. The Covernor has been to hear me,

and most other officials.

Residence at First tn the Tent— Necessity of

Erecting a Habitation.

T am not displeased with my mission. Indeed, I

can sa}' that I have never yet repented of this under-

taking, and have no misgivings about it, but such as

arise from a knowledge of ray own deficiency. But

whilst I thus speak, I nuist not be understood as stating

that I have no trials or perplexities. Some of these
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will appear in the account which I am now to give of

the temporal affairs of the mission. Our first care

was, of course, to provide ourselves A\ith a residence.

It was well you allowed us a tent, foi- no house could

he had. The tent was our abode for three months.

But a trial of this mode of life for a family convinced

Tis that it could do only as an expedient ; and that it

ought to be as brief as possible, for the sake not of

comfort merely, but of safety- and health. Centipedes

crawled into our beds, the ^\hite ants ate up our fuini-

ture. The glare of the large tent, standing in the

blaze of an Australian summer day, aggravated the

ophthalmia, to which newcomers are liable in this

country. ]\Ioreover, the thermometer showed 20 or

30 degrees of additional heat as compared with the

roofed houses. During the hottest day it was all but

insupportable, reaching nearly 130 deg. Besides all

this, winds are frequent, and our nights \\ere sometimes

rendered sleepless by the fear- of being crushed by the

long pole. We soon perceived that we must have a

house.

Pkesonaf. Labours fk the Erection of a Te-mtorary

House of Worship.

In the ineantime we are now living in our ])lacc of

worship, respecting which 1 nnist pi'occcd to tell yo;i

some things. Some of the causes which made the tent

unfit for a residence made it also unfit for a place of

worship. There were other reasons also which rendered

it very desirable to exchange the tent for a building of

some cost. I deter)nined, therefore, to build on the

same acre where my house stands (a most eligible

spot for worship), a temporary place of gum-wood

posts, pine rafters, and reed thatch, and the walls at
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present of old sail-cloth canvas. Tlie size is forty ti'et

by twenty, besides a scboolrooni at ono end. fourteen

feet by twelve, and opened into the main l)uildin':- in

half an hour, if called for, thus giving us a buildinti of

more than fifty feet in length. To pay for tliis I sell

the tent. It is a good edifice of its kind, and reputed

to be the best thatched in the colony. It was done

by two Halsted men of my churcli there. I regularly

worked with them, felling the pines, cnttino; the reeds

miles from the town, thatching, &c.

]\;.B.—A subscription has been commenced in this

country for the early erection, at Adelaide, of a sub-

stantial stone chapel for Mr. Stow, which has met with

encouraginof success. Additional contril)utions A\ill

be thankfully received at the Congregational labrary

by the Rev. A. Wells.

[The entire proceeds of the sale of these Extracts will

be devoted to the fund for the proposed stoie cha]}el.]

(H. Gilbert. Printer. Hal.ted).

APPENDIX II.

[Copy of letter written by Dr. Binney and circulated

among Congregationalists here and in EnglanH. ]

One of the first ministers sent out by the Colonial

Missionary Society—the first of any appointed to

Australia was the Rev. T. Q. Stow, who proceeded

to Adelaide soon after the establishment of that colony.

After labouring with indefatigable zeal for more than

a quarter of a century, and, through the Divine blessing,

with distinguished success, he was called to his heavenly

rest in the early part of last year. The respect for

his character and the appreciation of his services
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entertained by those whom he officially represented will

be best seen in the light of the following document •

—

Resolution of the Committee of the Colonial

Missionary Society on receiving the intelligence of

the death of the Rev. T. Q. Stow, of Adelaide, South

Austi-alia-

" That this Committee cannot receive the account

of the decease of their late friend but with feelings of

dee]) sorrow, though that sorrow is now mitigated by

the pleasing remembrance of his many virtues, and a

grateful sensp of his eminent services in the cause of

Christ. The\' recall the fact that the settlement of

the colony of South Australia was among the events

which led to the formation of the Colonial Missionary

Society, and that Mr. Ston was one of the first of their

agents who went forth to the work for Avhich it was

established. They remember with a mournful satis-

faction the privations he endured and the toils he

underwent at the commencement of his mission, and

they bless C!od for the abundant success with which his

efforts were ultimately crowned. His character and

abilities recommended him to their confidence at first,

and his prudence, wisdom, activity, and zeal secured

its continuance to the end. Through his instru-

mentality many churches were established, and many
ministers introduced to spheres of usefulness, while

by his able advocacy of the distinctive principle of

Evangelical Xonconformity—the dependence of religion

upon Christian willinghood— he was enabled in com-

bination Avith sympathising associates, to secure its

separation in South Australia from every form of State

aid. As a Christian man he was distinguished bj' the

spirit of devotion and by eminent purity of life. As a

minister of the Gospel he was earnest and disinterested,
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and was honoured by the Master M'honi he loved and

served by many tokens of His gracious approval.

His name is interwoven with the early religious history

of the land of his adoption, and will be held by posterity

in lasting remembrance.

" Unforeseen circumstances having delayed this

expression of the feelings and sentiments of the Com-

mittee, they feel constrained to record the devout

satisfaction with which they have seen the account of

the funeral solemnities, showing as they did the respect

paid to the character of the deceased by all denomina-

tions of Christians, and by all classes of the community.

Mr. Stow's life was a public benefit, and his removal

has been mourned as a public loss. The Committee

rejoice in the oblivion of |)ast differences, the expression

of a common brotherhood, and the recognition of per-

sonal worth, which were so strikingly manifested by

the mannei- in which the remains of our friend were

attended to the tomb. To the bereaved family and

especially to the mourning widow of the deceased,

the Committee would convey the heartfelt expression

of their C'hristian sympathy, praying that they may be

supported under their great trial ))y the consolatory

influences of the Divine Comforter, and by the blessed

hope of ultimate reunion with the departed and with

each other in that better land where those ' who have

fallen asleep in Christ ' are ' in joy and felicity.'
"

To this just and touching tribute nothing need he

added. The object of this paper is to state that the

chapel in which Air. Stow officiated in Freeman-street,

Adelaide, though one of the most important of its

public buildings when first erected, has long ceased to

be sufficient for the growing requirements of the con-

gregation, or adequately to represent the religious



APPENDIX. 367

body of which it may be described in colonial language,

as the ]\lother Church. It has been determined,

therefore, by the friends in Adelaide to build a new

place of worship at once to meet the demand for en-

larged accommodation, and to honour the memory of

the father and founder of the Congregational Denomina-

tion in South Australia. Such is the double purpose

of the projected Stow Memopjal CHur.fH. The

undersigned had the privilege of appealing to his co-

religionists in this country on behalf of the lirst building,

and of obtaining for it a consideraljle sum. Although

the greater number of those who. at that time, felt a

personal interest in the deceased have, like himself,

"" fallen asleep," it is hoped there aie yet many who will

•deem it an honour to aid in this appi'opriate tribute

to his services. " The memory of the just is lilessed."

" The righteous shall be held in everlasting remem-

brance." Without the proposed memorial, indeed,

these divine sayings will be realised and illustrated

in respect to Mr. Stow, in the land of his adoption :

but it cannot l)e improper in itself, and will not be

without many beneficial results, for the I'cverence and

affection of the living, to raise a monument to the

usefulness of the dead. This would l^e irue of a tablet

or a tomb : it is emphatically so when what i^ pro-

jected will increase the poAver and multiply the activities

of that connnunity for which the deceased lived and

laboured

.

This appeal is respectfully inged on those friends to

whom it will be submitted. The nndersiirned will be

happy to receive and to take charge of any contribu-

tions that may be sent to him.

(Signed) T. BiXXKY.
XJ])per Clapton, London, N.E.,

and Congregational Library, Finsbur}^ London, E.C.
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X.B.—Altliouoh this appeal is drawn up l»y the

writer, in his personal capacity, he begs to state that

Alexander Hay, Esq., of Adelaide, now in this country
;

J. S[)ieei'. and J. K. Welch, Esq., of London, have con-

sented to audit and transmit the contrihnlions. 2 Cor.

viii.. 20-21, June, 1863.

A. Hay. Esq. . .

Mrs. Hay
Olitained by the Rev. T. Binney

Personal

]\rrs. Binne^• .

,

.. £400
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in the l^nion, each Church to be proposed at one of

the half-yearly meetings, and admitted, if approved

at the other. Also, that each Church make an annual

contribution to its funds, or neglecting to do so for two

successive years, render itself liable to forfeit its claim

to membership, and further, that ministers not having

charges, but approved by the Union, be eligible for

membership.

3. That the general object of this Society be the

promotion of union, sympathy, co-operation, and the

improvement, and the advancement of the body,

without in any case assiiming legislative authority,,

becoming a court of appeal, oi- attempting anything

that shall compromise the perfect independence of the

Churches.

4. That especially and primarily it aims to originate

and strengthen new Churches of the same faith and

order to sustain evangelical laboin's ; to introduce and

to train ministers of the Gospel in the colon}', and

further, when Pro\idence shall furnish resources and

openings, to undertake a mission to Eastern Asia.

5. That its affairs be managed by the pastors and

ministers and a delegation from each Church, propor-

tioned to its members, which })roportion shall be two

delegates for every Church under 50, and an additional

delegate for every 50 members above the first 50, and

further, the body thus constituted shall elect such

officers as may be requisite.

6. That the members of the I'nion meet once a

year in Adelaide, and once a year in the country, where

deemed most eligible by the Committee, and that any

resolution affecting the constitution of the Union

shall be required to be confirmed by a second general

meeting.
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7. That an amalgamation be proposed between this

Union and the South Australian Home ^lissionary

Society, the latter Society preserving its distinctness,

and the arrangement to be committed to a mutual

deputation.

8. That the affairs of the Union be managed by an

Executive Committee consisting of five ministers and

five delegates, exclusive of the Treasurer and Secretary,

to which shall be added the Treasurer and Secretary

of the South Australian Home Missionary Society.

9. That the following ministers and gentlemen form

the Executive for the first year :
—

Treasurer : Secretary :

W. Giles, Esq. Rev. J. M. Strongman

Kev. C. Hall Messrs. R. G. Bowen
" M. Hodge " H. Giles

" W. Xicholls •• \y. Goodhugh
" G. Pinkstone " J. Roberts

" J. D. Watt '• G. Rolfe

As officers of the South Australian Home Missionary

Society •—W. Peacock, Esq., the Rev. T. Q. Stow.

10. That the Rev. T. Q. Stow be Chairman of the

assemblies for the ensuing year.

(Signed) J. M. STRONGMAN.
April 1, 1850.



List of Chairmen of the Congregational Union

of South AustraHa, and places where the

Annual and Half-Yearly Meetings

have been held.

ALSO

List of Ministers who hold, or have held.

Ministerial Office in the Con-

gregational Body in

South Australia.
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